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The information in this preliminary prospectus is not complete and may be changed. We may not sell these securities until the registration statement filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This preliminary prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and it is not soliciting offers to buy these securities
in any state or other jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted.

SUBJECT TO COMPLETION, DATED                , 2015

                Shares

Catabasis Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Common Stock
$      per share

        This is the initial public offering of our common stock. We are selling            shares of common stock in this offering. We currently expect the initial public
offering price to be between $            and $            per share of common stock.

        We have granted the underwriters an option to purchase up to            additional shares of common stock to cover over-allotments.

        We have applied to list our common stock on The NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol "CATB."

        Investing in our common stock involves risks. See "Risk Factors" beginning on page 10.

        We are an "emerging growth company" under applicable Securities and Exchange Commission rules and will be eligible for reduced public company disclosure
requirements. See "Summary—Implications of Being an Emerging Growth Company."

        Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or passed upon the
accuracy or adequacy of this prospects. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

        The underwriters expect to deliver the shares to purchasers on or about            , 2015 through the book-entry facilities of The Depository Trust Company.

   

                , 2015

PRELIMINARY PROSPECTUS   

  Per Share  Total
Public Offering Price  $             $            
Underwriting Discount(1)  $             $            
Proceeds to Catabasis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (before expenses)  $             $            

(1) We refer you to "Underwriting" beginning on page 155 for additional information regarding underwriter compensation.

Citigroup  Cowen and Company

Oppenheimer & Co.  Wedbush PacGrow Life Sciences
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        We are responsible for the information contained in this prospectus. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with different information, and we
take no responsibility for any other information others may give you. If anyone provides you with different or inconsistent information, you should not rely
on it. We are not, and the underwriters are not, making an offer to sell these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted. You should
not assume that the information contained in this prospectus is accurate as of any date other than the date on the front of this prospectus.
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SUMMARY 

        This summary highlights, and is qualified in its entirety by, the more detailed information and financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus. This
summary does not contain all of the information that may be important to you. You should read and carefully consider the entire prospectus, especially our financial
statements and the notes thereto appearing at the end of this prospectus and the "Risk Factors" section of this prospectus, before deciding to invest in our common
stock.

        Except as otherwise indicated herein or as the context otherwise requires, references in this prospectus to "Catabasis," "the company," "we," "us" and "our" refe
to Catabasis Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Overview 

        We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company focused on the discovery, development and commercialization of novel therapeutics based on our proprietary
Safely Metabolized And Rationally Targeted, or SMART, linker technology platform. Our SMART linker technology platform is based on the concept of treating
diseases by simultaneously modulating multiple targets in one or more related disease pathways. We engineer bi-functional product candidates that are conjugates of
two molecules, or bioactives, each with known pharmacological activity, joined by one of our proprietary SMART linkers. Our SMART linker conjugates are designe
for enhanced efficacy and improved safety and tolerability. Our initial focus is on treatments for orphan diseases. We are also developing other product candidates for
the treatment of serious lipid disorders.

Our Product Candidates 

        We have applied our SMART linker technology platform to build a development pipeline that includes three clinical-stage product candidates and multiple
programs in preclinical development. The following chart summarizes key information regarding our product candidates. We hold worldwide rights to all of our
product candidates.

CAT-1004

        Our lead product candidate, CAT-1004, is an oral small molecule that we believe has the potential to be a disease-modifying therapy for the treatment of
Duchenne muscular dystrophy, or DMD, a fatal

 

1



Table of Contents

genetic disorder involving progressive muscle degeneration. CAT-1004 is a SMART linker conjugate of salicylate, a non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug, and the
omega-3 fatty acid docosahexaenoic acid, or DHA, a naturally occurring 22-carbon unsaturated fatty acid with anti-inflammatory properties. We designed CAT-1004
to enhance the activity of salicylate and DHA in modulating the NF-kB pathway at multiple points. NF-kB, or nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated 
cells, is a protein that coordinates cellular response to damage, stress and inflammation and plays an important role in muscle health. We believe that CAT-1004
modulates the disease pathway in DMD by inhibiting NF-kB activation and reducing the movement of activated NF-kB to the nucleus of the cell. In skeletal muscle,
activated NF-kB drives muscle degeneration and suppresses muscle regeneration. Chronic activation of NF-kB has been reported in multiple skeletal muscle disorder
including muscular dystrophies, atrophy and inflammatory myopathies. In animal models of DMD, CAT-1004 inhibited activated NF-kB, reduced muscle
inflammation and degeneration and increased muscle regeneration. In Phase 1 clinical trials, CAT-1004 inhibited NF-kB and was well tolerated with no observed
safety concerns. We plan to initiate a Phase 1/2 clinical trial of CAT-1004 for the treatment of DMD in the first half of 2015 and expect to report top-line Phase 2 data
in mid-2016. If the results from our Phase 1/2 clinical trial are positive, we intend to conduct a single six-month Phase 3 pivotal trial of CAT-1004 to seek marketing
approval.

        The U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, has granted CAT-1004 orphan drug designation for the treatment of DMD and we plan to submit an orphan
drug designation request to the European Medicines Agency, or EMA, in the second half of 2015. A product may be designated by the FDA as an "orphan drug" if it i
intended to treat a rare disease or condition affecting fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United States. Similarly, the EMA may designate a product as an orphan
drug if it is intended for the treatment of a life-threatening or chronically debilitating condition affecting not more than five in ten thousand persons. If a product with
orphan status receives the first FDA approval for the disease or condition for which it has such designation, the FDA may not approve any other applications for the
same product for the same indication for seven years, except in certain limited circumstances. In Europe, marketing authorization for an orphan drug generally leads t
a ten-year period of market exclusivity.

        DMD is a rare pediatric disorder caused by various mutations in the dystrophin gene that result in a lack of functional dystrophin in muscle fibers, leading to
inexorable muscle weakness. DMD occurs almost exclusively in males, occurring in approximately 1 in 3,500 live male births. Based on this incidence rate, we
estimate that DMD affects a total of approximately 15,000 patients in the United States and approximately 19,000 patients in the European Union.

        There are no therapies approved for the treatment of DMD in the United States. Corticosteroid therapy is often prescribed to treat the inflammation underlying
DMD and to delay loss of ambulation. While corticosteroids have demonstrated efficacy in DMD patients, corticosteroids also can cause significant complications du
to systemic toxicities, including growth suppression, reduction in bone strength and compromise of the immune system. A number of companies are developing
therapies to treat DMD in patients with specific mutations in the dystrophin gene. Based on the prevalence of the specific mutations that the three most advanced of
these product candidates are designed to address, these product candidates would be expected to be effective in an aggregate of approximately 26% of DMD patients.
We believe that DMD patients treated with these dystrophin therapies will continue to require treatments to reduce muscle inflammation and enhance muscle
regeneration.

        Based on its mechanism of action in suppressing activated NF-kB, we believe that CAT-1004 has the potential to combine reduction of inflammation and muscle
degeneration with positive effects on muscle regeneration, all of which may allow patients to retain muscle function longer. In addition, we believe that CAT-1004 has
the potential to be effective in all DMD patients, regardless of the underlying mutation, and provide significant benefit to patients both as monotherapy and when used
in combination with other therapies.
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CAT-2000 Series

        Our two other clinical-stage product candidates, CAT-2054 and CAT-2003, are members of our CAT-2000 series of molecules. We applied our SMART linker
technology to engineer these molecules as SMART linker conjugates of the omega-3 fatty acid eicosapentaenoic acid, or EPA, and nicotinic acid to modulate the Ster
Regulatory Element Binding Protein, or SREBP, pathway in different organs. EPA is a naturally occurring 20-carbon unsaturated fatty acid that has anti-inflammatory
properties and beneficial effects on triglycerides, and nicotinic acid, which is also known as vitamin B3, is a naturally occurring essential vitamin that in high doses ha
beneficial lipid effects. Because we used different SMART linkers for CAT-2054 and CAT-2003, they possess different pharmacokinetic and biodistribution
characteristics. CAT-2003, our first generation product candidate in the CAT-2000 series of molecules, is an orally administered molecule that modulates the SREBP
pathway predominately in the intestine. CAT-2054, our second generation product candidate in the CAT-2000 series of molecules, is an orally administered molecule
that we designed to modulate the SREBP pathway predominately in the liver.

        SREBP is a master regulator of lipid metabolism, the processing of fats, triglycerides and cholesterol by the body, and controls the metabolism of both
triglycerides and low density lipoprotein cholesterol, or LDL-C. We believe that the CAT-2000 product candidates modulate the disease pathway by inhibiting the
maturation of the SREBP protein, thereby preventing its activity and reducing the production of proteins involved in lipid metabolism.

        We have focused our initial development efforts for the CAT-2000 series on lipid disorders such as hypercholesterolemia and hypertriglyceridemia because these
disorders have clear short-term efficacy biomarkers, enabling us to rapidly and efficiently demonstrate proof of concept for our technology. In the CAT-2000 series,
our development priority is CAT-2054 for the treatment of hypercholesterolemia, or elevated LDL-C, given what we believe is an attractive potential commercial
opportunity in hypercholesterolemia and other SREBP-related metabolic disorders.

        We are initially developing CAT-2054, our second generation product candidate in the CAT-2000 series, for the treatment of hypercholesterolemia in patients for
whom existing treatments are insufficient. Hypercholesterolemia is a disease that increases the risk of cardiovascular events. By modulating the SREBP pathway, CAT
2054 may inhibit production of important cholesterol metabolism proteins, such as proprotein convertase subtilisin kexin 9, or PCSK9; 3-hydroxy-3-methyl-glutaryl-
CoA reductase, or HMG-CoA reductase; adenosine triphosphate citrate lyase, or ATP citrate lyase; as well as Niemann-Pick C1-like 1, or NPC1L1. In a clinical trial
of our first generation SREBP modulator CAT-2003, we observed statistically significant reductions in LDL-C, suggesting an impact of SREBP modulation on
cholesterol metabolism. Because the liver is the primary site of LDL-C synthesis and clearance, we specifically designed the SMART linker in CAT-2054 to deliver
more of the intact conjugate to the liver than CAT-2003. We believe that CAT-2054, if approved, has the potential to be the first therapy to simultaneously modulate
cholesterol synthesis, clearance and absorption. In January 2015, we initiated a Phase 1 clinical trial to assess the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of CAT-
2054 in healthy volunteers. If the results of this clinical trial are positive, we intend to initiate a Phase 2 clinical trial in patients with hypercholesterolemia in the fourt
quarter of 2015. We intend to seek to commercialize CAT-2054 through one or more collaborations.

        Hypercholesterolemia is a major risk factor for cardiovascular disease, a leading cause of mortality and morbidity in the United States. Hypercholesterolemia is a
complex disease involving redundant biological pathways that are tightly regulated and have built-in feedback mechanisms. Current treatment guidelines recognize
lowering of LDL-C as a primary target for reducing the risk of cardiovascular disease.

        Several of the lipid-lowering therapies currently available or in development target proteins in the SREBP pathway to lower LDL-C. Despite the availability of
these drugs, many patients are unable to
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achieve their LDL-C goals. A 2011 report of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention estimated that, of the 34 million adults in the United States receiving
treatment for high LDL-C, 11 million had uncontrolled LDL-C. Directly reducing active SREBP may have a significant benefit on LDL-C levels in circulation.
SREBP modulators may work synergistically with inhibitors of proteins that are downstream of SREBP such as PCSK9, HMG-CoA reductase and ATP citrate lyase.
In addition, SREBP modulators may substantially reduce feedback mechanisms that are activated by other classes of LDL-C lowering drugs, such as statins and
ezetimibe. We believe that CAT-2054, if approved, has the potential to be the first therapy to simultaneously modulate cholesterol synthesis, clearance and absorption

        CAT-2003, our first generation product candidate in the CAT-2000 series, is an orally administered SMART linker conjugate of EPA and nicotinic acid that we
designed to modulate the SREBP pathway in the intestine. We designed CAT-2003 to be cleaved primarily in cells of the small intestine to target triglyceride synthesi
We have studied CAT-2003 for the treatment of multifactorial chylomicronemia syndrome, or MFC, and refractory severe hypertriglyceridemia, or rSHTG, diseases
with niche patient populations with elevated triglycerides or hypertriglyceridemia. We have completed three pilot Phase 2 trials with CAT-2003 in patient populations
with hypertriglyceridemia. We believe that the clinical trial data for CAT-2003 serve as proof of concept for our SMART linker technology and for the metabolic
effects of modulating the SREBP pathway. We are evaluating a range of options for further development of CAT-2003, which may include exploratory development in
other diseases that involve alterations in the SREBP pathway.

CAT-4001

        CAT-4001, our most advanced preclinical product candidate, is a SMART linker conjugate of monomethyl fumarate and DHA. CAT-4001 is a small molecule tha
activates the Nrf2 pathway and inhibits activated NF-kB. Nrf2, or Nuclear factor erythroid-derived 2-like 2, is a gene transcription factor, a protein that works inside o
cells to control the expression of genes, that controls the body's response to cellular stress and oxidative damage. We believe that CAT-4001 modulates the disease
pathway by activating Nrf2 by enhancing the movement of Nrf2 to the nucleus of the cells and inhibits NF-kB by reducing the movement of activated NF-kB to the
nucleus of the cells. CAT-4001 is in preclinical studies for the treatment of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, or ALS, and Friedreich's ataxia, two rare degenerative
diseases of the central nervous system in which the Nrf2 and NF-kB pathways have been implicated. We plan to conduct additional preclinical studies of CAT-4001 in
2015, and if the results of these preclinical studies are positive we intend to advance CAT-4001 into a Phase 1 clinical trial in 2016.

SMART Linker Technology Platform 

        We have developed our SMART linker technology platform to create molecules that simultaneously modulate multiple biological targets within one or more
related disease pathways. The linkers used in our technology platform are small chemicals designed to join two separate bioactives into a single conjugate molecule. I
systemic circulation, our SMART linker conjugates are stable and inactive, potentially reducing off-target toxicities and side-effects. The conjugates are designed to b
cleaved by specific enzymes exclusively within cells in order to release the two bioactives inside the cells. By releasing the bioactive components of the conjugate
molecule only inside cells, the SMART linker allows the bioactives to reach their targets more efficiently and have greater efficacy than if the bioactives were dosed
independently or in combination. The stability of our SMART linker conjugates outside of cells and the release of the bioactives exclusively within cells are
differentiating features of our SMART linker technology platform.
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        We believe our SMART linker technology platform has the potential to:

• enhance activity on disease pathways through modulation of multiple biological targets; 

• improve efficacy by matching the pharmacokinetics and tissue distribution of the component bioactives; and 

• improve safety and tolerability by releasing the component bioactives only within cells.

Our Strategy 

        Our objective is to apply our proprietary SMART linker technology platform to discover, develop and commercialize novel, bi-functional therapeutics, with an
initial focus on orphan diseases. To achieve our goals, we are pursuing the following strategies:

• complete the development of CAT-1004 through registration for DMD; 

• advance the development of CAT-2054; 

• advance the development of CAT-4001; 

• continue to apply our SMART linker technology platform to expand our development pipeline; and 

• maintain flexibility in commercializing and maximizing the value of our development programs.

Risks Associated with Our Business 

        Our business is subject to a number of risks of which you should be aware before making an investment decision. These risks are discussed more fully in the
"Risk Factors" section of this prospectus immediately following this prospectus summary. These risks include the following:

• We have incurred significant losses since inception and expect to incur significant and increasing losses for at least the next several years. We may
never achieve or maintain profitability. 

• We will need substantial additional funding. If we are unable to raise capital when needed, we could be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate our produc
development programs or commercialization efforts. 

• Our approach to the discovery and development of product candidates based on our SMART linker technology platform is unproven, and we do not
know whether we will be able to develop any products of commercial value. 

• We are dependent on the successful development and commercialization of our most advanced product candidates. 

• Our SMART linker technology platform may fail to help us discover and develop additional potential product candidates. 

• Clinical drug development involves a lengthy and expensive process with an uncertain outcome. 

• We face substantial competition from other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, and our operating results may suffer if we fail to compete
effectively. 

• If we are unable to obtain and maintain sufficient patent protection for our product candidates, or if the scope of the patent protection is not sufficiently
broad, our competitors could develop and commercialize products similar or identical to ours, and our ability to commercialize our product candidates
successfully may be adversely affected.
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Our Corporate Information 

        We were incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware on June 26, 2008 under the name Catabasis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Our executive offices are located
at One Kendall Square, Bldg. 1400E, Suite B14202, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139, and our telephone number is (617) 349-1971. Our website address is
www.catabasis.com. The information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not a part of this prospectus. We have included our website address
in this prospectus solely as an inactive textual reference.

        The trademarks, trade names and service marks appearing in this prospectus are the property of their respective owners.

Implications of Being an Emerging Growth Company 

        As a company with less than $1 billion of revenue during our last fiscal year, we qualify as an "emerging growth company" as defined in the Jumpstart Our
Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act, and we may remain an emerging growth company for up to five years. For so long as we remain an emerging growth
company, we are permitted and intend to rely on exemptions from certain disclosure and other requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not
emerging growth companies. In particular, in this prospectus, we have provided only two years of audited financial statements and have not included all of the
executive compensation related information that would be required if we were not an emerging growth company. Accordingly, the information contained herein may
be different than the information you receive from other public companies in which you hold stock.
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THE OFFERING 

        The number of shares of our common stock to be outstanding after this offering is based on 6,337,920 shares of our common stock outstanding as of
December 31, 2014 and 102,967,274 additional shares of our common stock issuable upon the automatic conversion of all outstanding shares of our preferred stock
upon the closing of this offering.

        The number of shares of our common stock to be outstanding after this offering excludes:

• 605,694 shares of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants outstanding as of December 31, 2014, at a weighted-average exercise pric
of $0.34 per share; 

• 15,756,837 shares of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2014, at a weighted-average
exercise price of $0.32 per share; 

• 2,053,542 shares of our common stock available for future issuance as of December 31, 2014 under our amended and restated 2008 equity incentive
plan; and 

•             additional shares of our common stock that will become available for future issuance in connection with this offering under our 2015 stock
incentive plan.

        Unless otherwise indicated, all information in this prospectus assumes:

• no exercise of the outstanding options or warrants described above; 

• no exercise by the underwriters of their option to purchase up to                additional shares of our common stock to cover over-allotments; 

• the automatic conversion of all outstanding shares of our preferred stock into an aggregate of 102,967,274 shares of our common stock upon the closin
of this offering; 

• the reclassification of our warrant liability to stockholders' (deficit) equity as a result of warrants to purchase preferred stock becoming warrants to
purchase common stock upon the closing of this offering; and 

• the restatement of our certificate of incorporation and the amendment and restatement of our bylaws upon the closing of this offering.
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Common stock offered                  shares

Common stock to be
outstanding
immediately following
this offering

 

                shares

Over-allotment option
 

                shares

Use of proceeds
 

We intend to use the net proceeds from this offering, together with our existing cash and cash equivalents, to fund our ongoing
development of CAT-1004 and CAT-2054, as well as for working capital and other general corporate purposes. See the "Use of Proceeds"
section in this prospectus for a more complete description of the intended use of proceeds from this offering.

Risk factors
 

You should read the "Risk Factors" section of this prospectus for a discussion of factors to consider carefully before deciding to invest in
shares of our common stock.

Proposed NASDAQ
Global Market symbol

 

"CATB"
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

        You should read the following summary financial data together with our financial statements and the related notes appearing at the end of this prospectus and th
"Selected Financial Data" and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" sections of this prospectus. We have
derived the statement of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014 and the balance sheet data as of December 31, 2014 from our audited
financial statements appearing at the end of this prospectus. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of results that should be expected in any future period

        See Note 2 in the notes to our financial statements appearing at the end of this prospectus for a description of the method used to calculate basic and diluted net
loss per share and unaudited pro forma basic and diluted net loss per share.
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Year Ended

December 31,  
  2013  2014  

  
(in thousands, except share and per

share data)  
Statement of Operations Data:        
Operating expenses:        

Research and development  $ 13,994 $ 15,686 
General and administrative   4,125  5,995 

Total operating expenses   18,119  21,681 
Loss from operations   (18,119)  (21,681)
Other income (expense):        

Other income (expense), net   1  3 
Interest expense   —  (206)

Total other income (expense), net   1  (203)
Net loss and comprehensive loss  $ (18,118) $ (21,884)
Net loss per share—basic and diluted  $ (3.72) $ (4.02)
Weighted-average number of common shares used in net loss per share—basic and diluted   4,870,362  5,446,186 
Pro forma net loss per share—basic and diluted (unaudited)     $ (0.20)
Weighted-average number of common shares used in pro forma net loss per share—basic and

diluted (unaudited)      108,413,460 
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        The following table sets forth summary balance sheet data as of December 31, 2014:

• on an actual basis; 

• on a pro forma basis to give effect to the conversion of all outstanding shares of our preferred stock into 102,967,274 shares of our common stock and
the conversion of our outstanding warrants to purchase 157,844 shares of preferred stock into warrants to purchase 157,844 shares of common stock,
resulting in the reclassification of our warrant liability to stockholders' (deficit) equity, upon the closing of this offering; and 

• on a pro forma as adjusted basis to give further effect to our issuance and sale of            shares of our common stock in this offering at an assumed
initial public offering price of $           per share, which is the midpoint of the estimated price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, after
deducting estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us.
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  As of December 31, 2014  

  Actual  Pro Forma  
Pro Forma

As Adjusted  
  (in thousands)  
Balance Sheet Data:           
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 14,668 $ 14,668 $   
Total assets   15,964  15,964    
Current liabilities   4,234  4,234    
Notes payable, net of current portion and discount   4,439  4,439    
Warrant liability   108  —    
Convertible preferred stock   80,146  —    
Accumulated deficit   (75,380)  (75,380)    
Total stockholders' (deficit) equity   (73,053)  7,201    
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RISK FACTORS 

        Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. Before you decide to invest in our common stock, you should consider carefully the risks described
below, together with the other information contained in this prospectus, including our financial statements and the related notes appearing at the end of this
prospectus. We believe the risks described below are the risks that are material to us as of the date of this prospectus. If any of the following risks actually occur, our
business, financial condition, results of operations and future growth prospects could be materially and adversely affected. In these circumstances, the market price of
our common stock could decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment.

Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need for Additional Capital 

We have incurred significant losses since inception and expect to incur significant and increasing losses for at least the next several years. We may never achieve
or maintain profitability.

        We have incurred significant annual net operating losses in every year since our inception. We expect to continue to incur significant and increasing operating
losses for at least the next several years. Our net losses were $18.1 million and $21.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014, respectively. As of
December 31, 2014, we had an accumulated deficit of $75.4 million. We have not generated any revenues from product sales, have not completed the development of
any product candidate and may never have a product candidate approved for commercialization. We have financed our operations to date primarily through private
placements of our preferred stock and a debt financing, and have devoted substantially all of our financial resources and efforts to research and development, including
preclinical studies and our clinical development programs. Our net losses may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year. Net losses and negative
cash flows have had, and will continue to have, an adverse effect on our stockholders' (deficit) equity and working capital.

        We anticipate that our expenses will increase substantially if and as we:

• continue to develop and conduct clinical trials with respect to our product candidates CAT-1004 and CAT-2054, including a planned Phase 1/2 clinical
trial of CAT-1004 that we plan to initiate in the first half of 2015 and an ongoing Phase 1 clinical trial of CAT-2054 that we initiated in January 2015; 

• initiate and continue research and preclinical and clinical development efforts for our other product candidates; 

• seek to identify and develop additional product candidates; 

• seek regulatory and marketing approvals for our product candidates that successfully complete clinical trials, if any; 

• establish sales, marketing, distribution and other commercial infrastructure in the future to commercialize various products for which we may obtain
marketing approval, if any; 

• require the manufacture of larger quantities of product candidates for clinical development and potentially commercialization; 

• maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio; 

• hire and retain additional personnel, such as clinical, quality control and scientific personnel; 

• add operational, financial and management information systems and personnel, including personnel to support our product development and help us
comply with our obligations as a public company; and 

• add equipment and physical infrastructure to support our research and development programs.
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        Our ability to become and remain profitable depends on our ability to generate revenue. We do not expect to generate significant revenue unless and until we are,
or any future collaborator is, able to obtain marketing approval for, and successfully commercialize, one or more of our product candidates. This will require our, or
any of our future collaborators', success in a range of challenging activities, including completing clinical trials of our product candidates, obtaining marketing
approval for these product candidates, manufacturing, marketing and selling those products for which we, or any of our future collaborators, may obtain marketing
approval, satisfying any post-marketing requirements and obtaining reimbursement for our products from private insurance or government payors. Because of the
uncertainties and risks associated with these activities, we are unable to accurately predict the timing and amount of increased expenses, and if or when we might
achieve profitability. We and any future collaborators may never succeed in these activities and, even if we do, or any future collaborators does, we may never generate
revenues that are large enough for us to achieve profitability. Even if we do achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly
or annual basis. Our failure to become and remain profitable would decrease the value of our company and could impair our ability to raise capital, expand our
business, maintain our research and development efforts, diversify our pipeline of product candidates or continue our operations. A decline in the value of our
company could cause you to lose all or part of your investment.

We have a limited operating history and no history of commercializing pharmaceutical products, which may make it difficult to evaluate the prospects for our
future viability.

        We began operations in 2008. Our operations to date have been limited to financing and staffing our company and developing our technology and conducting
preclinical research and early-stage clinical trials for our product candidates. We have not yet demonstrated an ability to successfully conduct pivotal clinical trials,
obtain marketing approvals, manufacture a commercial scale product, or arrange for a third-party to do so on our behalf, or conduct sales and marketing activities
necessary for successful product commercialization. Accordingly, you should consider our prospects in light of the costs, uncertainties, delays and difficulties
frequently encountered by companies in the early stages of development, especially clinical-stage biopharmaceutical companies such as ours. Predictions about our
future success or viability may not be as accurate as they could be if we had a longer operating history or a history of successfully developing and commercializing
pharmaceutical products.

We will need substantial additional funding. If we are unable to raise capital when needed, we could be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate our product
development programs or commercialization efforts.

        Developing pharmaceutical products, including conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials, is a very time-consuming, expensive and uncertain process that
takes years to complete. We expect our expenses to increase in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as we initiate new clinical trials of, initiate new
research and preclinical development efforts for and seek marketing approval for, our product candidates. In addition, if we obtain marketing approval for any of our
product candidates, we may incur significant commercialization expenses related to product sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution to the extent that such
sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution are not the responsibility of a future collaborator. Furthermore, following the completion of this offering, we expect to
incur significant additional costs associated with operating as a public company. Accordingly, we will need to obtain substantial additional funding in connection with
our continuing operations. If we are unable to raise capital when needed or on attractive terms, we may be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate our research and
development programs or any future commercialization efforts.

        We plan to use the net proceeds of this offering primarily to fund our ongoing research and development efforts. We will be required to expend significant funds
in order to advance the development of CAT-1004 and CAT-2054, as well as our other product candidates. In addition, while we may seek one or more collaborators
for future development of our product candidates, and, in particular, expect that we would conduct any large Phase 3 clinical trial of CAT-2054 for the treatment
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of hypercholesterolemia in collaboration with one or more partners that would pay most of the associated costs, we may not be able to enter into a collaboration for
any of our product candidates on suitable terms or at all. In any event, the net proceeds of this offering and our existing cash and cash equivalents will not be sufficient
to fund all of the efforts that we plan to undertake or to fund the completion of development of any of our product candidates. Accordingly, we will be required to
obtain further funding through public or private equity offerings, debt financings, collaborations and licensing arrangements or other sources. With the exception of
our credit facility with MidCap Financial SBIC, LP, or MidCap, and Square 1 Bank, or Square 1, we do not have any committed external source of funds.

        Adequate additional financing may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. Further, our ability to obtain additional debt financing may be limited by
covenants we have made under our loan and security agreement with MidCap and Square 1, including our negative pledge with respect to intellectual property in favor
of MidCap and Square 1, as well as our pledge to MidCap and Square 1 of substantially all of our assets, other than our intellectual property, as collateral. Our failure
to raise capital as and when needed would have a negative impact on our financial condition and our ability to pursue our business strategy.

        We believe that the net proceeds from this offering, together with our existing cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2014, will enable us to fund our
operating expenses, debt service and capital expenditure requirements at least through 2016. Our estimate as to how long we expect the net proceeds from this
offering, together with our existing cash and cash equivalents, to be able to fund our operations is based on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could use
our available capital resources sooner than we currently expect. Further, changing circumstances, some of which may be beyond our control, could cause us to
consume capital significantly faster than we currently anticipate, and we may need to seek additional funds sooner than planned. Our future funding requirements, both
short-term and long-term, will depend on many factors, including:

• the progress, timing, costs and results of clinical trials of, and research and preclinical development efforts for, our product candidates and potential
product candidates, including current and future clinical trials; 

• our ability to identify a collaborator for CAT-2054 and the terms and timing of any collaboration agreement that we may establish for the development
and commercialization of CAT-2054; 

• our ability to enter into and the terms and timing of any additional collaborations, licensing or other arrangements that we may establish; 

• the number and characteristics of future product candidates that we pursue and their development requirements; 

• the outcome, timing and costs of seeking regulatory approvals; 

• the costs of commercialization activities for any of our product candidates that receive marketing approval to the extent such costs are not the
responsibility of any future collaborators, including the costs and timing of establishing product sales, marketing, distribution and manufacturing
capabilities; 

• subject to receipt of marketing approval, revenue, if any, received from commercial sales of our product candidates; 

• our headcount growth and associated costs as we expand our research and development and establish a commercial infrastructure; 

• the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and protecting our intellectual property rights and defending against
intellectual property related claims; and 

• the costs of operating as a public company.
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The audit opinion on our financial statements contains a going concern explanatory paragraph.

        Based on our cash balances, recurring losses, net capital deficiency and debt outstanding as of December 31, 2014 and our projected spending in 2015, which
raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern, the audit opinion on our audited financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31,
2014 contains a going concern explanatory paragraph. If we are unable to obtain sufficient capital in this offering, our business, financial condition and results of
operations will be materially and adversely affected and we will need to obtain alternative financing or significantly modify our operational plans to continue as a
going concern. If we are unable to continue as a going concern, we might have to liquidate our assets and the values we receive for our assets in liquidation or
dissolution could be significantly lower than the values reflected in our financial statements. Additionally, amounts due under our credit facility may become
immediately due and payable upon the occurrence of a material adverse change, as defined under the loan agreement. Further, even if we successfully complete and
receive the net proceeds from this offering, given our planned expenditures for the next several years, including, without limitation, expenditures in connection with
our clinical trials of CAT-1004 and CAT-2054, our independent registered public accounting firm may conclude, in connection with the audit of our financial
statements for fiscal year 2015 or any other subsequent period that there is substantial doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going concern. In addition, the
inclusion of a going concern explanatory paragraph by our auditors, our lack of cash resources and our potential inability to continue as a going concern may
materially adversely affect our share price and our ability to raise new capital or to enter into critical contractual relations with third parties.

Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our stockholders, including purchasers of common stock in this offering, restrict our operations or require us to
relinquish rights to our technologies or product candidates.

        We expect that significant additional capital will be needed in the future to continue our planned operations. To the extent that we raise additional capital through
the sale of common stock, convertible securities or other equity securities, our existing stockholders' ownership interest may be substantially diluted, and the terms of
these securities could include liquidation or other preferences and anti-dilution protections that could adversely affect your rights as a common stockholder. Additional
debt financing, if available, would result in increased fixed payment obligations and may involve agreements that include restrictive covenants that limit our ability to
take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures, creating liens, redeeming stock or declaring dividends, that could adversely
impact our ability to conduct our business. For example, our debt facility with MidCap and Square 1 contains restrictive covenants that, among other things and
subject to certain exceptions, prohibit us from transferring any of our material assets, exclusively licensing our intellectual property (subject to certain exceptions),
merging with or acquiring another entity, entering into a transaction that would result in a change of control, incurring additional indebtedness, creating any lien on our
property, making investments in third parties or redeeming stock or paying dividends. Future debt securities or other financing arrangements could contain similar or
more restrictive negative covenants. In addition, securing additional financing could require a substantial amount of time and attention from our management and may
divert a disproportionate amount of their attention away from day-to-day activities, which may adversely affect our management's ability to oversee the development
of our product candidates.

        If we raise additional funds through collaborations or marketing, distribution or licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable
rights to our technologies, future revenue streams or product candidates or grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. If we are unable to raise additional
funds when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development or future commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop and
market product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves.
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Our existing and any future indebtedness could adversely affect our ability to operate our business.

        As of December 31, 2014, we had $5.0 million of outstanding borrowings under our loan and security agreement with MidCap and Square 1. We currently make
monthly interest payments and, beginning in October 2015, will be required to repay principal and interest on these borrowings in monthly installments through
October 2018. Subject to the restrictions in our existing credit facility with MidCap and Square 1, we could in the future incur additional indebtedness beyond our
borrowings from MidCap and Square 1.

        Our outstanding indebtedness, including any additional indebtedness beyond our borrowings from MidCap and Square 1, combined with our other financial
obligations and contractual commitments could have significant adverse consequences, including:

• requiring us to dedicate a portion of our cash resources to the payment of interest and principal, reducing money available to fund working capital,
capital expenditures, product development and other general corporate purposes; 

• increasing our vulnerability to adverse changes in general economic, industry and market conditions; 

• subjecting us to restrictive covenants that may reduce our ability to take certain corporate actions or obtain further debt or equity financing; 

• limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we compete; and 

• placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt or better debt servicing options.

        We intend to satisfy our current and future debt service obligations with our existing cash and cash equivalents and investments. However, we may not have
sufficient funds, and may be unable to arrange for additional financing, to pay the amounts due under our existing debt instruments. Failure to make payments or
comply with other covenants under our existing debt instruments could result in an event of default and acceleration of amounts due. Under our loan and security
agreement with MidCap and Square 1, the occurrence of an event that would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on our business, operations,
assets or condition is an event of default. If an event of default occurs and the lenders accelerate the amounts due, we may not be able to make accelerated payments,
and the lenders could seek to enforce security interests in the collateral securing such indebtedness, which includes substantially all of our assets other than our
intellectual property. In addition, the covenants under our existing debt instruments, the pledge of our assets as collateral and the negative pledge with respect to our
intellectual property could limit our ability to obtain additional debt financing.

Risks Related to the Discovery, Development and Commercialization of Our Product Candidates 

Our approach to the discovery and development of product candidates based on our SMART linker technology platform is unproven, and we do not know whether
we will be able to develop any products of commercial value.

        We are focused on discovering and developing novel bi-functional small molecule drugs by applying our SMART linker technology platform. While we believe
that applying our SMART linker technology platform may potentially enable drug research and clinical development that is more efficient than conventional small
molecule drug research and development, this approach is unproven. We have not yet succeeded and may never succeed in demonstrating efficacy and safety for any
of our product candidates in later stage clinical trials or in obtaining marketing approval thereafter. For example, although we have discovered and evaluated numerous
compounds using our SMART linker
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technology platform, we have not yet advanced a compound into Phase 3 clinical development and no product created using the SMART linker technology platform
has ever been approved for sale.

We are dependent on the success of our most advanced product candidate, CAT-1004, and our CAT-2000 series product candidates. If we are unable to complete
the clinical development of, obtain marketing approval for or successfully commercialize at least one of these product candidates, either alone or with a
collaborator, or if we experience significant delays in doing so, our business could be substantially harmed.

        We currently have no products approved for sale and are investing a significant portion of our efforts and financial resources in the development of CAT-1004 for
the treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy, or DMD, and our CAT-2000 series product candidates for the treatment of serious lipid disorders. Our prospects are
substantially dependent on our ability, or that of any future collaborator, to develop, obtain marketing approval for and successfully commercialize at least one of these
product candidates.

        The success of CAT-1004 and our CAT-2000 series product candidates will depend on several factors, including the following:

• successful completion of our ongoing clinical trials; 

• initiation and successful enrollment and completion of additional clinical trials; 

• safety, tolerability and efficacy profiles that are satisfactory to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, or any comparable foreign regulatory
authority for marketing approval; 

• timely receipt of marketing approvals from applicable regulatory authorities; 

• the performance of our future collaborators, if any; 

• the extent of any required post-marketing approval commitments to applicable regulatory authorities; 

• establishment of supply arrangements with third-party raw materials suppliers and manufacturers; 

• establishment of arrangements with third-party manufacturers to obtain finished drug products that are appropriately packaged for sale; 

• obtaining and maintaining patent, trade secret protection and regulatory exclusivity, both in the United States and internationally; 

• protection of our rights in our intellectual property portfolio; 

• successful launch of commercial sales following any marketing approval; 

• a continued acceptable safety profile following any marketing approval; 

• commercial acceptance by patients, the medical community and third-party payors following any marketing approval; and 

• our ability to compete with other therapies, including, in the case of CAT-1004, therapies targeting dystrophin, utrophin and myostatin and
inflammatory mediators.

        Many of these factors are beyond our control, including clinical development, the regulatory submission process, potential threats to our intellectual property
rights and the manufacturing, marketing and sales efforts of any future collaborator. If we are unable to develop, receive marketing approval for and successfully
commercialize at least one of CAT-1004 or a product candidate in the CAT-2000 series, on our own or with any future collaborator, or experience delays as a result of
any of these factors or otherwise, our business could be substantially harmed.
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Our SMART linker technology platform may fail to help us discover and develop additional potential product candidates.

        A significant portion of the research that we are conducting involves the development of new compounds using our SMART linker technology platform. The drug
discovery that we are conducting using our SMART linker technology platform may not be successful in creating compounds that have commercial value or
therapeutic utility. Our SMART linker technology platform may initially show promise in identifying potential product candidates, yet fail to yield viable product
candidates for clinical development or commercialization for a number of reasons, including:

• compounds created through our SMART linker technology platform may not demonstrate improved efficacy, safety or tolerability; 

• potential product candidates may, on further study, be shown to have harmful side effects or other characteristics that indicate that they are unlikely to
receive marketing approval and achieve market acceptance; 

• competitors may develop alternative therapies that render our potential product candidates non-competitive or less attractive; or 

• a potential product candidate may not be capable of being produced at an acceptable cost.

        Our research programs to identify new product candidates will require substantial technical, financial and human resources, and we may be unsuccessful in our
efforts to identify new product candidates. If we are unable to identify suitable additional compounds for preclinical and clinical development, our ability to develop
product candidates and obtain product revenues in future periods could be compromised, which could result in significant harm to our financial position and adversely
impact our stock price.

We have never obtained marketing approval for a product candidate and we may be unable to obtain, or may be delayed in obtaining, marketing approval for any
of our product candidates.

        We have never obtained marketing approval for a product candidate. It is possible that the FDA may refuse to accept for substantive review any new drug
applications, or NDAs, that we submit for our product candidates or may conclude after review of our data that our application is insufficient to obtain marketing
approval of our product candidates. If the FDA does not accept or approve our NDAs for either of our most advanced product candidates, it may require that we
conduct additional clinical, nonclinical or manufacturing validation studies and submit that data before it will reconsider our applications. Depending on the extent of
these or any other FDA-required studies, approval of any NDA or application that we submit may be delayed by several years, or may require us to expend more
resources than we have available. It is also possible that additional studies, if performed and completed, may not be considered sufficient by the FDA to approve our
NDAs.

        Any delay in obtaining, or an inability to obtain, marketing approvals would prevent us from commercializing our product candidates, generating revenues and
achieving and sustaining profitability. If any of these outcomes occur, we may be forced to abandon our development efforts for our product candidates, which could
significantly harm our business.

Results of preclinical studies and early clinical trials may not be predictive of results of future clinical trials.

        The outcome of preclinical studies and early clinical trials may not be predictive of the success of later clinical trials, and interim results of clinical trials do not
necessarily predict success in future clinical trials. Many companies in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries have suffered significant setbacks in late-stage
clinical trials after achieving positive results in earlier development, and we cannot be certain that we will not face similar setbacks. The design of a clinical trial can
determine whether its results will support approval of a product and flaws in the design of a clinical trial may not become apparent until the clinical trial is well
advanced. We have limited experience in
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designing clinical trials and may be unable to design and execute a clinical trial to support marketing approval. In addition, preclinical and clinical data are often
susceptible to varying interpretations and analyses. Many companies that believed their product candidates performed satisfactorily in preclinical studies and clinical
trials have nonetheless failed to obtain marketing approval for the product candidates. Even if we, or any future collaborators, believe that the results of clinical trials
for our product candidates warrant marketing approval, the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree and may not grant marketing approval of
our product candidates.

        In some instances, there can be significant variability in safety or efficacy results between different clinical trials of the same product candidate due to numerous
factors, including changes in trial procedures set forth in protocols, differences in the size and type of the patient populations, changes in and adherence to the dosing
regimen and other clinical trial protocols and the rate of dropout among clinical trial participants. If we fail to receive positive results in clinical trials of our product
candidates, the development timeline and regulatory approval and commercialization prospects for our most advanced product candidates, and, correspondingly, our
business and financial prospects would be negatively impacted.

Because we are developing CAT-1004 for the treatment of DMD, a disease for which regulatory authorities have not issued definitive guidance as to how to
measure and demonstrate efficacy, there is increased risk that the outcome of our clinical trials will not be satisfactory for marketing approval.

        There is currently no approved therapy for DMD in the United States. In addition, there has been limited historical clinical trial experience for the development of
drugs to treat the underlying cause of DMD. As a result, the design and conduct of clinical trials for this disease, particularly for drugs to address the underlying cause
of this disease, is subject to increased risk. In particular, regulatory authorities in the United States and European Union have not issued definitive guidance as to how
to measure and demonstrate efficacy. We anticipate that the primary endpoint in our Phase 1/2 clinical trial of CAT-1004 for the treatment of DMD will be changes in
magnetic resonance imaging, or MRI, of leg muscles as a biomarker for inflammation, which is known to increase with age but is observed to decrease with initiation
of steroid therapy. We intend to include as exploratory endpoints the timed function tests best suited for this age group, specifically the 10 meter walk/run, time to
stand and 4-stair climb tests. However, due to the age and development stage of the patients we intend to enroll in this clinical trial, these endpoints may not be
sufficiently sensitive to demonstrate efficacy over the period of the trial.

We may expend our limited resources to pursue a particular product candidate or indication and fail to capitalize on product candidates or indications that may be
more profitable or for which there is a greater likelihood of success.

        Because we have limited financial and managerial resources, we intend to focus on developing product candidates for specific indications that we identify as most
likely to succeed, in terms of both their potential for marketing approval and commercialization. As a result, we may forego or delay pursuit of opportunities with
other product candidates or for other indications that may prove to have greater commercial potential.

        Our resource allocation decisions may cause us to fail to capitalize on viable commercial products or profitable market opportunities. Our spending on current and
future research and development programs and product candidates for specific indications may not yield any commercially viable product candidates. If we do not
accurately evaluate the commercial potential or target market for a particular product candidate, we may relinquish valuable rights to that product candidate through
collaboration, licensing or other royalty arrangements in cases in which it would have been more advantageous for us to retain sole development and
commercialization rights to the product candidate.
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Clinical drug development involves a lengthy and expensive process with an uncertain outcome.

        Clinical testing is expensive, time-consuming and uncertain as to outcome. We cannot guarantee that any clinical trials will be conducted as planned or completed
on schedule, or at all. The clinical development of our product candidates is susceptible to the risk of failure at any stage of drug development, including failure to
demonstrate efficacy in a clinical trial or across a broad population of patients, the occurrence of adverse events that are severe or medically or commercially
unacceptable, failure to comply with protocols or applicable regulatory requirements and determination by the FDA or any comparable foreign regulatory authority
that a product candidate may not continue development or is not approvable. For example, our IND for CAT-2003 was placed on partial clinical hold by the FDA in
November 2012 because of the need for additional nonclinical work to support potential expansion of dosing and duration of our proposed Phase 1 multiple ascending
dose trial. Although the partial clinical hold was removed in July 2013, it is possible that any of our development programs may be placed on full or partial clinical
hold by regulatory authorities at any point, which would delay and possibly prevent further development of our product candidates. It is possible that even if one or
more of our product candidates has a beneficial effect, that effect will not be detected during clinical evaluation as a result of one or more of a variety of factors,
including the size, duration, design, measurements, conduct or analysis of our clinical trials. Conversely, as a result of the same factors, our clinical trials may indicate
an apparent positive effect of a product candidate that is greater than the actual positive effect, if any. Similarly, in our clinical trials we may fail to detect toxicity of or
intolerability caused by our product candidates, or mistakenly believe that our product candidates are toxic or not well tolerated when that is not in fact the case.

        In addition to the risk of failure inherent in drug development, certain of the compounds that we are developing and may develop in the future using our SMART
linker technology platform may be particularly susceptible to failure to the extent they are based on compounds that others have previously studied or tested, but did
not progress in development due to safety, tolerability or efficacy concerns or otherwise. Our failure to successfully complete clinical trials of our product candidates
and to demonstrate the efficacy and safety necessary to obtain regulatory approval to market any of our product candidates would significantly harm our business.

If clinical trials of our product candidates fail to satisfactorily demonstrate safety and efficacy to the FDA and other comparable foreign regulators, we, or any
future collaborators, may incur additional costs or experience delays in completing, or ultimately be unable to complete, the development and commercialization
of these product candidates.

        We, and any future collaborators, are not permitted to commercialize, market, promote or sell any product candidate in the United States without obtaining
marketing approval from the FDA. Comparable foreign regulatory authorities, such as the European Medicines Agency, or the EMA, impose similar restrictions. We,
and any future collaborators, may never receive such approvals. We, and any future collaborators, must complete extensive preclinical development and clinical trials
to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our product candidates in humans before we, or they, will be able to obtain these approvals.

        Clinical testing is expensive, difficult to design and implement, can take many years to complete and is inherently uncertain as to outcome. We have not
previously submitted an NDA to the FDA or similar drug approval filings to comparable foreign regulatory authorities for any of our product candidates. Any inability
to complete preclinical and clinical development successfully could result in additional costs to us, or any future collaborators, and impair our ability to generate
revenues from product sales, regulatory and commercialization milestones and royalties. Moreover, if (1) we, or any future collaborators, are required to conduct
additional clinical trials or other testing of our product candidates beyond the trials and testing that we, or they contemplate, (2) we, or any future collaborators, are
unable to successfully complete clinical trials of our product candidates or other testing, (3) the results of these trials or tests are unfavorable, uncertain or are only
modestly favorable,
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or (4) there are unacceptable safety concerns associated with our product candidates, we, or any future collaborators, may:

• be delayed in obtaining marketing approval for our product candidates; 

• not obtain marketing approval at all; 

• obtain approval for indications or patient populations that are not as broad as intended or desired; 

• obtain approval with labeling that includes significant use or distribution restrictions or significant safety warnings, including boxed warnings; 

• be subject to additional post-marketing testing or other requirements; or 

• be required to remove the product from the market after obtaining marketing approval.

Adverse events or undesirable side effects caused by, or other unexpected properties of, any of our product candidates may be identified during development that
could delay or prevent their marketing approval or limit their use.

        Adverse events or undesirable side effects caused by, or other unexpected properties of, our product candidates could cause us, any future collaborators, an
institutional review board or regulatory authorities to interrupt, delay or halt clinical trials of one or more of our product candidates and could result in a more
restrictive label or the delay or denial of marketing approval by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities. For example, in our clinical trials of CAT-2003
we observed gastrointestinal tolerability issues, including nausea, diarrhea and vomiting, and in some cases these adverse events led to dose reductions or
discontinuations. If any of our product candidates is associated with adverse events or undesirable side effects or has properties that are unexpected, we, or any future
collaborators, may need to abandon development or limit development of that product candidate to certain uses or subpopulations in which the undesirable side effects
or other characteristics are less prevalent, less severe or more acceptable from a risk-benefit perspective. Many compounds that initially showed promise in clinical or
earlier stage testing have later been found to cause undesirable or unexpected side effects that prevented further development of the compound.

If we, or any future collaborators, experience any of a number of possible unforeseen events in connection with clinical trials of our product candidates, potential
marketing approval or commercialization of our product candidates could be delayed or prevented.

        We, or any future collaborators, may experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of, clinical trials that could delay or prevent marketing
approval or commercialization of our product candidates, including:

• clinical trials of our product candidates may produce unfavorable or inconclusive results; 

• we, or any future collaborators, may decide, or regulators may require us or them, to conduct additional clinical trials or abandon product development
programs; 

• the number of patients required for clinical trials of our product candidates may be larger than we, or any future collaborators, anticipate, patient
enrollment in these clinical trials may be slower than we, or any future collaborators, anticipate or participants may drop out of these clinical trials at a
higher rate than we, or any future collaborators, anticipate; 

• the cost of planned clinical trials of our product candidates may be greater than we anticipate; 

• our third-party contractors or those of any future collaborators, including those manufacturing our product candidates or components or ingredients
thereof or conducting clinical trials on our behalf or on behalf of any future collaborators, may fail to comply with regulatory requirements
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or meet their contractual obligations to us or any future collaborators in a timely manner or at all;

• regulators or institutional review boards may not authorize us, any future collaborators or our or their investigators to commence a clinical trial or
conduct a clinical trial at a prospective trial site; 

• we, or any future collaborators, may have delays in reaching or fail to reach agreement on acceptable clinical trial contracts or clinical trial protocols
with prospective trial sites; 

• patients that enroll in a clinical trial may misrepresent their eligibility to do so or may otherwise not comply with the clinical trial protocol, resulting in
the need to drop the patients from the clinical trial, increase the needed enrollment size for the clinical trial or extend the clinical trial's duration; 

• we, or any future collaborators, may have to delay, suspend or terminate clinical trials of our product candidates for various reasons, including a finding
that the participants are being exposed to unacceptable health risks, undesirable side effects or other unexpected characteristics of the product
candidate, such as the delay we experienced in one of our Phase 2 clinical trials of CAT-2003 while we reformulated CAT-2003 in a coated capsule and
evaluated its tolerability; 

• regulators or institutional review boards may require that we, or any future collaborators, or our or their investigators suspend or terminate clinical
research for various reasons, including noncompliance with regulatory requirements or their standards of conduct, a finding that the participants are
being exposed to unacceptable health risks, undesirable side effects or other unexpected characteristics of the product candidate or findings of
undesirable effects caused by a chemically or mechanistically similar drug or drug candidate; 

• the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with our, or any future collaborators', clinical trial designs or our or their
interpretation of data from preclinical studies and clinical trials; 

• the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may fail to approve or subsequently find fault with the manufacturing processes or facilities of
third-party manufacturers with which we, or any future collaborators, enter into agreements for clinical and commercial supplies; 

• the supply or quality of raw materials or manufactured product candidates or other materials necessary to conduct clinical trials of our product
candidates may be insufficient, inadequate or not available at an acceptable cost, or we may experience interruptions in supply; and 

• the approval policies or regulations of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may significantly change in a manner rendering our
clinical data insufficient to obtain marketing approval.

        Product development costs for us, or any future collaborators, will increase if we, or they, experience delays in testing or pursuing marketing approvals and we, or
they, may be required to obtain additional funds to complete clinical trials and prepare for possible commercialization of our product candidates. We do not know
whether any preclinical tests or clinical trials will begin as planned, will need to be restructured, or will be completed on schedule or at all. Significant preclinical or
clinical trial delays also could shorten any periods during which we, or any future collaborators, may have the exclusive right to commercialize our product candidates
or allow our competitors, or the competitors of any future collaborators, to bring products to market before we, or any future collaborators, do and impair our ability, or
the ability of any future collaborators, to successfully commercialize our product candidates and may harm our business and results of operations. In addition, many of
the factors that lead to clinical trial delays may ultimately lead to the denial of marketing approval of any of our product candidates.

20



Table of Contents

If we, or any future collaborators, experience delays or difficulties in the enrollment of patients in clinical trials, our or their receipt of necessary regulatory
approvals could be delayed or prevented.

        We, or any future collaborators, may not be able to initiate or continue clinical trials for any of our product candidates if we, or they, are unable to locate and
enroll a sufficient number of eligible patients to participate in clinical trials as required by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities, such as the EMA.
Patient enrollment is a significant factor in the timing of clinical trials, and is affected by many factors, including:

• the size and nature of the patient population; 

• the severity of the disease under investigation; 

• the proximity of patients to clinical sites; 

• the eligibility criteria for the trial; 

• the design of the clinical trial; 

• efforts to facilitate timely enrollment; 

• competing clinical trials; and 

• clinicians' and patients' perceptions as to the potential advantages and risks of the drug being studied in relation to other available therapies, including
any new drugs that may be approved for the indications we are investigating.

        In particular, the successful completion of our clinical development program for CAT-1004 for the treatment of DMD is dependent upon our ability to enroll a
sufficient number of patients with DMD. DMD is a rare disease with a small patient population. Further, there are only a limited number of specialist physicians that
regularly treat patients with DMD and major clinical centers that support DMD treatment are concentrated in a few geographic regions. In addition, other companies
are conducting clinical trials and have announced plans for future clinical trials that are seeking, or are likely to seek, to enroll patients with DMD and patients are
generally only able to enroll in a single trial at a time. The small population of patients, competition for these patients and the limited trial sites may make it difficult
for us to enroll enough patients to complete our clinical trials for CAT-1004 in a timely and cost-effective manner.

        The clinical trials that we conduct may also have inclusion criteria that further limit the population of patients that we are able to enroll. For example, for the
Phase 1/2 clinical trial of CAT-1004 that we expect to initiate in the first half of 2015, we plan to enroll only ambulatory boys between ages four and seven who have
not used steroids for at least six months prior to the trial. These inclusion criteria could present challenges to enrollment because steroid therapy for DMD is often
initiated in this age range.

        Our inability, or the inability of any future collaborators, to enroll a sufficient number of patients for our, or their, clinical trials could result in significant delays
or may require us or them to abandon one or more clinical trials altogether. Enrollment delays in our, or their, clinical trials may result in increased development costs
for our product candidates, delay or halt the development of and approval processes for our product candidates and jeopardize our, or any future collaborators', ability
to commence sales of and generate revenues from our product candidates, which could cause the value of our company to decline.
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If any of our product candidates receives marketing approval and we, or others, later discover that the drug is less effective than previously believed or causes
undesirable side effects that were not previously identified, our ability, or that of any future collaborators, to market the drug could be compromised.

        Clinical trials of our product candidates are conducted in carefully defined subsets of patients who have agreed to enter into clinical trials. Consequently, it is
possible that our clinical trials, or those of any future collaborator, may indicate an apparent positive effect of a product candidate that is greater than the actual positive
effect, if any, or alternatively fail to identify undesirable side effects. If, following approval of a product candidate, we, or others, discover that the drug is less effective
than previously believed or causes undesirable side effects that were not previously identified, any of the following adverse events could occur:

• regulatory authorities may withdraw their approval of the drug or seize the drug; 

• we, or any future collaborators, may be required to recall the drug, change the way the drug is administered or conduct additional clinical trials; 

• additional restrictions may be imposed on the marketing of, or the manufacturing processes for, the particular drug; 

• we may be subject to fines, injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties; 

• regulatory authorities may require the addition of labeling statements, such as a "black box" warning or a contraindication; 

• we, or any future collaborators, may be required to create a Medication Guide outlining the risks of the previously unidentified side effects for
distribution to patients; 

• we, or any future collaborators, could be sued and held liable for harm caused to patients; 

• the drug may become less competitive; and 

• our reputation may suffer.

        Any of these events could have a material and adverse effect on our operations and business and could adversely impact our stock price.

Even if one of our product candidates receives marketing approval, it may fail to achieve the degree of market acceptance by physicians, patients, third-party
payors and others in the medical community necessary for commercial success and the market opportunity for the product candidate may be smaller than we
estimate.

        We have never commercialized a product. Even if one of our product candidates is approved by the appropriate regulatory authorities for marketing and sale, it
may nonetheless fail to gain sufficient market acceptance by physicians, patients, third-party payors and others in the medical community. For example, physicians are
often reluctant to switch their patients from existing therapies even when new and potentially more effective or convenient treatments enter the market. Further,
patients often acclimate to the therapy that they are currently taking and do not want to switch unless their physicians recommend switching products or they are
required to switch therapies due to lack of reimbursement for existing therapies.

        Efforts to educate the medical community and third-party payors on the benefits of our product candidates may require significant resources and may not be
successful. If any of our product candidates is approved but does not achieve an adequate level of market acceptance, we may not generate significant revenues and we
may not become profitable. The degree of market acceptance of our product candidates, if approved for commercial sale, will depend on a number of factors,
including:

• the efficacy and safety of the product; 

• the potential advantages of the product compared to alternative treatments;
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• the prevalence and severity of any side effects; 

• the clinical indications for which the product is approved; 

• whether the product is designated under physician treatment guidelines as a first-line therapy or as a second- or third-line therapy; 

• limitations or warnings, including distribution or use restrictions, contained in the product's approved labeling; 

• our ability, or the ability of any future collaborators, to offer the product for sale at competitive prices; 

• the product's convenience and ease of administration compared to alternative treatments; 

• the willingness of the target patient population to try, and of physicians to prescribe, the product; 

• the strength of sales, marketing and distribution support; 

• the approval of other new products for the same indications; 

• changes in the standard of care for the targeted indications for the product; 

• the timing of market introduction of our approved products as well as competitive products; 

• availability and amount of reimbursement from government payors, managed care plans and other third-party payors; 

• adverse publicity about the product or favorable publicity about competitive products; and 

• potential product liability claims.

        The potential market opportunities for our product candidates are difficult to estimate precisely. Our estimates of the potential market opportunities are predicated
on many assumptions, including industry knowledge and publications, third-party research reports and other surveys. While we believe that our internal assumptions
are reasonable, these assumptions involve the exercise of significant judgment on the part of our management, are inherently uncertain and the reasonableness of these
assumptions has not been assessed by an independent source. If any of the assumptions proves to be inaccurate, the actual markets for our product candidates could be
smaller than our estimates of the potential market opportunities.

If we are unable to establish sales, marketing and distribution capabilities or enter into sales, marketing and distribution arrangements with third parties, we may
not be successful in commercializing any product candidates that we develop if and when those product candidates are approved.

        We do not have a sales, marketing or distribution infrastructure and have no experience in the sale, marketing or distribution of pharmaceutical products. To
achieve commercial success for any approved product, we must either develop a sales and marketing organization or outsource these functions to third parties. We plan
to use a combination of focused in-house sales and marketing capabilities and third-party collaboration, licensing and distribution arrangements to sell any of our
products that receive marketing approval.

        We generally plan to seek to retain full commercialization rights in the United States and Canada for products that we can commercialize with a specialized sales
force and to retain co-promotion or similar rights in the United States and Canada when feasible in indications requiring a larger commercial infrastructure. The
development of sales, marketing and distribution capabilities will require substantial resources, will be time-consuming and could delay any product launch. If the
commercial launch of a product for which we recruit a sales force and establish marketing and distribution capabilities is delayed or does not occur for any reason, we
could have prematurely or
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unnecessarily incurred these commercialization costs. This may be costly, and our investment could be lost if we cannot retain or reposition our sales and marketing
personnel. In addition, we may not be able to hire or retain a sales force in the United States or Canada that is sufficient in size or has adequate expertise in the medical
markets that we plan to target. If we are unable to establish or retain a sales force and marketing and distribution capabilities, our operating results may be adversely
affected. If a potential partner has development or commercialization expertise that we believe is particularly relevant to one of our products, then we may seek to
collaborate with that potential partner even if we believe we could otherwise develop and commercialize the product independently.

        We plan to collaborate with third parties for commercialization in the United States and Canada of any products that require a large sales, marketing and product
distribution infrastructure. We also plan to commercialize our product candidates outside the United States and Canada through collaboration, licensing and
distribution arrangements with third parties. As a result of entering into arrangements with third parties to perform sales, marketing and distribution services, our
product revenues or the profitability of these product revenues may be lower, perhaps substantially lower, than if we were to directly market and sell products in those
markets. Furthermore, we may be unsuccessful in entering into the necessary arrangements with third parties or may be unable to do so on terms that are favorable to
us. In addition, we may have little or no control over such third parties, and any of them may fail to devote the necessary resources and attention to sell and market our
products effectively.

        If we do not establish sales, marketing and distribution capabilities, either on our own or in collaboration with third parties, we will not be successful in
commercializing any of our product candidates that receive marketing approval.

We face substantial competition from other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, and our operating results may suffer if we fail to compete effectively.

        The development and commercialization of new drug products is highly competitive. We expect that we, and any future collaborators, will face significant
competition from major pharmaceutical companies, specialty pharmaceutical companies and biotechnology companies worldwide with respect to any of our product
candidates that we, or they, may seek to develop or commercialize in the future. Specifically, there are a number of large pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies
that currently market and sell products or are pursuing the development of product candidates for the treatment of the key indications of our most advanced programs,
including DMD, severe hypertriglyceridemia and hypercholesterolemia.

        We are initially developing CAT-1004 for the treatment of DMD. While there are currently no therapies approved for the treatment of DMD in the United States,
corticosteroid therapy is often prescribed to treat the inflammation underlying DMD and to delay loss of ambulation. In addition, a number of companies are
developing therapies to treat DMD, one of which is already on the market in Europe and others are in the process of registration or late stage clinical development,
including Eli Lilly, Prosensa (currently being acquired by Biomarin Pharmaceuticals), PTC Therapeutics, Santhera Pharmaceuticals and Sarepta Therapeutics.

        We are initially developing CAT-2054 for the treatment of hypercholesterolemia. There are many widely available products, including statins and cholesterol
absorption inhibitors, approved for the treatment of patients with hypercholesterolemia. The market and development pipeline for cholesterol regulating therapies is
especially large and competitive. If CAT-2054 is approved for the treatment of hypercholesterolemia, either as monotherapy or in combination therapies, it will face
intense competition from current approved therapies as well as a number of therapeutic approaches in development, including PCSK9 inhibitors being developed by
Sanofi/Regeneron Pharmaceuticals, Amgen, Eli Lilly and Pfizer; cholesterylester transfer protein inhibitors, including those being developed by Merck and Eli Lilly;
and other alternative therapies being developed by a range of competitors.
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        Our competitors may succeed in developing, acquiring or licensing technologies and drug products that are more effective, have fewer or more tolerable side
effects or are less costly than any product candidates that we are currently developing or that we may develop, which could render our product candidates obsolete and
noncompetitive.

        Our commercial opportunity could be reduced or eliminated if our competitors develop and commercialize products that are safer, more effective, have fewer or
less severe side effects, are more convenient or are less expensive than any products that we, or any future collaborators, may develop. Our competitors also may
obtain FDA or other marketing approval for their products before we, or any future collaborators, are able to obtain approval for ours, which could result in our
competitors establishing a strong market position before we, or any future collaborators, are able to enter the market.

        Many of our existing and potential future competitors have significantly greater financial resources and expertise in research and development, manufacturing,
preclinical testing, conducting clinical trials, obtaining marketing approvals and marketing approved products than we do. Mergers and acquisitions in the
pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries may result in even more resources being concentrated among a smaller number of our competitors. Smaller or early stage
companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and established companies. These competitors also
compete with us in recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and management personnel and establishing clinical trial sites and patient registration for clinical trials,
as well as in acquiring technologies complementary to, or necessary for, our programs.

If the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities approve generic versions of any of our products that receive marketing approval, or such authorities do
not grant our products appropriate periods of data exclusivity before approving generic versions of our products, the sales of our products could be adversely
affected.

        Once an NDA is approved, the product covered thereby becomes a "reference-listed drug" in the FDA's publication, "Approved Drug Products with Therapeutic
Equivalence Evaluations." Manufacturers may seek approval of generic versions of reference-listed drugs through submission of abbreviated new drug applications, or
ANDAs, in the United States. In support of an ANDA, a generic manufacturer need not conduct clinical studies. Rather, the applicant generally must show that its
product has the same active ingredient(s), dosage form, strength, route of administration and conditions of use or labeling as the reference-listed drug and that the
generic version is bioequivalent to the reference-listed drug, meaning it is absorbed in the body at the same rate and to the same extent. Generic products may be
significantly less costly to bring to market than the reference-listed drug and companies that produce generic products are generally able to offer them at lower prices.
Thus, following the introduction of a generic drug, a significant percentage of the sales of any branded product or reference-listed drug may be typically lost to the
generic product.

        The FDA may not approve an ANDA for a generic product until any applicable period of non-patent exclusivity for the reference-listed drug has expired. The
Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FDCA, provides a period of five years of non-patent exclusivity for a new drug containing a new chemical entity, or NCE.
Specifically, in cases where such exclusivity has been granted, an ANDA may not be filed with the FDA until the expiration of five years unless the submission is
accompanied by a Paragraph IV certification that a patent covering the reference-listed drug is either invalid or will not be infringed by the generic product, in which
case the applicant may submit its application four years following approval of the reference-listed drug. It is unclear whether the FDA will treat the active ingredients
in our product candidates as NCEs and, therefore, afford them five years of NCE data exclusivity if they are approved. If any product we develop does not receive five
years of NCE exclusivity, the FDA may approve generic versions of such product three years after its date of
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approval. Manufacturers may seek to launch these generic products following the expiration of the applicable marketing exclusivity period, even if we still have patent
protection for our product.

        Competition that our products may face from generic versions of our products could materially and adversely impact our future revenue, profitability and cash
flows and substantially limit our ability to obtain a return on the investments we have made in those product candidates.

Even if we, or any future collaborators, are able to commercialize any product candidate that we, or they, develop, the product may become subject to unfavorable
pricing regulations, third-party payor reimbursement practices or healthcare reform initiatives that could harm our business.

        The commercial success of our product candidates will depend substantially, both domestically and abroad, on the extent to which the costs of our product
candidates will be paid by third-party payors, including government health administration authorities and private health coverage insurers. If coverage and
reimbursement is not available, or reimbursement is available only to limited levels, we, or any future collaborators, may not be able to successfully commercialize our
product candidates. Even if coverage is provided, the approved reimbursement amount may not be high enough to allow us, or any future collaborators, to establish or
maintain pricing sufficient to realize a sufficient return on our or their investments. In the United States, no uniform policy of coverage and reimbursement for
products exists among third-party payors and coverage and reimbursement for products can differ significantly from payor to payor.

        There is significant uncertainty related to third-party payor coverage and reimbursement of newly approved drugs. Marketing approvals, pricing and
reimbursement for new drug products vary widely from country to country. Some countries require approval of the sale price of a drug before it can be marketed. In
many countries, the pricing review period begins after marketing or product licensing approval is granted. In some foreign markets, prescription pharmaceutical
pricing remains subject to continuing governmental control even after initial approval is granted. As a result, we, or any future collaborators, might obtain marketing
approval for a product in a particular country, but then be subject to price regulations that delay commercial launch of the product, possibly for lengthy time periods,
which may negatively impact the revenues we are able to generate from the sale of the product in that country. Adverse pricing limitations may hinder our ability or
the ability of any future collaborators to recoup our or their investment in one or more product candidates, even if our product candidates obtain marketing approval.

        Patients who are provided medical treatment for their conditions generally rely on third-party payors to reimburse all or part of the costs associated with their
treatment. Therefore, our ability, and the ability of any future collaborators, to commercialize any of our product candidates will depend in part on the extent to which
coverage and reimbursement for these products and related treatments will be available from third-party payors. Third-party payors decide which medications they will
cover and establish reimbursement levels. The healthcare industry is acutely focused on cost containment, both in the United States and elsewhere. Government
authorities and other third-party payors have attempted to control costs by limiting coverage and the amount of reimbursement for particular medications, which could
affect our ability or that of any future collaborators to sell our product candidates profitably. These payors may not view our products, if any, as cost-effective, and
coverage and reimbursement may not be available to our customers, or those of any future collaborators, or may not be sufficient to allow our products, if any, to be
marketed on a competitive basis. Cost-control initiatives could cause us, or any future collaborators, to decrease the price we, or they, might establish for products,
which could result in lower than anticipated product revenues. If the prices for our products, if any, decrease or if governmental and other third-party payors do not
provide coverage or adequate reimbursement, our prospects for revenue and profitability will suffer.

        There may also be delays in obtaining coverage and reimbursement for newly approved drugs, and coverage may be more limited than the indications for which
the drug is approved by the FDA or
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comparable foreign regulatory authorities. Moreover, eligibility for reimbursement does not imply that any drug will be paid for in all cases or at a rate that covers our
costs, including research, development, manufacture, sale and distribution. Reimbursement rates may vary, by way of example, according to the use of the drug and the
clinical setting in which it is used. Reimbursement rates may also be based on reimbursement levels already set for lower cost drugs or may be incorporated into
existing payments for other services.

        In addition, increasingly, third-party payors are requiring higher levels of evidence of the benefits and clinical outcomes of new technologies and are challenging
the prices charged. We cannot be sure that coverage will be available for any product candidate that we, or any future collaborator, commercialize and, if available, that
the reimbursement rates will be adequate. Further, the net reimbursement for drug products may be subject to additional reductions if there are changes to laws that
presently restrict imports of drugs from countries where they may be sold at lower prices than in the United States. An inability to promptly obtain coverage and
adequate payment rates from both government-funded and private payors for any of our product candidates for which we, or any future collaborator, obtain marketing
approval could significantly harm our operating results, our ability to raise capital needed to commercialize products and our overall financial condition.

Product liability lawsuits against us could divert our resources, cause us to incur substantial liabilities and limit commercialization of any products that we may
develop.

        We face an inherent risk of product liability claims as a result of the clinical testing of our product candidates despite obtaining appropriate informed consents
from our clinical trial participants. We will face an even greater risk if we or any future collaborators commercially sell any product that we may or they may develop.
For example, we may be sued if any product we develop allegedly causes injury or is found to be otherwise unsuitable during clinical testing, manufacturing,
marketing or sale. Any such product liability claims may include allegations of defects in manufacturing, defects in design, a failure to warn of dangers inherent in the
product, negligence, strict liability or a breach of warranties. Claims could also be asserted under state consumer protection acts. If we cannot successfully defend
ourselves against product liability claims, we may incur substantial liabilities or be required to limit commercialization of our product candidates. Regardless of the
merits or eventual outcome, liability claims may result in:

• decreased demand for our product candidates or products that we may develop; 

• injury to our reputation and significant negative media attention; 

• withdrawal of clinical trial participants; 

• significant costs to defend resulting litigation; 

• substantial monetary awards to trial participants or patients; 

• loss of revenue; 

• reduced resources of our management to pursue our business strategy; and 

• the inability to commercialize any products that we may develop.

        Although we maintain general liability insurance of $2.0 million in the aggregate and clinical trial liability insurance of $3.0 million in the aggregate, this
insurance may not fully cover potential liabilities that we may incur. The cost of any product liability litigation or other proceeding, even if resolved in our favor, could
be substantial. We will need to increase our insurance coverage if and when we begin selling any product candidate that receives marketing approval. In addition,
insurance coverage is becoming increasingly expensive. If we are unable to obtain or maintain sufficient insurance coverage at an acceptable cost or to otherwise
protect against potential product liability claims, it could prevent or inhibit the development and commercial production and sale of our product candidates, which
could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
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Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties 

We expect to seek to establish collaborations and, if we are not able to establish them on commercially reasonable terms, we may have to alter our development
and commercialization plans.

        Our drug development programs and the potential commercialization of our product candidates will require substantial additional cash to fund expenses. We
expect to seek one or more collaborators for the development and commercialization of one or more of our product candidates. For example, conducting pivotal
Phase 3 clinical trials of CAT-2054 in patients with hypercholesterolemia will likely involve significant cost and we expect that we would conduct any large Phase 3
clinical trial of CAT-2054 in patients with hypercholesterolemia in collaboration with one or more partners. Likely collaborators may include large and mid-size
pharmaceutical companies, regional and national pharmaceutical companies and biotechnology companies. In addition, if we are able to obtain marketing approval for
CAT-1004 and other product candidates from foreign regulatory authorities, we intend to enter into strategic relationships with international biotechnology or
pharmaceutical companies for the commercialization of CAT-1004 and other product candidates outside of the United States and Canada.

        We face significant competition in seeking appropriate collaborators. Whether we reach a definitive agreement for a collaboration will depend, among other
things, upon our assessment of the collaborator's resources and expertise, the terms and conditions of the proposed collaboration and the proposed collaborator's
evaluation of a number of factors. Those factors may include the potential differentiation of our product candidate from competing product candidates, design or
results of clinical trials, the likelihood of approval by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities and the regulatory pathway for any such approval, the
potential market for the product candidate, the costs and complexities of manufacturing and delivering the product to patients and the potential of competing products.
The collaborator may also consider alternative product candidates or technologies for similar indications that may be available for collaboration and whether such a
collaboration could be more attractive than the one with us for our product candidate.

        Collaborations are complex and time-consuming to negotiate and document. In addition, there have been a significant number of recent business combinations
among large pharmaceutical companies that have resulted in a reduced number of potential future collaborators. In addition, our loan and security agreement with
MidCap and Square 1 contains, and any collaboration agreements that we enter into in the future may contain, restrictions on our ability to enter into potential
collaborations or to otherwise develop specified compounds.

        We may not be able to negotiate collaborations on a timely basis, on acceptable terms, or at all. If we are unable to do so, we may have to curtail the development
of the product candidate for which we are seeking to collaborate, reduce or delay its development program or one or more of our other development programs, delay
its potential commercialization or reduce the scope of any sales or marketing activities, or increase our expenditures and undertake development or commercialization
activities at our own expense. If we elect to increase our expenditures to fund development or commercialization activities on our own, we may need to obtain
additional capital, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. If we do not have sufficient funds, we may not be able to further develop our product
candidates or bring them to market and generate product revenue.

If we enter into collaborations with third parties for the development and commercialization of our product candidates, our prospects with respect to those product
candidates will depend in significant part on the success of those collaborations.

        We expect to enter into collaborations for the development and commercialization of certain of our product candidates. If we enter into such collaborations, we
will have limited control over the amount and timing of resources that our collaborators will dedicate to the development or
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commercialization of our product candidates. Our ability to generate revenues from these arrangements will depend on any future collaborators' abilities to
successfully perform the functions assigned to them in these arrangements. In addition, any future collaborators may have the right to abandon research or
development projects and terminate applicable agreements, including funding obligations, prior to or upon the expiration of the agreed upon terms.

        Collaborations involving our product candidates pose a number of risks, including the following:

• collaborators have significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources that they will apply to these collaborations; 

• collaborators may not perform their obligations as expected; 

• collaborators may not pursue development and commercialization of our product candidates or may elect not to continue or renew development or
commercialization programs, based on clinical trial results, changes in the collaborators' strategic focus or available funding or external factors, such as
an acquisition, that divert resources or create competing priorities; 

• collaborators may delay clinical trials, provide insufficient funding for a clinical trial program, stop a clinical trial or abandon a product candidate,
repeat or conduct new clinical trials or require a new formulation of a product candidate for clinical testing; 

• a collaborator with marketing and distribution rights to one or more products may not commit sufficient resources to the marketing and distribution of
such product or products; 

• disagreements with collaborators, including disagreements over proprietary rights, contract interpretation or the preferred course of development, might
cause delays or termination of the research, development or commercialization of product candidates, might lead to additional responsibilities for us
with respect to product candidates, or might result in litigation or arbitration, any of which would be time-consuming and expensive; 

• collaborators may not properly maintain or defend our intellectual property rights or may use our proprietary information in such a way as to invite
litigation that could jeopardize or invalidate our intellectual property or proprietary information or expose us to potential litigation; 

• collaborators may infringe the intellectual property rights of third parties, which may expose us to litigation and potential liability; and 

• collaborations may be terminated and, if terminated, may result in a need for additional capital to pursue further development or commercialization of
the applicable product candidates.

        Collaboration agreements may not lead to development or commercialization of product candidates in the most efficient manner or at all. If any future
collaborator of ours is involved in a business combination, it could decide to delay, diminish or terminate the development or commercialization of any product
candidate licensed to it by us.

We rely on third parties to conduct our clinical trials. If they do not perform satisfactorily, our business could be significantly harmed.

        We do not independently conduct clinical trials of any of our product candidates. We rely on third parties, such as contract research organizations, clinical data
management organizations, medical institutions and clinical investigators, to conduct these clinical trials and expect to rely on these third parties to conduct clinical
trials of any other product candidate that we develop. Any of these third parties may terminate their engagements with us under certain circumstances. We may not be
able to enter into alternative arrangements or do so on commercially reasonable terms. In addition, there is a natural transition period when a new contract research
organization begins work. As a result, delays
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would likely occur, which could materially impact our ability to meet our expected clinical development timelines and harm our business, financial condition and
prospects.

        Further, our reliance on these third parties for clinical development activities limits our control over these activities, but we remain responsible for ensuring that
each of our studies is conducted in accordance with the applicable protocol, legal, regulatory and scientific standards. For example, notwithstanding the obligations of
a contract research organization for a trial of one of our product candidates, we remain responsible for ensuring that each of our clinical trials is conducted in
accordance with the general investigational plan and protocols for the trial. Moreover, the FDA requires us to comply with standards, commonly referred to as current
Good Clinical Practices, or cGCPs, for conducting, recording and reporting the results of clinical trials to assure that data and reported results are credible and accurate
and that the rights, integrity and confidentiality of trial participants are protected. The FDA enforces these cGCPs through periodic inspections of trial sponsors,
principal investigators, clinical trial sites and institutional review boards. If we or our third-party contractors fail to comply with applicable cGCPs, the clinical data
generated in our clinical trials may be deemed unreliable and the FDA may require us to perform additional clinical trials before approving our product candidates,
which would delay the marketing approval process. We cannot be certain that, upon inspection, the FDA will determine that any of our clinical trials comply with
cGCPs. We are also required to register clinical trials and post the results of completed clinical trials on a government-sponsored database, ClinicalTrials.gov, within
certain timeframes. Failure to do so can result in fines, adverse publicity and civil and criminal sanctions.

        Furthermore, the third parties conducting clinical trials on our behalf are not our employees, and except for remedies available to us under our agreements with
such contractors, we cannot control whether or not they devote sufficient time, skill and resources to our ongoing development programs. These contractors may also
have relationships with other commercial entities, including our competitors, for whom they may also be conducting clinical trials or other drug development
activities, which could impede their ability to devote appropriate time to our clinical programs. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual
duties, meet expected deadlines or conduct our clinical trials in accordance with regulatory requirements or our stated protocols, we may not be able to obtain, or may
be delayed in obtaining, marketing approvals for our product candidates. If that occurs, we will not be able to, or may be delayed in our efforts to, successfully
commercialize our product candidates. In such an event, our financial results and the commercial prospects for any product candidates that we seek to develop could
be harmed, our costs could increase and our ability to generate revenues could be impaired.

        We also rely on other third parties to store and distribute drug supplies for our clinical trials. Any performance failure on the part of our distributors could delay
clinical development or marketing approval of our product candidates or commercialization of any resulting products, producing additional losses and depriving us of
potential product revenue.

We contract with third parties for the manufacture and distribution of our product candidates for clinical trials and expect to continue to do so in connection with
our future development and commercialization efforts. This reliance on third parties increases the risk that we will not have sufficient quantities of our product
candidates or such quantities at an acceptable cost, which could delay, prevent or impair our development or commercialization efforts.

        We currently have no manufacturing facilities and limited personnel with manufacturing experience. We rely on contract manufacturers to produce both drug
substance and drug product required for our clinical trials. We plan to continue to rely upon contract manufacturers, and,
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potentially collaboration partners, to manufacture commercial quantities of our products, if approved. Reliance on such third-party contractors entails risks, including:

• manufacturing delays if our third-party contractors give greater priority to the supply of other products over our product candidates or otherwise do not
satisfactorily perform according to the terms of the agreements between us and them; 

• the possible termination or nonrenewal of agreements by our third-party contractors at a time that is costly or inconvenient for us; 

• the possible breach by the third-party contractors of our agreements with them; 

• the failure of third-party contractors to comply with applicable regulatory requirements; 

• the possible mislabeling of clinical supplies, potentially resulting in the wrong dose amounts being supplied or active drug or placebo not being
properly identified; 

• the possibility of clinical supplies not being delivered to clinical sites on time, leading to clinical trial interruptions, or of drug supplies not being
distributed to commercial vendors in a timely manner, resulting in lost sales; and 

• the possible misappropriation of our proprietary information, including our trade secrets and know-how.

        We currently rely, and expect to continue to rely, on a small number of third-party contract manufacturers to supply the majority of our active pharmaceutical
ingredient and required finished product for our preclinical studies and clinical trials. We do not have long-term agreements with any of these third parties. If any of
our existing manufacturers should become unavailable to us for any reason, we may incur some delay in identifying or qualifying replacements.

        Any manufacturing problem or the loss of a contract manufacturer could be disruptive to our operations, delay our clinical trials and, if our products are approved
for sale, result in lost sales. Additionally, we rely on third parties to supply the raw materials needed to manufacture our product candidates. Any reliance on suppliers
may involve several risks, including a potential inability to obtain critical materials and reduced control over production costs, delivery schedules, reliability and
quality. Any unanticipated disruption to future contract manufacture caused by problems at suppliers could delay shipment of our product candidates, increase our cost
of goods sold and result in lost sales.

        If any of our product candidates are approved by any regulatory agency, we plan to enter into agreements with third-party contract manufacturers for the
commercial production and distribution of those products. It may be difficult for us to reach agreement with a contract manufacturer on satisfactory terms or in a
timely manner. In addition, we may face competition for access to manufacturing facilities as there are a limited number of contract manufacturers operating under
current good manufacturing practices, or cGMPs, that are capable of manufacturing our product candidates. Consequently, we may not be able to reach agreement with
third-party manufacturers on satisfactory terms, which could delay our commercialization efforts.

        Third-party manufacturers are required to comply with cGMPs and similar regulatory requirements outside the United States. Facilities used by our third-party
manufacturers must be approved by the FDA after we submit an NDA and before potential approval of the product candidate. Similar regulations apply to
manufacturers of our product candidates for use or sale in foreign countries. We do not control the manufacturing process and are completely dependent on our third-
party manufacturers for compliance with the applicable regulatory requirements for the manufacture of our product candidates. If our manufacturers cannot
successfully manufacture material that conforms to our specifications or the strict regulatory requirements of the FDA and any applicable foreign regulatory authority,
they will not be able to secure the applicable approval for their manufacturing facilities. If
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these facilities are not approved for commercial manufacture, we may need to find alternative manufacturing facilities, which could result in delays in obtaining
approval for the applicable product candidate.

        In addition, our manufacturers are subject to ongoing periodic inspections by the FDA and corresponding state and foreign agencies for compliance with cGMPs
and similar regulatory requirements both prior to and following the receipt of marketing approval for any of our product candidates. Some of these inspections may be
unannounced. Failure by any of our manufacturers to comply with applicable cGMPs or other regulatory requirements could result in sanctions being imposed on us,
including fines, injunctions, civil penalties, delays, suspensions or withdrawals of approvals, operating restrictions, interruptions in supply and criminal prosecutions,
any of which could adversely affect supplies of our product candidates and significantly harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

        Our current and anticipated future dependence upon others for the manufacture of our product candidates may adversely affect our future profit margins and our
ability to commercialize any products that receive marketing approval on a timely and competitive basis.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property 

If we are unable to obtain and maintain sufficient patent protection for our product candidates, or if the scope of the patent protection is not sufficiently broad,
our competitors could develop and commercialize products similar or identical to ours, and our ability to commercialize our product candidates successfully may
be adversely affected.

        Our success depends in large part on our ability to obtain and maintain patent protection in the United States and other countries with respect to our proprietary
product candidates. If we do not adequately protect our intellectual property, competitors may be able to erode or negate any competitive advantage we may have,
which could harm our business and ability to achieve profitability. To protect our proprietary position, we file patent applications in the United States and abroad
related to our novel product candidates that are important to our business. The patent application and approval process is expensive and time-consuming. We may not
be able to file and prosecute all necessary or desirable patent applications at a reasonable cost or in a timely manner.

        The patent position of biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies generally is highly uncertain. No consistent policy regarding the breadth of claims allowed in
biotechnology and pharmaceutical patents has emerged to date in the United States or in many foreign jurisdictions. In addition, the determination of patent rights with
respect to pharmaceutical compounds commonly involves complex legal and factual questions, which has in recent years been the subject of much litigation. As a
result, the issuance, scope, validity, enforceability and commercial value of our patent rights are highly uncertain.

        Our pending patent applications cannot be enforced against third parties practicing the technology claimed in such applications unless and until a patent issues
from such applications. Assuming the other requirements for patentability are met, currently, the first to file a patent application is generally entitled to the patent.
However, prior to March 16, 2013, in the United States, the first to invent was entitled to the patent. Publications of discoveries in the scientific literature often lag
behind the actual discoveries, and patent applications in the United States and other jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months after filing, or in some
cases not at all. Therefore, we cannot be certain that we were the first to make the inventions claimed in our patents or pending patent applications, or that we were the
first to file for patent protection of such inventions.

        Moreover, because the issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its inventorship, scope, validity or enforceability, our patents or pending patent applications
may be challenged in the courts or patent
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offices in the United States and abroad. For example, we may be subject to a third party preissuance submission of prior art to the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office,
or USPTO, or become involved in post-grant review procedures, oppositions, derivations, reexaminations, inter partes review or interference proceedings, in the
United States or elsewhere, challenging our patent rights or the patent rights of others. An adverse determination in any such challenges may result in loss of
exclusivity or in patent claims being narrowed, invalidated or held unenforceable, in whole or in part, which could limit our ability to stop others from using or
commercializing similar or identical technology and products, or limit the duration of the patent protection of our technology and products. In addition, given the
amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new product candidates, patents protecting such candidates might expire before or
shortly after such candidates are commercialized.

        Our pending and future patent applications may not result in patents being issued which protect our product candidates, in whole or in part, or which effectively
prevent others from commercializing competitive products. Changes in either the patent laws or interpretation of the patent laws in the United States and other
countries may diminish the value of our patents or narrow the scope of our patent protection. In addition, the laws of foreign countries may not protect our rights to the
same extent or in the same manner as the laws of the United States. For example, European patent law restricts the patentability of methods of treatment of the human
body more than United States law does.

        Even if our patent applications issue as patents, they may not issue in a form that will provide us with any meaningful protection, prevent competitors from
competing with us or otherwise provide us with any competitive advantage. Our competitors may be able to circumvent our patents by developing similar or
alternative technologies or products in a non-infringing manner. Our competitors may also seek approval to market their own products similar to or otherwise
competitive with our products. Alternatively, our competitors may seek to market generic versions of any approved products by submitting ANDAs to the FDA in
which they claim that patents owned or licensed by us are invalid, unenforceable or not infringed. In these circumstances, we may need to defend or assert our patents,
or both, including by filing lawsuits alleging patent infringement. In any of these types of proceedings, a court or other agency with jurisdiction may find our patents
invalid or unenforceable, or that our competitors are competing in a non-infringing manner. Thus, even if we have valid and enforceable patents, these patents still may
not provide protection against competing products or processes sufficient to achieve our business objectives.

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, the value of our technology could be materially adversely affected and our business would be
harmed.

        While we have obtained composition of matter patents with respect to our most advanced product candidates, we also rely on trade secret protection for certain
aspects of technology platform, including certain aspects of our SMART linker technology platform. We seek to protect these trade secrets, in part, by entering into
non-disclosure and confidentiality agreements with parties who have access to them, such as our employees, consultants, independent contractors, advisors, contract
manufacturers, suppliers and other third parties. We also enter into confidentiality and invention or patent assignment agreements with employees and certain
consultants. Any party with whom we have executed such an agreement may breach that agreement and disclose our proprietary information, including our trade
secrets, and we may not be able to obtain adequate remedies for such breaches. Enforcing a claim that a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade secret is
difficult, expensive and time-consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, if any of our trade secrets were to be lawfully obtained or independently
developed by a competitor, we would have no right to prevent such third-party, or those to whom they communicate such technology or information, from using that
technology or
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information to compete with us. If any of our trade secrets were to be disclosed to or independently developed by a competitor, our business and competitive position
could be harmed.

We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents or other intellectual property, which could be expensive, time consuming and unsuccessful.

        Competitors may infringe our patents, trademarks, copyrights or other intellectual property. To counter infringement or unauthorized use, we may be required to
file infringement claims, which can be expensive and time consuming and divert the time and attention of our management and scientific personnel. Any claims we
assert against perceived infringers could provoke these parties to assert counterclaims against us alleging that we infringe their patents, in addition to counterclaims
asserting that our patents are invalid or unenforceable, or both. In any patent infringement proceeding, there is a risk that a court will decide that a patent of ours is
invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, and that we do not have the right to stop the other party from using the invention at issue. There is also a risk that, even if
the validity of such patents is upheld, the court will construe the patent's claims narrowly or decide that we do not have the right to stop the other party from using the
invention at issue on the grounds that our patent claims do not cover the invention. An adverse outcome in a litigation or proceeding involving our patents could limit
our ability to assert our patents against those parties or other competitors, and may curtail or preclude our ability to exclude third parties from making and selling
similar or competitive products. Any of these occurrences could adversely affect our competitive business position, business prospects and financial condition.
Similarly, if we assert trademark infringement claims, a court may determine that the marks we have asserted are invalid or unenforceable, or that the party against
whom we have asserted trademark infringement has superior rights to the marks in question. In this case, we could ultimately be forced to cease use of such
trademarks.

        Even if we establish infringement, the court may decide not to grant an injunction against further infringing activity and instead award only monetary damages,
which may or may not be an adequate remedy. Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation,
there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during litigation. There could also be public announcements of the results
of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments. If securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a material
adverse effect on the price of shares of our common stock. Moreover, there can be no assurance that we will have sufficient financial or other resources to file and
pursue such infringement claims, which typically last for years before they are concluded. Even if we ultimately prevail in such claims, the monetary cost of such
litigation and the diversion of the attention of our management and scientific personnel could outweigh any benefit we receive as a result of the proceedings.

If we are sued for infringing intellectual property rights of third parties, such litigation could be costly and time consuming and could prevent or delay us from
developing or commercializing our product candidates.

        Our commercial success depends, in part, on our ability to develop, manufacture, market and sell our product candidates and use our SMART linker technology
platform without infringing the intellectual property and other proprietary rights of third parties. Third parties have U.S. and non-U.S. issued patents and pending
patent applications relating to compounds and methods of use for the treatment of DMD, severe hypertriglyceridemia and hypercholesterolemia, the key indications
for our priority programs. If any third-party patents or patent applications are found to cover our product candidates or their methods of use, we may not be free to
manufacture or market our product candidates as planned without obtaining a license, which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms, or at all.
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        There is a substantial amount of intellectual property litigation in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries, and we may become party to, or threatened
with, litigation or other adversarial proceedings regarding intellectual property rights with respect to our products candidates, including interference proceedings
before the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office. Third parties may assert infringement claims against us based on existing or future intellectual property rights. The
outcome of intellectual property litigation is subject to uncertainties that cannot be adequately quantified in advance. The pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries
have produced a significant number of patents, and it may not always be clear to industry participants, including us, which patents cover various types of products or
methods of use. The coverage of patents is subject to interpretation by the courts, and the interpretation is not always uniform. If we were sued for patent infringement,
we would need to demonstrate that our product candidates, products or methods either do not infringe the patent claims of the relevant patent or that the patent claims
are invalid or unenforceable, and we may not be able to do this. Proving invalidity is difficult. For example, in the United States, proving invalidity requires a showing
of clear and convincing evidence to overcome the presumption of validity enjoyed by issued patents. Even if we are successful in these proceedings, we may incur
substantial costs and the time and attention of our management and scientific personnel could be diverted in pursuing these proceedings, which could significantly
harm our business and operating results. In addition, we may not have sufficient resources to bring these actions to a successful conclusion.

        If we are found to infringe a third-party's intellectual property rights, we could be forced, including by court order, to cease developing, manufacturing or
commercializing the infringing product candidate or product. Alternatively, we may be required to obtain a license from such third-party in order to use the infringing
technology and continue developing, manufacturing or marketing the infringing product candidate. However, we may not be able to obtain any required license on
commercially reasonable terms or at all. Even if we were able to obtain a license, it could be non-exclusive, thereby giving our competitors access to the same
technologies licensed to us. In addition, we could be found liable for monetary damages, including treble damages and attorneys' fees if we are found to have willfully
infringed a patent. A finding of infringement could prevent us from commercializing our product candidates or force us to cease some of our business operations,
which could materially harm our business. Claims that we have misappropriated the confidential information or trade secrets of third parties could have a similar
negative impact on our business.

Changes to the patent law in the United States and other jurisdictions could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our
products.

        As is the case with other biopharmaceutical companies, our success is heavily dependent on intellectual property, particularly patents. Obtaining and enforcing
patents in the biopharmaceutical industry involves both technological and legal complexity and is therefore costly, time consuming and inherently uncertain. Recent
patent reform legislation in the United States and other countries, including the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, or the Leahy-Smith Act, signed into law in
September 2011, could increase those uncertainties and costs. The Leahy-Smith Act includes a number of significant changes to U.S. patent law. These include
provisions that affect the way patent applications are prosecuted, redefine prior art and provide more efficient and cost-effective avenues for competitors to challenge
the validity of patents. In addition, the Leahy-Smith Act has transformed the U.S. patent system into a "first to file" system. The first-to-file provisions, however, only
became effective in March 2013. Accordingly, it is not yet clear what, if any, impact the Leahy-Smith Act will have on the operation of our business. However, the
Leahy-Smith Act and its implementation could make it more difficult to obtain patent protection for our inventions and increase the uncertainties and costs
surrounding the prosecution of our or our collaboration partners' patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our or our collaboration partners' issued patents,
all of which could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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        The U.S. Supreme Court has ruled on several patent cases in recent years, either narrowing the scope of patent protection available in certain circumstances or
weakening the rights of patent owners in certain situations. Additionally, there have been recent proposals for additional changes to the patent laws of the United States
and other countries that, if adopted, could impact our ability to enforce our proprietary technology. Depending on future actions by the U.S. Congress, the U.S. courts,
the USPTO and the relevant law-making bodies in other countries, the laws and regulations governing patents could change in unpredictable ways that would weaken
our ability to obtain new patents or to enforce our existing patents and patents that we might obtain in the future.

Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document submissions, fee payment and other requirements
imposed by governmental patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements.

        Periodic maintenance fees on any issued patent are due to be paid to the USPTO and foreign patent agencies in several stages over the lifetime of the patent. The
USPTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions
during the patent application process. While an inadvertent lapse can in many cases be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance with the
applicable rules, there are situations in which noncompliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss
of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. Non-compliance events that could result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application include, but are not
limited to, failure to respond to official actions within prescribed time limits, non-payment of fees and failure to properly legalize and submit formal documents. If we
fail to maintain the patents and patent applications covering our product candidates, our competitive position would be adversely affected.

We may not be able to enforce our intellectual property rights throughout the world.

        Filing, prosecuting and defending patents on our product candidates in all countries throughout the world would be prohibitively expensive. The requirements for
patentability may differ in certain countries, particularly in developing countries. Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not obtained
patent protection to develop their own products and, further, may export otherwise infringing products to territories where we may obtain patent protection, but where
patent enforcement is not as strong as that in the United States. These products may compete with our products in jurisdictions where we do not have any issued or
licensed patents and any future patent claims or other intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from so competing.

        Moreover, our ability to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights may be adversely affected by unforeseen changes in foreign intellectual property laws.
Additionally, laws of some countries outside of the United States and Europe do not afford intellectual property protection to the same extent as the laws of the United
States and Europe. Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in certain foreign jurisdictions. The
legal systems of some countries, including India, China and other developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents and other intellectual property rights.
This could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents or the misappropriation of our other intellectual property rights. For example, many foreign
countries have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner must grant licenses to third parties. Consequently, we may not be able to prevent third parties
from practicing our inventions in certain countries outside the United States and Europe. Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not
obtained patent protection to develop their own products and, further, may export otherwise infringing products to territories where we have patent protection, if our
ability to enforce our patents to stop infringing activities is
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inadequate. These products may compete with our products, and our patents or other intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from
competing.

        Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions, whether or not successful, could result in substantial costs and divert our efforts and resources
from other aspects of our business. Furthermore, while we intend to protect our intellectual property rights in major markets for our products, we cannot ensure that we
will be able to initiate or maintain similar efforts in all jurisdictions in which we may wish to market our products. Accordingly, our efforts to protect our intellectual
property rights in such countries may be inadequate.

Patent term may be inadequate to protect our competitive position on our products for an adequate amount of time.

        Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new product candidates, patents protecting such candidates might expire
before or shortly after such candidates are commercialized. We expect to seek extensions of patent terms in the United States and, if available, in other countries where
we are prosecuting patents. In the United States, the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984 permits a patent term extension of up to five
years beyond the normal expiration of the patent, which is limited to the approved indication (or any additional indications approved during the period of extension).
However, the applicable authorities, including the FDA and the USPTO in the United States, and any equivalent regulatory authority in other countries, may not agree
with our assessment of whether such extensions are available, and may refuse to grant extensions to our patents, or may grant more limited extensions than we request.
If this occurs, our competitors may be able to take advantage of our investment in development and clinical trials by referencing our clinical and preclinical data and
launch their product earlier than might otherwise be the case.

We may be subject to claims by third parties asserting that our employees or we have misappropriated their intellectual property, or claiming ownership of what we
regard as our own intellectual property.

        Many of our employees and our licensors' employees, including our senior management, were previously employed at universities or at other biotechnology or
pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or potential competitors. Some of these employees, including each member of our senior management, executed
proprietary rights, non-disclosure and non-competition agreements, or similar agreements, in connection with such previous employment. Although we try to ensure
that our employees do not use the proprietary information or know-how of others in their work for us, we may be subject to claims that we or these employees have
used or disclosed intellectual property, including trade secrets or other proprietary information, of any such third party. Litigation may be necessary to defend against
such claims. If we fail in defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel or sustain
damages. Such intellectual property rights could be awarded to a third party, and we could be required to obtain a license from such third party to commercialize our
technology or products. Such a license may not be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Even if we are successful in defending against such claims,
litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management.

        In addition, while we typically require our employees, consultants and contractors who may be involved in the development of intellectual property to execute
agreements assigning such intellectual property to us, we may be unsuccessful in executing such an agreement with each party who in fact develops intellectual
property that we regard as our own, which may result in claims by or against us related to the ownership of such intellectual property. If we fail in prosecuting or
defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights. Even if we are successful in prosecuting or
defending against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to our senior management and scientific personnel.
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Risks Related to Regulatory Approval and Other Legal Compliance Matters 

Even if we complete the necessary preclinical and clinical studies, the marketing approval process is expensive, time consuming and uncertain and may prevent us
or any future collaborators from obtaining approvals for the commercialization of some or all of our product candidates. As a result, we cannot predict when or if,
and in which territories, we, or any future collaborators, will obtain marketing approval to commercialize a product candidate.

        The research, testing, manufacturing, labeling, approval, selling, marketing, promotion and distribution of drug products are subject to extensive regulation by the
FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities, which regulations differ from country to country. We, and any future collaborators, are not permitted to market our
product candidates in the United States or in other countries until we, or they, receive approval of an NDA from the FDA or marketing approval from applicable
regulatory authorities outside the United States. Our product candidates are in various stages of development and are subject to the risks of failure inherent in drug
development. We have not submitted an application for or received marketing approval for any of our product candidates in the United States or in any other
jurisdiction. We have limited experience in conducting and managing the clinical trials necessary to obtain marketing approvals, including FDA approval of an NDA.

        The process of obtaining marketing approvals, both in the United States and abroad, is lengthy, expensive and uncertain. It may take many years, if approval is
obtained at all, and can vary substantially based upon a variety of factors, including the type, complexity and novelty of the product candidates involved.

        In addition, changes in marketing approval policies during the development period, changes in or the enactment or promulgation of additional statutes, regulations
or guidance or changes in regulatory review for each submitted product application, may cause delays in the approval or rejection of an application. Regulatory
authorities have substantial discretion in the approval process and may refuse to accept any application or may decide that our data are insufficient for approval and
require additional preclinical, clinical or other studies. In addition, varying interpretations of the data obtained from preclinical and clinical testing could delay, limit or
prevent marketing approval of a product candidate. Any marketing approval we, or any future collaborators, ultimately obtain may be limited or subject to restrictions
or post-approval commitments that render the approved product not commercially viable.

        Any delay in obtaining or failure to obtain required approvals could materially adversely affect our ability or that of any future collaborators to generate revenue
from the particular product candidate, which likely would result in significant harm to our financial position and adversely impact our stock price.

Failure to obtain marketing approval in international jurisdictions would prevent our product candidates from being marketed abroad.

        In order to market and sell our products in the European Union and many other jurisdictions, we, and any future collaborators, must obtain separate marketing
approvals and comply with numerous and varying regulatory requirements. The approval procedure varies among countries and can involve additional testing. The
time required to obtain approval may differ substantially from that required to obtain FDA approval. The marketing approval process outside the United States
generally includes all of the risks associated with obtaining FDA approval. In addition, in many countries outside the United States, it is required that the product be
approved for reimbursement before the product can be approved for sale in that country. We, and any future collaborators, may not obtain approvals from regulatory
authorities outside the United States on a timely basis, if at all. Approval by the FDA does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in other countries or
jurisdictions, and approval by one regulatory authority outside the United States does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in other countries or jurisdictions or
by the FDA.
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We, or any future collaborators, may not be able to obtain orphan drug designation or orphan drug exclusivity for our product candidates.

        Regulatory authorities in some jurisdictions, including the United States and Europe, may designate drugs for relatively small patient populations as orphan drugs.
Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may designate a product as an orphan drug if it is a drug intended to treat a rare disease or condition, which is generally defined
as a patient population of fewer than 200,000 individuals annually in the United States. While we have obtained orphan drug designation from the FDA for CAT-1004
for the treatment of DMD, we, or any future collaborators, may seek orphan drug designations for other product candidates or in other jurisdictions and may be unable
to obtain such designations.

        Even if we, or any future collaborators, obtain orphan drug designation for a product candidate, we, or they, may not be able to obtain orphan drug exclusivity for
that product candidate. Generally, a product with orphan drug designation only becomes entitled to orphan drug exclusivity if it receives the first marketing approval
for the indication for which it has such designation, in which case the FDA or the EMA will be precluded from approving another marketing application for the same
drug for that indication for the applicable exclusivity period. The applicable exclusivity period is seven years in the United States and ten years in Europe. The
European exclusivity period can be reduced to six years if a drug no longer meets the criteria for orphan drug designation or if the drug is sufficiently profitable so that
market exclusivity is no longer justified. Orphan drug exclusivity may be lost if the FDA or the EMA determines that the request for designation was materially
defective or if the manufacturer is unable to assure sufficient quantity of the drug to meet the needs of patients with the rare disease or condition.

        Even if we, or any future collaborators, obtain orphan drug exclusivity for a product, that exclusivity may not effectively protect the product from competition
because different drugs can be approved for the same condition. Even after an orphan drug is approved, the FDA can subsequently approve the same drug for the same
condition if the FDA concludes that the later drug is clinically superior in that it is shown to be safer, more effective or makes a major contribution to patient care.

Even if we, or any future collaborators, obtain marketing approvals for our product candidates, the terms of approvals and ongoing regulation of our products
may limit how we, or they, manufacture and market our products, which could materially impair our ability to generate revenue.

        Once marketing approval has been granted, an approved product and its manufacturer and marketer are subject to ongoing review and extensive regulation. We,
and any future collaborators, must therefore comply with requirements concerning advertising and promotion for any of our product candidates for which we or they
obtain marketing approval. Promotional communications with respect to prescription drugs are subject to a variety of legal and regulatory restrictions and must be
consistent with the information in the product's approved labeling. Thus, we and any future collaborators will not be able to promote any products we develop for
indications or uses for which they are not approved.

        In addition, manufacturers of approved products and those manufacturers' facilities are required to comply with extensive FDA requirements, including ensuring
that quality control and manufacturing procedures conform to cGMPs, which include requirements relating to quality control and quality assurance as well as the
corresponding maintenance of records and documentation and reporting requirements. We, our contract manufacturers, any future collaborators and their contract
manufacturers could be subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA to monitor and ensure compliance with cGMPs.

        Accordingly, assuming we, or any future collaborators, receive marketing approval for one or more of our product candidates, we, and any future collaborators,
and our and their contract manufacturers will continue to expend time, money and effort in all areas of regulatory compliance, including manufacturing, production,
product surveillance and quality control.
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        If we, and any future collaborators, are not able to comply with post-approval regulatory requirements, we, and any future collaborators, could have the marketing
approvals for our products withdrawn by regulatory authorities and our, or any future collaborators', ability to market any future products could be limited, which
could adversely affect our ability to achieve or sustain profitability. Further, the cost of compliance with post-approval regulations may have a negative effect on our
operating results and financial condition.

Any of our product candidates for which we, or any future collaborators, obtain marketing approval in the future could be subject to post-marketing restrictions or
withdrawal from the market and we, or any future collaborators, may be subject to substantial penalties if we, or they, fail to comply with regulatory requirements
or if we, or they, experience unanticipated problems with our products following approval.

        Any of our product candidates for which we, or any future collaborators, obtain marketing approval in the future, as well as the manufacturing processes, post-
approval studies and measures, labeling, advertising and promotional activities for such product, among other things, will be subject to continual requirements of and
review by the FDA and other regulatory authorities. These requirements include submissions of safety and other post-marketing information and reports, registration
and listing requirements, requirements relating to manufacturing, quality control, quality assurance and corresponding maintenance of records and documents,
requirements regarding the distribution of samples to physicians and recordkeeping. Even if marketing approval of a product candidate is granted, the approval may be
subject to limitations on the indicated uses for which the product may be marketed or to the conditions of approval, including the requirement to implement a Risk
Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy.

        The FDA may also impose requirements for costly post-marketing studies or clinical trials and surveillance to monitor the safety or efficacy of a product. The
FDA and other agencies, including the Department of Justice, closely regulate and monitor the post-approval marketing and promotion of products to ensure that they
are manufactured, marketed and distributed only for the approved indications and in accordance with the provisions of the approved labeling. The FDA imposes
stringent restrictions on manufacturers' communications regarding off-label use and if we, or any future collaborators, do not market any of our product candidates for
which we, or they, receive marketing approval for only their approved indications, we, or they, may be subject to warnings or enforcement action for off-label
marketing. Violation of the FDCA and other statutes, including the False Claims Act, relating to the promotion and advertising of prescription drugs may lead to
investigations or allegations of violations of federal and state health care fraud and abuse laws and state consumer protection laws.

        In addition, later discovery of previously unknown adverse events or other problems with our products or their manufacturers or manufacturing processes, or
failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may yield various results, including:

• restrictions on such products, manufacturers or manufacturing processes; 

• restrictions on the labeling or marketing of a product; 

• restrictions on product distribution or use; 

• requirements to conduct post-marketing studies or clinical trials; 

• warning letters or untitled letters; 

• withdrawal of the products from the market; 

• refusal to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications that we submit; 

• recall of products;
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• restrictions on coverage by third-party payors; 

• fines, restitution or disgorgement of profits or revenues; 

• suspension or withdrawal of marketing approvals; 

• refusal to permit the import or export of products; 

• product seizure; or 

• injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

Recently enacted and future legislation may increase the difficulty and cost for us and any future collaborators to obtain marketing approval of and commercialize
our product candidates and affect the prices we, or they, may obtain.

        In the United States and some foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number of legislative and regulatory changes and proposed changes regarding the
healthcare system that could, among other things, prevent or delay marketing approval of our product candidates, restrict or regulate post-approval activities and affect
our ability, or the ability of any future collaborators, to profitably sell any products for which we, or they, obtain marketing approval. We expect that current laws, as
well as other healthcare reform measures that will be adopted in the future, may result in more rigorous coverage criteria and in additional downward pressure on the
price that we, or any future collaborators, may receive for any approved products.

        The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Affordability Reconciliation Act, or collectively the Affordable
Care Act, became law in 2010 and includes the following provisions of potential importance to our product candidates:

• an annual, non-deductible fee on any entity that manufactures or imports specified branded prescription drugs and biologic agents; 

• an increase in the statutory minimum rebates a manufacturer must pay under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program; 

• expansion of federal healthcare fraud and abuse laws, including the False Claims Act and the Anti-Kickback Statute, new government investigative
powers and enhanced penalties for noncompliance; 

• a new Medicare Part D coverage gap discount program, in which manufacturers must agree to offer 50% point-of-sale discounts off negotiated prices; 

• extension of manufacturers' Medicaid rebate liability; 

• expansion of eligibility criteria for Medicaid programs; 

• expansion of the entities eligible for discounts under the Public Health Service pharmaceutical pricing program new requirements to report financial
arrangements with physicians and teaching hospitals; 

• a new requirement to annually report drug samples that manufacturers and distributors provide to physicians; and 

• a new Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute to oversee, identify priorities in, and conduct comparative clinical effectiveness research, along
with funding for such research.

        In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the Affordable Care Act was enacted. In August 2011, the Budget Control Act of
2011, among other things, created measures for spending reductions by Congress. A Joint Select Committee on Deficit Reduction, tasked
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with recommending a targeted deficit reduction of at least $1.2 trillion for the years 2013 through 2021, was unable to reach required goals, thereby triggering the
legislation's automatic reduction to several government programs. These changes included aggregate reductions to Medicare payments to providers of up to 2% per
fiscal year, which went into effect in April 2013 and will remain in effect through 2024 unless additional Congressional action is taken. The American Taxpayer Relief
Act of 2012, among other things, reduced Medicare payments to several providers and increased the statute of limitations period for the government to recover
overpayments to providers from three to five years. These new laws may result in additional reductions in Medicare and other healthcare funding.

        Legislative and regulatory proposals have been made to expand post-approval requirements and restrict sales and promotional activities for pharmaceutical
products. We cannot be sure whether additional legislative changes will be enacted, or whether the FDA regulations, guidance or interpretations will be changed, or
what the impact of such changes on the marketing approvals of our product candidates, if any, may be. In addition, increased scrutiny by the United States Congress of
the FDA's approval process may significantly delay or prevent marketing approval, as well as subject us and any future collaborators to more stringent product
labeling and post-marketing testing and other requirements.

Our relationships with customers and third-party payors, among others, will be subject to applicable anti-kickback, fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and
regulations, which could expose us to penalties, including criminal sanctions, civil penalties, contractual damages, reputational harm and diminished profits and
future earnings.

        Healthcare providers and third-party payors will play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription of any products for which we obtain marketing
approval. Our arrangements with third-party payors and customers, if any, will subject us to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and
regulations. The laws and regulations may constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through which we market, sell and distribute any products
for which we obtain marketing approval. These include the following:

        Anti-Kickback Statute.    The federal healthcare Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits, among other things, persons and entities from knowingly and willfully soliciting,
offering, receiving or providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward, or in return for, either the referral of an individual for, or
the purchase, order or recommendation or arranging of, any good or service, for which payment may be made under a federal healthcare program such as Medicare
and Medicaid;

        False Claims Laws.    The federal false claims laws impose criminal and civil penalties against individuals or entities for, among other things, knowingly
presenting, or causing to be presented false or fraudulent claims for payment by a federal healthcare program or making a false statement or record material to payment
of a false claim or avoiding, decreasing or concealing an obligation to pay money to the federal government, with potential liability including mandatory treble
damages and significant per-claim penalties;

        HIPAA.    The federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, imposes criminal and civil liability for, among other things,
executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or making false statements relating to healthcare matters, and, as amended by the Health Information
Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act and its implementing regulations, also imposes obligations, including mandatory contractual terms and technical
safeguards, with respect to maintaining the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information;
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        Transparency Requirements.    Federal laws require applicable manufacturers of covered drugs, biologics, devices and supplies to report payments and other
transfers of value to physicians and teaching hospitals and ownership and investment interests by physicians; and

        Analogous State and Foreign Laws.    Analogous state and foreign fraud and abuse laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws, which
may be broader in scope, can apply to our business activities, including sales or marketing arrangements, and claims involving healthcare items or services and are
generally broad and are enforced by many different federal and state agencies as well as through private actions. Some state laws require pharmaceutical companies to
comply with the pharmaceutical industry's voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government and require
drug manufacturers to report information related to payments and other transfers of value to physicians and other healthcare providers or marketing expenditures. State
laws also govern the privacy and security of health information in some circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and often are not pre-
empted by HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts.

        Efforts to ensure that our business arrangements with third parties will comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations will involve substantial costs. It is
possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices may not comply with current or future statutes, regulations or case law involving
applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. If our operations are found to be in violation of any of these laws or any other governmental
regulations that may apply to us, we may be subject to significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines, imprisonment, exclusion of products
from government funded healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. If any of the physicians or other
healthcare providers or entities with whom we expect to do business is found to be not in compliance with applicable laws, they may be subject to criminal, civil or
administrative sanctions, including exclusions from government funded healthcare programs.

If we fail to comply with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, we could become subject to fines or penalties or incur costs that could
significantly harm our business.

        We are subject to numerous environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, including those governing laboratory procedures and the handling, use,
storage, treatment and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes. From time to time and in the future, our operations may involve the use of hazardous and
flammable materials, including chemicals and biological materials, and may also produce hazardous waste products. Although we contract with third parties for the
disposal of these materials and waste products, we cannot completely eliminate the risk of contamination or injury resulting from these materials. In the event of
contamination or injury resulting from the use or disposal of our hazardous materials, we could be held liable for any resulting damages, and any liability could exceed
our resources. We also could incur significant costs associated with civil or criminal fines and penalties for failure to comply with such laws and regulations.

        We maintain workers' compensation insurance to cover us for costs and expenses we may incur due to injuries to our employees resulting from the use of
hazardous materials, but this insurance may not provide adequate coverage against potential liabilities. However, we do not maintain insurance for environmental
liability or toxic tort claims that may be asserted against us.

        In addition, we may incur substantial costs in order to comply with current or future environmental, health and safety laws and regulations. Current or future
environmental laws and regulations may impair our research, development or production efforts, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results
of operations or prospects. In addition, failure to comply with these laws and regulations may result in substantial fines, penalties or other sanctions.
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Governments outside the United States tend to impose strict price controls, which may adversely affect our revenues, if any.

        In some countries, such as the countries of the European Union, the pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals is subject to governmental control. In these countries,
pricing negotiations with governmental authorities can take considerable time after the receipt of marketing approval for a product. To obtain reimbursement or pricing
approval in some countries, we, or any future collaborators, may be required to conduct a clinical trial that compares the cost-effectiveness of our product to other
available therapies. If reimbursement of our products is unavailable or limited in scope or amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, our business could be
materially harmed.

Risks Related to Employee Matters and Managing Growth 

Our future success depends on our ability to retain our Chief Executive Officer and to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel.

        We are highly dependent on the pharmaceutical research and development and business development expertise of Jill C. Milne, our President and Chief Executive
Officer. Although we have entered into an employment agreement with Dr. Milne, this agreement does not prevent her from terminating her employment with us at
any time. In the future, we may be dependent on other members of our management, scientific and development team.

        Our ability to compete in the highly competitive biotechnology and pharmaceuticals industries depends upon our ability to attract and retain highly qualified
managerial, scientific and medical personnel. Our industry has experienced a high rate of turnover of management personnel in recent years. If we lose one or more of
our executive officers or other key employees, our ability to implement our business strategy successfully could be seriously harmed. Furthermore, replacing executive
officers or other key employees may be difficult and may take an extended period of time because of the limited number of individuals in our industry with the breadth
of skills and experience required to develop, gain marketing approval of and commercialize products successfully. Competition to hire from this limited pool is
intense, and we may be unable to hire, train, retain or motivate these additional key employees on acceptable terms given the competition among numerous
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies for similar personnel. We also experience competition for the hiring of scientific and clinical personnel from universities
and research institutions.

        We rely on consultants and advisors, including scientific and clinical advisors, to assist us in formulating our research and development and commercialization
strategy. Our consultants and advisors may be employed by other entities and may have commitments under consulting or advisory contracts with those entities that
may limit their availability to us. If we are unable to continue to attract and retain highly qualified personnel, our ability to develop and commercialize our product
candidates will be limited.

We expect to grow our organization, and as a result, we may encounter difficulties in managing our growth, which could disrupt our operations.

        We expect to experience significant growth in the number of our employees and the scope of our operations, particularly in the areas of drug manufacturing,
regulatory affairs and sales, marketing and distribution. To manage these growth activities, we must continue to implement and improve our managerial, operational
and financial systems, expand our facilities and continue to recruit and train additional qualified personnel. Our management may need to devote a disproportionate
amount of its attention to managing these growth activities. Due to our limited financial resources and the limited experience of our management team in managing a
company with such anticipated growth, we may not be able to effectively manage the expansion of our operations or identify, recruit and train additional qualified
personnel. Our inability to manage the expansion of our operations effectively may result in
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weaknesses in our infrastructure, give rise to operational mistakes, loss of business opportunities, loss of employees and reduced productivity among remaining
employees. Our expected growth could also require significant capital expenditures and may divert financial resources from other projects, such as the development of
additional product candidates. If we are unable to effectively manage our expected growth, our expenses may increase more than expected, our ability to generate
revenues could be reduced and we may not be able to implement our business strategy, including the successful commercialization of our product candidates.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock and This Offering 

No public market for our common stock currently exists, and an active trading market for our common stock may not develop.

        Prior to this offering, there has been no public market for our common stock. The initial public offering price for our common stock will be determined through
negotiations with the underwriters. This price will not necessarily reflect the price at which investors in the market will be willing to buy and sell our shares following
this offering. Although we intend to list our common stock on The NASDAQ Global Market, an active trading market for our shares may never develop or, if
developed, be maintained following this offering. If an active market for our common stock does not develop or is not maintained, it may be difficult for you to sell
shares you purchase in this offering without depressing the market price for the shares or at all. An inactive trading market may also impair our ability to raise capital
to continue to fund operations by selling shares and may impair our ability to acquire other companies or technologies by using our shares as consideration.

If you purchase shares of common stock in this offering, you will suffer immediate dilution in the book value of your investment.

        The initial public offering price of our common stock is substantially higher than the net tangible book value per share of our common stock. Therefore, if you
purchase shares of our common stock in this offering, you will pay a price per share that substantially exceeds our net tangible book value per share after this offering.
Based on the assumed initial public offering price of $        per share, which is the midpoint of the estimated price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus,
you will experience immediate dilution of $        per share, representing the difference between our pro forma net tangible book value per share after giving effect to
this offering and the assumed initial public offering price. Purchasers of common stock in this offering will have contributed approximately    % of the aggregate price
paid by all purchasers of our stock and will own approximately         % of our common stock outstanding after this offering, excluding any shares of our common stock
that they may have acquired prior to this offering. Furthermore, if the underwriters exercise their over-allotment option or our previously issued options and warrants
to acquire common stock at prices below the assumed initial public offering price are exercised, you will experience further dilution. For a further description of the
dilution that you will experience immediately after this offering, see "Dilution."

The price of our common stock is likely to be highly volatile, which could result in substantial losses for purchasers of our common stock in this offering.

        Our stock price is likely to be highly volatile. The stock market in general and the market for smaller pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies in particular
have experienced extreme volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. As a result of this volatility, you may not be
able to sell your common stock at or above the initial public offering price and you may lose some or all of your investment. The market price for our common stock
may be influenced by many factors, including:

• the success of existing or new competitive products or technologies;
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• the timing and results of clinical trials of CAT-1004, CAT-2054 and any of our other product candidates; 

• commencement or termination of collaborations for our development programs; 

• failure or discontinuation of any of our development programs; 

• results of clinical trials of product candidates of our competitors; 

• regulatory or legal developments in the United States and other countries; 

• developments or disputes concerning patent applications, issued patents or other proprietary rights; 

• the recruitment or departure of key personnel; 

• the level of expenses related to any of our product candidates or clinical development programs; 

• the results of our efforts to develop additional product candidates or products; 

• actual or anticipated changes in estimates as to financial results, development timelines or recommendations by securities analysts; 

• announcement or expectation of additional financing efforts; 

• sales of our common stock by us, our insiders or other stockholders; 

• variations in our financial results or those of companies that are perceived to be similar to us; 

• changes in estimates or recommendations by securities analysts, if any, that cover our stock; 

• changes in the structure of healthcare payment systems; 

• market conditions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology sectors; 

• general economic, industry and market conditions; and 

• the other factors described in this "Risk Factors" section.

        Additionally, in the past, securities class action litigation has often been brought against a company following a decline in the market price of its securities. This
risk is especially relevant for us because pharmaceutical companies have experienced significant stock price volatility in recent years. If we face such litigation, it
could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management's attention and resources, which could harm our business.

We have broad discretion in the use of the net proceeds from this offering and may not use them effectively.

        Our management will have broad discretion in the application of the net proceeds from this offering and could spend the proceeds in ways that do not improve our
results of operations or enhance the value of our common stock. The failure by our management to apply these funds effectively could result in financial losses that
could significantly harm our business, cause the price of our common stock to decline and delay the development of our product candidates. Pending their use, we may
invest the net proceeds from this offering in a manner that does not produce income or that loses value.

We are an "emerging growth company," and the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies may make our common stock less
attractive to investors.

        We are an "emerging growth company," as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act, and may remain an emerging growth
company for up to five years. For so long as we remain an emerging growth company, we are permitted and plan to rely on exemptions from
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certain disclosure requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies. These exemptions include not being required to
comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or SOX Section 404, not being required to comply with any
requirement that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor's report
providing additional information about the audit and the financial statements, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation and exemptions from
the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously
approved. In this prospectus, we have not included all of the executive compensation related information that would be required if we were not an emerging growth
company. We cannot predict whether investors will find our common stock less attractive if we rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less
attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our stock price may be more volatile.

        In addition, the JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of an extended transition period for complying with new or revised
accounting standards. This allows an emerging growth company to delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to
private companies. We have irrevocably elected not to avail ourselves of this exemption from new or revised accounting standards and, therefore, we will be subject to
the same new or revised accounting standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies.

We will incur increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management will be required to devote substantial time to new compliance
initiatives and corporate governance practices.

        As a public company, and particularly after we are no longer an "emerging growth company," we will incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that
we did not incur as a private company. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the listing requirements of
The NASDAQ Global Market and other applicable securities rules and regulations impose various requirements on public companies, including establishment and
maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and corporate governance practices. We expect that we will need to hire additional accounting, finance and
other personnel in connection with our becoming, and our efforts to comply with the requirements of being, a public company and our management and other
personnel will need to devote a substantial amount of time towards maintaining compliance with these requirements. These requirements will increase our legal and
financial compliance costs and will make some activities more time-consuming and costly. For example, we expect that the rules and regulations applicable to us as a
public company may make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, which could make it more difficult for us to
attract and retain qualified members of our board of directors. We are currently evaluating these rules and regulations, and cannot predict or estimate the amount of
additional costs we may incur or the timing of such costs. These rules and regulations are often subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of
specificity, and, as a result, their application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. This could result in
continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices.

        Pursuant to SOX Section 404 we will be required to furnish a report by our management on our internal control over financial reporting beginning with our
second filing of an Annual Report on Form 10-K with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, after we become a public company. However, while we
remain an emerging growth company, we will not be required to include an attestation report on internal control over financial reporting issued by our independent
registered public accounting firm. To achieve compliance with SOX Section 404 within the prescribed period, we will be engaged in a process to document and
evaluate our internal control over financial reporting,
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which is both costly and challenging. In this regard, we will need to continue to dedicate internal resources, potentially engage outside consultants and adopt a detailed
work plan to assess and document the adequacy of internal control over financial reporting, continue steps to improve control processes as appropriate, validate
through testing that controls are functioning as documented and implement a continuous reporting and improvement process for internal control over financial
reporting. Despite our efforts, there is a risk that we will not be able to conclude, within the prescribed timeframe or at all, that our internal control over financial
reporting is effective as required by SOX Section 404. If we identify one or more material weaknesses, it could result in an adverse reaction in the financial markets
due to a loss of confidence in the reliability of our financial statements.

A significant portion of our total outstanding shares is restricted from immediate resale but may be sold into the market in the near future, which could cause the
market price of our common stock to decline significantly, even if our business is doing well.

        Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could occur at any time. These sales, or the perception in the market that the
holders of a large number of shares of common stock intend to sell shares, could reduce the market price of our common stock. After this offering and giving effect to
the conversion of all outstanding shares of our preferred stock into 102,967,274 shares of our common stock upon the closing of this offering, we will
have                  shares of common stock outstanding based on the 6,337,920 shares of our common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2014. Of these shares,
the                  shares sold by us in this offering may be resold in the public market immediately, unless purchased by our affiliates. The remaining 109,305,194 shares
are currently restricted under securities laws or as a result of lock-up or other agreements, but will be able to be sold after this offering as described in the "Shares
Eligible for Future Sale" section of this prospectus. Moreover, after this offering, holders of an aggregate of 102,967,274 shares of our common stock, along with the
holders of warrants to purchase 157,844 shares of common stock, will have rights, subject to conditions, to require us to file registration statements covering their
shares or to include their shares in registration statements that we may file for ourselves or other stockholders. We also plan to register all                  shares of common
stock that we may issue under our equity compensation plans. Once we register these shares, they can be freely sold in the public market upon issuance and once
vested, subject to volume limitations applicable to affiliates and the lock-up agreements described in the "Underwriting" section of this prospectus.

We do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our capital stock in the foreseeable future, accordingly, stockholders must rely on capital appreciation, if any,
for any return on their investment.

        We have never declared nor paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently plan to retain all of our future earnings, if any, to finance the operation,
development and growth of our business. Furthermore, the terms of our credit facility with MidCap and Square 1 preclude us from paying dividends, and any future
debt agreements may also preclude us from paying dividends. As a result, capital appreciation, if any, of our common stock will be your sole source of gain for the
foreseeable future.

After this offering, our executive officers, directors and principal stockholders, if they choose to act together, will continue to have the ability to control all matters
submitted to stockholders for approval.

        Upon the closing, our executive officers and directors, combined with our stockholders who owned more than 5% of our outstanding common stock before this
offering and their affiliates will, in the aggregate, beneficially own shares representing approximately    % of our capital stock. As a result, if these stockholders were
to choose to act together, they would be able to control all matters submitted to our stockholders for approval, as well as our management and affairs. For example,
these persons, if they choose to act together, would control the election of directors and approval of any merger,
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consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets. This concentration of ownership control may:

• delay, defer or prevent a change in control; 

• entrench our management or the board of directors; or 

• impede a merger, consolidation, takeover or other business combination involving us that other stockholders may desire.

Provisions in our corporate charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of us, which may be beneficial to our stockholders, more
difficult and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management.

        Provisions in our corporate charter and our bylaws that will become effective upon the closing of this offering may discourage, delay or prevent a merger,
acquisition or other change in control of us that stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which you might otherwise receive a premium for your
shares. These provisions could also limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock, thereby depressing the market
price of our common stock. In addition, because our board of directors is responsible for appointing the members of our management team, these provisions may
frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for stockholders to replace members of
our board of directors. Among other things, these provisions:

• establish a classified board of directors such that all members of the board are not elected at one time; 

• allow the authorized number of our directors to be changed only by resolution of our board of directors; 

• limit the manner in which stockholders can remove directors from the board; 

• establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted on at stockholder
meetings; 

• require that stockholder actions must be effected at a duly called stockholder meeting and prohibit actions by our stockholders by written consent; 

• limit who may call a special meeting of stockholder meetings; 

• authorize our board of directors to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval, which could be used to institute a "poison pill" that would work
to dilute the stock ownership of a potential hostile acquirer, effectively preventing acquisitions that have not been approved by our board of directors;
and 

• require the approval of the holders of at least 75% of the votes that all our stockholders would be entitled to cast to amend or repeal certain provisions
of our charter or bylaws.

        Moreover, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware,
which prohibits a person who owns in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock from merging or combining with us for a period of three years after the date of
the transaction in which the person acquired in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock, unless the merger or combination is approved in a prescribed manner.
This could discourage, delay or prevent someone from acquiring us or merging with us, whether or not it is desired by, or beneficial to, our stockholders.
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Our certificate of incorporation that will become effective upon the closing of this offering designates the state courts in the State of Delaware or, if no state court
located within the State of Delaware has jurisdiction, the federal court for the District of Delaware, as the sole and exclusive forum for certain types of actions and
proceedings that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could discourage lawsuits against the company and our directors and officers.

        Our certificate of incorporation that will become effective upon the closing of this offering provides that, unless our board of directors otherwise determines, the
state courts in the State of Delaware or, if no state court located within the State of Delaware has jurisdiction, the federal court for the District of Delaware, will be the
sole and exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our
directors or officers to our company or our stockholders, any action asserting a claim against us or any of our directors or officers arising pursuant to any provision of
the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, or any action asserting a claim against us or any of our directors or officers governed by the internal affairs
doctrine. This exclusive forum provision may limit the ability of our stockholders to bring a claim in a judicial forum that such stockholders find favorable for disputes
with us or our directors or officers, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our directors and officers.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our share price and trading volume
could decline.

        The trading market for our common stock will likely depend, in part, on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our
business. We do not have any control over these analysts. There can be no assurance that analysts will cover us, or provide favorable coverage. If one or more analysts
downgrade our stock or change their opinion of our stock, our share price would likely decline. In addition, if one or more analysts cease coverage of our company or
fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which could cause our share price or trading volume to decline.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND INDUSTRY DATA 

        This prospectus contains forward-looking statements that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. All statements, other than statements of historical facts,
contained in this prospectus, including statements regarding our strategy, future operations, future financial position, future revenue, projected costs, prospects, plans
and objectives of management and expected market growth are forward-looking statements. The words "anticipate," "believe," "continue," "could," "estimate,"
"expect," "intend," "may," "plan," "potential," "predict," "project," "should," "target," "would" and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking
statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words.

        These forward-looking statements include, among other things, statements about:

• our plans to identify, develop and commercialize novel small molecule drugs based on our SMART linker technology platform; 

• our plans to have up to three product candidates in clinical trials in 2015; 

• ongoing and planned clinical trials for our product candidates, whether conducted by us or by any future collaborators, including the timing of initiation
of these trials and of the anticipated results; 

• our plans to enter into collaborations for the development and commercialization of product candidates; 

• the potential benefits of any future collaboration; 

• our ability to receive research and development funding and achieve anticipated milestones under our collaborations; 

• the timing of and our ability to obtain and maintain regulatory approvals for our product candidates; 

• the rate and degree of market acceptance and clinical utility of any products for which we receive marketing approval; 

• our commercialization, marketing and manufacturing capabilities and strategy; 

• our intellectual property position and strategy; 

• our ability to identify additional products or product candidates with significant commercial potential; 

• our expectations related to the use of proceeds from this offering; 

• our estimates regarding expenses, future revenue, capital requirements and needs for additional financing; 

• developments relating to our competitors and our industry; and 

• the impact of government laws and regulations.

        We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements, and you should not place undue reliance on our
forward-looking statements. Actual results or events could differ materially from the plans, intentions and expectations disclosed in the forward-looking statements we
make. We have included important factors in the cautionary statements included in this prospectus, particularly in the "Risk Factors" section, that could cause actual
results or events to differ materially from the forward-looking statements that we make. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any
future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, collaborations, joint ventures or investments that we may make or enter into.
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        You should read this prospectus and the documents that we have filed as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part completely and
with the understanding that our actual future results may be materially different from what we expect. We do not assume any obligation to update any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law.
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USE OF PROCEEDS 

        We estimate that the net proceeds from our issuance and sale of            shares of our common stock in this offering will be approximately $       million, assuming
an initial public offering price of $           per share, which is the midpoint of the estimated price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, after deducting
estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us. If the underwriters exercise in full their over-allotment option, we
estimate that the net proceeds from this offering will be approximately $       million.

        A $1.00 increase or decrease in the assumed initial public offering price of $           per share, which is the midpoint of the estimated price range set forth on the
cover page of this prospectus, would increase or decrease our net proceeds from this offering by approximately $            , assuming that the number of shares offered
by us, as set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, remains the same and after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and commissions payable by us. An
increase or decrease of 1,000,000 shares in the number of shares offered by us, as set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, would increase or decrease our net
proceeds from this offering by approximately $            , assuming no change in the assumed initial public offering price per share and after deducting estimated
underwriting discounts and commissions payable by us.

        As of December 31, 2014, we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $14.7 million. We currently estimate that we will use the net proceeds from this
offering, together with our cash and cash equivalents, as follows:

• approximately $     million for the clinical development of CAT-1004; 

• approximately $     million for the clinical development of CAT-2054; and 

• the remainder for other product candidates, working capital and other general corporate purposes.

        This expected use of the net proceeds from this offering and our existing cash and cash equivalents represents our intentions based upon our current plans and
business conditions. The amounts and timing of our actual expenditures may vary significantly depending on numerous factors, including the progress of our
development and commercialization efforts, the status of and results from clinical trials, any collaborations that we may enter into with third parties for our product
candidates and any unforeseen cash needs. As a result, our management will retain broad discretion over the allocation of the net proceeds from this offering. We have
no current agreements, commitments or understandings for any material acquisitions or licenses of any products, businesses or technologies.

        Based on our planned use of the net proceeds from this offering and our existing cash and cash equivalents, we estimate that such funds will be sufficient to
enable us to complete our planned Phase 1/2 clinical trial of CAT-1004 and our planned Phase 2 development of CAT-2054, and to fund our operating expenses, debt
service and capital expenditure requirements at least through 2016. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could use our
available capital resources sooner than we currently expect. We do not expect that the net proceeds from this offering and our existing cash and cash equivalents will
be sufficient to enable us to fund the completion of development of any of our product candidates.

        Pending our use of the net proceeds from this offering, we intend to invest the net proceeds in short-term, investment-grade, interest-bearing instruments and U.S.
government securities.
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DIVIDEND POLICY 

        We have never declared nor paid cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain all of our future earnings, if any, to finance the growth and
development of our business. We do not intend to pay cash dividends in respect of our common stock in the foreseeable future. In addition, our ability to pay cash
dividends on our common stock is prohibited by the covenants of our credit facility with MidCap Financial SBIC, LP and Square 1 Bank.
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CAPITALIZATION 

        The following table sets forth our capitalization as of December 31, 2014:

• on an actual basis; 

• on a pro forma basis to give effect to the conversion of all outstanding shares of our preferred stock into 102,967,274 shares of our common stock, the
conversion of our outstanding warrants to purchase 157,844 shares of preferred stock into warrants to purchase 157,844 shares of common stock,
resulting in the reclassification of our warrant liability to stockholders' (deficit) equity, and the filing and effectiveness of a restated certificate of
incorporation, all upon the closing of this offering; and 

• on a pro forma as adjusted basis to give further effect to our issuance and sale of            shares of our common stock in this offering at an assumed
initial public offering price of $           per share, which is the midpoint of the estimated price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, after
deducting estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us.

        Our capitalization following the closing of this offering will depend on the actual initial public offering price and other terms of this offering determined at
pricing. You should read this table together with our financial statements and the related notes appearing at the end of this prospectus and the sections of this
prospectus titled "Selected Financial Data" and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."
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  As of December 31, 2014  

  Actual  Pro Forma  
Pro Forma As

Adjusted  
  (in thousands, except share and per share data)  
Notes payable, net of current portion and discount  $ 4,439 $ 4,439 $   

Warrant liability   108  —  — 

Series A convertible preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share; 68,837,703 shares
authorized, issued and outstanding, actual; no shares authorized, issued or
outstanding, pro forma and pro forma as adjusted   47,898  —  — 

Series B convertible preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share; 37,830,473 shares
authorized, 34,129,571 shares issued and outstanding, actual; no shares authorized,
issued or outstanding, pro forma and pro forma as adjusted   32,248  —    

Preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share; no shares authorized, issued or outstanding
actual;                shares authorized, no shares issued or outstanding pro forma and pro
forma as adjusted   —  —  — 

Common stock, par value $0.001 per share; 132,000,000 shares authorized, 6,337,920
shares issued and outstanding, actual;                shares authorized, pro forma and pro
forma as adjusted; 109,305,194 shares issued and outstanding, pro forma
and                  shares issued and outstanding, pro forma as adjusted   6  109    

Additional paid-in capital   2,321  82,472    

Accumulated deficit   (75,380)  (75,380)    
Total stockholders' (deficit) equity   (73,053)  7,201    
Total capitalization  $ 11,640 $ 11,640 $              
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        A $1.00 increase or decrease in the assumed initial public offering price of $           per share, which is the midpoint of the estimated price range set forth on the
cover page of this prospectus, would increase or decrease the pro forma as adjusted amount of total stockholders' equity by approximately $            , assuming that the
number of shares offered by us, as set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, remains the same and after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and
commissions payable by us. An increase or decrease of 1,000,000 shares in the number of shares offered by us, as set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, would
increase or decrease total stockholders' equity on a pro forma as adjusted basis by $       million, assuming no change in the assumed initial public offering price per
share and after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and commissions payable by us.

        The table above does not include:

• 605,694 shares of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants outstanding as December 31, 2014, at a weighted-average exercise price of
$0.34 per share; 

• 15,756,837 shares of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2014, at a weighted-average
exercise price of $0.32 per share; 

• 2,053,542 shares of our common stock available for future issuance as of December 31, 2014 under our amended and restated 2008 equity incentive
plan; and 

•             additional shares of our common stock that will become available for future issuance in connection with this offering under our 2015 stock
incentive plan.
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DILUTION 

        If you invest in our common stock in this offering, your ownership interest will be diluted immediately to the extent of the difference between the public offering
price per share of our common stock and the pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value per share of our common stock after this offering.

        Our historical net tangible book value (deficit) as of December 31, 2014 was $(73.5) million, or $(11.60) per share of our common stock. Our historical net
tangible book value (deficit) is the amount of our total tangible assets less our total liabilities and preferred stock, which is not included within our stockholders' equity
(deficit). Historical net tangible book value per share represents historical net tangible book value (deficit) divided by the 6,337,920 shares of our common stock
outstanding as of December 31, 2014.

        Our pro forma net tangible book value as of December 31, 2014 was $6.7 million, or $0.06 per share of our common stock. Pro forma net tangible book value
represents the amount of our total tangible assets less our total liabilities, after giving effect to the automatic conversion of all outstanding shares of our preferred stock
into an aggregate of 102,967,274 shares of our common stock upon the closing of this offering and the conversion of warrants to purchase preferred stock into
warrants to purchase common stock resulting in the reclassification of our warrant liability to stockholders' (deficit) equity. Pro forma net tangible book value per share
represents pro forma net tangible book value divided by the total number of shares outstanding as of December 31, 2014, after giving effect to the automatic
conversion of all outstanding shares of our preferred stock into an aggregate of 102,967,274 shares of our common stock upon the closing of this offering.

        After giving effect to our issuance and sale of            shares of our common stock in this offering at an assumed initial public offering price of $        per share,
which is the midpoint of the estimated price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, and after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and
commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us, our pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value as of December 31, 2014 would have been
$         million, or $        per share. This represents an immediate increase in pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value per share of $        to existing stockholders
and immediate dilution of $        in pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value per share to new investors purchasing common stock in this offering. Dilution per
share to new investors is determined by subtracting pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value per share after this offering from the initial public offering price per
share paid by new investors. The following table illustrates this dilution on a per share basis:

        A $1.00 increase or decrease in the assumed initial public offering price of $        per share, which is the midpoint of the estimated price range set forth on the
cover page of this prospectus, would increase or decrease our pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value by $         million, our pro forma as adjusted net tangible
book value per share after this offering by $        and dilution per share to new investors purchasing shares in this offering by $        , assuming that the number of
shares offered by us, as set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, remains the same and after deducting estimated
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Assumed initial public offering price per share     $   
Historical net tangible book value (deficit) per share as of December 31, 2014  $ (11.60)    
Increase per share attributable to the conversion of outstanding preferred stock and the reclassification of

the warrant liability   11.66    
Pro forma net tangible book value per share as of December 31, 2014   0.06    
Increase in net tangible book value per share attributable to new investors        

Pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value per share after this offering                 
Dilution per share to new investors     $            
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underwriting discounts and commissions payable by us. An increase or decrease of 1,000,000 shares in the number of shares offered by us, as set forth on the cover
page of this prospectus, would increase or decrease the pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value per share after this offering by $        and decrease or increase the
dilution per share to new investors participating in this offering by $        , assuming no change in the assumed initial public offering price and after deducting
estimated underwriting discounts and commissions payable by us.

        If the underwriters exercise their over-allotment option in full, the pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value will increase to $        per share, representing an
immediate increase to existing stockholders of $        per share and an immediate dilution of $        per share to new investors. If any shares are issued upon exercise of
outstanding options or outstanding warrants, you will experience further dilution.

        The following table summarizes, on a pro forma basis as of December 31, 2014, after giving effect to the conversion of all of our outstanding preferred stock into
common stock, the differences between the number of shares of common stock purchased from us, the total consideration paid to us and the average price per share
paid by existing stockholders and by new investors purchasing shares of common stock in this offering. The calculation below is based on an assumed initial public
offering price of $        per share, which is the midpoint of the estimated price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, before deducting the estimated
underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us:

        A $1.00 increase or decrease in the assumed initial public offering price of $        per share, which is the midpoint of the estimated price range set forth on the
cover page of this prospectus, would increase or decrease the total consideration paid by new investors by $         million and, in the case of an increase, would increase
the percentage of total consideration paid by new investors by         percentage points and, in the case of a decrease, would decrease the percentage of total
consideration paid by new investors by         percentage points, assuming that the number of shares offered by us, as set forth on the cover page of this prospectus,
remains the same. An increase or decrease of 1,000,000 shares in the number of shares offered by us, as set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, would increase
or decrease the total consideration paid by new investors by $         million and, in the case of an increase, would increase the percentage of total consideration paid by
new investors by         percentage points and, in the case of a decrease, would decrease the percentage of total consideration paid by new investors by         percentage
points, assuming no change in the assumed initial public offering price.

        The number of shares purchased from us by existing stockholders is based on 109,305,194 shares of our common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2014,
after giving effect to the automatic conversion of all of our outstanding shares of preferred stock into 102,967,274 shares of common stock upon the closing of this
offering, and excludes:

• 605,694 shares of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants outstanding as of December 31, 2014, at a weighted-average exercise price
of $0.34 per share; 

• 15,756,837 shares of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2014, at a weighted-average
exercise price of $0.32 per share;
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 Shares Purchased  Total Consideration

   
 

 
Average Price

Per Share
 

  Number  Percent  Amount  Percent  
Existing stockholders   109,305,194        %$          %$   
New investors                 

Total      100%    100%   
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• 2,053,542 additional shares of our common stock available for future issuance as of December 31, 2014 under our amended and restated 2008 equity
incentive plan; and 

•             additional shares of our common stock that will become available for future issuance in connection with this offering under our 2015 stock
incentive plan.

        If the underwriters exercise their over-allotment option in full, the following will occur:

• the percentage of shares of our common stock held by existing stockholders will decrease to        % of the total number of shares of our common stock
outstanding after this offering; and 

• the number of shares of our common stock held by new investors will increase to        , or        % of the total number of shares of our common stock
outstanding after this offering.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 

        You should read the following selected financial data together with our financial statements and the related notes appearing at the end of this prospectus and the
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" section of this prospectus. We have derived the statement of operations
data for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014 and the balance sheet data as of December 31, 2013 and 2014 from our audited financial statements appearing at
the end of this prospectus. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of results that should be expected in any future period.

        See Note 2 in the notes to our financial statements appearing at the end of this prospectus for a description of the method used to calculate basic and diluted net
loss per share and unaudited pro forma basic and diluted net loss per share.
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Year Ended

December 31,  
  2013  2014  

  
(in thousands, except share and per

share data)  
Statement of Operations Data:        
Operating expenses:        

Research and development  $ 13,994 $ 15,686 
General and administrative   4,125  5,995 

Total operating expenses   18,119  21,681 
Loss from operations   (18,119)  (21,681)
Other income (expense):        

Other income (expense), net   1  3 
Interest expense   —  (206)

Total other income (expense), net   1  (203)
Net loss and comprehensive loss  $ (18,118) $ (21,884)
Net loss per share—basic and diluted  $ (3.72) $ (4.02)
Weighted-average number of common shares used in net loss per share—basic and diluted   4,870,362  5,446,186 
Pro forma net loss per share—basic and diluted (unaudited)     $ (0.20)
Weighted-average number of common shares used in pro forma net loss per share—basic and

diluted (unaudited)      108,413,460 

  As of December 31,  
  2013  2014  
  (in thousands)  
Balance Sheet Data:        
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 30,474 $ 14,668 
Total assets   31,002  15,964 
Current liabilities   2,930  4,234 
Notes payable, net of current portion and discount   —  4,439 
Warrant liability   —  108 
Convertible preferred stock   80,146  80,146 
Accumulated deficit   (53,496)  (75,380)
Total stockholders' (deficit) equity   (52,184)  (73,053)
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

        You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our financial statements and the related
notes and other financial information included elsewhere in this prospectus. Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in
this prospectus, including information with respect to our plans and strategy for our business, includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties.
You should review the "Risk Factors" section of this prospectus for a discussion of important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results
described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis.

Overview 

        We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company focused on the discovery, development and commercialization of novel therapeutics based on our proprietary
Safely Metabolized And Rationally Targeted, or SMART, linker technology platform. Our SMART linker technology platform is based on the concept of treating
diseases by simultaneously modulating multiple targets in one or more related disease pathways. We engineer bi-functional product candidates that are conjugates of
two molecules, or bioactives, each with known pharmacological activity, joined by one of our proprietary SMART linkers. Our SMART linker conjugates are designed
for enhanced efficacy and improved safety and tolerability. Our initial focus is on treatments for orphan diseases, such as Duchenne muscular dystrophy, or DMD. We
are also developing other product candidates for the treatment of serious lipid disorders.

        We have applied our SMART linker technology platform to build a development pipeline that includes three clinical-stage product candidates and multiple
programs in preclinical development. Our drug candidates are small molecules. Our lead product candidate, CAT-1004, is an oral small molecule that we believe has
the potential to be a disease-modifying therapy for the treatment of DMD, a fatal genetic disorder involving progressive muscle degeneration. Our two other clinical-
stage product candidates, CAT-2054 and CAT-2003, are members of our CAT-2000 series of molecules. We are initially developing CAT-2054 for the treatment of
patients with hypercholesterolemia, or elevated low density lipoprotein cholesterol, or LDL-C, levels, for whom existing treatments are insufficient.
Hypercholesterolemia is a disease that increases the risk of cardiovascular events. In January 2015, we initiated a Phase 1 clinical trial to assess the safety, tolerability
and pharmacokinetics of CAT-2054 in healthy volunteers. We have completed three pilot Phase 2 trials of CAT-2003 in patient populations with elevated triglycerides
or hypertriglyceridemia. CAT-4001 is in preclinical studies and is being developed for the treatment of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and Friedreich's ataxia, two rare
degenerative diseases of the central nervous system.

        Since our inception in June 2008, we have devoted substantially all of our resources to developing our proprietary platform technology, identifying potential
product candidates, undertaking preclinical studies and conducting clinical trials for our three clinical-stage compounds, building our intellectual property portfolio,
organizing and staffing our company, business planning, raising capital, and providing general and administrative support for these operations. To date, we have
financed our operations primarily through private placements of our preferred stock and a debt financing. From our inception through December 31, 2014, we have
raised an aggregate of $85.7 million, of which $80.5 million consisted of gross proceeds from private placements of preferred stock and $5.0 million consisted of gross
proceeds from a secured debt financing.

        We have not generated any revenue to date. We have incurred significant annual net operating losses in every year since our inception and expect to incur a net
operating loss in 2015 and continue to incur net operating losses for the foreseeable future. Our net losses were $18.1 million and
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$21.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014, respectively. As of December 31, 2014, we had an accumulated deficit of $75.4 million. We expect to
continue to incur significant expenses and increasing operating losses for the next several years. Our net losses may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter and
year to year. We anticipate that our expenses will increase significantly if and as we continue to develop and conduct clinical trials with respect to CAT-1004 and our
CAT-2000 series product candidates; initiate and continue research, preclinical and clinical development efforts for our other product candidates and potential product
candidates; maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio; establish a commercial infrastructure to support the marketing and sale of certain of our
product candidates; and hire additional personnel, such as clinical, regulatory, quality control and scientific personnel. In addition, upon the closing of this offering, we
expect to incur additional costs associated with operating as a public company.

Financial Operations Overview 

Revenue

        To date, we have not generated any revenue from product sales or any other source and do not expect to generate any revenue from the sale of products in the near
future. In the future, we will seek to generate revenue primarily from a combination of product sales and collaborations with strategic partners.

Research and Development Expenses

        Research and development expenses consist primarily of costs incurred for our research activities, including our drug discovery efforts, and the development of
our product candidates, which include:

• employee-related expenses including salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation expense; 

• expenses incurred under agreements with third parties, including contract research organizations, or CROs, that conduct clinical trials and research and
development and preclinical activities on our behalf; 

• the cost of consultants; 

• the cost of lab supplies and acquiring, developing and manufacturing preclinical study materials; and 

• facilities and other expenses, which include direct and allocated expenses for rent and maintenance of facilities, insurance and other supplies.

        Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Nonrefundable advance payments for goods or services to be received in the future for use in research
and development activities are deferred and capitalized. The capitalized amounts are expensed as the related goods are delivered or the services are performed.

        The following summarizes our most advanced current research and development programs:

• CAT-1004 is an orally administered SMART linker conjugate of salicylate and the omega-3 fatty acid docosahexaenoic acid, or DHA, that we designed
to enhance the activity of salicylate and DHA in modulating the NF-kB pathway at multiple points. NF-kB, or nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-
enhancer of activated B cells, is a protein that coordinates cellular response to damage, stress and inflammation and plays an important role in muscle
health. We plan to initiate a Phase 1/2 clinical trial of CAT-1004 for the treatment of DMD in the first half of 2015 and expect to report top-line Phase 2
data in mid-2016. If the results from our Phase 1/2 clinical trial are positive, we intend to conduct a single six-month Phase 3 pivotal clinical trial in
order to seek marketing approval.
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• CAT-2054 is an orally administered SMART linker conjugate of the omega-3 fatty acid eicosapentaenoic acid, or EPA, and nicotinic acid, designed to
modulate the SREBP pathway in the liver. SREBP is a master regulator of lipid metabolism and controls levels of both triglycerides and LDL-C. We
are initially developing CAT-2054 to treat patients with hypercholesterolemia for whom existing treatments are insufficient. In January 2015, we
initiated a Phase 1 clinical trial to assess the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of CAT-2054 in healthy volunteers. If the results of this clinical
trial are positive, we intend to initiate a Phase 2 clinical trial of CAT-2054 for the treatment of hypercholesterolemia in the fourth quarter of 2015. 

• CAT-2003 is an orally administered SMART linker conjugate of EPA and nicotinic acid that we designed to modulate the SREBP pathway in the
intestine. We have completed three pilot Phase 2 trials of CAT-2003 in patient populations with elevated triglycerides or hypertriglyceridemia.

        Other research and development programs include our CAT-4001 development program and activities related to exploratory efforts, target validation and lead
optimization for our early stage programs and our proprietary platform technology.

        We typically use our employee, consultant and infrastructure resources across our development programs. We track outsourced development costs by product
candidate or development program, but we do not allocate personnel costs, other internal costs or external consultant costs to specific product candidates or
development programs. We record our research and development expenses net of any research and development tax incentives we are entitled to receive from
government authorities.

        The following table summarizes our research and development expenses by program:

        The successful development of our product candidates is highly uncertain. Accordingly, at this time, we cannot reasonably estimate the nature, timing and costs of
the efforts that will be necessary to complete the remainder of the development of these product candidates. We are also unable to predict when, if ever, material net
cash inflows will commence from CAT-1004, our CAT-2000 series product

63

  
Year Ended

December 31,  
  2013  2014  
  (in thousands)  
CAT-1004  $ 108 $ 879 

CAT-2054   652  3,208 

CAT-2003   6,727  3,807 

Other research and platform programs   680  1,276 

Costs not directly allocated to programs:        
Employee expenses including cash compensation, benefits and share-based compensation   3,992  4,575 
Facilities   754  733 
Consultants and professional expenses, including share-based compensation   605  736 
Other   476  472 

Total costs not directly allocated to programs   5,827  6,516 
Total research and development expenses  $ 13,994 $ 15,686 
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candidates or any of our other current or potential product candidates. This is due to the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with developing medicines,
including the uncertainties of:

• establishing an appropriate safety profile with investigational new drug application, or IND, enabling toxicology studies; 

• successful enrollment in, and completion of clinical trials; 

• receipt of marketing approvals from applicable regulatory authorities; 

• establishing commercial manufacturing capabilities or making arrangements with third-party manufacturers; 

• obtaining and maintaining patent and trade secret protection and regulatory exclusivity for our product candidates; 

• launching commercial sales of the products, if and when approved, whether alone or in collaboration with others; and 

• a continued acceptable safety profile of the products following approval.

        A change in the outcome of any of these variables with respect to the development of any of our product candidates would significantly change the costs and
timing associated with the development of that product candidate.

        Research and development activities are central to our business model. Product candidates in later stages of clinical development generally have higher
development costs than those in earlier stages of clinical development, primarily due to the increased size and duration of later-stage clinical trials. We expect research
and development costs to increase significantly for the foreseeable future as our product candidate development programs progress. However, we do not believe that it
is possible at this time to accurately project total program-specific expenses through commercialization. There are numerous factors associated with the successful
commercialization of any of our product candidates, including future trial design and various regulatory requirements, many of which cannot be determined with
accuracy at this time based on our stage of development. Additionally, future commercial and regulatory factors beyond our control will impact our clinical
development programs and plans.

General and Administrative Expenses

        General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and other related costs, including stock-based compensation, for personnel in executive, finance,
accounting, business development and human resources functions. Other significant costs include facility costs not otherwise included in research and development
expenses, legal fees relating to patent and corporate matters, and fees for accounting and consulting services.

        We anticipate that our general and administrative expenses will increase in the future to support continued research and development activities, potential
commercialization of our product candidates and increased costs of operating as a public company. These increases will likely include increased costs related to the
hiring of additional personnel and fees to outside consultants, lawyers and accountants, among other expenses. Additionally, we anticipate increased costs associated
with being a public company including expenses related to services associated with maintaining compliance with exchange listing and Securities and Exchange
Commission requirements, insurance costs and investor relations costs.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

        This discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our financial statements, which we have prepared in accordance with
United States generally accepted
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accounting principles. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting
periods. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including those described in greater detail below. We base our estimates on historical
experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the
carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or
conditions.

        While our significant accounting policies are described in more detail in the notes to our financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus, we believe
that the following accounting policies are the most critical to aid you in fully understanding and evaluating our financial condition and results of operations.

Accrued Research and Development Expenses

        As part of the process of preparing our financial statements, we are required to estimate our accrued expenses. This process involves reviewing quotations and
contracts, identifying services that have been performed on our behalf and estimating the level of service performed and the associated cost incurred for the service
when we have not yet been invoiced or otherwise notified of the actual cost. The majority of our service providers invoice us monthly in arrears for services performed
or when contractual milestones are met. We make estimates of our accrued expenses as of each balance sheet date in our financial statements based on facts and
circumstances known to us at that time. We periodically confirm the accuracy of our estimates with the service providers and make adjustments if necessary. The
significant estimates in our accrued research and development expenses include the costs incurred for services performed by CROs in connection with research and
development activities for which we have not yet been invoiced.

        We base our expenses related to CROs on our estimates of the services received and efforts expended pursuant to quotes and contracts with CROs that conduct
research and development on our behalf. The financial terms of these agreements are subject to negotiation, vary from contract to contract and may result in uneven
payment flows. There may be instances in which payments made to our CROs will exceed the level of services provided and result in a prepayment of the research and
development expense. In accruing service fees, we estimate the time period over which services will be performed and the level of effort to be expended in each
period. If the actual timing of the performance of services or the level of effort varies from our estimate, we adjust the accrual or prepaid expense accordingly.
Although we do not expect our estimates to be materially different from amounts actually incurred, if our estimates of the status and timing of services performed
differ from the actual status and timing of services performed, it could result in us reporting expense amounts that are too high or too low in any particular period. To
date, there have been no material differences between our estimates of such expenses and the amounts actually incurred.

Stock-Based Compensation

        We measure stock-based awards granted to employees and members of the board of directors at fair value on the date of grant and recognize the corresponding
stock-based compensation expense of those awards, net of estimated forfeitures, over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the
respective award. We have historically granted stock options with exercise prices equivalent to the fair value of our common stock as of the date of grant.

        We measure other stock-based awards granted to non-employees at fair value as the awards vest and recognize the resulting value as expense during the period
the related services are rendered. At the end of each financial reporting period prior to completion of the service, we re-measure the unvested portion of these awards.
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        We estimate the fair value of each stock option grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. We historically have been a private company and lack
company-specific historical and implied volatility information. Therefore, we estimate our expected volatility based on the historical volatility of a representative
group of publicly traded biopharmaceutical companies and expect to continue to do so until we have adequate historical data regarding the volatility of our traded
stock price. We determine the expected term of our options utilizing the "simplified" method for awards that qualify as "plain-vanilla" options, while we determine the
expected term of other nonemployee options based on the contractual term of the options. We determine the risk-free interest rate by reference to the U.S. Treasury
yield curve in effect at the time of grant of the award for time periods approximately equal to the expected term of the award. We assume an expected dividend yield of
zero because we have never paid cash dividends and do not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

        We estimated the fair value of stock options granted using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model based on the assumptions noted in the following table:

        These assumptions represented our best estimates, but the estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of our judgment. As a result, if factors
change and we use significantly different assumptions or estimates, our stock-based compensation expense could be materially different. We recognize stock-based
compensation expense for only the portion of awards that are expected to vest. In developing a forfeiture rate estimate for pre-vesting forfeitures, we have considered
our historical experience of actual forfeitures. If our future actual forfeiture rate is materially different from our estimate, our stock-based compensation expense could
be significantly different from what we have recorded in the prior periods. However, estimates will not be necessary to determine the fair value of new awards once
our common stock begins to be publicly traded.

        The following table summarizes the classification of our stock-based compensation expense recognized in our statements of operations:

Valuations of Common Stock

        Our board of directors determines the fair value of our common stock on each date of grant, with input from management. Due to the absence of a public trading
market for our common stock, our board of directors' determination of the fair value of our common stock has historically been performed using methodologies,
approaches and assumptions consistent with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Audit and Accounting Practice Aid Series: Valuation of Privately-
Held-Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation. We performed a contemporaneous valuation, with the assistance of a third-party specialist, as of October 31,
2013. For financial reporting
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  Year Ended December 31,
  2013  2014
Risk-free interest rate  0.92 - 2.03%  1.71 - 3.01%
Expected dividend yield  —  —
Expected term (in years)  6.25 - 10.0  6.25 - 10.0
Expected volatility  75.0 - 81.5%  75.2 - 83.4%

  
Year Ended

December 31,  
  2013  2014  
  (in thousands)  
Research and development expenses  $ 224 $ 434 
General and administrative expenses   119  463 

 $ 343 $ 897 
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purposes, we also performed common stock valuations retrospectively, with the assistance of a third-party specialist, as of April 1, 2014, August 28, 2014 and
December 31, 2014. Our board of directors has considered various objective and subjective factors, along with input from management, to determine its best estimate
of the fair value of our common stock as of each grant date, including the following:

• the prices at which we sold shares of preferred stock and the superior rights and preferences of the preferred stock relative to our common stock; 

• the progress of our research and development programs, including the status of clinical trials for our product candidates; 

• our stage of development and business strategy; 

• our financial condition, including cash on hand and borrowings under our credit facility; 

• our historical and forecasted performance and operating results; 

• the composition of, and changes to, our management team and board of directors; 

• the lack of an active public market for our common stock and our preferred stock; 

• the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event such as a sale of our company or an initial public offering, or IPO, given prevailing market conditions; 

• the analysis of initial public offerings and the market performance of similar companies in the biopharmaceutical industry; 

• external market conditions affecting the biopharmaceutical industry; and 

• trends within the biopharmaceutical industry.

        Historically, the dates of our contemporaneous valuations have not always coincided with the dates of our stock-based compensation grants. In determining the
exercise prices of the options granted, our board of directors considered, among other things, the most recent contemporaneous or retrospective valuations of our
common stock and our assessment of additional objective and subjective factors we believed were relevant as of the grant date. The additional factors considered when
determining any changes in fair value between the most recent contemporaneous valuation, or if available the most recent retrospective valuation, and the grant dates
included, when available, the prices paid in recent transactions involving our equity securities, as well as our stage of development, our operating and financial
performance and current business conditions.

        There are significant judgments and estimates inherent in the determination of the fair value of our common stock, including the contemporaneous and
retrospective valuations. These judgments and estimates include assumptions regarding our future operating performance, the time to completing an IPO or other
liquidity event and the determinations of the appropriate valuation methods. If we had made different assumptions, our stock-based compensation expense, net loss and
net loss per common share could have been significantly different.

Valuation Methodologies

        Our common stock valuations were prepared using a hybrid of the option-pricing method, or OPM, and the probability-weighted expected return method, or
PWERM.

        OPM.    The OPM treats each class of common stock and preferred stock as call options on the total equity value of a company, with exercise prices based on the
value thresholds at which the allocation among the various holders of a company's securities changes. Under this method, the common stock has value only if the
funds available for distribution to stockholders exceed the value of
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the preferred stock liquidation preference at the time of a liquidity event, such as a strategic sale, merger or IPO. The common stock is modeled as a call option on the
underlying equity value at a predetermined exercise price. In the model, the exercise price is based on a comparison with the total equity value rather than, as in the
case of a regular call option, a comparison with a per share stock price. Thus, common stock is considered to be a call option with a claim on the enterprise at an
exercise price equal to the remaining value immediately after the preferred stock liquidation preference is paid.

        The OPM uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to price the call options. This model defines the securities' fair values as functions of the current fair value
of a company and uses assumptions such as the anticipated timing of a potential liquidity event and the estimated volatility of the equity securities. The aggregate
value of the common stock derived from the OPM is then divided by the number of shares of common stock outstanding to arrive at the per share value.

        We used the OPM backsolve approach to estimate enterprise value under the OPM. The OPM backsolve approach uses the OPM to calculate the implied equity
value based on recent sales of the company's securities. For the OPM, we based our assumed volatility factor on the historical trading volatility of our publicly traded
peer companies. At each valuation date, we determined the appropriate volatility to be used, considering such factors as our expected time to a liquidity event and our
stage of development.

        To derive the fair value of our common stock using the OPM, we calculated the proceeds to the common stockholders based on the preferences and priorities of
the preferred and common stock. We then applied a discount for lack of marketability to the common stock to account for the lack of access to an active public market.

        PWERM.    The PWERM is a scenario-based methodology that estimates the fair value of common stock based upon an analysis of future values for the company,
assuming various outcomes. The common stock value is based on the probability-weighted present value of expected future investment returns considering each of the
possible outcomes available as well as the rights of each class of stock. The future value of the common stock under each outcome is discounted back to the valuation
date at an appropriate risk-adjusted discount rate and probability weighted to arrive at an indication of value for the common stock. A discount for lack of
marketability is then applied to the common stock to account for the lack of access to an active public market.

        For our common stock valuations as of October 31, 2013, April 1, 2014, August 28, 2014 and December 31, 2014, we used a hybrid of the OPM and PWERM
and considered two types of future event scenarios: an IPO and a sale transaction. We valued the IPO scenario using the OPM backsolve approach for the October 31,
2013 valuation. We used the guideline public company method, which includes comparisons to publicly traded companies in our industry that recently completed
IPOs, for the April 1, 2014, August 28, 2014 and December 31, 2014 valuations. We valued the sale scenario using the OPM backsolve approach. Our board of
directors determined the relative probability of each type of future event scenario based on an analysis of market conditions at the time, including then-current IPO
valuations of similarly situated companies, and expectations as to the timing and likely prospects of the future-event scenarios.

        To derive the fair value of the common stock for each scenario using the hybrid PWERM and OPM, we calculated the proceeds to the common stockholders
based on the preferences and priorities of the preferred and common stock. We then applied a discount for lack of marketability to the common stock to account for the
lack of access to an active public market.

68



Table of Contents

Option Grants

        The following table summarizes by grant date the number of shares of common stock subject to options granted between January 1, 2014 and March 5, 2015, the
per share exercise price of the options, the fair value of the common stock underlying the options on the date of grant and the per share estimated fair value of the
options. For financial reporting purposes, the value of the April 1, 2014 valuation has been applied retrospectively to our March 19, 2014 option grants and the value
of the October 28, 2014 valuation has been applied retrospectively to our August 28, 2014, October 21, 2014 and November 5, 2014 option grants.

JOBS Act

        In April 2012, the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act, was enacted. Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that an "emerging growth
company," or EGC, can take advantage of the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards. Thus, an EGC can delay the
adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. We have irrevocably elected not to avail ourselves of this
extended transition period and, as a result, we will adopt new or revised accounting standards on the relevant dates on which adoption of such standards is required for
other public companies.

        We are in the process of evaluating the benefits of relying on other exemptions and reduced reporting requirements under the JOBS Act. Subject to certain
conditions, as an EGC, we intend to rely on certain of these exemptions, including exemptions from the requirement to provide an auditor's attestation report on our
system of internal controls over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and from any requirement that may be adopted by the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor's report providing additional information about the audit
and the financial statements, known as the auditor discussion and analysis. We will remain an EGC until the earlier of: the last day of the fiscal year in which we have
total annual gross revenues of $1 billion or more; the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the date of the completion of this offering; the date on
which we have issued more than $1 billion in nonconvertible debt during the previous three years; or the date on which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer
under the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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Grant Date  

Number of
Common

Shares
Underlying

Options
Granted  

Per Share
Exercise Price
of Options(1)  

Fair Value of
Common Stock

on Grant
Date(1)  

Retrospective
Fair Value
Per Share
on Grant
Date(2)  

March 19, 2014   5,581,220 $ 0.53 $ 0.53 $ 0.56 
August 28, 2014   727,280 $ 0.56 $ 0.56 $ 0.60 
October 21, 2014   700,000 $ 0.56 $ 0.56 $ 0.60 
November 5, 2014   50,000 $ 0.56 $ 0.56 $ 0.60 
February 12, 2015   1,769,000 $ 0.74 $ 0.74 $ 0.74 

(1) Represents the determination by our board of directors of the fair value of our common stock on the date of grant, taking into
consideration the various objective and subjective factors described above. 

(2) The fair value of common stock at the grant date was adjusted in connection with a retrospective fair value assessment for financial
reporting purposes.
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Results of Operations 

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2014

        The following table summarizes our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014, together with the dollar change in those items:

Research and Development Expenses

        Research and development expenses increased by $1.7 million to $15.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 from $14.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013, an increase of 12%. The increase in research and development expenses was partially attributable to a net increase of $1.0 million in direct
program costs, reflecting an increase of $2.6 million for CAT-2054 manufacturing and preclinical development costs associated with IND-enabling studies, an increase
of $0.6 million in our general research and platform programs and an increase of $0.8 million for CAT-1004 manufacturing and preclinical development costs, which
were partially offset by a decrease of $3.0 million in CAT-2003 clinical trial, manufacturing and preclinical development costs due to the completion of two Phase 2
clinical trials in late 2013 and early 2014. In addition, the costs related to internal research and development increased by $0.7 million, primarily attributable to stock-
based compensation expense.

General and Administrative Expenses

        General and administrative expenses increased by $1.9 million to $6.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 from $4.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013, an increase of 46%. The increase in general and administrative expenses was primarily attributable to increased employee costs of $0.7 million
and increased professional and consulting fees of $0.9 million. The $0.7 million increase in employee costs consisted of an increase of $0.6 million in salaries and
benefits and an increase of $0.3 million in stock-based compensation expense, partially offset by a decrease of $0.2 million in travel expense. The increase in
employee costs was primarily due to the hiring of additional members of our management team. The $0.9 million increase in professional and consulting fees
primarily consisted of an increase of $0.4 million in intellectual property legal fees and an increase of $0.4 million in consulting expense associated with market
studies for our product candidates.

Other Expense

        Other expense consists primarily of interest expense, which increased by $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, due to the interest expense on our
credit facility which we entered into in August 2014.
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Year Ended

December 31,    
  2013  2014  Change  
  (in thousands)  
Operating expenses:           

Research and development  $ 13,994 $ 15,686 $ 1,692 
General and administrative   4,125  5,995  1,870 

Total operating expenses   18,119  21,681  3,562 
Loss from operations   (18,119)  (21,681)  (3,562)
Other expense   1  (203)  (204)
Net loss  $ (18,118) $ (21,884) $ (3,766)
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Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Sources of Liquidity

        From our inception through December 31, 2014, we have raised an aggregate of $85.7 million, of which $80.5 million consisted of gross proceeds from private
placements of preferred stock and $5.0 million consisted of gross proceeds from a secured debt financing. As of December 31, 2014, we had $14.7 million in cash and
cash equivalents.

        On August 27, 2014, we entered into a loan and security agreement, or the Credit Facility, with MidCap Financial SBIC and Square 1 Bank. The Credit Facility
provides for initial borrowings of $5.0 million and additional borrowings of up to $20.0 million. Concurrently with entering into the Credit Facility, we borrowed
$5.0 million under a term loan under the Credit Facility and we issued to the lenders warrants to purchase an aggregate of 157,844 shares of our Series B convertible
preferred stock (157,844 shares of common stock on an as-converted basis) at an exercise price of $0.9503 per share. Of the additional $20.0 million available to us,
$10.0 million is available to be drawn until March 31, 2015, subject to our issuance of warrants to purchase shares of our stock equal in value to 3% of the amount
drawn. The remaining $10.0 million will be available to us subject to the completion of an initial public offering with net cash proceeds to us of at least $50.0 million
until June 30, 2015, and also subject to our issuance of warrants to purchase shares of our stock equal in value to 3% of the amount drawn. All borrowings under the
Credit Facility are due on October 1, 2018 and are collateralized by substantially all of our personal property, other than our intellectual property.

        There are no financial covenants associated with the Credit Facility; however, there are negative covenants that prohibit us from transferring any of our material
assets, exclusively licensing our intellectual property (subject to certain exceptions), merging with or acquiring another entity, entering into a transaction that would
result in a change of control, incurring additional indebtedness, creating any lien on our property, making investments in third parties or redeeming stock or paying
dividends.

        The Credit Facility also includes events of default, the occurrence and continuation of any of which provides the lenders the right to exercise remedies against us
and the collateral securing the loans under the Credit Facility, including cash. These events of default include, among other things, failure to pay amounts due under
the Credit Facility, insolvency, the occurrence of a material adverse event, which includes a material adverse change in our business, operations or conditions (financial
or otherwise) or a material impairment of the prospect of repayment of any portion of the obligations, the occurrence of any default under certain other indebtedness
and a final judgment against us in an amount greater than $250,000. The occurrence of a material adverse change could result in acceleration of payment of the debt.
At December 31, 2014, we concluded that the likelihood of the acceleration of the debt was remote, as a material adverse change had not occurred and was unlikely to
occur.

        We are obligated to make monthly interest-only payments on any term loans borrowed under the Credit Facility until September 1, 2015 and, thereafter, to pay 36
consecutive, equal monthly installments of principal and interest from October 1, 2015 through September 1, 2018. Term loans under the Credit Facility bear interest
at an annual rate of 7.49%. Following the occurrence and during the continuance of an event of default, borrowings under the Credit Facility will bear interest at an
annual rate that is 5.00% above the rate that is otherwise applicable. In addition, a final payment equal to 3.48% of any amounts drawn under the Credit Facility is due
upon the earlier of the maturity date, acceleration of the term loans or prepayment of all or part of the term loans.
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Cash Flows

        The following table provides information regarding our cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014:

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

        Net cash used in operating activities was $20.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 and consisted primarily of a net loss of $21.9 million adjusted for
non-cash items, including stock-based compensation expense of $0.9 million and depreciation and amortization expense of $0.2 million, and a net increase in
operating assets of $0.8 million, which resulted primarily from a net increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $0.5 million partially offset by an increase
in prepaid expenses and other current assets of $0.2 million.

        Net cash used in operating activities was $16.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, and consisted primarily of a net loss of $18.1 million adjusted for
non-cash items, including stock-based compensation expense of $0.3 million and depreciation and amortization expense of $0.3 million, and a net increase in
operating assets of $1.1 million, which resulted primarily from a net increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $1.0 million and a decrease in prepaid
expenses and other current assets of $0.1 million.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

        Net cash used in investing activities was $0.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to $43,000 during the year ended December 31, 2013.

        The cash used in investing activities for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 was primarily the result of purchases of property and equipment.

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

        Net cash provided by financing activities was $4.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to $41.4 million during the year ended
December 31, 2013. The cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2014 primarily consisted of gross proceeds of $5.0 million from our
borrowings under the Credit Facility, partially offset by $0.3 million of debt issuance costs. The cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31,
2013 consisted of net proceeds of $9.2 million from the issuance of 13,136,951 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock in January and June 2013, net proceeds
of $32.2 million from the issuance of 34,129,571 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock in October 2013 and proceeds received from stock option exercises.

Funding Requirements

        We expect our expenses to increase in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as we continue the research and development of, and conduct clinical
trials and seek marketing approval for,
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Year Ended

December 31,  
  2013  2014  
  (in thousands)  
Net cash used in operating activities  $ (16,366) $ (20,412)
Net cash used in investing activities   (43)  (228)
Net cash provided by financing activities   41,449  4,834 
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  $ 25,040 $ (15,806)
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our product candidates. In addition, if we obtain marketing approval for any of our product candidates, we expect to incur significant commercialization expenses
related to product sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution. Furthermore, upon the closing of this offering, we expect to incur additional costs associated with
operating as a public company. Accordingly, we will need to obtain substantial additional funding in connection with our continuing operations. If we are unable to
raise capital when needed or on attractive terms, we would be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate our research and development programs or future commercialization
efforts.

        We expect that the net proceeds from this offering, together with our existing cash and cash equivalents, will enable us to fund our operating expenses and capital
expenditure requirements at least through 2016. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we may use our available capital
resources sooner than we currently expect. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with the development of CAT-1004, our CAT-2000 series
product candidates and our other current and potential product candidates, and because the extent to which we may enter into collaborations with third parties for the
development of these product candidates is unknown, we are unable to estimate the amounts of increased capital outlays and operating expenses associated with
completing the research and development of our product candidates. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:

• the scope, progress, results and costs of drug discovery, preclinical development, laboratory testing and clinical trials for our product candidates; 

• the success of any future collaborations; 

• the extent to which we acquire or in-license other medicines and technologies; 

• the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory review of our product candidates; 

• the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and enforcing our intellectual property rights and defending intellectual
property-related claims; and 

• our ability to establish and maintain collaborations on favorable terms, if at all.

        Identifying potential product candidates and conducting preclinical testing and clinical trials is a time-consuming, expensive and uncertain process that takes
years to complete, and we may never generate the necessary data or results required to obtain marketing approval and achieve product sales. In addition, our product
candidates, if approved, may not achieve commercial success. Our commercial revenues, if any, will be derived from sales of medicines that we do not expect to be
commercially available for many years, if at all. Accordingly, we will need to continue to rely on additional financing to achieve our business objectives. Adequate
additional financing may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all.

        Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenues, we expect to finance our cash needs through a combination of equity offerings, debt
financings, collaborations, strategic alliances and licensing arrangements. With the exception of the Credit Facility, we do not have any committed external source of
funds. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, our stockholders' ownership interests will be diluted, and
the terms of these securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect our stockholders' rights. Additional debt financing, if available, would
result in increased fixed payment obligations and may involve agreements that include restrictive covenants that limit our ability to take specific actions, such as
incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends, that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business.

        If we raise funds through collaborations, strategic alliances or licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our
technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or product candidates or to grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. If we are
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unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt financings when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development or
future commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop and market product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves.

Contractual Obligations

        The following table summarizes our significant contractual obligations as of payment due date by period at December 31, 2014:

        We enter into agreements in the normal course of business with CROs for clinical trials and clinical supply manufacturing and with vendors for preclinical
research studies and other services and products for operating purposes. We have not included these payments in the table of contractual obligations above since the
contracts are cancelable at any time by us, generally upon 30 days prior written notice to the CRO, and therefore we believe that our non-cancelable obligations under
these agreements are not material.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

        We did not have during the periods presented, and we do not currently have, any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined under applicable Securities and
Exchange Commission rules.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 

        We are exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates. As of December 31, 2013, we had cash and cash equivalents of $30.5 million and, as of
December 31, 2014, we had cash and cash equivalents of $14.7 million, consisting primarily of money market funds. Our primary exposure to market risk is interest
rate sensitivity, which is affected by changes in the general level of U.S. interest rates, particularly because our investments are in short-term marketable securities. Our
marketable securities are subject to interest rate risk and could fall in value if market interest rates increase. Due to the short-term duration of our investment portfolio
and the low risk profile of our investments, an immediate 10% change in interest rates would not have a material effect on the fair market value of our investment
portfolio. We have the ability to hold our marketable securities until maturity, and therefore we would not expect our operating results or cash flows to be affected to
any significant degree by the effect of a change in market interest rates on our investments.

        As of December 31, 2013 and 2014, we had no liabilities denominated in foreign currencies.
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  Payments due by period  

(In thousands)  Total  
Less than

1 Year  1 - 3 Years  3 - 5 Years  
More than

5 Years  
Term loan(1)  $ 6,044 $ 794 $ 3,787 $ 1,463 $ — 
Operating lease obligations(2)   1,894  756  1,138  —  — 
Total contractual cash obligations  $ 7,938 $ 1,550 $ 4,925 $ 1,463 $ — 

(1) Consists of repayment obligations under the Credit Facility, including interest. 

(2) Represents future minimum lease payments under our non-cancelable operating lease. The minimum lease payments above do not include any
related common area maintenance charges or real estate taxes.
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BUSINESS 

Overview 

        We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company focused on the discovery, development and commercialization of novel therapeutics based on our proprietary
Safely Metabolized And Rationally Targeted, or SMART, linker technology platform. Our SMART linker technology platform is based on the concept of treating
diseases by simultaneously modulating multiple targets in one or more related disease pathways. We engineer bi-functional product candidates that are conjugates of
two molecules, or bioactives, each with known pharmacological activity, joined by one of our proprietary SMART linkers. Our SMART linker conjugates are designed
for enhanced efficacy and improved safety and tolerability. Our initial focus is on treatments for orphan diseases, such as Duchenne muscular dystrophy, or DMD. We
are also developing other product candidates for the treatment of serious lipid disorders. We have applied our SMART linker technology platform to build a
development pipeline that includes three-clinical stage product candidates and multiple programs in preclinical development.

        Our lead product candidate, CAT-1004, is an oral small molecule that we believe has the potential to be a disease-modifying therapy for the treatment of DMD, a
fatal genetic disorder involving progressive muscle degeneration. CAT-1004 is a SMART linker conjugate of salicylate, a non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug, and
the omega-3 fatty acid docosahexaenoic acid, or DHA, a naturally occurring 22-carbon unsaturated fatty acid with anti-inflammatory properties. We designed CAT-
1004 to enhance the activity of salicylate and DHA in modulating the NF-kB pathway at multiple points. NF-kB, or nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of
activated B cells, is a protein that coordinates cellular response to damage, stress and inflammation and plays an important role in muscle health. We believe that CAT-
1004 modulates the disease pathway by inhibiting NF-kB activation and reducing the movement of activated NF-kB to the nucleus of the cell. In skeletal muscle,
activated NF-kB drives muscle degeneration and suppresses muscle regeneration. Chronic activation of NF-kB has been reported in multiple skeletal muscle disorders,
including muscular dystrophies, atrophy and inflammatory myopathies. In animal models of DMD, CAT-1004 inhibited activated NF-kB, reduced muscle
inflammation and degeneration and increased muscle regeneration. In Phase 1 clinical trials, CAT-1004 inhibited NF-kB and was well tolerated. We plan to initiate a
Phase 1/2 clinical trial of CAT-1004 for the treatment of DMD in the first half of 2015 and expect to report top-line Phase 2 data in mid-2016. If the results from our
Phase 1/2 clinical trial are positive, we intend to conduct a single six-month Phase 3 pivotal clinical trial in order to seek marketing approval. The U.S. Food and Drug
Administration, or FDA, has granted CAT-1004 orphan drug designation for the treatment of DMD. We hold worldwide rights to CAT-1004.

        Our two other clinical-stage product candidates, CAT-2054 and CAT-2003, are members of our CAT-2000 series. We applied our SMART linker technology to
engineer these molecules as SMART linker conjugates of the omega-3 fatty acid eicosapentaenoic acid, or EPA, and nicotinic acid to modulate the Sterol Regulatory
Element Binding Protein, or SREBP, pathway in different organs. EPA is a naturally occurring 20-carbon unsaturated fatty acid that has anti-inflammatory properties
and beneficial effects on triglycerides, and nicotinic acid, which is also known as vitamin B3, is a naturally occurring essential vitamin that in high doses has beneficial
lipid effects. Because we used different SMART linkers for CAT-2054 and CAT-2003, they possess different pharmacokinetic and biodistribution characteristics. CAT-
2003, our first generation product candidate in the CAT-2000 series of molecules, is an orally administered molecule that modulates the SREBP pathway
predominately in the intestine. CAT-2054, our second generation product candidate in the CAT-2000 series of molecules, is an orally administered molecule that we
designed to modulate the SREBP pathway predominately in the liver.

        SREBP is a master regulator of lipid metabolism, the processing of fats, triglycerides and cholesterol by the body, and controls the metabolism of both
triglycerides and low density lipoprotein
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cholesterol, or LDL-C. We believe that the CAT-2000 product candidates modulate the disease pathway by inhibiting the maturation of the SREBP protein, thereby
preventing its activity and reducing the production of proteins involved in lipid metabolism.

        We have focused our initial efforts on the CAT-2000 series on lipid disorders such as hypercholesterolemia and hypertriglyceridemia because these disorders have
clear short-term efficacy biomarkers, enabling us to rapidly and efficiently demonstrate proof of concept for our technology. In the CAT-2000 series, our development
priority is CAT-2054 for the treatment of hypercholesterolemia, or elevated LDL-C, given what we believe is an attractive potential commercial opportunity in
hypercholesterolemia and other SREBP-related metabolic disorders.

        We are initially developing CAT-2054, our second generation product candidate in the CAT-2000 series, for the treatment of hypercholesterolemia in patients for
whom existing treatments are insufficient. Hypercholesterolemia is a disease that increases the risk of cardiovascular events. By modulating the SREBP pathway, CAT-
2054 may inhibit production of important cholesterol metabolism proteins, such as proprotein convertase subtilisin kexin 9, or PCSK9; 3-hydroxy-3-methyl-glutaryl-
CoA reductase, or HMG-CoA reductase; and adenosine triphosphate citrate lyase, or ATP citrate lyase, and Niemann-Pick C1-like 1, or NPC1L1. In a clinical trial of
our first generation SREBP modulator CAT-2003, we observed statistically significant reductions in LDL-C, suggesting an impact of SREBP modulation on
cholesterol metabolism. Because the liver is the primary site of LDL-C synthesis and clearance, we specifically designed the SMART linker in CAT-2054 to deliver
more of the intact conjugate to the liver than CAT-2003. We believe that CAT-2054, if approved, has the potential to be the first therapy to simultaneously modulate
cholesterol synthesis, clearance and absorption. In January 2015, we initiated a Phase 1 clinical trial to assess the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of CAT-
2054 in healthy volunteers. If the results of this clinical trial are positive, we intend to initiate a Phase 2 clinical trial in patients with hypercholesterolemia in the fourth
quarter of 2015. We hold worldwide rights to CAT-2054 and we intend to seek to commercialize CAT-2054 through one or more collaborations.

        CAT-2003, our first generation product candidate in the CAT-2000 series is an orally administered SMART linker conjugate of EPA and nicotinic acid that we
designed to modulate the SREBP pathway in the intestine. We designed CAT-2003 to be cleaved primarily in cells of the small intestine to target triglyceride synthesis
and have studied CAT-2003 for the treatment of multifactorial chylomicronemia syndrome, or MFC, and refractory severe hypertriglyceridemia, or rSHTG, diseases
with niche patient populations with elevated triglycerides or hypertriglyceridemia. We have completed three pilot Phase 2 trials with CAT-2003 in patient populations
with hypertriglyceridemia. We believe that the clinical trial data for CAT-2003 serve as proof of concept for our SMART linker technology and for the metabolic
effects of modulating the SREBP pathway. We are evaluating a range of options for further development of CAT-2003, which may include exploratory development in
other diseases that involve alterations in the SREBP pathway.

        CAT-4001, our most advanced preclinical product candidate, is a SMART linker conjugate of monomethyl fumarate and DHA. CAT-4001 is a small molecule that
activates the Nrf2 pathway and inhibits activated NF-kB. Nrf2, or Nuclear factor erythroid-derived 2-like 2, is a gene transcription factor, a protein that works inside of
cells to control the expression of genes, that controls the body's response to cellular stress and oxidative damage. We believe that CAT-4001 modulates the disease
pathway by activating Nrf2 by enhancing the movement of Nrf2 to the nucleus of the cells and inhibits NF-kB by reducing the movement of activated NF-kB to the
nucleus of the cells. CAT-4001 is in preclinical studies for the treatment of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, or ALS, and Friedreich's ataxia. ALS and Friedreich's ataxia
are rare degenerative diseases of the central nervous system in which the Nrf2 and NF-kB pathways have been implicated. We plan to conduct additional preclinical
studies of CAT-4001 in 2015, and if the results of these preclinical studies are positive we intend to advance CAT-4001 into a Phase 1 clinical trial in 2016. We hold
worldwide rights to CAT-4001.
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        As of December 31, 2014, we owned two issued U.S. patents relating to composition of matter and method of use claims directed to CAT-1004 and two issued
U.S. patents relating to composition of matter and method of use claims directed to the CAT-2000 series. These patents are expected to expire between 2029 and 2031,
without taking potential patent term extensions into account. In addition, our patent portfolio includes over 10 issued foreign patents, over 25 pending U.S. patent
applications and over 100 pending foreign patent applications.

Our Strategy 

        Our objective is to apply our proprietary SMART linker technology platform to discover, develop and commercialize novel bi-functional therapeutics, with an
initial focus on orphan diseases. To achieve our goals, we are pursuing the following strategies:

• Complete the development of CAT-1004 through registration for DMD.  We are devoting a significant portion of our resources to developing our lead
product candidate, CAT-1004, for the treatment of DMD. We plan to initiate a Phase 1/2 clinical trial of CAT-1004 for the treatment of DMD in the first
half of 2015 and expect to report top-line Phase 2 data in mid-2016. If the results from our Phase 1/2 clinical trial are positive, we intend to conduct a
single six-month Phase 3 pivotal clinical trial in order to seek marketing approval. Our goal is to develop the first disease-modifying oral therapy for
the treatment of DMD that promotes muscle regeneration. 

• Advance the development of CAT-2054.  In January 2015, we initiated a Phase 1 clinical trial of CAT-2054 to assess its safety, tolerability and
pharmacokinetics in healthy volunteers. If the results of this clinical trial are positive, we intend to initiate a Phase 2 clinical trial in patients with
hypercholesterolemia in the fourth quarter of 2015. 

• Advance the development of CAT-4001.  We plan to conduct preclinical studies of CAT-4001 in ALS and Friedreich's ataxia in 2015. If the results of
these preclinical studies are positive, we intend to advance CAT-4001 into a Phase 1 clinical trial in 2016. 

• Continue to apply our SMART linker technology platform to expand our development pipeline.  We have used our SMART linker technology platform
to rapidly and efficiently identify product candidates that we have been able to advance into clinical development. We are continually advancing our
conjugation capabilities and exploring new applications of our technology platform to develop bi-functional therapeutics to treat diseases that we
believe can be effectively addressed by modulating multiple targets in one or more related disease pathways. We have a goal of identifying at least one
novel SMART linker conjugate per year that we can advance into preclinical development. 

• Maintain flexibility in commercializing and maximizing the value of our development programs.  We plan to build focused capabilities in the United
States and Canada to commercialize development programs, such as CAT-1004 for DMD, where we believe that the medical specialists for the
indications are sufficiently concentrated to allow us to effectively promote the product with a targeted sales team. We also intend to enter into strategic
relationships with biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies where realizing the full value of our development programs will require access to
broader geographic markets or the pursuit of broader patient populations or indications, such as with the CAT-2000 series and the commercialization of
CAT-1004 outside of the United States and Canada. In addition, we intend to expand the drug development applications of our SMART linker
technology platform through selective collaborations with leading biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies.
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Our Scientific Approach 

        Our SMART linker technology platform is based on the concept of treating diseases by simultaneously modulating multiple targets in one or more related disease
pathways. The traditional model for drug discovery has focused on identifying and evaluating drug candidates with the goal of modifying a single biological target
implicated in a specific disease process. This approach of selecting a single bioactive to modulate a single target has been successful for certain types of diseases.
However, many diseases are caused by multiple abnormalities rather than by a single defect. In these cases, the traditional single-target approach to drug discovery and
development may be less effective because a single target may not address the multiple underlying defects causing the disease.

        Multi-target therapies have in many cases been developed to provide treatment options where single-target therapies have been ineffective. These multi-target
therapies have traditionally followed one of two approaches: either use of a single drug that binds to multiple biological targets or co-administration of two or more
drugs that interact with different targets. While each of these approaches has well-established benefits in a variety of indications, each is also characterized by
significant limitations. For example, use of a single broadly targeted drug can lead to off-target toxicities, side-effects and tolerability issues, and co-administration of
two or more drugs can be confounded by differences in the pharmacokinetics and tissue distribution of the drugs, thereby reducing the likelihood of each agent being
simultaneously active in the same cell.

        Our aim is to leverage the growing body of knowledge associated with disease pathways, and to rationally design orally bioavailable product candidates that
simultaneously interact with multiple biological targets within one or more related disease pathways. While other technologies exist to conjugate or combine two
bioactives, we believe that our SMART linker technology platform provides substantial improvements over previous approaches to bioactive conjugation.

SMART Linker Technology Platform 

        We have developed our SMART linker technology platform to create molecules that simultaneously modulate multiple biological targets within one or more
related disease pathways. The linkers used in our technology platform are small chemicals designed to join two separate bioactives into a single conjugate molecule. In
systemic circulation, our SMART linker conjugates are stable and inactive, potentially reducing off-target toxicities and side-effects. The conjugates are designed to be
cleaved by specific enzymes exclusively within cells in order to release the two bioactives inside the cells. By releasing the bioactive components of the conjugate
molecule only inside cells, the SMART linker allows the bioactives to reach their targets more efficiently and have greater efficacy than if the bioactives were dosed
independently or in combination. The stability of our SMART linker conjugates outside of cells and the release of the bioactives exclusively within cells are
differentiating features of our SMART linker technology platform.

        To create a conjugate using our SMART linker technology platform, we begin by analyzing pathways that are disrupted in a disease. We then select two bioactive
molecules known for their clinical safety and demonstrated effect along one or more of these biological pathways. We then design a SMART linker that will conjugate
the two selected bioactives, allow the conjugate to be carried to biological tissues and, following entry into cells, be cleaved by enzymes resident in the cells to release
the bioactives, as shown in the figures below.
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        Our SMART linker conjugates are designed to be stable to oral dosing, as well as stable in both the lumen of the intestine and in systemic circulation. We design
the SMART linker to chemically link the two bioactive molecules through their pharmacophores, the regions of the bioactive molecules that are responsible for
carrying out their biological activity, resulting in inactivation of the bioactives. Once the conjugate enters a cell, the SMART linker is cleaved by specific enzymes
which reside only within cells, releasing the two bioactives to interact with their biological targets. Delivery of the bioactives through the SMART linker conjugate
into the cell results in the two bioactives having the same pharmacokinetics and tissue distribution. As a result, our SMART linker conjugates can simultaneously
modulate two biological targets in disease pathways of interest within the same cell. In addition, release of the bioactives exclusively inside cells can potentially reduce
or eliminate off-target, extracellular activity of the bioactives, which may improve safety and tolerability.

        We have observed in multiple preclinical studies that our SMART linker conjugates achieved greater efficacy than administration of the two bioactives either
independently or in combination. In clinical trials, SMART linker conjugates have demonstrated significant improvements in activity on disease pathways and
tolerability relative to equivalent doses of the two bioactives delivered in combination. We also have observed statistically significant efficacy with SMART linker
conjugates at dose levels significantly lower than the prescribed doses of the two component bioactives.

        We believe our SMART linker technology platform has the potential to:

• enhance activity on disease pathways through modulation of multiple biological targets; 

• improve efficacy by matching the pharmacokinetics and tissue distribution of the component bioactives; and 

• improve safety and tolerability by releasing the component bioactives only within cells.
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Our Product Candidates 

        The following chart summarizes key information regarding our product candidates. We hold worldwide rights to all of our product candidates.

CAT-1004 

        We are developing CAT-1004 for the treatment of DMD. CAT-1004 is an orally administered SMART linker conjugate of salicylate and DHA that we designed to
enhance the activity of salicylate and DHA in modulating the NF-kB pathway at multiple points. Emerging data suggest that activation of NF-kB drives the loss of
skeletal muscle mass in multiple diseases, including muscular dystrophies, atrophy and inflammatory myopathies. The FDA has granted CAT-1004 orphan drug
designation for the treatment of DMD and we plan to submit an orphan drug designation request to the European Medicines Agency, or EMA, in the second half of
2015. In December 2014, we submitted an investigational new drug application, or IND, to the FDA for CAT-1004 for DMD. We plan to initiate a Phase 1/2 clinical
trial of CAT-1004 for the treatment of DMD in the first half of 2015 and expect to report top-line Phase 2 data in mid-2016. If the results from our Phase 1/2 clinical
trial are positive, we intend to conduct a single six-month Phase 3 pivotal clinical trial in order to seek marketing approval. We believe that CAT-1004 has the potential
to be the first disease-modifying oral therapy for the treatment of DMD that promotes muscle regeneration.

Overview of DMD

        DMD is a rare pediatric disorder involving progressive muscle degeneration that eventually leads to death. DMD is caused by various mutations in the dystrophin
gene that result in a lack of functional dystrophin in muscle fibers. Dystrophin is a protein that resides in the membrane of muscle cells and is critical to the structural
and membrane stability of muscle fibers in skeletal, diaphragm and heart muscle. When muscles contract or stretch during normal use, the absence of normally
functioning dystrophin results in activation of the NF-kB pathway, triggering inflammation in the muscles, resulting in muscle damage and reducing the ability of
muscles to regenerate. As muscle damage progresses, connective and adipose tissues replace muscle fibers, resulting in inexorable muscle weakness.

80



Table of Contents

        DMD occurs almost exclusively in males, occurring in approximately 1 in 3,500 live male births. Based on this incidence rate, we estimate that DMD affects a
total of approximately 15,000 patients in the United States and approximately 19,000 patients in the European Union.

        Children with DMD typically begin to show symptoms of disease between ages two and five, when they develop a waddling gait, frequently fall and have
difficulty rising from the floor. Progressive weakness then develops in the voluntary muscles in the arms, legs and trunk. This muscle weakness results in fixations, or
contractures, of joints, such as knees, hips and elbows. By age eight, most patients have difficulty ascending stairs. By their early teens, patients typically lose walking
ability and are confined to wheelchairs. Patients' cardiac and respiratory muscles are also adversely affected, typically requiring use of ventilators in their late teens.
Progressive weakening of cardiac and respiratory muscles eventually results in death, generally by patients' mid-twenties.

Unaddressed Market Opportunity

        There are no therapies approved for the treatment of DMD in the United States. Corticosteroid therapy is often prescribed to treat the inflammation underlying
DMD and to delay loss of ambulation. Corticosteroids have demonstrated efficacy in DMD patients that are believed to be driven by reductions in activated NF-kB.
However, corticosteroids also can cause significant complications due to systemic toxicities, including growth suppression, reduction in bone strength and compromise
of the immune system. Over time, corticosteroids induce chronic myopathy in many diseases through induction of muscle protein breakdown, which ultimately leads
to muscle damage. DMD patients treated with corticosteroids typically show an initial improvement in measures of muscle function but then resume a progressive
decline. Approximately half of DMD patients treated with steroids lose the ability to walk by age eleven and almost all are in wheelchairs by age sixteen. DMD
patients typically live until their mid-twenties, despite availability of corticosteroids.

        Several companies are exploring new therapies for the treatment of DMD. The three most advanced product candidates, PTC Therapeutics' ataluren, Prosensa's
drisapersen and Sarepta's eteplirsen, target mechanisms to increase levels of dystrophin in muscles. Each of these product candidates compensates for a specific
mutation to produce a partially functional dystrophin protein. The therapeutic goal of these product candidates is to reduce disease severity and extend survival in those
DMD patients with the specific mutation. Based on the prevalence of the specific mutations that these product candidates are designed to address, they would be
expected to be effective in an aggregate of approximately 26% of DMD patients. We believe that DMD patients treated with these dystrophin therapies will continue to
require treatments to reduce muscle inflammation and enhance muscle regeneration. PTC Therapeutics has received conditional approval for ataluren in the European
Union for DMD patients with a specific type of mutation. PTC Therapeutics and Prosensa each have begun a rolling new drug application, or NDA, submission for
marketing approval in the United States while Sarepta has announced that it intends to submit an NDA in 2015. Several other product candidates in development also
target either inflammation and fibrosis associated with DMD or muscle regeneration. The most advanced of these product candidates is Pfizer's monoclonal antibody
targeting myostatin, which is in a Phase 2 clinical trial.

The Role of NF-kB in Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy

        NF-kB has an important role in regulating skeletal muscle health and appears to be especially important in regulating skeletal muscle mass in chronic diseases
such as DMD. In addition, activated NF-kB promotes the degradation of specific muscle proteins, leads to the induction of pro-inflammatory mediators such as
cytokines, chemokines, cell adhesion molecules and tissue degrading enzymes and suppresses muscle stem cell differentiation that is required for muscle regeneration.
Activation of NF-kB is observed in muscle tissues of patients with DMD prior to the onset of other clinical manifestations, and activated NF-kB is persistently
elevated in the immune cells
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and degenerating muscle fibers of patients with DMD. Moreover, mechanical stress activates NF-kB mediated inflammation, and muscles with increased damage and
inflammation, such as quadriceps and hamstrings, show the greatest progression of disease.

CAT-1004 for the Treatment of Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy

        CAT-1004 is a SMART linker conjugate of salicylate and DHA that we designed to enhance the activity of salicylate and DHA in modulating the NF-kB pathway
at multiple points. Based on its mechanism of action in suppressing activated NF-kB, we believe that CAT-1004 has the potential to combine reduction of
inflammation and muscle degeneration with positive effects on muscle regeneration, all of which may allow patients to retain muscle function longer. In addition, we
believe that CAT-1004 has the potential to be effective in all DMD patients, regardless of the underlying mutation, and provide significant benefit to patients, both as
monotherapy and when used in combination with other therapies, including dystrophin-targeted therapies and agents targeting myostatin.

        In Phase 1 clinical trials in healthy volunteers, CAT-1004 was observed to be well tolerated and inhibited activated NF-kB. Based on the positive effects observed
in the Phase 1 trials and in animal studies, we plan to initiate a Phase 1/2 clinical trial in patients with DMD in the first half of 2015.

CAT-1004 Clinical Development

Planned Phase 1/2 Trial of CAT-1004 in Patients with DMD

        We have designed a CAT-1004 Phase 1/2 clinical trial that we plan to initiate in the first half of 2015. The planned CAT-1004 Phase 1/2 trial will enroll
ambulatory boys between ages four and seven with a genetically confirmed diagnosis of DMD. The enrolled boys will be steroid naive or have not used steroids for at
least six months prior to the trial. The enrolled boys will not be limited to any specific dystrophin mutations. We will conduct the trial at multiple sites in the United
States. We plan to conduct the Phase 1/2 trial in two sequential parts, Part A and Part B, as illustrated in the following diagram.

CAT-1004 Planned Phase 1/2 Trial Design 

        In Part A, we will assess the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of CAT-1004 in patients at three dosing levels following seven days of dosing. In Part B of
the trial, we plan to treat patients with
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one of two dosing levels of CAT-1004 or placebo for 12 weeks. After 12 weeks of dosing, patients receiving placebo may be crossed over to one of two doses of CAT-
1004 for an additional 12 weeks. We anticipate that the primary endpoint will be changes in magnetic resonance imaging, or MRI, of leg muscles as a biomarker for
inflammation, which is known to increase with age in DMD patients but is observed to decrease with initiation of steroid therapy. We plan to include timed function
tests best suited for this age group as exploratory endpoints, specifically the 10 meter walk/run, time to stand and 4-stair climb tests. In addition, assessments of muscle
strength and a parent-proxy measure of functional ability will be included. We expect to report top-line Phase 2 data from this trial in the first half of 2016. If the
results of this Phase 1/2 clinical trial are positive, we intend to conduct a single six-month Phase 3 pivotal clinical trial in order to seek marketing approval.

Completed Clinical Trials

        To date, we have studied CAT-1004 in three completed Phase 1 clinical trials. The design and results for these clinical trials are discussed below.

CAT-1004—Completed Phase 1 Clinical Trials

        Phase 1 Single Ascending Dose Trial (CAT-1004-101):    We conducted a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, single ascending dose Phase 1 clinical
trial in 52 healthy volunteers at a single site in the United States to assess the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of CAT-1004 in both fasted and fed states. The
participants were randomized to receive CAT-1004 or placebo. CAT-1004 was administered orally in soft gelatin capsules at doses ranging from 300 mg to 6000 mg.

        Single doses of CAT-1004, administered to subjects in both fed and fasted conditions appeared to be well tolerated. Subjects in the fasted state reported few
adverse events, or AEs, with the most commonly reported AEs being headache, diarrhea and dizziness. Of the 44 subjects in the fasted state, five reported headache,
three reported diarrhea and two reported dizziness. The majority of the AEs in the fasted state were mild in severity. The most common AEs in the fed state were
diarrhea, headache and abdominal pain and all of the AEs in the fed state were mild in severity. Of the 35 subjects in the fed state, six reported diarrhea, six reported
headache and four reported abdominal pains. Subjects in the fed state receiving single doses of CAT-1004 of 4000 mg or more reported gastrointestinal AEs more
frequently than subjects receiving lower doses. No treatment-related severe AEs were reported.
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            Subjects
                  

 
Treated with

CAT-1004
  

  Trial    Description    Duration    Total     
  CAT-1004-101    First-in-human, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled,

single ascending dose clinical trial to evaluate safety, tolerability
and pharmacokinetics of CAT-1004 in healthy subjects

   1 day    52    39   

  CAT-1004-102    Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled multiple
ascending dose clinical trial to evaluate safety, tolerability,
pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of CAT-1004 in adults
with Type 2 diabetes

   14 days    44    32   

  CAT-1004-103    Single-blind NF-kB biomarker trial to compare activity on NF-kB
of placebo, CAT-1004 or a combination of salicylate and DHA in
healthy subjects

   1 day    9    8   



Table of Contents

There were no observed trends in laboratory, vital signs or electrocardiogram results following CAT-1004 administration in either the fasted or fed state.

        CAT-1004 was rapidly absorbed in plasma, with mean maximum and overall plasma exposure generally increasing with CAT-1004 dose levels. Neither
component bioactive, salicylate or DHA, was detected in plasma at levels above background, consistent with intracellular cleavage of CAT-1004 and intracellular
delivery of the component bioactives. Administration of a high-fat meal increased CAT-1004 mean maximum and overall exposure by approximately 3- to 8-fold.

        Phase 1 Multiple Ascending Dose Trial (CAT-1004-102):    We conducted a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multiple ascending dose Phase 1
clinical trial in 44 subjects at a single center in the United States to assess the safety, tolerability, pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of CAT-1004. These
subjects had Type 2 diabetes and mild background inflammation, which enabled us to assess the activity of CAT-1004 on activated NF-kB. Subjects were randomized
to receive CAT-1004 or placebo. CAT-1004 was administered orally in soft gelatin capsules at total daily doses ranging from 300 mg to 4000 mg.

        CAT-1004 administered for two weeks appeared to be well tolerated. The AEs reported in more than one patient were diarrhea, gastroenteritis and upper
respiratory tract infection, each of which was reported by two subjects. The majority of the AEs were mild in severity. No treatment-related severe AEs were reported.

        CAT-1004 was rapidly absorbed in plasma, with mean maximum and overall plasma exposure generally increasing with escalating single or multiple doses of
CAT-1004. Neither component bioactive, salicylate or DHA, was detected in plasma at levels above background, again consistent with intracellular cleavage of CAT-
1004 and intracellular delivery of the component bioactives.

        In the Phase 1 multiple ascending dose trial, we observed by two methods that CAT-1004 inhibited activated NF-kB. For the first method, we stimulated NF-kB
activity ex vivo in whole blood from subjects treated with CAT-1004 or placebo, and then observed NF-kB activity in monocytes, or immune cells, that we isolated
from the whole blood. NF-kB activity was reduced in a majority of subjects following two weeks of CAT-1004 treatment but not following treatment with placebo. For
the second method, we performed gene expression analyses on whole blood taken from subjects prior to treatment and after two weeks of treatment with CAT-1004 or
placebo. CAT-1004 significantly reduced the expression of a set of genes that are controlled by NF-kB. In contrast, treatment with placebo for two weeks did not
significantly reduce expression of NF-kB regulated genes.

        Phase 1 NF-kB Biomarker Trial (CAT-1004-103):    We conducted a single-blind, crossover Phase 1 clinical trial with CAT-1004 in nine healthy volunteers at a
single center in the United States to compare activity of CAT-1004 on activated NF-kB to a combination of salicylate and DHA or placebo. No AEs were reported in
this clinical trial. The salicylate and DHA were dosed at approximately equivalent amounts to those contained in the CAT-1004 conjugate. We assessed NF-kB activity
in peripheral blood mononuclear cells, or PBMCs, isolated from subjects before dosing and two hours after dosing. PBMCs are circulating immune cells that can
mount an NF-kB response and migrate into tissue such as muscle and drive inflammation. Prior to the determination of NF-kB activity, we stimulated whole blood
with lipopolysaccharide, or LPS, to activate the NF-kB pathway. As shown in the graph below, treatment of subjects with CAT-1004 significantly reduced the level of
activated NF-kB, as measured by nuclear p65, a surrogate marker for activated NF-kB. In contrast, no change in the level of activated NF-kB was observed upon
treatment with the combination of salicylate and DHA, or upon treatment with placebo. We believe that this suggests that CAT-1004, which is a SMART linker
conjugate of salicylate and DHA, exhibits greater activity on the NF-kB pathway than the combination of its component bioactives.
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Effect of CAT-1004 on Activated NF-kB

        These results were statistically significant, with a p-value of less than 0.005. P-value is a conventional statistical method for measuring the statistical significance
of clinical results. A p-value of 0.05 or less represents statistical significance, meaning that there is a 1-in-20 or less likelihood that the observed results occurred by
chance.

CAT-1004 Preclinical Development

        In preclinical studies, we have observed that CAT-1004 inhibited NF-kB activity in vitro and in vivo, and produced disease-modifying effects in two established
animal models of DMD, the mdx mouse model and the Golden Retriever muscular dystrophy, or GRMD, dog model.

In Vivo Studies in Animal Models of DMD

        We have created several SMART linker conjugates that inhibit activated NF-kB. Two of these conjugates, CAT-1004 and CAT-1041, exhibit very similar effects
on NF-kB activity in cell based assays and in animal studies. CAT-1041 is a closely related analog of CAT-1004 in which the DHA component of the salicylate-DHA
conjugate has been replaced with EPA. In some preclinical studies, we have used CAT-1041 as a surrogate for CAT-1004. Both CAT-1004 and CAT-1041 produced
disease-modifying efficacy in established animal models of DMD. We decided to advance CAT-1004 into clinical trials rather than CAT-1041 based on scientific
literature suggesting that DHA has superior anti-inflammatory activity compared to EPA.

        Mdx Mouse Model.    We examined the potential therapeutic effects of CAT-1004 using the mdx mouse model of DMD. As shown in the graphs below, we
observed that four weeks of treatment with CAT-1004 or prednisolone, a steroid, reduced muscle inflammation and the number of degenerating muscle fibers in mdx
mice. However, only CAT-1004-treated animals showed preservation of muscle mass and an increase in the number of regenerating fibers, suggesting that chronic
treatment with CAT-1004 can protect muscle from the damage expected to occur over time in mdx mice. In this study, muscle inflammation score was based on the
number of infiltrating immune cells within a fixed-size slide image, or field, and degenerating muscle fibers and regenerating muscle fibers were based on a count
within the field.
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CAT-1004 Activity in the mdx Mouse Model

        In a long-term mdx mouse study, we observed that, compared to the control group of mdx mice, six months of treatment with CAT-1041 significantly improved
muscle endurance as measured by mean weekly and total running distance. As shown in the graphs below, improvements in muscle endurance following CAT-1041
treatment versus control were also observed in post-mortem assessments of twitch force, tetanic force and specific force generation, each of which is an established
measurement of muscle endurance, in excised diaphragm muscle.

CAT-1041 Activity on Diaphragm Function in the mdx Mouse Model

        As shown in the graphs below, we also observed in this same study that mdx mice treated with CAT-1041 showed significantly increased mass of two major leg
muscles, the gastrocnemius and quadriceps, independent of changes in total body weight. CAT-1041-treated mice also had a statistically significant reduction in heart
mass, suggesting that chronic treatment with CAT-1041 may have reduced the dilated cardiomyopathy typically observed in mdx mice.
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CAT-1041 Activity on Muscle Mass and Body Weight in the mdx Mouse Model

        Finally, in this study we observed a reduction in diaphragm and quadricep muscle fibrosis in mdx mice treated with CAT-1041 in comparison to control.

        Golden Retriever Dog Model.    We also evaluated the effects of CAT-1004 in the GRMD dog model. As shown in the graph below, a single oral dose of CAT-
1004 inhibited basal, or unstimulated, NF-kB activity by 48% in GRMD dogs. CAT-1004 also inhibited LPS-stimulated NF-kB activity by 75% and LPS-stimulated
plasma levels of TNFa protein, a key marker of inflammatory response, by 77%. Together, these data suggest that a single oral dose of CAT-1004 achieves sufficient
exposure levels to inhibit activated NF-kB in a dog model of DMD.

Effect of CAT-1004 on NF-kB in the GRMD Dog Model

In Vitro Studies

        In an in vitro study in a mouse macrophage cell line, we observed that CAT-1004 inhibited LPS-stimulated NF-kB activity to a greater extent than either of its
components, salicylate and DHA, alone or in combination. We also observed that CAT-1004 inhibited LPS-stimulated NF-kB activity in human PBMCs, which are a
potential target tissue for CAT-1004. In studies performed with a mouse macrophage cell line, CAT-1004 reduced the LPS-stimulated expression of a set of genes that
encode pro-inflammatory mediators and whose expression is controlled by NF-kB.
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CAT-2000 Series 

        Our two other clinical-stage product candidates, CAT-2054 and CAT-2003, are members of our CAT-2000 series. We applied our SMART linker technology to
engineer these molecules as SMART linker conjugates of EPA and nicotinic acid to modulate the SREBP pathway in different organs. Because we used different
SMART linkers for CAT-2054 and CAT-2003, they possess different characteristics such as rates of cleavage, pharmacokinetics and biodistribution. CAT-2003, our
first generation product candidate in the CAT-2000 series of molecules, is an orally administered molecule that modulates the SREBP pathway predominately in the
intestine. CAT-2054, our second generation product candidate in the CAT-2000 series of molecules, is an orally administered molecule that we designed to modulate
the SREBP pathway predominately in the liver. We have focused our initial efforts on the CAT-2000 series on lipid disorders such as hypercholesterolemia and
hypertriglyceridemia because these disorders have clear short-term efficacy biomarkers, enabling us to rapidly and efficiently demonstrate proof of concept for our
technology.

Overview of the SREBP Pathway

        SREBP is a master regulator of lipid and energy metabolism and controls the metabolism of both triglycerides and LDL-C.

        Important for cholesterol levels, SREBP controls expression of PCSK9, a protein that controls the clearance of LDL-C from circulation through the reduction of
the amount of the LDL receptor on the surface of the liver; HMG-CoA reductase, an enzyme that plays a central role in the synthesis of LDL-C in the liver; and ATP
citrate lyase, an enzyme in the LDL-C synthetic pathway; and Niemann-Pick C1-like 1, or NPC1L1, which is the critical mediator of cholesterol absorption in the
gastrointestinal tract epithelial cells as well as in liver cells. These four proteins are important for cholesterol levels because they impact cholesterol clearance,
synthesis and absorption.

        Important for triglyceride levels, SREBP also controls expression of three proteins, apolipoprotein C3, or ApoC3, angiopoietin-like protein 3, or Angptl3, and
angiopoietin-like protein 4, or Angptl4. These proteins inhibit the activity of lipoprotein lipase, or LPL, and decrease triglyceride metabolism. We believe that
inhibiting SREBP activity in the intestine will lead to an increase in LPL enzyme activity, accelerate clearance of triglycerides and substantially reduce both fasting
and postprandial triglyceride levels.

CAT-2054

        We are initially developing CAT-2054, our second generation product candidate in the CAT-2000 series, for the treatment of patients with hypercholesterolemia,
or elevated LDL-C, for whom existing treatments are insufficient. By modulating the SREBP pathway, CAT-2054 may inhibit production of important cholesterol
metabolism proteins, such as PCSK9, HMG-CoA reductase, ATP citrate lyase and NPC1L1. In a clinical trial of our first generation SREBP modulator, CAT-2003, we
observed statistically significant reductions in LDL-C, suggesting the impact of SREBP modulation on cholesterol metabolism. Because the liver is the primary site of
LDL-C synthesis and clearance, we specifically designed the SMART linker in CAT-2054 to deliver more of the intact conjugate to the liver than CAT-2003. We
believe that CAT-2054, if approved, has the potential to be the first therapy to simultaneously modulate cholesterol synthesis, clearance and absorption. We submitted
an IND to the FDA for CAT-2054 in November 2014. In January 2015, we initiated a Phase 1 clinical trial to assess the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of
CAT-2054 in healthy volunteers. If the results of this clinical trial are positive, we intend to initiate a Phase 2 clinical trial for the treatment of hypercholesterolemia in
the fourth quarter of 2015.

88



Table of Contents

Hypercholesterolemia Market Overview

        Hypercholesterolemia is a major risk factor for cardiovascular disease, or CVD, a leading cause of mortality and morbidity in the United States.
Hypercholesterolemia is a complex disease involving redundant biological pathways that are tightly regulated and have built-in feedback mechanisms. Current
treatment guidelines recognize lowering of LDL-C as a primary target for reducing the risk of CVD.

        Several of the lipid-lowering therapies currently available or in development target proteins in the SREBP pathway:

• Statins.  Statins are typically prescribed as first-line therapy for reducing LDL-C based on their efficacy, established safety and proven benefit in
reducing cardiovascular event risk. Statins inhibit HMG-CoA reductase. Crestor® (rosuvastatin), the largest remaining branded prescription statin,
generated worldwide sales of $5.5 billion for the 12-month period ended December 2014. 

• Cholesterol Absorption Inhibitors.  Ezetimibe is a cholesterol absorption inhibitor that targets NPC1L1, reducing LDL-C by inhibiting cholesterol
absorption in the small intestine. It may be used alone (marketed as Zetia® or Ezetrol®), for example in statin-intolerant patients, or together with
statins, such as in ezetimibe/simvastatin (marketed as Vytorin® and Inegy®), when statins alone do not control cholesterol. Zetia and the combination
product Vytorin together generated worldwide sales of $4.2 billion for the 12-month period ended December 2014. 

• Monoclonal antibodies against PCSK9 and inhibitors of ATP citrate lyase.  In addition to the marketed therapies, several companies are developing
other agents that target the synthesis and clearance of LDL-C. Monoclonal antibodies against PCSK9 are injectable product candidates that are being
evaluated as potential therapies to lower LDL-C. ATP citrate lyase inhibitors target cholesterol synthesis in the liver but at an earlier step of the
pathway than statins. To date, none of these agents has received U.S. or European marketing approval.

        Despite the availability of these classes of drugs that lower LDL-C, many patients are unable to achieve their LDL-C goals using the marketed therapies. A 2011
report of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention estimated that, of the 34 million adults in the United States receiving treatment for high LDL-C, 11 million
had uncontrolled LDL-C. The limitations of the efficacy of some existing therapies, including statins, may be partly the result of feedback mechanisms in the SREBP
pathway, which ensure that cellular cholesterol levels are maintained at levels required for normal cellular function. For example, doubling the dose of a statin is
accompanied by only an incremental 7% lowering of lipids. This non-linear decrease in LDL-C as the statin dose increases is due to feedback mechanisms that are
triggered when HMG-CoA reductase is inhibited to a greater extent. As the statin dose is increased, intracellular levels of cholesterol decrease, ultimately resulting in
activation of the SREBP pathway. Activated SREBP induces the expression of PCSK9 which promotes the degradation of the LDL receptor, resulting in reduced
clearance of LDL-C from circulation. The feedback mechanism ensures that the cell is never completely depleted of cholesterol because cholesterol is required for
cellular viability. Thus, high-dose statins trigger a feedback mechanism that counteracts their beneficial effects on lipids.

        Several biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies have pursued compounds to inhibit SREBP but we believe that none have reached clinical development.
The goal of these programs has been to identify small molecule drugs that can block the activity of SREBP and produce beneficial effects on lipids. Directly reducing
active SREBP may have a significant benefit on LDL-C levels in circulation. SREBP modulators may work synergistically with inhibitors of proteins that are
downstream of SREBP such as PCSK9, HMG-CoA reductase and ATP citrate lyase. In addition, SREBP modulators may substantially reduce feedback mechanisms
that are activated by other classes of LDL-C lowering drugs such as statins and ezetimibe.
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CAT-2054 for the Treatment of Hypercholesterolemia

        CAT-2054 is a SMART linker conjugate designed to modulate SREBP in the liver and to reduce LDL-C levels in patients with hypercholesterolemia. We
designed the SMART linker in CAT-2054 to be more stable to intracellular enzymatic cleavage than the SMART linker in CAT-2003. We have observed in preclinical
studies that CAT-2054 was cleaved at a significantly slower rate than CAT-2003, and that significantly greater levels of CAT-2054 reached the liver following oral
dosing than with CAT-2003.

        This slower rate of cleavage enables more intact CAT-2054 to pass through the portal vein and to the liver, where SREBP controls LDL-C levels. We have
observed in in vitro studies that, once cleaved in human liver cells, CAT-2054 inhibited the activity of SREBP by blocking its maturation, a conversion from an
inactive to an active form. As a result, the amount of mature SREBP protein in the nucleus of the cells is reduced. This inhibition reduces the expression of
downstream target genes in the SREBP pathway, including HMG-CoA reductase, PCSK9 and ATP citrate lyase. Based on this mechanism, we believe CAT-2054 may
be effective in reducing elevated LDL-C and positively affect other metabolic parameters. If approved, CAT-2054 has the potential to be prescribed in patients whose
hypercholesterolemia is inadequately controlled by statins alone or are intolerant to statins, and the potential to be used before injectable PCSK9 monoclonal
antibodies.

        Following the completion of Phase 2 clinical development, we intend to pursue development and commercialization collaborations with biotechnology and
pharmaceutical companies to maximize the value of CAT-2054 as a treatment for hypercholesterolemia.

CAT-2054 Clinical Development

Ongoing Phase 1 Clinical Trial (CAT-2054-101)

        We are conducting a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled Phase 1 trial in healthy volunteers at a single center in the United States to assess the safety,
tolerability and pharmacokinetics of single and multiple doses of CAT-2054 in both fasting and fed states. The trial will include both coated and uncoated capsule
formulations. We will also assess the activity of CAT-2054 on lipid parameters, including LDL-C, following 14 days of dosing. The single ascending dose portion of
the study is ongoing and preliminary results and observations are described below. The multiple ascending dose portion of the study has been initiated.

        As of March 3, 2015, in the single ascending dose portion of the Phase 1 clinical trial, 38 healthy volunteers had been randomized to receive CAT-2054 in
capsules at doses ranging from 50 mg to 1000 mg or placebo. When single doses of CAT-2054 were administered under fed and fasted conditions, CAT-2054 was well
tolerated and there were no reported serious AEs. We observed no safety signals in laboratory, vital signs or electrocardiogram results following CAT-2054
administration. The most common AEs observed in fed and fasting conditions were nausea and diarrhea. Of the 38 subjects, 30 received CAT-2054, of whom six
reported nausea, five reported diarrhea and four reported abdominal pain. Eight subjects received placebo, two of whom reported diarrhea, two of whom reported
nausea and none reported abdominal pain. The observed AEs occurring under fed and fasted conditions at doses up to 500 mg were similar for CAT-2054 and placebo.
Nicotinic acid is known to interact with a specific extracellular receptor, GPR109A, and causes flushing and immediate decreases in free fatty acids, followed by a
rebound. We assessed flushing using a subjective questionnaire, and CAT-2054 was not associated with flushing.

        As shown in the graph below, in preliminary data from the Phase 1 clinical trial, we observed that the plasma exposure of CAT-2054 increased with dose, which
was measured using a common statistical method known as area under the curve, or AUC. The plasma exposure of CAT-2054 was greater than the plasma exposure
observed for the first generation CAT-2000 product candidate, CAT-2003, in the CAT-2003-101 Phase 1 clinical trial.
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        In the ongoing multiple ascending dose portion of the Phase 1 trial, approximately 60 healthy volunteers will be randomized to receive CAT-2054 in soft gelatin
capsules at doses ranging from 100 mg up to 1000 mg or placebo.

Planned Phase 2a Clinical Trial

        We expect to initiate a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled Phase 2a trial in the fourth quarter of 2015 at multiple sites in the United States in patients
with hypercholesterolemia. In this clinical trial, patients will be treated for four weeks. We intend to compare multiple dose levels of CAT-2054 either as monotherapy
or in combination with a statin. We expect the primary endpoint to be reduction in levels of LDL-C. We also plan to assess the activity of CAT-2054 on other metabolic
parameters, including triglycerides, glucose and glycosylated hemoglobin, or HbA1c, which is a measure of glucose levels over time.

Preclinical Data for CAT-2054

        Based on a comprehensive program of preclinical testing of CAT-2054, including several in vitro analyses and in vivo studies in animal models, we believe that
CAT-2054 may be effective in reducing elevated LDL-C and have positive effects on other metabolic parameters. Key findings from our preclinical program included
the following:

• CAT-2054 reduced LDL-C in rhesus monkeys that were maintained on a high fat, high cholesterol diet. We observed no effect on food consumption or
body weight. We dosed the animals with CAT-2054 at 500 mg by capsule once daily for six weeks. As shown in the graph below, at the end of the
treatment period, we observed a significant reduction of 31% in LDL-C levels relative to baseline. The effect of CAT-2054 on plasma LDL-C levels
was most pronounced in the monkeys with the highest baseline LDL-C levels. Additionally, we observed that LDL-C levels returned to near baseline
after a washout period following the end of dosing with CAT-2054.
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CAT-2054 Effect on LDL-C in
Rhesus Monkeys on a High Cholesterol Diet

• CAT-2054 significantly reduced fasting plasma LDL-C in cynomolgus macaque monkeys that had developed age-related spontaneous dyslipidemia,
which were maintained on a normal diet. In this study, we dosed the animals with CAT-2054 at 100 mg/kg by oral gavage, once daily for four weeks.
We observed no effect on body weight. The reduction in LDL-C reached a maximum effect after 14 days of treatment with a mean reduction of fasting
LDL-C levels of 21%. The effect of CAT-2054 on plasma LDL-C levels was most pronounced in the monkeys with the highest baseline LDL-C levels.
CAT-2054 treatment for two weeks essentially returned LDL-C to normal levels in these monkeys without significantly decreasing LDL-C below the
normal threshold. 

• In in vitro studies, we observed that treatment of a human liver cell line with CAT-2054 reduced the amount of mature SREBP protein and that this
reduction was greater than what we observed with approximately equivalent amounts of EPA and nicotinic acid administered either alone or in
combination. The graph below shows the reduction in the level of SREBP protein compared to control.

CAT-2054 Effect on Levels of the Mature SREBP Protein
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• In an in vitro study, we observed that treatment of a human liver cell line with CAT-2054 reduced the secretion of PCSK9 protein. As shown in the
graph below, the reduction in PCSK9 protein secretion was dependent on dose of CAT-2054 with higher doses resulting in greater reductions. We also
observed the bioactive components of CAT-2054, EPA and nicotinic acid, did not have a significant effect on PCSK9 secretion when administered to
cells either individually or in combination at similar concentrations.

CAT-2054 Effect on Levels of the PCSK9 Secretion

• In an in vitro study, we observed that CAT-2054 induced an increase in LDL receptor protein levels on the surface of a human liver cell line. As shown
in the graph below, the increase in LDL receptor protein was dependent on the dose of CAT-2054, with higher doses resulting in greater increases.

CAT-2054 Effect on Levels of the Cell Surface LDL Receptor
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• In in vitro studies, we have observed that treatment of a human liver cell line with the statin atorvastatin caused an approximately two-fold increase in
the amount of mature SREBP. As shown in the graph below, CAT-2054 inhibited the activation of SREBP2, a form of SREBP that controls the
expression of genes involved in LDL-C synthesis and clearance in the liver, in the presence of atorvastatin. As expected, due to feedback mechanisms
in the SREBP pathway, treatment with atorvastatin alone increased the activation of SREBP2. These data suggest that CAT-2054 may inhibit SREBP2
maturation and subsequent SREBP2-mediated gene transcription in the presence of a statin.

CAT-2054 Effect on SREBP2 Activation
in the Presence of a Statin

• In in vitro studies, we have observed that treatment of a human liver cell line with the statin atorvastatin caused an increase in the amount of secreted
PCSK9. As shown in the graph below, CAT-2054 inhibited the secretion of PCSK9 protein in the presence of a statin.

CAT-2054 Effect on PCSK9 Levels in the Presence of a Statin
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• In an in vitro study, we observed that after a 24-hour incubation, treatment of a human liver cell line with CAT-2054 inhibited the expression of
multiple SREBP2 target genes, including PCSK9 and four genes involved in cholesterol synthesis: HMG-CoA reductase, ATP citrate lyase, Mevalonate
decarboxylase and Squalene expoxidase. These results are illustrated in the graph below.

CAT-2054 Effect on Expression of Genes Involved in
Cholesterol Metabolism

CAT-2003

        CAT-2003, our first generation product candidate in the CAT-2000 series, is an orally administered SMART linker conjugate of EPA and nicotinic acid that we
designed to modulate the SREBP pathway in the intestine. We designed CAT-2003 to be cleaved primarily in cells of the small intestine to target triglyceride synthesis
and studied it for the treatment of MFC and rSHTG, diseases with niche patient populations with hypertriglyceridemia. We submitted an IND to the FDA for CAT-
2003 in September 2012. We have completed three pilot Phase 2 trials in patient populations with elevated triglyceride or hypertriglyceridemia. We believe that the
clinical trial data for CAT-2003 serve as proof of concept for our SMART linker technology and for the metabolic effects of modulating the SREBP pathway. We are
evaluating a range of options for further development of CAT-2003, which may include exploratory development in other diseases that involve alterations in the
SREBP pathway.

Effect of CAT-2003 in Hypertriglyceridemias

        We have completed three Phase 2a clinical trials of CAT-2003 in patients with elevated triglycerides and two Phase 1 clinical trials in healthy volunteers. In the
Phase 2a clinical trials, CAT-2003 reduced elevated triglycerides, including in patients treated with other triglyceride and lipid lowering therapies. CAT-2003 also
demonstrated in Phase 2a clinical trials beneficial effects on other lipid and cardio-metabolic parameters, such as LDL-C and blood glucose levels. In our clinical trials
conducted to date, CAT-2003 was well tolerated at up to 12 weeks of patient dosing with no observed trends in laboratory values, vital signs, electrocardiogram or
physical examination. Mild to moderate gastrointestinal tolerability issues were observed with CAT-2003 at higher doses with an uncoated soft gelatin capsule and
were improved with a coated soft gelatin capsule formulation.
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CAT-2003—Completed Clinical Trials

Phase 1 Clinical Trial in Healthy Volunteers (CAT-2003-101)

        We conducted a Phase 1 trial in healthy volunteers at a single center in the United States to assess the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of single and
multiple doses of CAT-2003 in both fasting and fed states. We also measured CAT-2003 effects on post-prandial triglycerides and other lipid parameters. All subjects
were administered 500 mg immediate release niacin in the screening period so effects on flushing could be compared to CAT-2003. In this Phase 1 trial, there were a
total of 99 subjects, 79 of whom received CAT-2003.

        Single Ascending Dose:    41 healthy volunteers were randomized to receive CAT-2003 in soft gelatin capsules at doses ranging from 300 mg to 2000 mg or
placebo. Single doses of CAT-2003, administered under fed and fasted conditions, were well tolerated and there were no serious AEs reported. In subjects administered
CAT-2003, the most commonly reported AEs were diarrhea, which was reported in 11 subjects, nausea, which was reported in five subjects, and abdominal distention,
which was reported in three subjects. The majority of AEs were mild in severity. In subjects administered CAT-2003, reports of gastrointestinal AEs were higher in the
fed state than in the fasted state. We observed no safety signals in laboratory, vital signs or electrocardiogram results following CAT-2003 administration in either the
fasted or fed state.

        CAT-2003 was rapidly absorbed in plasma, with mean maximum and overall plasma exposure generally increasing with CAT-2003 dose. Nicotinic acid was not
detected in plasma at levels above background, consistent with intracellular cleavage of CAT-2003 and intracellular delivery of the component bioactives. Exposure of
CAT-2003 was similar in the fasted and fed states.

        We measured postprandial triglycerides in healthy volunteers after single doses of 300 mg, 1000 mg and 2000 mg CAT-2003 and placebo were administered after
a standardized high-fat meal. In subjects receiving the 300 mg dose of CAT-2003, the peak postprandial increase in plasma triglycerides was reduced by approximately
50% on average compared to subjects receiving placebo, while in subjects receiving the 1000 and 2000 mg doses of CAT-2003, the peak postprandial increase in
plasma triglycerides was reduced by approximately 80% on average compared to subjects receiving placebo.

        We measured flushing in subjects screened for susceptibility to niacin-induced flushing. Flushing was measured using a validated patient-reported questionnaire
and also by laser Doppler after single doses of 300 mg, 1000 mg, and 2000 mg of CAT-2003 pre-dose and four hours post-dose, the general timeframe during which
niacin-related flushing would be expected to be observed. No subject dosed with CAT-2003 experienced flushing at any dose. Results for the highest CAT-2003 dose,
2000 mg, are shown in the graphs below.

CAT-2003 Effect on Flushing in Subjects Screened for Niacin-Induced Flushing
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        Multiple Ascending Dose:    58 healthy volunteers were administered CAT-2003 in soft gelatin capsules at doses ranging from 500 mg to 1500 mg or placebo
daily for 14 days. In addition to the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of CAT-2003, we assessed the activity of CAT-2003 on lipid parameters including fasting
and postprandial triglycerides following 14 days of dosing.

        CAT-2003 administered for 14 days demonstrated no safety signals in laboratory values, vital signs, electrocardiogram or physical examination that were
considered to be drug-related AEs. No serious AEs were reported. The most common AEs were gastrointestinal, including diarrhea, which was reported in 32 subjects,
nausea, which was reported in 26 subjects, vomiting, which was reported in 12 subjects, and headache, which was reported in 11 subjects. The majority of subjects at a
total daily dose of 1000 mg had gastrointestinal AEs. Overall, most AEs were mild in intensity but moderate intensity gastrointestinal AEs were reported, particularly
at daily doses of 1000 mg.

        CAT-2003 was rapidly absorbed in plasma, with mean maximum and overall plasma exposure generally increasing with CAT-2003 dose. Nicotinic acid was not
detected in plasma at levels above background, consistent with intracellular cleavage of CAT-2003 and intracellular delivery of the component bioactives.

        We observed that postprandial triglyceride levels were reduced after two weeks of treatment with CAT-2003. Both 500 mg and 1000 mg total daily doses of CAT-
2003 substantially suppressed the expected increase in postprandial lipids after the first meal of the day as compared to the typical increase in postprandial
triglycerides observed in the placebo group. We did not assess the statistical significance of these data and did not measure postprandial lipids after a high-fat meal in
subjects receiving 1500 mg total daily doses of CAT-2003.

Phase 2a Clinical Trial in Patients with Hyperlipidemia (CAT-2003-201)

        We conducted a Phase 2a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial in 72 patients with moderate hypertriglyceridemia with baseline triglyceride
levels between 200 and 500 mg/dL and in 27 patients with hypercholesterolemia, defined as LDL-C levels between 100 mg/dL and 190 mg/dL and triglycerides less
than 200 mg/dL, while on a statin. We enrolled patients at 15 sites in the United States and Canada. Patients were treated for 28 days with CAT-2003 at doses of 300
mg once daily, 500 mg once daily or 300 mg twice daily, or placebo. Of the total 99 patients, 71 were treated with CAT-2003.

        We observed a median 16% reduction in fasting triglycerides in patients receiving 500 mg CAT-2003. Median triglyceride reductions in the placebo, 300 mg once
daily and 300 mg twice daily dosing cohorts were less than 5%. However, in a pre-specified subgroup of patients with a baseline fasting triglyceride value greater than
350 mg/dL, we observed a median 27% decrease in fasting triglycerides from baseline in all CAT-2003-treated patients, and a median 44% decrease in fasting
triglycerides in patients receiving 500 mg CAT-2003. The greater effect of CAT-2003 in patients with higher baseline triglycerides is consistent with preclinical data
supporting the mechanism of action of CAT-2003 in enhancing LPL activity.
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        As shown in the graph below in the cohort of 27 patients with hypercholesterolemia, we observed that CAT-2003 reduced LDL-C levels by a median 11% in
patients who received a 500 mg once daily dose on concomitant moderate-dose statin therapy.

CAT-2003 Effect on LDL
Cholesterol

p<0.01 change from baseline
p=0.03 relative to placebo group

        As shown in the graph below, in the 21 patients with Type 2 diabetes enrolled in the trial and randomized to CAT-2003, we observed reductions in fasting glucose.
In addition, we observed a statistically significant reduction of 0.2% in HbA1c following four weeks of treatment, with a p-value of less than 0.01.

CAT-2003 Effect on Fasting
Glucose Levels in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes

        No serious AEs were reported. The most common AEs reported were gastrointestinal, with nausea, diarrhea, vomiting and abdominal distention the most
frequently reported. Twenty-three patients reported nausea, 17 reported diarrhea, nine reported vomiting and five reported abdominal distention and most of the AEs
were mild or moderate in severity. Four patients discontinued
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treatment because of gastrointestinal AEs and several received dose reductions because of AEs. We observed no safety signals in laboratory, vital signs or
electrocardiogram results.

Phase 2a Clinical Trial in Patients with SHTG and rSHTG (CAT-2003-202)

        We conducted a randomized, single-blind Phase 2a trial in 14 patients with severe hypertriglyceridemia and rSHTG, defined as fasting triglycerides greater than
500 mg/dL and either treatment naive or currently taking other triglyceride-lowering therapies, to evaluate the effect of CAT-2003 on triglyceride levels. Thirteen of
the 14 patients enrolled completed dosing. This clinical trial enrolled patients at four sites in the United States. A placebo run-in for two weeks was followed by
treatment with 500 mg of CAT-2003 dosed once-daily for four weeks. As illustrated in the graph below, we observed a reduction in fasting triglycerides from a median
of 658 mg/dL after the placebo run-in to a median of 467 mg/dL following four weeks of CAT-2003 treatment. We observed a comparable reduction in fasting
triglycerides from a median of 760 mg/dL after the placebo run-in to a median of 452 mg/dL following four weeks of CAT-2003 treatment in the four patients on
concomitant fibrate or statin therapy. In the four patients with Type 2 diabetes, three of whom were also receiving metformin, we observed decreases in HbA1c. No
serious AEs were reported. The most common AEs reported were gastrointestinal, with nausea and diarrhea the most frequently reported. Five patients reported nausea
and four patients reported diarrhea and all of the AEs were mild in severity. We observed no safety signals in laboratory, vital signs or electrocardiogram results.

CAT-2003 Effect on Fasting
Triglycerides

Median-interquartile ranges
*p~0.01

Phase 1 Clinical Trial of the CAT-2003 Coated Capsule Formulation (CAT-2003-102)

        To improve gastrointestinal tolerability observed with the uncoated soft gelatin capsule, we reformulated CAT-2003 in a gelatin capsule with a pH-sensitive
polymer coating. We then conducted a Phase 1 trial in healthy volunteers to examine the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of seven days of treatment with the
CAT-2003 coated capsule formulation. This trial enrolled 48 subjects at one site in the United States. In this trial, the coated capsule formulation of CAT-2003
substantially reduced gastrointestinal side effects, particularly nausea and vomiting, over the seven-day treatment period while retaining the desired pharmacokinetic
and pharmacodynamic profile.

Phase 2a Clinical Trial in Patients with Chylomicronemia (CAT-2003-203)

        We have completed the active treatment phase of a two-part 12-week single-blind Phase 2a clinical trial of CAT-2003 in patients with chylomicronemia
syndromes and rSHTG at two sites in Canada. Patients with familial chylomicronemia, or FCS, were enrolled based on previous diagnosis, and patients
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with non-familial chylomicronemia, or MFC, and rSHTG, were enrolled based on history of fasting triglycerides greater than 880 mg/dL, or, if on stable dose of
fibrate therapy, documented fasting triglycerides greater than 440 mg/dL. All patients enrolled in the trial participated in a run-in period, during which patients
followed a low fat diet and received placebo, followed by a 12-week CAT-2003 treatment phase. In the first part, 12 patients were dosed with the uncoated CAT-2003
capsules and in the second part seven patients were dosed with the coated capsules.

        Preliminary data from the first part of the clinical trial of patients with MFC and rSHTG indicate that CAT-2003 reduced fasting triglycerides by a median of 40%
at a dose of 500 mg once daily. Meaningful reductions in triglycerides were not observed in patients with FCS. We observed no safety signals in laboratory, vital signs
or electrocardiogram results. The patients enrolled in the trial experienced mild to moderate gastrointestinal AEs at some point. These included nausea in nine patients,
diarrhea in nine patients and vomiting in six patients. In some cases these AEs led to dose reduction or discontinuation.

        In the second part of the trial, we evaluated the effect of the coated capsule formulation of CAT-2003 on gastrointestinal tolerability compared to the uncoated
capsule formulation. Preliminary data demonstrated improvement in nausea events, with three patients reporting nausea, but no vomiting events. Diarrhea was
observed in seven patients. As a result of these AEs, four patients received dose reductions and two discontinued.

CAT-2003 Preclinical Development

        We have observed that CAT-2003 reduced fasting or post-prandial triglycerides in several in vivo models of hypertriglyceridemia. In some of these studies, we
tested and observed that EPA and niacin administered at doses that correspond to the top dose of CAT-2003 did not reduce triglycerides significantly. In a study using a
mouse model, we also observed that CAT-2003 reduced liver inflammation and liver fat content.

        We have investigated the mechanism of action of CAT-2003 based on the abilities of EPA and niacin to modulate triglyceride and cholesterol synthesis through
SREBP modulation. In human cell lines, we have observed that CAT-2003 reduced the amount of mature SREBP protein and levels of ApoC3, Angptl3 and Angptl4 to
a greater extent than either EPA or niacin alone or in combination, and also increased LPL activity in cells.

CAT-4001 

        CAT-4001 is a SMART linker conjugate of monomethyl fumarate and DHA designed to modulate the Nrf2 and NF-kB pathways. We are developing CAT-4001
initially for the treatment of ALS and Freidreich's ataxia, two rare neurodegenerative diseases in which both the Nrf2 and NF-kB pathways have been implicated.

        We designed CAT-4001 to combine the potentially beneficial activities of monomethyl fumarate and DHA on the Nrf2 and NF-kB pathways. Nrf2 is a
transcription factor that regulates cellular response to oxidative stress. NF-kB is a transcription factor that controls cellular responses to stress and inflammation.
Research suggests that oxidative stress and neuroinflammation contribute to the progression of both ALS and Friedreich's ataxia.

        We observed in preclinical studies that CAT-4001 modulated the NF-kB pathway and the Nrf2 pathway. In cellular assays and in animal models, we observed that
the activity produced by CAT-4001 was greater than that produced by the individual components, monomethyl fumarate and DHA, either alone or in combination at
approximately equivalent amounts to those contained in the CAT-4001 conjugate.

        Based on its mechanism of action, we believe that CAT-4001 has the potential to be used in patients with certain neurodegenerative diseases, particularly ALS or
Friedreich's ataxia. We plan to
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conduct preclinical studies of CAT-4001 in 2015, and if the results of these preclinical studies are positive we intend to advance CAT-4001 into a Phase 1 clinical trial
in 2016.

Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis

        ALS, sometimes called Lou Gehrig's disease or classical motor neuron disease, is a rapidly progressive, invariably fatal neurological disease that attacks the nerve
cells responsible for controlling voluntary muscles. Eventually, muscle weakness and atrophy occurs. People with ALS lose the ability to stand and walk, and use their
hands and arms. In later stages of the disease, individuals have difficulty breathing as the muscles of the respiratory system weaken. Although ventilation support can
enable breathing and prolong survival, it does not affect the progression of ALS. Most people with ALS die from respiratory failure, usually within three to five years
of diagnosis.

        According to the ALS Association, approximately 5,600 people in the United States are diagnosed with ALS each year. The incidence of ALS is two per 100,000
people, and it is estimated that as many as 30,000 Americans may have the disease at any given time. ALS occurs throughout the world and affects all racial, ethnic or
socioeconomic groups.

Friedreich's Ataxia

        Friedreich's ataxia is a rare genetic disease that causes nervous system damage and movement problems. Friedreich's ataxia is caused by a defect in the frataxin
gene, which regulates iron levels in the mitochondria. In the majority of cases, the genetic defect in Friedreich's ataxia causes a reduction in the production of the
frataxin protein and iron levels in mitochondria become poorly regulated. In Friedreich's ataxia, iron overload in mitochondria affects metabolism, causing oxidative
stress and ultimately damaging mitochondrial DNA. Progressive degeneration of central and peripheral nervous systems in Friedreich's ataxia patients causes impaired
gait and coordination, muscle loss and fatigue. Disease progression varies, but generally, the patient is confined to a wheelchair within 10 to 20 years after the
appearance of the first symptoms. Patients may become completely incapacitated in later stages of the disease.

        Nrf2 regulates mitochondrial function to control cellular energy metabolism. Activation of Nrf2 increases the mitochondrial use of fatty acids and glucose, two
molecules that work as cellular fuel, and increases the formation of new mitochondria. Preclinical studies indicate that genetic or pharmacologic Nrf2 activation
positively regulates mitochondrial function and energy production. This activity may translate into improved physical functioning and reduced fatigue in patients with
Friedreich's ataxia.

        Friedreich's ataxia affects both males and females and there are approximately 6,000 patients with Friedreich's ataxia in the United States and 20,000 in the
European Union.

Sales and Marketing 

        Given our stage of development, we have not yet established a commercial organization or distribution capabilities, nor have we entered into any collaboration or
co-promotion arrangements. We plan to build focused capabilities in the United States and Canada to commercialize development programs, such as CAT-1004 for
DMD, where we believe that the medical specialists for the indications are sufficiently concentrated to allow us to effectively promote the product with a targeted sales
team. We also intend to enter into strategic relationships with biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies where realizing the full value of our development
programs will require access to broader geographic markets or the pursuit of broader patient populations or indications. In addition, we intend to expand the drug
development applications of our SMART linker technology platform through selective collaborations with leading biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies.
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Manufacturing and Supply 

        Each of our SMART linker conjugate product candidates is a small molecule compound manufactured from component raw materials, for each of the bioactives
and for the linker. The omega-3 fatty acid materials that we use as bioactives are purified from natural sources by established pharmaceutical intermediate
manufacturers. The other bioactive and linker raw materials that we use are readily available from established pharmaceutical intermediate manufacturers who
synthesize them using well understood, conventional chemistries. The components are conjugated to form the SMART linker product candidate using well understood,
conventional chemistries.

        We currently have no manufacturing facilities and limited personnel with manufacturing experience. We rely on contract manufacturers to produce both drug
substance and drug product required for our clinical trials. We plan to continue to rely upon contract manufacturers and, potentially, collaborators to manufacture
commercial quantities of our products, if approved.

Competition 

        The development and commercialization of new drugs is highly competitive. If we successfully develop and commercialize any of our product candidates, we and
any future collaborators will face competition from pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies worldwide. Many of the entities developing and marketing
potentially competing products have significantly greater financial resources and expertise than we do in research and development, manufacturing, preclinical testing,
conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals and marketing. Our commercial opportunity will be reduced or eliminated if our competitors develop and
commercialize products that are more effective, have fewer side effects, are more convenient or are less expensive than any products that we may develop.

        The key competitive factors affecting the success of our product candidates, if approved, are likely to be their efficacy, safety, convenience, price and the
availability of coverage and reimbursement from government and other third-party payors.

CAT-1004 for Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy

        There are currently no therapies approved for the treatment of DMD in the United States. Although not approved for the treatment of DMD, corticosteroid
therapy is often prescribed to treat the inflammation underlying DMD and to delay loss of ambulation. Marathon Pharmaceuticals has announced that it is conducting
clinical trials and preclinical studies to support approval of deflazacort, a corticosteroid, in DMD and that it anticipates filing an NDA for deflazacort with the FDA in
2016.

        A number of companies are developing therapies to treat DMD in patients with specific mutations in the dystrophin gene. PTC Therapeutics has received
conditional approval for Translarna™ in the European Union for DMD patients with nonsense mutations and has begun a rolling NDA submission for marketing
approval in the United States. Prosensa (which has agreed to be acquired by BioMarin Pharmaceuticals) and Sarepta Therapeutics have product candidates in clinical
development based on a different scientific approach, which is referred to as exon-skipping. Prosensa has begun a rolling NDA submission for approval in the United
States for its lead product candidate, drisapersen, and Sarepta Therapeutics is conducting Phase 3 clinical trials of its lead product candidate eteplirsen and has
announced that it intends to submit an NDA in 2015. Based on the prevalence of the specific mutations that these product candidates are designed to address, they
would be expected to be effective in an aggregate of approximately 26% of DMD patients.

        Other companies have alternative therapeutic approaches to the treatment of DMD in late stage clinical development. Santhera Pharmaceuticals has announced
positive effects on respiratory function in a Phase 3 clinical trial of idebenone (Raxone® in the European Union and Catena® in the United
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States). Santhera has announced that it plans to seek regulatory approval for the treatment of DMD in Europe and the United States. Eli Lilly is conducting a Phase 3
trial of the product tadalafil (Cialis®), which is currently approved for marketing for the treatment of erectile dysfunction, to assess whether Cialis will increase blood
flow to muscles and delay the loss of ambulatory function in patients with DMD. A number of companies have products in earlier stages of clinical development for
DMD, including Akashi Therapeutics, Bristol Myers Squibb, Pfizer, Phrixus Pharmaceuticals, Summit Plc and Taiho Pharmaceuticals. If successfully developed, some
of these alternative therapeutic approaches may be applicable to all DMD patients.

CAT-2054 for Hypercholesterolemia

        There are many widely available products, including statins and cholesterol absorption inhibitors, approved for the treatment of patients with
hypercholesterolemia. The market and development pipeline for cholesterol regulating therapies is especially large and competitive. If CAT-2054 is approved for the
treatment of hypercholesterolemia, either as monotherapy or in combination therapies, it will face intense competition from current approved therapies as well as a
number of therapeutic approaches in development, including:

• PCSK9 inhibitors.  The most advanced of these product candidates are the monoclonal antibodies alirocumab, being developed by Sanofi and
Regeneron Pharmaceuticals, and evolocumab, being developed by Amgen. Both agents have completed Phase 3 clinical trials and are in the process of
registration with United States and European regulatory authorities. Other PCSK9 inhibitors in clinical development include Pfizer's bococizumab,
which is currently in Phase 3 clinical trials, and Eli Lilly's LY3015014, which has completed a Phase 2 clinical trial. In addition, Alnylam
Pharmaceuticals has announced the filing of a Clinical Trial Application with the U.K. Medicines and Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency to
initiate a Phase 1 clinical trial of ALN-PCSsc, which targets PCSK9. 

• Cholesterylester transfer protein (CETP) inhibitors.  CETP inhibitors are intended to reduce the risk of atherosclerosis. There are two CETP inhibitors
in Phase 3 clinical trials, Merck's MK-0859 and Eli Lilly's LY2484595. Dezima Pharma's TA-8995 has completed a Phase 2b clinical trial.

        Esperion is developing ETC-1002, an inhibitor of ATP citrate lyase that is currently in Phase 2b clinical trials, and Madrigal Pharmaceuticals' is developing
MGL-3196, an inhibitor of thyroid hormone receptors that has completed Phase 1 clinical trials in healthy volunteers.

Intellectual Property 

        We strive to protect the proprietary technologies that we believe are important to our business, including pursuing and maintaining patent protection intended to
cover the composition of matter of our product candidates, their methods of use, related technologies and other inventions that are important to our business. In
addition to patent protection, we also rely on trade secrets to protect aspects of our business that are not amenable to, or that we do not consider appropriate for, patent
protection, including certain aspects of our SMART linker technology platform.

        Our commercial success depends in part upon our ability to obtain and maintain patent and other proprietary protection for commercially important technologies,
inventions and know-how related to our business, defend and enforce our intellectual property rights, in particular, our patent rights, preserve the confidentiality of our
trade secrets and operate without infringing valid and enforceable intellectual property rights of others.

        The patent positions for biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies like us are generally uncertain and can involve complex legal, scientific and factual issues.
In addition, the coverage claimed
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in a patent application can be significantly reduced before a patent is issued, and its scope can be reinterpreted and even challenged after issuance. As a result, we
cannot guarantee that any of our product candidates will be protectable or remain protected by enforceable patents. We cannot predict whether the patent applications
we are currently pursuing will issue as patents in any particular jurisdiction or whether the claims of any issued patents will provide sufficient proprietary protection
from competitors. Any patents that we hold may be challenged, circumvented or invalidated by third parties.

        As of December 31, 2014, our patent estate included 6 issued U.S. patents and over 25 pending U.S. patent applications, 10 issued foreign patents and 100
pending foreign patent applications.

        With regard to CAT-1004, we have two issued U.S. patents and two allowed U.S. patent applications with composition of matter and method of use claims
directed to CAT-1004 and its use. The issued U.S. patents and the allowed U.S. patent applications, when issued, are expected to expire in 2029, without taking a
potential patent term extension into account. In addition, we have patents that have been granted in Australia, China, Mexico and New Zealand, which are expected to
expire in 2029, without taking potential patent term extensions into account, and at least 20 pending patent applications in various other countries and regions in North
America, South America, Europe, and Asia, which, if issued, are expected to expire in 2029, without taking potential patent term extensions into account.

        With regard to CAT-2003 and CAT-2054, we have two issued U.S. patents with composition of matter and method of use claims directed to CAT-2003 and CAT-
2054 and their use. These U.S. patents are scheduled to expire in 2030 and 2031, without taking potential patent term extensions into account. In addition, we have
patents that have been granted in Mexico and New Zealand, which are expected to expire in 2030, without taking potential patent term extensions into account and at
least 20 pending applications in various other countries and regions including North and South America, Europe, and Asia, which, if issued, are expected to expire in
2030, without taking patent term extensions into account. In addition, we have a pending U.S. patent application directed to CAT-2054, which, if issued, is expected to
expire in 2033, without taking a potential patent term extension into account. We have at least 10 counterpart patent applications pending in various countries and
regions in North America, South America, Europe and Asia, which, if issued, are expected to expire in 2033, without taking potential patent term extensions into
account.

        With regard to CAT-4001, we have an allowed, pending U.S. patent application with composition of matter and method of use claims directed to CAT-4001 and
its use. This patent application, if issued, is expected to expire in 2031, without taking a potential patent term extension into account. We have at least 20 counterpart
patent applications pending in various other countries and regions in North America, South America, Europe and Asia, which, if issued, are expected to expire in 2031,
without taking potential patent term extensions into account.

        The term of individual patents depends upon the legal term of the patents in the countries in which they are obtained. In most countries in which we file, the
patent term is 20 years from the earliest date of filing a non-provisional patent application.

        In the United States, the term of a patent covering an FDA-approved drug may be eligible for a patent term extension under the Hatch-Waxman Act as
compensation for the loss of patent term during the FDA regulatory review process. The period of extension may be up to five years beyond the expiration of the
patent, but cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years from the date of product approval. Only one patent among those eligible for an
extension may be extended. Similar provisions are available in Europe and in certain other jurisdictions to extend the term of a patent that covers an approved drug. It
is possible that issued U.S. patents covering CAT-1004, CAT-2003, CAT-2054 and CAT-4001 may be entitled to patent term extensions. If our product candidates
receive FDA approval, we intend to apply for patent term extensions, if available, to
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extend the term of patents that cover the approved product candidates. We also intend to seek patent term extensions in any jurisdictions where they are available,
however, there is no guarantee that the applicable authorities, including the FDA, will agree with our assessment of whether such extensions should be granted, and
even if granted, the length of such extensions.

        In addition to patent protection, we also rely on trade secret protection for our proprietary information that is not amenable to, or that we do not consider
appropriate for, patent protection, including, for example, certain aspects of our manufacturing processes and conjugate selection methodologies. However, trade
secrets can be difficult to protect. Although we take steps to protect our proprietary information, including restricting access to our premises and our confidential
information, as well as entering into agreements with our employees, consultants, advisors and potential collaborators, third parties may independently develop the
same or similar proprietary information or may otherwise gain access to our proprietary information. As a result, we may be unable to meaningfully protect our trade
secrets and proprietary information.

Government Regulation and Product Approvals 

        Government authorities in the United States, at the federal, state and local level, and in other countries and jurisdictions, including the European Union,
extensively regulate, among other things, the research, development, testing, manufacture, quality control, approval, packaging, storage, recordkeeping, labeling,
advertising, promotion, distribution, marketing, post-approval monitoring and reporting, and import and export of pharmaceutical products. The processes for
obtaining regulatory approvals in the United States and in foreign countries and jurisdictions, along with subsequent compliance with applicable statutes and
regulations and other regulatory authorities, require the expenditure of substantial time and financial resources.

Review and Approval of Drugs in the United States 

        In the United States, the FDA regulates drugs under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FDCA, and implementing regulations. The failure to comply
with applicable U.S. requirements at any time during the product development process, approval process or after approval may subject an applicant and/or sponsor to a
variety of administrative or judicial sanctions, including refusal by the FDA to approve pending applications, withdrawal of an approval, imposition of a clinical hold,
issuance of warning letters and other types of letters, product recalls, product seizures, total or partial suspension of production or distribution, injunctions, fines,
refusals of government contracts, restitution, disgorgement of profits, or civil or criminal investigations and penalties brought by the FDA and the Department of
Justice or other governmental entities.

        An applicant seeking approval to market and distribute a new drug product in the United States must typically undertake the following:

• completion of preclinical laboratory tests, animal studies and formulation studies in compliance with the FDA's good laboratory practice, or GLP,
regulations; 

• submission to the FDA of an IND, which must take effect before human clinical trials may begin; 

• approval by an independent institutional review board, or IRB, representing each clinical site before each clinical trial may be initiated; 

• performance of adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials in accordance with good clinical practices, or GCP, to establish the safety and
efficacy of the proposed drug product for each indication; 

• preparation and submission to the FDA of an NDA;
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• review of the product by an FDA advisory committee, where appropriate or if applicable; 

• satisfactory completion of one or more FDA inspections of the manufacturing facility or facilities at which the product, or components thereof, are
produced to assess compliance with current Good Manufacturing Practices, or cGMP, requirements and to assure that the facilities, methods and
controls are adequate to preserve the product's identity, strength, quality and purity; 

• satisfactory completion of FDA audits of clinical trial sites to assure compliance with GCPs and the integrity of the clinical data; 

• payment of user fees and securing FDA approval of the NDA; and 

• compliance with any post-approval requirements, including Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategies, or REMS, and post-approval studies required by
the FDA.

Preclinical Studies

        Preclinical studies include laboratory evaluation of the purity and stability of the manufactured drug substance or active pharmaceutical ingredient and the
formulated drug or drug product, as well as in vitro and animal studies to assess the safety and activity of the drug for initial testing in humans and to establish a
rationale for therapeutic use. The conduct of preclinical studies is subject to federal regulations and requirements, including GLP regulations. The results of the
preclinical tests, together with manufacturing information, analytical data, any available clinical data or literature and plans for clinical trials, among other things, are
submitted to the FDA as part of an IND. Some long-term preclinical testing, such as animal tests of reproductive adverse events and carcinogenicity, may continue
after the IND is submitted.

Human Clinical Trials in Support of an NDA

        Clinical trials involve the administration of the investigational product to human subjects under the supervision of qualified investigators in accordance with GCP
requirements, which include, among other things, the requirement that all research subjects provide their informed consent in writing before their participation in any
clinical trial. Clinical trials are conducted under written study protocols detailing, among other things, the inclusion and exclusion criteria, the objectives of the study,
the parameters to be used in monitoring safety and the effectiveness criteria to be evaluated. A protocol for each clinical trial and any subsequent protocol amendments
must be submitted to the FDA as part of the IND. An IND automatically becomes effective 30 days after receipt by the FDA, unless before that time the FDA raises
concerns or questions related to a proposed clinical trial and places the trial on clinical hold. In such a case, the IND sponsor and the FDA must resolve any
outstanding concerns before the clinical trial can begin. The FDA can place an IND on clinical hold at any point in development, and depending upon the scope of the
hold, clinical trial(s) may not restart until resolution of the outstanding concerns to the FDA's satisfaction.

        In addition, an IRB representing each institution participating in the clinical trial must review and approve the plan for any clinical trial before it commences at
that institution, and the IRB must conduct a continuing review and reapprove the study at least annually. The IRB must review and approve, among other things, the
study protocol and informed consent information to be provided to study subjects. An IRB must operate in compliance with FDA regulations. Information about
certain clinical trials must be submitted within specific timeframes to the National Institutes of Health for public dissemination on their ClinicalTrials.gov website.
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        Human clinical trials are typically conducted in three sequential phases, which may overlap or be combined:

• Phase 1.  The drug is initially introduced into healthy human subjects or, in certain indications such as cancer, patients with the target disease or
condition and tested for safety, dosage tolerance, absorption, metabolism, distribution, excretion and, if possible, to gain an early indication of its
effectiveness and to determine optimal dosage. 

• Phase 2.  The drug is administered to a limited patient population to identify possible adverse effects and safety risks, to preliminarily evaluate the
efficacy of the product for specific targeted diseases and to determine dosage tolerance and optimal dosage. 

• Phase 3.  The drug is administered to an expanded patient population, generally at geographically dispersed clinical trial sites, in well-controlled
clinical trials to generate enough data to statistically evaluate the efficacy and safety of the product for approval, to establish the overall risk-benefit
profile of the product and to provide adequate information for the labeling of the product.

        Progress reports detailing the results of the clinical trials must be submitted at least annually to the FDA and more frequently if serious adverse events occur. In
addition, IND safety reports must be submitted to the FDA for any of the following: serious and unexpected suspected adverse reactions; findings from other studies or
animal or in vitro testing that suggest a significant risk in humans exposed to the drug; and any clinically important increase in the case of a serious suspected adverse
reaction over that listed in the protocol or investigator brochure. Phase 1, Phase 2 and Phase 3 clinical trials may not be completed successfully within any specified
period, or at all. Furthermore, the FDA or the sponsor may suspend or terminate a clinical trial at any time on various grounds, including a finding that the research
subjects are being exposed to an unacceptable health risk. Similarly, an IRB can suspend or terminate approval of a clinical trial at its institution, or an institution it
represents, if the clinical trial is not being conducted in accordance with the IRB's requirements or if the drug has been associated with unexpected serious harm to
patients. The FDA will typically inspect one or more clinical sites to assure compliance with GCP and the integrity of the clinical data submitted.

Submission of an NDA to the FDA

        Assuming successful completion of required clinical testing and other requirements, the results of the preclinical studies and clinical trials, together with detailed
information relating to the product's chemistry, manufacture, controls and proposed labeling, among other things, are submitted to the FDA as part of an NDA
requesting approval to market the drug product for one or more indications. Under federal law, the submission of most NDAs is additionally subject to an application
user fee, currently exceeding $2.1 million, and the sponsor of an approved NDA is also subject to annual product and establishment user fees, currently exceeding
$104,000 per product and $554,000 per establishment. These fees are typically increased annually.

        The FDA conducts a preliminary review of an NDA within 60 days of its receipt and informs the sponsor by the 74th day after the FDA's receipt of the
submission to determine whether the application is sufficiently complete to permit substantive review. The FDA may request additional information rather than accept
an NDA for filing. In this event, the application must be resubmitted with the additional information. The resubmitted application is also subject to review before the
FDA accepts it for filing. Once the submission is accepted for filing, the FDA begins an in-depth substantive review. The FDA has agreed to specified performance
goals in the review process of NDAs. Most such applications are meant to be reviewed within ten months from the date of filing, and most applications for "priority
review" products are meant to be reviewed within six months of filing. The review process may be extended by the FDA for three additional months to consider new
information or clarification
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provided by the applicant to address an outstanding deficiency identified by the FDA following the original submission.

        Before approving an NDA, the FDA typically will inspect the facility or facilities where the product is or will be manufactured. These pre-approval inspections
may cover all facilities associated with an NDA submission, including drug component manufacturing (such as active pharmaceutical ingredients), finished drug
product manufacturing, and control testing laboratories. The FDA will not approve an application unless it determines that the manufacturing processes and facilities
are in compliance with cGMP requirements and adequate to assure consistent production of the product within required specifications. Additionally, before approving
an NDA, the FDA will typically inspect one or more clinical sites to assure compliance with GCP.

        In addition, as a condition of approval, the FDA may require an applicant to develop a REMS. REMS use risk minimization strategies beyond the professional
labeling to ensure that the benefits of the product outweigh the potential risks. To determine whether a REMS is needed, the FDA will consider the size of the
population likely to use the product, seriousness of the disease, expected benefit of the product, expected duration of treatment, seriousness of known or potential
adverse events, and whether the product is a new molecular entity. REMS can include medication guides, physician communication plans for healthcare professionals,
and elements to assure safe use, or ETASU. ETASU may include, but are not limited to, special training or certification for prescribing or dispensing, dispensing only
under certain circumstances, special monitoring, and the use of patient registries. The FDA may require a REMS before approval or post-approval if it becomes aware
of a serious risk associated with use of the product. The requirement for a REMS can materially affect the potential market and profitability of a product.

        The FDA is required to refer an application for a novel drug to an advisory committee or explain why such referral was not made. Typically, an advisory
committee is a panel of independent experts, including clinicians and other scientific experts, that reviews, evaluates and provides a recommendation as to whether the
application should be approved and under what conditions. The FDA is not bound by the recommendations of an advisory committee, but it considers such
recommendations carefully when making decisions.

Fast Track, Breakthrough Therapy and Priority Review Designations

        The FDA is authorized to designate certain products for expedited review if they are intended to address an unmet medical need in the treatment of a serious or
life-threatening disease or condition. These programs are fast track designation, breakthrough therapy designation and priority review designation.

        Specifically, the FDA may designate a product for fast track review if it is intended, whether alone or in combination with one or more other drugs, for the
treatment of a serious or life-threatening disease or condition, and it demonstrates the potential to address unmet medical needs for such a disease or condition. For fast
track products, sponsors may have greater interactions with the FDA and the FDA may initiate review of sections of a fast track product's NDA before the application
is complete. This rolling review may be available if the FDA determines, after preliminary evaluation of clinical data submitted by the sponsor, that a fast track
product may be effective. The sponsor must also provide, and the FDA must approve, a schedule for the submission of the remaining information and the sponsor must
pay applicable user fees. However, the FDA's time period goal for reviewing a fast track application does not begin until the last section of the NDA is submitted. In
addition, the fast track designation may be withdrawn by the FDA if the FDA believes that the designation is no longer supported by data emerging in the clinical trial
process.

        Second, in 2012, Congress enacted the Food and Drug Administration Safety and Innovation Act, or FDASIA. This law established a new regulatory scheme
allowing for expedited review of products
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designated as "breakthrough therapies." A product may be designated as a breakthrough therapy if it is intended, either alone or in combination with one or more other
drugs, to treat a serious or life-threatening disease or condition and preliminary clinical evidence indicates that the product may demonstrate substantial improvement
over existing therapies on one or more clinically significant endpoints, such as substantial treatment effects observed early in clinical development. The FDA may take
certain actions with respect to breakthrough therapies, including holding meetings with the sponsor throughout the development process; providing timely advice to
the product sponsor regarding development and approval; involving more senior staff in the review process; assigning a cross-disciplinary project lead for the review
team; and taking other steps to design the clinical trials in an efficient manner.

        Third, the FDA may designate a product for priority review if it is a drug that treats a serious condition and, if approved, would provide a significant improvement
in safety or effectiveness. The FDA determines, on a case- by-case basis, whether the proposed drug represents a significant improvement when compared with other
available therapies. Significant improvement may be illustrated by evidence of increased effectiveness in the treatment of a condition, elimination or substantial
reduction of a treatment-limiting drug reaction, documented enhancement of patient compliance that may lead to improvement in serious outcomes, and evidence of
safety and effectiveness in a new subpopulation. A priority designation is intended to direct overall attention and resources to the evaluation of such applications, and
to shorten the FDA's goal for taking action on a marketing application from ten months to six months.

Accelerated Approval Pathway

        The FDA may grant accelerated approval to a drug for a serious or life-threatening condition that provides meaningful therapeutic advantage to patients over
existing treatments based upon a determination that the drug has an effect on a surrogate endpoint that is reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit. The FDA may
also grant accelerated approval for such a condition when the product has an effect on an intermediate clinical endpoint that can be measured earlier than an effect on
irreversible morbidity or mortality, or IMM, and that is reasonably likely to predict an effect on irreversible morbidity or mortality or other clinical benefit, taking into
account the severity, rarity or prevalence of the condition and the availability or lack of alternative treatments. Drugs granted accelerated approval must meet the same
statutory standards for safety and effectiveness as those granted traditional approval.

        For the purposes of accelerated approval, a surrogate endpoint is a marker, such as a laboratory measurement, radiographic image, physical sign or other measure
that is thought to predict clinical benefit, but is not itself a measure of clinical benefit. Surrogate endpoints can often be measured more easily or more rapidly than
clinical endpoints. An intermediate clinical endpoint is a measurement of a therapeutic effect that is considered reasonably likely to predict the clinical benefit of a
drug, such as an effect on IMM. The FDA has limited experience with accelerated approvals based on intermediate clinical endpoints, but has indicated that such
endpoints generally may support accelerated approval where the therapeutic effect measured by the endpoint is not itself a clinical benefit and basis for traditional
approval, if there is a basis for concluding that the therapeutic effect is reasonably likely to predict the ultimate clinical benefit of a drug.

        The accelerated approval pathway is most often used in settings in which the course of a disease is long and an extended period of time is required to measure the
intended clinical benefit of a drug, even if the effect on the surrogate or intermediate clinical endpoint occurs rapidly. Thus, accelerated approval has been used
extensively in the development and approval of drugs for treatment of a variety of cancers in which the goal of therapy is generally to improve survival or decrease
morbidity and the duration of the typical disease course requires lengthy and sometimes large trials to demonstrate a clinical or survival benefit.
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        The accelerated approval pathway is usually contingent on a sponsor's agreement to conduct, in a diligent manner, additional post-approval confirmatory studies
to verify and describe the drug's clinical benefit. As a result, a drug candidate approved on this basis is subject to rigorous post-marketing compliance requirements,
including the completion of Phase 4 or post-approval clinical trials to confirm the effect on the clinical endpoint. Failure to conduct required post-approval studies, or
confirm a clinical benefit during post-marketing studies, would allow the FDA to withdraw the drug from the market on an expedited basis. All promotional materials
for drug candidates approved under accelerated regulations are subject to prior review by the FDA.

The FDA's Decision on an NDA

        On the basis of the FDA's evaluation of the NDA and accompanying information, including the results of the inspection of the manufacturing facilities, the FDA
may issue an approval letter or a complete response letter. An approval letter authorizes commercial marketing of the product with specific prescribing information for
specific indications. A complete response letter generally outlines the deficiencies in the submission and may require substantial additional testing or information in
order for the FDA to reconsider the application. If and when those deficiencies have been addressed to the FDA's satisfaction in a resubmission of the NDA, the FDA
will issue an approval letter. The FDA has committed to reviewing such resubmissions in two or six months depending on the type of information included. Even with
submission of this additional information, the FDA ultimately may decide that the application does not satisfy the regulatory criteria for approval.

        If the FDA approves a product, it may limit the approved indications for use for the product, require that contraindications, warnings or precautions be included in
the product labeling, require that post-approval studies, including Phase 4 clinical trials, be conducted to further assess the drug's safety after approval, require testing
and surveillance programs to monitor the product after commercialization, or impose other conditions, including distribution restrictions or other risk management
mechanisms, including REMS, which can materially affect the potential market and profitability of the product. The FDA may prevent or limit further marketing of a
product based on the results of post-market studies or surveillance programs. After approval, many types of changes to the approved product, such as adding new
indications, manufacturing changes and additional labeling claims, are subject to further testing requirements and FDA review and approval.

Post-Approval Requirements

        Drugs manufactured or distributed pursuant to FDA approvals are subject to pervasive and continuing regulation by the FDA, including, among other things,
requirements relating to recordkeeping, periodic reporting, product sampling and distribution, advertising and promotion and reporting of adverse experiences with the
product. After approval, most changes to the approved product, such as adding new indications or other labeling claims, are subject to prior FDA review and approval.
There also are continuing, annual user fee requirements for any marketed products and the establishments at which such products are manufactured, as well as new
application fees for supplemental applications with clinical data.

        In addition, drug manufacturers and other entities involved in the manufacture and distribution of approved drugs are required to register their establishments with
the FDA and state agencies, and are subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA and these state agencies for compliance with cGMP requirements.
Changes to the manufacturing process are strictly regulated and often require prior FDA approval before being implemented. FDA regulations also require
investigation and correction of any deviations from cGMP and impose reporting and documentation requirements upon the sponsor and any third-party manufacturers
that the sponsor may decide to use. Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to expend time, money, and effort in the area of production and quality control to
maintain cGMP compliance.
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        Once an approval is granted, the FDA may withdraw the approval if compliance with regulatory requirements and standards is not maintained or if problems
occur after the product reaches the market. Later discovery of previously unknown problems with a product, including adverse events of unanticipated severity or
frequency, or with manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may result in revisions to the approved labeling to add new safety
information; imposition of post-market studies or clinical trials to assess new safety risks; or imposition of distribution or other restrictions under a REMS program.
Other potential consequences include, among other things:

• restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of the product, complete withdrawal of the product from the market or product recalls; 

• fines, warning letters or holds on post-approval clinical trials; 

• refusal of the FDA to approve pending NDAs or supplements to approved NDAs, or suspension or revocation of product license approvals; 

• product seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export of products; or 

• injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

        The FDA strictly regulates marketing, labeling, advertising and promotion of products that are placed on the market. Drugs may be promoted only for the
approved indications and in accordance with the provisions of the approved label. The FDA and other agencies actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting
the promotion of off-label uses, and a company that is found to have improperly promoted off-label uses may be subject to significant liability.

        In addition, the distribution of prescription pharmaceutical products is subject to the Prescription Drug Marketing Act, or PDMA, which regulates the distribution
of drugs and drug samples at the federal level, and sets minimum standards for the registration and regulation of drug distributors by the states. Both the PDMA and
state laws limit the distribution of prescription pharmaceutical product samples and impose requirements to ensure accountability in distribution.

Abbreviated New Drug Applications for Generic Drugs

        In 1984, with passage of the Hatch-Waxman Amendments to the FDCA, Congress authorized the FDA to approve generic drugs that are the same as drugs
previously approved by the FDA under the NDA provisions of the statute. To obtain approval of a generic drug, an applicant must submit an abbreviated new drug
application, or ANDA, to the agency. In support of such applications, a generic manufacturer may rely on the preclinical and clinical testing previously conducted for a
drug product previously approved under an NDA, known as the reference-listed drug, or RLD.

        Specifically, in order for an ANDA to be approved, the FDA must find that the generic version is identical to the RLD with respect to the active ingredients, the
route of administration, the dosage form, and the strength of the drug. At the same time, the FDA must also determine that the generic drug is "bioequivalent" to the
innovator drug. Under the statute, a generic drug is bioequivalent to a RLD if "the rate and extent of absorption of the drug do not show a significant difference from
the rate and extent of absorption of the listed drug..."

        Upon approval of an ANDA, the FDA indicates whether the generic product is "therapeutically equivalent" to the RLD in its publication "Approved Drug
Products with Therapeutic Equivalence Evaluations," also referred to as the "Orange Book." Physicians and pharmacists consider a therapeutic equivalent generic drug
to be fully substitutable for the RLD. In addition, by operation of certain state laws and numerous health insurance programs, the FDA's designation of therapeutic
equivalence often results in substitution of the generic drug without the knowledge or consent of either the prescribing physician or patient.
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        Under the Hatch-Waxman Amendments, the FDA may not approve an ANDA until any applicable period of non-patent exclusivity for the RLD has expired. The
FDCA provides a period of five years of non-patent data exclusivity for a new drug containing a new chemical entity. For the purposes of this provision, a new
chemical entity, or NCE, is a drug that contains no active moiety that has previously been approved by the FDA in any other NDA. An active moiety is the molecule or
ion responsible for the physiological or pharmacological action of the drug substance. In cases where such NCE exclusivity has been granted, an ANDA may not be
filed with the FDA until the expiration of five years unless the submission is accompanied by a Paragraph IV certification, in which case the applicant may submit its
application four years following the original product approval.

        The FDCA also provides for a period of three years of exclusivity if the NDA includes reports of one or more new clinical investigations, other than
bioavailability or bioequivalence studies, that were conducted by or for the applicant and are essential to the approval of the application. This three-year exclusivity
period often protects changes to a previously approved drug product, such as a new dosage form, route of administration, combination or indication. Three-year
exclusivity would be available for a drug product that contains a previously approved active moiety, provided the statutory requirement for a new clinical investigation
is satisfied. Unlike five-year NCE exclusivity, an award of three-year exclusivity does not block the FDA from accepting ANDAs seeking approval for generic
versions of the drug as of the date of approval of the original drug product. The FDA typically makes decisions about awards of data exclusivity shortly before a
product is approved.

Hatch-Waxman Patent Certification and the 30-Month Stay

        Upon approval of an NDA or a supplement thereto, NDA sponsors are required to list with the FDA each patent with claims that cover the applicant's product or
an approved method of using the product. Each of the patents listed by the NDA sponsor is published in the Orange Book. When an ANDA applicant files its
application with the FDA, the applicant is required to certify to the FDA concerning any patents listed for the reference product in the Orange Book, except for patents
covering methods of use for which the ANDA applicant is not seeking approval. To the extent that the Section 505(b)(2) applicant is relying on studies conducted for
an already approved product, the applicant is required to certify to the FDA concerning any patents listed for the approved product in the Orange Book to the same
extent that an ANDA applicant would.

        Specifically, the applicant must certify with respect to each patent that:

• the required patent information has not been filed; 

• the listed patent has expired; 

• the listed patent has not expired, but will expire on a particular date and approval is sought after patent expiration; or 

• the listed patent is invalid, unenforceable or will not be infringed by the new product.

        A certification that the new product will not infringe the already approved product's listed patents or that such patents are invalid or unenforceable is called a
Paragraph IV certification. If the applicant does not challenge the listed patents or indicates that it is not seeking approval of a patented method of use, the ANDA
application will not be approved until all the listed patents claiming the referenced product have expired (other than method of use patents involving indications for
which the ANDA applicant is not seeking approval).

        If the ANDA applicant has provided a Paragraph IV certification to the FDA, the applicant must also send notice of the Paragraph IV certification to the NDA
and patent holders once the ANDA has been accepted for filing by the FDA. The NDA and patent holders may then initiate a patent infringement lawsuit in response
to the notice of the Paragraph IV certification. The filing of a patent
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infringement lawsuit within 45 days after the receipt of a Paragraph IV certification automatically prevents the FDA from approving the ANDA until the earlier of
30 months after the receipt of the Paragraph IV notice, expiration of the patent, or a decision in the infringement case that is favorable to the ANDA applicant.

Pediatric Studies and Exclusivity

        Under the Pediatric Research Equity Act of 2003, an NDA or supplement thereto must contain data that are adequate to assess the safety and effectiveness of the
drug product for the claimed indications in all relevant pediatric subpopulations, and to support dosing and administration for each pediatric subpopulation for which
the product is safe and effective. With enactment of the FDASIA in 2012, sponsors must also submit pediatric study plans prior to the assessment data. Those plans
must contain an outline of the proposed pediatric study or studies the applicant plans to conduct, including study objectives and design, any deferral or waiver requests,
and other information required by regulation. The applicant, the FDA, and the FDA's internal review committee must then review the information submitted, consult
with each other, and agree upon a final plan. The FDA or the applicant may request an amendment to the plan at any time.

        The FDA may, on its own initiative or at the request of the applicant, grant deferrals for submission of some or all pediatric data until after approval of the product
for use in adults, or full or partial waivers from the pediatric data requirements. Additional requirements and procedures relating to deferral requests and requests for
extension of deferrals are contained in FDASIA. Unless otherwise required by regulation, the pediatric data requirements do not apply to products with orphan
designation.

        Pediatric exclusivity is another type of non-patent marketing exclusivity in the United States and, if granted, provides for the attachment of an additional six
months of marketing protection to the term of any existing regulatory exclusivity, including the non-patent and orphan exclusivity. This six-month exclusivity may be
granted if an NDA sponsor submits pediatric data that fairly respond to a written request from the FDA for such data. The data do not need to show the product to be
effective in the pediatric population studied; rather, if the clinical trial is deemed to fairly respond to the FDA's request, the additional protection is granted. If reports
of requested pediatric studies are submitted to and accepted by the FDA within the statutory time limits, whatever statutory or regulatory periods of exclusivity or
patent protection cover the product are extended by six months. This is not a patent term extension, but it effectively extends the regulatory period during which the
FDA cannot approve another application.

Orphan Drug Designation and Exclusivity

        Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may designate a drug product as an "orphan drug" if it is intended to treat a rare disease or condition (generally meaning
that it affects fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United States, or more in cases in which there is no reasonable expectation that the cost of developing and making
a drug product available in the United States for treatment of the disease or condition will be recovered from sales of the product). A company must request orphan
product designation before submitting an NDA. If the request is granted, the FDA will disclose the identity of the therapeutic agent and its potential use. Orphan
product designation does not convey any advantage in or shorten the duration of the regulatory review and approval process.

        If a product with orphan status receives the first FDA approval for the disease or condition for which it has such designation or for a select indication or use
within the rare disease or condition for which it was designated, the product generally will be receiving orphan product exclusivity. Orphan product exclusivity means
that the FDA may not approve any other applications for the same product for the same indication for seven years, except in certain limited circumstances.
Competitors may
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receive approval of different products for the indication for which the orphan product has exclusivity and may obtain approval for the same product but for a different
indication. If a drug or drug product designated as an orphan product ultimately receives marketing approval for an indication broader than what was designated in its
orphan product application, it may not be entitled to exclusivity.

Patent Term Restoration and Extension

        A patent claiming a new drug product may be eligible for a limited patent term extension under the Hatch-Waxman Act, which permits a patent restoration of up
to five years for patent term lost during product development and the FDA regulatory review. The restoration period granted is typically one-half the time between the
effective date of an IND and the submission date of an NDA, plus the time between the submission date of an NDA and the ultimate approval date. Patent term
restoration cannot be used to extend the remaining term of a patent past a total of 14 years from the product's approval date. Only one patent applicable to an approved
drug product is eligible for the extension, and the application for the extension must be submitted prior to the expiration of the patent in question. A patent that covers
multiple drugs for which approval is sought can only be extended in connection with one of the approvals. The U.S. Patent and Trademark Office reviews and
approves the application for any patent term extension or restoration in consultation with the FDA.

Review and Approval of Drug Products in the European Union 

        In order to market any product outside of the United States, a company must also comply with numerous and varying regulatory requirements of other countries
and jurisdictions regarding quality, safety and efficacy and governing, among other things, clinical trials, marketing authorization, commercial sales and distribution of
products. Whether or not it obtains FDA approval for a product, the company would need to obtain the necessary approvals by the comparable foreign regulatory
authorities before it can commence clinical trials or marketing of the product in those countries or jurisdictions. The approval process ultimately varies between
countries and jurisdictions and can involve additional product testing and additional administrative review periods. The time required to obtain approval in other
countries and jurisdictions might differ from and be longer than that required to obtain FDA approval. Regulatory approval in one country or jurisdiction does not
ensure regulatory approval in another, but a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory approval in one country or jurisdiction may negatively impact the regulatory
process in others.

Procedures Governing Approval of Drug Products in the European Union

        Pursuant to the European Clinical Trials Directive, a system for the approval of clinical trials in the European Union has been implemented through national
legislation of the member states. Under this system, an applicant must obtain approval from the competent national authority of a European Union member state in
which the clinical trial is to be conducted. Furthermore, the applicant may only start a clinical trial after a competent ethics committee has issued a favorable opinion.
Clinical trial application must be accompanied by an investigational medicinal product dossier with supporting information prescribed by the European Clinical Trials
Directive and corresponding national laws of the member states and further detailed in applicable guidance documents.

        To obtain marketing approval of a product under European Union regulatory systems, an applicant must submit a marketing authorization application, or MAA,
either under a centralized or decentralized procedure. The centralized procedure provides for the grant of a single marketing authorization by the European
Commission that is valid for all European Union member states. The centralized procedure is compulsory for specific products, including for medicines produced by
certain biotechnological processes, products designated as orphan medicinal products, advanced therapy products and products with a new active substance indicated
for the treatment of certain diseases. For products with a new active substance indicated for the treatment of other diseases and products that

114



Table of Contents

are highly innovative or for which a centralized process is in the interest of patients, the centralized procedure may be optional.

        Under the centralized procedure, the Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use, or the CHMP, established at the EMA is responsible for conducting the
initial assessment of a product. The CHMP is also responsible for several post-authorization and maintenance activities, such as the assessment of modifications or
extensions to an existing marketing authorization. Under the centralized procedure in the European Union, the maximum timeframe for the evaluation of an MAA is
210 days, excluding clock stops, when additional information or written or oral explanation is to be provided by the applicant in response to questions of the CHMP.
Accelerated evaluation might be granted by the CHMP in exceptional cases, when a medicinal product is of major interest from the point of view of public health and
in particular from the viewpoint of therapeutic innovation. In this circumstance, the EMA ensures that the opinion of the CHMP is given within 150 days.

        The decentralized procedure is available to applicants who wish to market a product in various European Union member states where such product has not
received marketing approval in any European Union member states before. The decentralized procedure provides for approval by one or more other, or concerned,
member states of an assessment of an application performed by one member state designated by the applicant, known as the reference member state. Under this
procedure, an applicant submits an application based on identical dossiers and related materials, including a draft summary of product characteristics, and draft
labeling and package leaflet, to the reference member state and concerned member states. The reference member state prepares a draft assessment report and drafts of
the related materials within 210 days after receipt of a valid application. Within 90 days of receiving the reference member state's assessment report and related
materials, each concerned member state must decide whether to approve the assessment report and related materials.

        If a member state cannot approve the assessment report and related materials on the grounds of potential serious risk to public health, the disputed points are
subject to a dispute resolution mechanism and may eventually be referred to the European Commission, whose decision is binding on all member states.

Data and Market Exclusivity in the European Union

        In the European Union, new chemical entities qualify for eight years of data exclusivity upon marketing authorization and an additional two years of market
exclusivity. This data exclusivity, if granted, prevents regulatory authorities in the European Union from referencing the innovator's data to assess a generic
(abbreviated) application for eight years, after which generic marketing authorization can be submitted, and the innovator's data may be referenced, but not approved
for two years. The overall ten-year period will be extended to a maximum of eleven years if, during the first eight years of those ten years, the marketing authorization
holder obtains an authorization for one or more new therapeutic indications which, during the scientific evaluation prior to their authorization, are held to bring a
significant clinical benefit in comparison with existing therapies. Even if a compound is considered to be a new chemical entity and the sponsor is able to gain the
prescribed period of data exclusivity, another company nevertheless could also market another version of the product if such company can complete a full MAA with a
complete database of pharmaceutical test, preclinical tests and clinical trials and obtain marketing approval of its product.

        In order to market any product outside of the United States, a company must also comply with numerous and varying regulatory requirements of other countries
and jurisdictions regarding quality, safety and efficacy and governing, among other things, clinical trials, marketing authorization, commercial sales and distribution of
drug products. Whether or not it obtains FDA approval for a product, the company would need to obtain the necessary approvals by the comparable foreign regulatory
authorities before it can commence clinical trials or marketing of the product in those
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countries or jurisdictions. The approval process ultimately varies between countries and jurisdictions and can involve additional product testing and additional
administrative review periods. The time required to obtain approval in other countries and jurisdictions might differ from and be longer than that required to obtain
FDA approval. Regulatory approval in one country or jurisdiction does not ensure regulatory approval in another, but a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory
approval in one country or jurisdiction may negatively impact the regulatory process in others.

Periods of Authorization and Renewals

        Marketing authorization is valid for five years in principle and the marketing authorization may be renewed after five years on the basis of a re-evaluation of the
risk-benefit balance by the EMA or by the competent authority of the authorizing member state. To this end, the marketing authorization holder must provide the EMA
or the competent authority with a consolidated version of the file in respect of quality, safety and efficacy, including all variations introduced since the marketing
authorization was granted, at least six months before the marketing authorization ceases to be valid. Once renewed, the marketing authorization is valid for an
unlimited period, unless the European Commission or the competent authority decides, on justified grounds relating to pharmacovigilance, to proceed with one
additional five-year renewal. Any authorization which is not followed by the actual placing of the drug on the European Union market (in case of centralized
procedure) or on the market of the authorizing member state within three years after authorization ceases to be valid (the so-called sunset clause).

Orphan Drug Designation and Exclusivity

        Regulation 141/2000 provides that a drug shall be designated as an orphan drug if its sponsor can establish: that the product is intended for the diagnosis,
prevention or treatment of a life-threatening or chronically debilitating condition affecting not more than five in ten thousand persons in the European Community
when the application is made, or that the product is intended for the diagnosis, prevention or treatment of a life-threatening, seriously debilitating or serious and
chronic condition in the European Community and that without incentives it is unlikely that the marketing of the drug in the European Community would generate
sufficient return to justify the necessary investment. For either of these conditions, the applicant must demonstrate that there exists no satisfactory method of diagnosis,
prevention or treatment of the condition in question that has been authorized in the European Community or, if such method exists, the drug will be of significant
benefit to those affected by that condition.

        Regulation 847/2000 sets out criteria and procedures governing designation of orphan drugs in the European Union. Specifically, an application for designation as
an orphan product can be made any time prior to the filing of an application for approval to market the product. Marketing authorization for an orphan drug leads to a
ten-year period of market exclusivity. This period may, however, be reduced to six years if, at the end of the fifth year, it is established that the product no longer meets
the criteria for orphan drug designation, for example because the product is sufficiently profitable not to justify market exclusivity. Market exclusivity can be revoked
only in very selected cases, such as consent from the marketing authorization holder, inability to supply sufficient quantities of the product, demonstration of
"clinically relevant superiority" by a similar medicinal product, or, after a review by the Committee for Orphan Medicinal Products, requested by a member state in the
fifth year of the marketing exclusivity period (if the designation criteria are believed to no longer apply). Medicinal products designated as orphan drugs pursuant to
Regulation 141/2000 shall be eligible for incentives made available by the European Community and by the member states to support research into, and the
development and availability of, orphan drugs.
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Pharmaceutical Coverage, Pricing and Reimbursement 

        Significant uncertainty exists as to the coverage and reimbursement status of products approved by the FDA and other government authorities. Sales of products
will depend, in part, on the extent to which third-party payors, including government health programs in the United States such as Medicare and Medicaid, commercial
health insurers and managed care organizations, provide coverage, and establish adequate reimbursement levels for, such products. The process for determining
whether a payor will provide coverage for a product may be separate from the process for setting the price or reimbursement rate that the payor will pay for the
product once coverage is approved. Third-party payors are increasingly challenging the prices charged for medical products and services and imposing controls to
manage costs. Third-party payors may limit coverage to specific products on an approved list, or formulary, which might not include all of the approved products for a
particular indication.

        In order to secure coverage and reimbursement for any product that might be approved for sale, a company may need to conduct expensive pharmacoeconomic
studies in order to demonstrate the medical necessity and cost-effectiveness of the product, in addition to the costs required to obtain FDA or other comparable
regulatory approvals. A payor's decision to provide coverage for a drug product does not imply that an adequate reimbursement rate will be approved. Third-party
reimbursement may not be sufficient to maintain price levels high enough to realize an appropriate return on investment in product development.

        The containment of healthcare costs also has become a priority of federal, state and foreign governments and the prices of drugs have been a focus in this effort.
Governments have shown significant interest in implementing cost-containment programs, including price controls, restrictions on reimbursement and requirements
for substitution of generic products. Adoption of price controls and cost-containment measures, and adoption of more restrictive policies in jurisdictions with existing
controls and measures, could further limit our net revenue and results.

        Outside the United States, ensuring adequate coverage and payment for our product candidates will face challenges. Pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals is
subject to governmental control in many countries. Pricing negotiations with governmental authorities can extend well beyond the receipt of regulatory marketing
approval for a product and may require us to conduct a clinical trial that compares the cost effectiveness of our product candidates or products to other available
therapies. The conduct of such a clinical trial could be expensive and result in delays in our commercialization efforts.

        In the European Union, pricing and reimbursement schemes vary widely from country to country. Some countries provide that drug products may be marketed
only after a reimbursement price has been agreed. Some countries may require the completion of additional studies that compare the cost-effectiveness of a particular
drug candidate to currently available therapies. For example, the European Union provides options for its member states to restrict the range of drug products for
which their national health insurance systems provide reimbursement and to control the prices of medicinal products for human use. European Union member states
may approve a specific price for a drug product or it may instead adopt a system of direct or indirect controls on the profitability of the company placing the drug
product on the market. Other member states allow companies to fix their own prices for drug products, but monitor and control company profits. The downward
pressure on health care costs in general, particularly prescription drugs, has become intense. As a result, increasingly high barriers are being erected to the entry of new
products. In addition, in some countries, cross-border imports from low-priced markets exert competitive pressure that may reduce pricing within a country. Any
country that has price controls or reimbursement limitations for drug products may not allow favorable reimbursement and pricing arrangements.
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Healthcare Law and Regulation 

        Healthcare providers, physicians and third-party payors play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription of drug products that are granted marketing
approval. Arrangements with third-party payors and customers are subject to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations. Such
restrictions under applicable federal and state healthcare laws and regulations, include the following:

• the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, persons and entities from knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering, receiving
or providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward either the referral of an individual for, or the purchase, order or
recommendation of, any good or service, for which payment may be made, in whole or in part, under a federal healthcare program such as Medicare
and Medicaid; 

• the federal civil and criminal false claims laws, including the civil False Claims Act, and civil monetary penalties laws, which prohibit individuals or
entities from, among other things, knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, to the federal government, claims for payment that are false or
fraudulent or making a false statement to avoid, decrease or conceal an obligation to pay money to the federal government; 

• the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which created federal criminal laws that prohibit, among other
things, knowingly and willingly executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or making false statements
relating to healthcare matters; 

• HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act and its implementing regulations, which also
imposes obligations, including mandatory contractual terms, with respect to safeguarding the privacy, security and transmission of individually
identifiable health information; 

• the federal false statements statute, which prohibits knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any
materially false statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items or services; 

• the federal transparency requirements under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care Education Reconciliation
Act, or the Affordable Care Act, which requires certain manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplies to report to the Department of
Health and Human Services information related to payments and other transfers of value to physicians and teaching hospitals and physician ownership
and investment interests; and 

• analogous state and foreign laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws, which may apply to healthcare items or services
that are reimbursed by non-governmental third-party payors, including private insurers.

        Some state laws require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry's voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance
guidance promulgated by the federal government in addition to requiring drug manufacturers to report information related to payments to physicians and other health
care providers or marketing expenditures. State and foreign laws also govern the privacy and security of health information in some circumstances, many of which
differ from each other in significant ways and often are not preempted by HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts.
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Healthcare Reform 

        There have been a number of federal and state proposals during the last few years regarding the pricing of pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical products,
government control and other changes to the healthcare system in the United States.

        By way of example, the United States and state governments continue to propose and pass legislation designed to reduce the cost of healthcare. In March 2010,
the United States Congress enacted the Affordable Care Act, which, among other things, includes changes to the coverage and payment for drug products under
government health care programs. The Affordable Care Act:

• expanded manufacturers' rebate liability under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program by increasing the minimum rebate for both branded and generic
drugs and revising the definition of "average manufacturer price," or AMP, for calculating and reporting Medicaid drug rebates on outpatient
prescription drug prices; 

• addressed a new methodology by which rebates owed by manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program are calculated for drugs that are
inhaled, infused, instilled, implanted or injected; 

• expanded the types of entities eligible for the 340B drug discount program; and 

• established the Medicare Part D coverage gap discount program by requiring manufacturers to provide a 50% point-of-sale-discount off the negotiated
price of applicable brand drugs to eligible beneficiaries during their coverage gap period as a condition for the manufacturers' outpatient drugs to be
covered under Medicare Part D.

        Other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted in the United States since the Affordable Care Act was enacted. In August 2011, the Budget Control
Act of 2011, among other things, created measures for spending reductions by Congress. A Joint Select Committee on Deficit Reduction, tasked with recommending a
targeted deficit reduction of at least $1.2 trillion for the years 2013 through 2021, was unable to reach required goals, thereby triggering the legislation's automatic
reduction to several government programs. This includes aggregate reductions of Medicare payments to providers up to 2% per fiscal year, which went into effect in
April 2013 and will remain in effect through 2024 unless additional Congressional action is taken. In January 2013, President Obama signed into law the American
Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, which, among other things, further reduced Medicare payments to several providers, including hospitals, imaging centers and cancer
treatment centers, and increased the statute of limitations period for the government to recover overpayments to providers from three to five years.

        There have been, and likely will continue to be, legislative and regulatory proposals at the foreign, federal and state levels directed at broadening the availability
of healthcare and containing or lowering the cost of healthcare.

Employees 

        As of December 31, 2014, we had 31 employees, 23 of whom were primarily engaged in research and development activities. A total of 17 employees have Ph.D.
degrees. None of our employees is represented by a labor union and we believe our relations with our employees are good.

Facilities 

        Our offices are located in Cambridge, Massachusetts and consist of approximately 15,000 square feet of leased office and laboratory space. The lease expires in
June 2017.

Legal Proceedings 

        We are not currently a party to any material legal proceedings.
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MANAGEMENT 

        The following table sets forth the name, age as of December 31, 2014 and position of each of our executive officers and directors.

        Jill C. Milne, Ph.D., is a co-founder of our company and has served as a member of our board of directors and as our President and Chief Executive Officer since
June 2008. Prior to co-founding our company, Dr. Milne worked as head of discovery biology at Sirtris Pharmaceuticals, a biotechnology company, from 2004 to
2008, when it was acquired by GlaxoSmithKline. From 1998 to 2004, Dr. Milne worked at Pfizer Global Research and Development, where she served as the
worldwide head of the Drug Pfinder Program and head of the Enzyme Target Group at the Pfizer Discovery Technology Center in Cambridge, Massachusetts. Prior to
joining Pfizer, she was an American Cancer Society postdoctoral fellow in the department of biological chemistry and molecular pharmacology at Harvard Medical
School from 1995 to 1998. Dr. Milne holds a Ph.D. from Harvard University and a B.A. in biological chemistry from Wellesley College. We believe that Dr. Milne is
qualified to serve on our board of directors because of her extensive leadership experience in the life sciences industry and her extensive knowledge of our company
based on her role as co-founder and Chief Executive Officer.

        Ian C. Sanderson has served as our Chief Financial Officer since December 2013 and our Treasurer since January 2014. Prior to joining Catabasis,
Mr. Sanderson worked as a senior advisor at JSB-Partners, L.P., a global life sciences advisory firm specializing in strategic partnering and mergers and acquisitions
transactions, from August 2012 to August 2013. From 1992 to August 2012, Mr. Sanderson worked at at Cowen and Company, LLC, a financial services firm, in
positions of increasing responsibility, ultimately as a managing director and senior research analyst. Prior to Cowen, Mr. Sanderson worked at Houlihan Lokey
Howard and Zukin, a financial services firm, from 1989 to 1992, at Cambridge Associates, an investment consulting firm, from 1985 to 1987, and at U.S. Surgical
Corporation (now Covidien), a global healthcare products company, from 1983 to 1985. Mr. Sanderson holds an M.B.A. from The Wharton School of the University
of Pennsylvania and a B.A. in political economy from Williams College.

        Michael Jirousek, Ph.D., is a co-founder of our company and has served as our Chief Scientific Officer since June 2008. From 2006 to 2008, Dr. Jirousek served
as senior vice president of research at Sirtris Pharmaceuticals. From 2001 to 2006, Dr. Jirousek served as Senior Director and Head of the Diabetes Therapeutic Area
for Pfizer Inc., a pharmaceutical company. From 1998 to 2001, Dr. Jirousek was at Abbott Laboratories, serving as a Metabolic Department Head, and prior to that he
worked at Eli Lilly as a Scientist and Program Leader from 1993 to 1998 and at American Home Products Cyanamid as a Medicinal Chemist from 1991 to 1993.
Dr. Jirousek was a Post-Doctoral fellow at
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Name  Age  Position
Jill C. Milne, Ph.D.   47  President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Ian C. Sanderson   53  Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
Michael Jirousek, Ph.D.   56  Chief Scientific Officer
Joanne M. Donovan, M.D., Ph.D.   58  Chief Medical Officer
Rick Modi   46  Chief Business Officer
Michael Ross, Ph.D.(1)(2)   65  Chairman of the Board of Directors
Nicholas Galakatos, Ph.D.(2)   57  Director
Jean George   56  Director
Ron Laufer, M.D.   47  Director
Kenneth Bate(1)(2)   64  Director

(1) Member of the Audit Committee 

(2) Member of the Compensation Committee



Table of Contents

Harvard University from 1989 to 1991 and holds a Ph.D. in Chemistry from Case Western University and a B.S. in Chemistry from Kent State University.

        Joanne M. Donovan, M.D., Ph.D., has served as our Chief Medical Officer since July 2011. In addition, since 1989, she worked as a staff physician at the VA
Boston Healthcare System, where she was formerly Chief of Gastroenterology. Dr. Donovan has held an appointment at Harvard Medical School since 1990, most
recently as associate clinical professor of medicine. From 1998 to July 2011, Dr. Donovan served in positions of increasing responsibility, ultimately as vice president
of clinical development, at Genzyme Corporation, a publicly traded biotechnology company, which she joined through its acquisition of GelTex. Dr. Donovan holds a
Ph.D. in medical engineering and medical physics from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, an M.D. from Harvard Medical School and an S.B. from the
Massachusetts Institute of Technology. She completed residency training in internal medicine and a fellowship in gastroenterology at the Brigham and Women's
Hospital.

        Rick Modi has served as our Chief Business Officer since February 2015. Prior to joining Catabasis, Mr. Modi worked as the Senior Vice President of Global
Marketing at InterMune, Inc., which was acquired by Hoffman-La Roche AG in 2014, from July 2013 to January 2015. From February 2008 to July 2013, Mr. Modi
worked at MedImmune, LLC, a wholly-owned biologics research and development subsidiary of AstraZenca plc, in positions of increasing responsibility, ultimately as
the Vice President of Corporate Strategy and Portfolio Management. From January 2002 to February 2008, Mr. Modi worked at Janssen Biotech, Inc. (formerly
Centocor Biotech, Inc.), a wholly-owned biotechnology subsidiary of Johnson & Johnson, serving in several positions, including the Associate Director of Global
Market Development. Mr. Modi holds an M.B.A. from The Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania and a B.S. in pharmacy from the University of Iowa.

        Michael Ross, Ph.D., has served as a member of our board of directors since April 2010 and as Chairman since October 2010. Since 2002, Dr. Ross has served as
a Managing Partner at SV Life Sciences Advisers, LLC, a venture capital firm that he joined as a venture partner in 2001. Previously, Dr. Ross served as the Chief
Executive Officer of CyThera, Carta Proteomics, MetaXen and Arris Pharmaceutical. Earlier in his career, Dr. Ross was employed at Genentech, serving in several
roles, including Vice President of Development and later Vice President of Medicinal and Biomolecular Chemistry. Dr. Ross currently serves on the board of directors
of Ophthotech Corporation as well as the boards of directors of several private companies, including Adimab and Sutro Biopharma, and the Board of Overseers of the
Thayer School of Engineering at Dartmouth College. Dr. Ross received an A.B. from Dartmouth College and a Ph.D. in chemistry from the California Institute of
Technology and completed post doctorate training in molecular biology at Harvard University. We believe that Dr. Ross is qualified to serve on our board of directors
because of his extensive executive leadership experience and knowledge of the life sciences industry and his service on the board of directors of other life sciences
companies.

        Nicholas Galakatos, Ph.D., has served as a member of our board of directors and chair of the compensation committee since February 2012. Dr. Galakatos is a
co-founder of Clarus Ventures, a health care and life science venture capital firm, where he has served as Managing Director since its inception in 2005. Dr. Galakatos
has also served as a General Partner of MPM Asset Management II LLC since 2000 and as a General Partner of BioVentures III GP, LP since 2002. From 1997 to
2000, Dr. Galakatos served as Vice President, New Business and a member of the Management Team at Millennium Pharmaceuticals. He was a founder of Millennium
Predictive Medicine and TransForm Pharmaceuticals, where he was also the Chairman and founding chief executive officer. Dr. Galakatos is a director of Portola
Pharmaceuticals, NanoString Technologies and Ophthotech Corporation, and formerly was the Lead Director of Affymax and a director of Critical Therapeutics and
Aveo Pharmaceuticals. Dr. Galakatos received a B.A. in chemistry from Reed College and a Ph.D. in organic chemistry from the Massachusetts Institute of
Technology, and performed postdoctoral studies in molecular biology at Harvard Medical School. We believe that Dr. Galakatos is qualified to serve on
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our board of directors because of his extensive experience as a venture capital investor and a director of several public companies.

        Jean George has served as a member of our board of directors since October 2013. Since February 2002, she has been a Managing Director at Advanced
Technology Ventures, a venture capital fund, where she currently serves as the East Coast lead partner for healthcare investments. Since March 2012, Ms. George has
served as Managing Director at LSV Capital Management, a venture capital firm. Ms. George currently serves as a member of the board of directors of the public
companies Acceleron Pharma, Calithera Biosciences and Zeltiq Aesthetics, and previously served as a member of the board of directors of Portola Pharmaceuticals
from 2005 to 2013. Ms. George also serves on the boards of the private companies Hydra Biosciences and Thrasos Innovation. Ms. George holds a B.S. in Biology
from the University of Maine and an M.B.A. from Simmons College Graduate School of Management. Because of Ms. George's extensive investment and financial
experience, we believe she is able to add valuable expertise in guiding the strategic direction of our board of directors.

        Ron Laufer, M.D., has served as a member of our board of directors since April 2011. Dr. Laufer has worked as the Senior Managing Director at MedImmune
Ventures, Inc. since 2010. He served as an adjunct professor of business administration at the Kelley School of Business at Indiana University from 2009 to 2014.
From 2007 to 2008, he served as a managing director at Visium Asset Management, a healthcare-focused investment firm, and co-founded Lilly Ventures, the venture
capital arm of Eli Lilly & Company, in 2001. Dr. Laufer currently serves as a member of the boards of directors of the private companies Adheron Therapeutics, G1
Therapeutics, NeuProtect and VentiRx Pharmaceuticals. Dr. Laufer received his B.Sci., M.D. and M.P.H. from Hebrew University, and his M.B.A. from the Harvard
Business School. We believe that Dr. Laufer's management experience and more than 18 years of experience in life sciences make him a valuable contributor to our
board of directors.

        Kenneth Bate has served as a member of our board of directors since January 2014. Mr. Bate is currently an independent consultant. From May 2009 until
January 2012, Mr. Bate was the President and Chief Executive Officer of Archemix, a privately held biotechnology company. From January 2007 to April 2009,
Mr. Bate was President and Chief Executive Officer of NitroMed, a public pharmaceutical company. From March 2006 until January 2007, Mr. Bate was Chief
Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer of NitroMed. From January 2005 to March 2006, Mr. Bate was employed at JSB-Partners, a firm that he co-founded.
From 2002 to January 2005, Mr. Bate was head of commercial operations and Chief Financial Officer at Millennium Pharmaceuticals. Mr. Bate has served as a
member of the Board of Directors of Cubist Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a public biopharmaceutical company, since June 2003 and as its non-executive Chair since March
2011. Mr. Bate is a director of four other public biopharmaceutical companies, AVEO Pharmaceuticals, BioMarin Pharmaceuticals, Genocea Biosciences and Epizyme
Pharmaceuticals. During the last five years, Mr. Bate also served as a director of NitroMed and Coley Pharmaceutical Group, a biopharmaceutical company, which
was a public company during the period of Mr. Bate's service. He holds a B.A. in Chemistry from Williams College and an M.B.A. from The Wharton School of the
University of Pennsylvania. We believe Mr. Bate's qualifications to serve on our board of directors include his operating, finance, commercial, transactional and senior
management experience in the industry, as well as his experience serving on the boards of directors of other public companies in the life sciences industry.

Board Composition and Election of Directors 

Board Composition

        Our board of directors currently consists of six members. Our directors hold office until their successors have been elected and qualified or until the earlier of
their resignation or removal.

        Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws that will become effective upon the closing of this offering provide that the authorized number of directors may be
changed only by resolution of our
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board of directors. Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws will also provide that our directors may be removed only for cause by the affirmative vote of the holders
of 75% of our shares of capital stock present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote, and that any vacancy on our board of directors, including a vacancy resulting
from an enlargement of our board of directors, may be filled only by vote of a majority of our directors then in office.

        In accordance with the terms of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws that will become effective upon the closing of this offering, our board of directors will
be divided into three classes, class I, class II and class III, with members of each class serving staggered three-year terms. Upon the closing of this offering, the
members of the classes will be divided as follows:

• the class I directors will be            ,             and            , and their term will expire at the annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2016; 

• the class II directors will be            ,             and            , and their term will expire at the annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2017; and 

• the class III directors will be            ,             and            , and their term will expire at the annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2018.

        Upon the expiration of the term of a class of directors, directors in that class will be eligible to be elected for a new three-year term at the annual meeting of
stockholders in the year in which their term expires.

Director Independence

        Applicable NASDAQ Stock Market, or NASDAQ, rules require a majority of a listed company's board of directors to be comprised of independent directors
within one year of listing. In addition, the NASDAQ rules require that, subject to specified exceptions, each member of a listed company's audit, compensation and
nominating and corporate governance committees be independent under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. Audit committee
members must also satisfy the independence criteria set forth in Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act, and compensation committee members must also satisfy the
independence criteria set forth in Rule 10C-1 under the Exchange Act. Under applicable NASDAQ rules, a director will only qualify as an "independent director" if, in
the opinion of the listed company's board of directors, that person does not have a relationship that would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in
carrying out the responsibilities of a director. In order to be considered independent for purposes of Rule 10A-3, a member of an audit committee of a listed company
may not, other than in his or her capacity as a member of the audit committee, the board of directors, or any other board committee, accept, directly or indirectly, any
consulting, advisory, or other compensatory fee from the listed company or any of its subsidiaries or otherwise be an affiliated person of the listed company or any of
its subsidiaries. In order to be considered independent for purposes of Rule 10C-1, the board must consider, for each member of a compensation committee of a listed
company, all factors specifically relevant to determining whether a director has a relationship to such company which is material to that director's ability to be
independent from management in connection with the duties of a compensation committee member, including, but not limited to: the source of compensation of the
director, including any consulting advisory or other compensatory fee paid by such company to the director; and whether the director is affiliated with the company or
any of its subsidiaries or affiliates.

        In                        , our board of directors undertook a review of the composition of our board of directors and its committees and the independence of each
director. Based upon information requested from and provided by each director concerning his or her background, employment and affiliations, including family
relationships, our board of directors has determined that each of our directors, with the exception of Dr. Milne, is an "independent director" as defined under applicable
NASDAQ rules,

123



Table of Contents

including, in the case of all the members of our audit committee, the independence criteria set forth in Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act, and in the case of all the
members of our compensation committee, the independence criteria set forth in Rule 10C-1 under the Exchange Act. In making such determination, our board of
directors considered the relationships that each such non-employee director has with our company and all other facts and circumstances that our board of directors
deemed relevant in determining his or her independence, including the beneficial ownership of our capital stock by each non-employee director. Dr. Milne is not an
independent director under these rules because she is our President and Chief Executive Officer.

        There are no family relationships among any of our directors or executive officers.

Board Committees 

        Our board of directors has established an audit committee, a compensation committee and a nominating and corporate governance committee. Each of these
committees will operate under a charter that has been approved by our board of directors. The composition of each committee will be effective as of the date of this
prospectus.

Audit Committee

        Effective at the time of this offering, the members of our audit committee will be Kenneth Bate,             and            , and Mr. Bate will be the chair of the audit
committee. Our audit committee's responsibilities will include:

• appointing, approving the compensation of, and assessing the independence of our registered public accounting firm; 

• overseeing the work of our independent registered public accounting firm, including through the receipt and consideration of reports from that firm; 

• reviewing and discussing with management and our independent registered public accounting firm our annual and quarterly financial statements and
related disclosures; 

• monitoring our internal control over financial reporting, disclosure controls and procedures and code of business conduct and ethics; 

• overseeing our internal audit function, if any; 

• overseeing our risk assessment and risk management policies; 

• establishing policies regarding hiring employees from our independent registered public accounting firm and procedures for the receipt and retention of
accounting related complaints and concerns; 

• meeting independently with our internal auditing staff, if any, our independent registered public accounting firm and management; 

• reviewing and approving or ratifying any related person transactions; and 

• preparing the audit committee report required by Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, rules.

        All audit and non-audit services, other than de minimis non-audit services, to be provided to us by our independent registered public accounting firm must be
approved in advance by our audit committee.

        Our board of directors has determined that Kenneth Bate is an "audit committee financial expert" as defined in applicable SEC rules and that each of the members
of our audit committee possesses the
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financial sophistication required for audit committee members under NASDAQ rules. We believe that the composition of our audit committee will meet the
requirements for independence under current NASDAQ and SEC rules and regulations.

Compensation Committee

        Effective at the time of this offering, the members of our compensation committee will be            ,             and             , and            will be the chair of the
compensation committee. Our compensation committee's responsibilities will include:

• reviewing and approving, or making recommendations to our board of directors with respect to, the compensation of our chief executive officer and our
other executive officers; 

• overseeing an evaluation of our senior executives; 

• overseeing and administering our cash and equity incentive plans; 

• reviewing and making recommendations to our board of directors with respect to director compensation and management succession planning; 

• reviewing and discussing annually with management our "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" disclosure if and to the extent then required by SEC
rules; and 

• preparing the compensation committee report if and to the extent then required by SEC rules.

        We believe that the composition of our compensation committee will meet the requirements for independence under current NASDAQ and SEC rules and
regulations.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

        Effective at the time of this offering, the members of our nominating and corporate governance committee will be            ,             and            , and            will be
the chair of the nominating and corporate governance committee. Our nominating and corporate governance committee's responsibilities will include:

• identifying individuals qualified to become members of our board of directors; 

• recommending to our board of directors the persons to be nominated for election as directors and to each of our board's committees; 

• reviewing and making recommendations to our board with respect to our board leadership structure and board committee structure; 

• making recommendations to our board with respect to accepting director resignations; 

• reviewing and making recommendations to our board with respect to management succession planning; 

• developing and recommending to our board of directors corporate governance principles; and 

• overseeing an annual evaluation of our board of directors and an annual review of succession planning for senior executives.

        We believe that the composition of our nominating and corporate governance committee will meet the requirements for independence under current NASDAQ
and SEC rules and regulations.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation 

        None of our executive officers serves, or in the past year has served, as a member of the board of directors or compensation committee, or other committee
serving an equivalent function, of any other
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entity that has one or more of its executive officers serving as a member of our board of directors or our compensation committee. None of the members of our
compensation committee is, or has ever been, an officer or employee of our company.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 

        We have adopted a written code of business conduct and ethics that applies to our directors, officers and employees, including our principal executive officer,
principal financial officer principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions. Following this offering, we will post a copy of the code
on the Corporate Governance section of our website, which is located at www.catabasis.com. If we make any substantive amendments to, or grant any waivers from,
the code of business conduct and ethics for any officer or director, we will disclose the nature of such amendment or waiver on our website or in a current report on
Form 8-K.
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

        This section describes the material elements of compensation awarded to, earned by or paid to each of our named executive officers in 2014. Our named
executive officers for 2014 are Jill C. Milne, Ian C. Sanderson and Michael Jirousek. This section also provides qualitative information regarding the manner and
context in which compensation is awarded to and earned by our executive officers and is intended to place in perspective the data presented in the tables and narrative
that follow.

Summary Compensation Table 

        The following table sets forth information regarding compensation awarded to, earned by or paid to our named executive officers during 2014.

Narrative to Summary Compensation Table 

        In 2014, we paid annual base salaries of $375,000 to Dr. Milne, $311,554 to Mr. Sanderson and $329,197 to Dr. Jirousek. We use base salaries to recognize the
experience, skills, knowledge and responsibilities required of all our employees, including our named executive officers. None of our named executive officers is
currently party to an employment agreement or other agreement or arrangement that provides for automatic or scheduled increases in base salary.

        We do not have a formal performance-based bonus plan. From time to time, our board of directors has approved discretionary annual cash bonuses to our named
executive officers with respect to their prior year performance. Dr. Milne, Mr. Sanderson and Dr. Jirousek earned cash bonuses of $120,000, $56,080 and $97,936,
respectively, for services performed during 2014.
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Name and principal position  Year  
Salary

($)  
Bonus
($)(1)  

Option
Awards
($)(2)  

All Other
Compensation

($)(3)  
Total

($)  
Jill C. Milne, Ph.D.(4)   2014  375,000  120,000  302,264  1,290  798,554 

President and Chief Executive                    
Officer                    

Ian C. Sanderson   2014  311,554  56,080  564,315  1,310  933,259 
Chief Financial Officer and                    
Treasurer                    

Michael Jirousek, Ph.D.   2014  329,197  97,936  161,208  1,290  589,631 
Chief Scientific Officer                    

(1) The amounts reported in the "Bonus" column represent discretionary annual cash bonuses awarded to our named executive officers. 

(2) The amounts reported in the "Option Awards" column reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of share-based compensation awarded during
the year computed in accordance with the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standard Codification, or ASC,
Topic 718. See Note 12 to our financial statements appearing at the end of this prospectus regarding assumptions underlying the valuation of
equity awards. 

(3) The amounts reported in the "All Other Compensation" column reflect, for each named executive officer, the cost to us of life insurance
premiums paid for the named executive officer. 

(4) Dr. Milne also serves as a member of our board of directors but does not receive any additional compensation for her service as a director.
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        Although we do not have a formal policy with respect to the grant of equity incentive awards to our executive officers, or any formal equity ownership guidelines
applicable to them, we believe that equity grants provide our executives with a strong link to our long-term performance, create an ownership culture and help to align
the interests of our executives and our stockholders. In addition, we believe that equity grants with a time-based vesting feature promote executive retention because
this feature incents our executive officers to remain in our employment during the vesting period. Accordingly, our board of directors periodically reviews the equity
incentive compensation of our named executive officers and from time to time may grant equity incentive awards to them in the form of stock options. In 2014, we
granted Dr. Milne an option to purchase 750,000 shares of our common stock, Mr. Sanderson options to purchase an aggregate of 1,400,220 shares of our common
stock and Dr. Jirousek an option to purchase 400,000 shares of our common stock.

Outstanding Equity Awards at Year End 

        The following table sets forth information regarding outstanding equity awards held by our named executive officers as of December 31, 2014, which consisted
entirely of stock options:
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Name  

Number of Securities
Underlying Unexercised

Options
Exercisable

(#)  

Number of Securities
Underlying Unexercised

Options
Unexercisable

(#)  

Option Exercise
Price

($/share)  

Option
Expiration

Date
Jill C. Milne, Ph.D.   1,015,267(1)  67,684  0.13 2/28/2021

  214,848(2)  71,616  0.18 12/17/2022
  252,142(3)  165,197  0.18 12/17/2022
  176,134(4)  191,449  0.18 4/16/2023
  —(5)  750,000  0.53 3/18/2024

Ian C. Sanderson   291,205(6)  784,015  0.53 3/18/2024
  —(5)  325,000  0.53 3/18/2024

Michael Jirousek, Ph.D.   1,015,267(1)  67,684  0.13 2/28/2021
  214,848(2)  71,616  0.18 12/17/2022
  252,142(3)  165,197  0.18 12/17/2022
  176,134(4)  191,449  0.18 4/16/2023
  —(5)  400,000  0.53 3/18/2024

(1) This option was granted on March 1, 2011 and vested as to 25% of the shares on March 1, 2012 with the remaining 75% of the shares vesting
in equal monthly installments thereafter through March 1, 2015. 

(2) This option was granted on December 18, 2012 and vested as to 25% of the shares on December 1, 2012 with the remaining 75% of the shares
vesting in equal monthly installments thereafter through December 1, 2015. 

(3) This option was granted on December 18, 2012 and vested as to 25% of the shares on July 10, 2013 with the remaining 75% of the shares
vesting in equal monthly installments thereafter through July 10, 2016. 

(4) This option was granted on April 17, 2013 and vested as to 25% of the shares on January 18, 2014 with the remaining 75% of the shares
vesting in equal monthly installments thereafter through January 18, 2017. 

(5) This option was granted on March 19, 2014 and vested as to 25% of the shares on January 1, 2015 with the remaining 75% of the shares
vesting in equal monthly installments thereafter through January 1, 2018. 

(6) This option was granted on March 19, 2014 and vested as to 25% of the shares on November 1, 2014 with the remaining 75% of the shares
vesting in equal monthly installments thereafter through November 1, 2017.
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Agreements with Our Named Executive Officers 

        We have entered into written employment agreements or offer letters with each of our named executive officers. These agreements set forth the terms of the
named executive officer's compensation, including his or her initial base salary, severance and an annual cash bonus opportunity. In addition, the agreements provide
that the named executive officers are eligible to participate in company-sponsored benefit programs that are available generally to all of our employees. In connection
with the commencement of their employment with us, our named executive officers executed our standard invention and non-disclosure agreement and non-
competition and non-solicitation agreement.

        The agreements for Dr. Milne and Dr. Jirousek provide that each is eligible to receive an annual cash bonus, as determined by the board of directors in its sole
discretion, with a target of a specified percentage of the named executive officer's annual base salary earned in such particular calendar year, which percentage shall be
subject to adjustment from time to time by the board of directors in its sole discretion. The board of directors determines the amount of the bonus, if any, based on its
assessment of the named executive officer's performance and that of the company against appropriate goals established annually by the board of directors after
consultation with the named executive officer. The current target annual bonus percentages for Dr. Milne and Dr. Jirousek are 40% and 35%, respectively.
Mr. Sanderson's offer letter provides for an annual cash bonus of up to 30% of his annual base salary, as determined in the sole discretion of the board of directors.

Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control

        Upon execution and effectiveness of a separation agreement and release of all claims, each named executive officer is entitled to severance payments if his or her
employment is terminated under specified circumstances pursuant to the terms of his or her employment agreement or offer letter, subject to providing a release of
claims. Severance payments to the officers could be delayed for six months in certain circumstances for compliance with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code
of 1986, as amended, or the Code. On any termination of employment, the executive officer will receive any base salary and bonus earned but not paid through the
date of termination and any vacation time accrued but not used to that date and any business expenses incurred but not un-reimbursed on the date of termination.

        If we terminate Dr. Milne's or Dr. Jirousek's employment without "cause" or such named executive officer terminates his or her employment with us for "good
reason," each as defined in accordance with the terms of his or her employment agreement, we will be obligated to pay, in addition to the aforementioned payments:

• an amount equal to up to 100% of his or her annual base salary, payable in equal installments in accordance with our standard payroll practices, for a
period of 12 months; 

• a bonus payment in an amount equal to 50% of the average annual bonus paid to the executive officer over the three calendar years preceding the year
of termination, prorated for the portion of the calendar year he or she worked in the year of termination; and 

• premiums for continuation health coverage under COBRA for up to 12 months.

        In the event Dr. Milne or Dr. Jirousek commences any employment substantially similar to his or her employment with the company (based upon responsibility,
reporting level, or compensation), any remaining portion of the base salary payment will cease to be payable on the date 60 days after the commencement of such new
employment.

        Within 12 months following a change of control, under the terms of the employment agreements, if Dr. Milne's or Dr. Jirousek's employment is terminated by us
or our successor without cause or by such executive officer for good reason, then all of Dr. Milne's or Dr. Jirousek's remaining unvested stock
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options and restricted stock will automatically vest 15 days following the execution and effectiveness of a separation agreement and release of all claims, and we will
be obligated to pay an amount equal to his or her annual base salary, payable as a lump sum, a bonus payment equal to 50% of the average annual bonus paid to the
executive officer over the three calendar years preceding the year of termination, and premiums for continuation health coverage under COBRA for up to 12 months.

        If we terminate Mr. Sanderson's employment without "cause" as defined in his offer letter, we will be obligated to pay an amount equal to his monthly base salary,
payable in installments in accordance with our standard payroll practice, for a period of nine months. In the event Mr. Sanderson commences any employment
substantially similar to his employment with the company (based upon responsibility, reporting level, or compensation) within such nine-month period, any remaining
payment will be reduced such that the number of months of base salary will be equal to that number of months between the date of termination and the date of
commencement of such new employment.

Stock Option and Other Compensation Plans 

        The two equity incentive plans described in this section are our amended and restated 2008 equity incentive plan, as amended to date, or the 2008 plan, and our
2015 stock incentive plan, or the 2015 plan. Prior to this offering, we granted awards to eligible participants under the 2008 plan. Following the closing of this
offering, we expect to grant awards to eligible participants under the 2015 plan.

Amended and Restated 2008 Equity Incentive Plan

        The 2008 plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, restricted stock awards, stock appreciation rights and performance
units and performance share awards. Our employees, directors, and consultants are eligible to receive awards under our 2008 plan; however, incentive stock options
may only be granted to our employees. Our board of directors administers the 2008 plan.

        The 2008 plan provides that a maximum of 21,838,299 shares of our common stock are authorized for issuance under the plan. The 2008 plan does not have a
fixed expiration date, however, no incentive stock options may be granted under the 2008 plan after December 30, 2018 and our board of directors may amend,
suspend or terminate the 2008 plan at any time.

        Upon the occurrence of any stock split, reverse stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization, combination of shares, reclassification of shares, spin-off or other
similar change in capitalization or event, or any dividend or distribution to holders of our common stock other than an ordinary cash dividend, we shall equitably
adjust (or make substitute awards, if applicable), in the manner determined by our board of directors:

• the number and class of securities available under the 2008 plan; 

• the number and class of securities and exercise price per share of each outstanding option; 

• the number of shares subject to and the repurchase price per share subject to each outstanding restricted stock award; and 

• the terms of each other outstanding award under the 2008 plan.

        Upon the occurrence of a merger or consolidation of our company with or into another entity as a result of which all of our common stock is converted into or
exchanged for the right to receive cash, securities or other property or is cancelled; an exchange of all of our common stock for cash, securities or other property
pursuant to a share exchange transaction; or a liquidation or dissolution of our company, our board of directors may, on such terms as our board of directors
determines, take any one
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or more of the following actions pursuant to the 2008 plan, as to some or all outstanding awards, other than restricted stock awards:

• provide that awards shall be assumed, or substantially equivalent awards shall be substituted, by the acquiring or succeeding corporation (or an affiliate
thereof); 

• upon written notice to a plan participant, provide that the participant's unexercised awards will terminate immediately prior to the consummation of
such transaction unless exercised by the participant within a specified period; 

• provide that outstanding awards shall become exercisable, realizable, or deliverable, or restrictions applicable to an award shall lapse, in whole or in
part prior to or upon such transaction; 

• in the event of a transaction under the terms of which holders of common stock will receive upon consummation thereof a cash payment for each share
surrendered in the transaction, make or provide for a cash payment to a plan participant; 

• provide that, in connection with a liquidation of dissolution of the company, awards shall convert into the right to receive liquidation proceeds; or 

• any combination of the foregoing.

        Our board of directors is not obligated under the 2008 plan to treat all awards, all awards held by a participant, or all awards of the same type, identically.

        Upon the occurrence of any corporate transaction described above, other than our liquidation or dissolution, our repurchase and other rights under each
outstanding restricted stock award will continue for the benefit of our successor and will, unless our board of directors determines otherwise, apply to the cash,
securities or other property which our common stock was converted into or exchanged for in the transaction in the same manner and to the same extent as they applied
to the common stock subject to the restricted stock award. Upon our liquidation or dissolution, except to the extent specifically provided to the contrary in the
restricted stock award agreement or any other agreement between the plan participant and us, all restrictions and conditions on all restricted stock awards then
outstanding will automatically be deemed terminated or satisfied.

        Our board of directors, in its sole discretion, may accelerate the exercisability of any option or time at which any restrictions shall lapse or be removed from any
restricted stock award, as the case may be.

        As of December 31, 2014, there were options to purchase 15,756,837 shares of our common stock outstanding under the 2008 plan, at a weighted-average
exercise price of $0.32 per share, and options to purchase 1,736,920 shares of our common stock had been exercised. Effective as of immediately prior to the closing
of this offering, we will no longer grant stock options or other awards under the 2008 plan.

2015 Stock Incentive Plan

        We expect our board of directors to adopt and our stockholders to approve the 2015 plan, to become effective in connection with this offering. The 2015 plan
provides for the grant of incentive stock options, nonstatutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, awards of restricted stock, restricted stock units, other stock-
based awards. Upon effectiveness of the 2015 plan, the number of shares of our common stock that will be reserved for issuance under the 2015 plan will be the sum
of (1)             shares of common stock and (2) an annual increase, to be added the first day of each fiscal year, beginning with the fiscal year ending December 31,
2016 and continuing until, and including, the fiscal year ending December 31, 2025, equal to the lowest of            shares of our common stock,            %
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of the number of shares of our common stock outstanding on the first day of the fiscal year and an amount determined by our board of directors. Our employees,
officers, directors, consultants and advisors will be eligible to receive awards under the 2015 plan; however, incentive stock options may only be granted to our
employees.

        Pursuant to the terms of the 2015 plan, our board of directors (or a committee delegated by our board of directors) administers the 2015 plan and, subject to any
limitations set forth in the 2015 plan, will select the recipients of awards and determine:

• the number of shares of common stock covered by options and the dates upon which those options become exercisable; 

• the type of options to be granted; 

• the exercise price of options, which price must be at least equal to the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant; 

• the duration of options, which may not be in excess of ten years; 

• the methods of payment of the exercise price of options; and 

• the number of shares of our common stock subject to and the terms of any stock appreciation rights, awards of restricted stock, restricted stock units,
other stock-based awards and the terms and conditions of such awards, including the issue price, conditions for repurchase, repurchase price and
performance conditions (though the measurement price of stock appreciation rights must be at least equal to the fair market value of our common stock
on the date of grant and the duration of such awards may not be in excess of ten years), if any.

        If our board of directors delegates authority to an executive officer to grant awards under the 2015 plan, the executive officer will have the power to make awards
to all of our employees, except executive officers. Our board of directors will fix the terms of the awards to be granted by such executive officer, including the exercise
price of such awards (or a formula for establishing such price), and the maximum number of shares subject to awards that such executive officer may make.

        In the event of any stock split, reverse stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization, combination of shares, reclassification of shares, spin-off or other similar
change in capitalization or event, or any dividend or distribution to holders of our common stock other than an ordinary cash dividend, we are required by the 2015
plan to make equitable adjustments (or make substitute awards, if applicable), in a manner determined by our board, to:

• the number and class of securities available under the 2015 plan; 

• the share counting rules under the 2015 plan; 

• the number and class of securities and exercise price per share of each outstanding option; 

• the share and per-share provisions and measurement price of each outstanding stock appreciation right; 

• the number of shares and the repurchase price per share subject to each outstanding restricted stock award or restricted stock unit award; and 

• the share and per-share related provisions and purchase price, if any, of any outstanding other stock-based award.

        Upon a merger or other reorganization event (as defined in our 2015 plan), our board of directors, may, on such terms as our board determines (except to the
extent specifically provided otherwise in an applicable award agreement or other agreement between the participant and us), take any one or more
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of the following actions pursuant to the 2015 plan, as to some or all outstanding awards, other than restricted stock awards:

• provide that all outstanding awards will be assumed or substantially equivalent awards will be substituted by the successor corporation (or an affiliate
thereof); 

• upon written notice to a participant, provide that the participant's unvested and/or unexercised options or other awards will terminate immediately prior
to the consummation of such transaction unless exercised by the participant; 

• provide that outstanding awards will become exercisable, realizable or deliverable, or restrictions applicable to an award will lapse, in whole or in part,
prior to or upon the reorganization event; 

• in the event of a reorganization event pursuant to which holders of our common stock will receive a cash payment for each share surrendered in the
reorganization event, make or provide for a cash payment to the participants with respect to each award held by a participant equal to (1) the number of
shares of our common stock subject to the vested portion of the award (after giving effect to any acceleration of vesting that occurs upon or
immediately prior to such reorganization event) multiplied by (2) the excess, if any, of the cash payment for each share surrendered in the
reorganization event over the exercise, measurement or purchase price of such award and any applicable tax withholdings, in exchange for the
termination of such award; 

• provide that, in connection with a liquidation or dissolution, awards convert into the right to receive liquidation proceeds (if applicable, net of exercise,
measurement or purchase price thereof and any applicable tax withholdings); or 

• any combination of the foregoing.

        Our board of directors is not obligated by the 2015 plan to treat all awards, all awards held by a participant, or all awards of the same type, identically.

        In the case of certain restricted stock units, no assumption or substitution is permitted, and the restricted stock units will instead be settled in accordance with the
terms of the applicable restricted stock unit agreement.

        Upon the occurrence of a reorganization event other than a liquidation or dissolution, the repurchase and other rights under each outstanding restricted stock
award will continue for the benefit of the successor company and will, unless our board of directors may otherwise determine, apply to the cash, securities or other
property which our common stock is converted into or exchanged for pursuant to the reorganization event, unless our board provided for the termination or deemed
satisfaction of such repurchase or other rights under the restricted stock award agreement or any other agreement between the participant and us. Upon the occurrence
of a reorganization event involving a liquidation or dissolution, all restrictions and conditions on each outstanding restricted stock award will automatically be deemed
terminated or satisfied, unless otherwise provided in the agreement evidencing the restricted stock award or in any other agreement between the participant and us.

        Our board of directors may at any time provide that any award under the 2015 plan shall become immediately exercisable in whole or in part, free of some or all
restrictions or conditions, or otherwise realizable in whole or in part, as the case may be.

        No award may be granted under the 2015 plan after                , 2025. Our board of directors may amend, suspend or terminate the 2015 plan at any time, except
that stockholder approval will be required to comply with applicable law or stock market requirements.
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401(k) Retirement Plan 

        We maintain a 401(k) retirement plan that is intended to be a tax-qualified defined contribution plan under Section 401(k) of the Code. In general, all of our
employees are eligible to participate, beginning on the first day of the month following commencement of their employment. The 401(k) plan includes a salary deferral
arrangement pursuant to which participants may elect to reduce their current compensation by up to the statutorily prescribed limit, equal to $18,000 in 2015, and have
the amount of the reduction contributed to the 401(k) plan.

Limitations on Liability and Indemnification 

        Our certificate of incorporation, which will become effective upon the closing of this offering, limits the personal liability of directors for breach of fiduciary duty
to the maximum extent permitted by the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware and provides that no director will have personal liability to us or to our
stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty or other duty as a director. However, these provisions do not eliminate or limit the liability of any of
our directors:

• for any breach of the director's duty of loyalty to us or our stockholders; 

• for acts or omissions not in good faith or that involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law; 

• for voting for or assenting to unlawful payments of dividends, stock repurchases or other distributions; or 

• for any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit.

        Any amendment to or repeal of these provisions will not eliminate or reduce the effect of these provisions in respect of any act, omission or claim that occurred or
arose prior to such amendment or repeal. If the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware is amended to provide for further limitations on the personal liability
of directors of corporations, then the personal liability of our directors will be further limited to the greatest extent permitted by the General Corporation Law of the
State of Delaware.

        In addition, our certificate of incorporation, which will become effective upon the closing of this offering, provides that we must indemnify our directors and
officers and we must advance expenses, including attorneys' fees, to our directors and officers in connection with legal proceedings, subject to very limited exceptions.

        We maintain a general liability insurance policy that covers specified liabilities of our directors and officers arising out of claims based on acts or omissions in
their capacities as directors or officers. In addition, we have entered into indemnification agreements with certain of our directors, and we intend to enter into
indemnification agreements with all of our directors and executive officers prior to the completion of this offering. These indemnification agreements may require us,
among other things, to indemnify each such director or officer for some expenses, including attorneys' fees, judgments, fines and settlement amounts incurred by him
in any action or proceeding arising out of his or her service as one of our directors or officers.

        Some of our non-employee directors may, through their relationships with their employers, be insured or indemnified against specified liabilities incurred in their
capacities as members of our board of directors.

        Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933, or the Securities Act, may be permitted to directors, executive officers or
persons controlling us, in the opinion of the
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SEC, such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is therefore unenforceable.

Rule 10b5-1 Sales Plans 

        Our directors and executive officers may adopt written plans, known as Rule 10b5-1 plans, in which they will contract with a broker to buy or sell shares of our
common stock on a periodic basis. Under a Rule 10b5-1 plan, a broker executes trades pursuant to parameters established by the director or officer when entering into
the plan, without further direction from the director or officer. The director or officer may amend or terminate the plan in some circumstances. Our directors and
executive officers may also buy or sell additional shares outside of a Rule 10b5-1 plan when they are not in possession of material, nonpublic information.

Director Compensation 

        We currently do not have a formal non-employee director compensation policy. During 2014, we paid Mr. Bate an annual retainer of $30,000 for service on our
board of directors. In addition, on March 19, 2014, we granted Mr. Bate an option to purchase 127,000 shares of our common stock, at an exercise price of $0.53 per
share, which vests over four years, with 25% of the shares having vested on January 1, 2015 and the remainder vesting in equal monthly installments thereafter. This
stock option had a grant date fair value of $58,848, computed in accordance with ASC Topic 718, which combined with Mr. Bate's annual retainer resulted in total
compensation of $88,848 for Mr. Bate for 2014. See Note 12 to our financial statements appearing at the end of this prospectus regarding assumptions underlying the
valuation of equity awards. None of our other non-employee directors has received any compensation from us, although we reimburse our non-employee directors for
reasonable travel and out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with attending board of director and committee meetings. With the exception of the stock option
granted to Mr. Bate described above, there were no outstanding equity awards held by our non-employee directors as of December 31, 2014.

        We do not pay any compensation to our President and Chief Executive Officer in connection with her service on our board of directors. The compensation that we
pay to our President and Chief Executive Officer is discussed earlier in this "Executive Compensation" section.
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TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PERSONS 

        Since January 1, 2012, we have engaged in the following transactions in which the amount involved exceeded $120,000 and any of our directors or executive
officers or beneficial holders of more than 5% of any class of our voting securities, or any immediate family member of the foregoing persons, had a material interest.
We believe that all of these transactions were on terms comparable to terms that could have been obtained from unrelated third parties.

Series A Preferred Stock Financing 

        In closings that occurred in July 2012, January 2013 and June 2013, we issued and sold an aggregate of 25,636,951 shares of our series A preferred stock at a
price per share of $0.70, for an aggregate purchase price of $17.9 million. The following table sets forth the number of shares of our series A preferred stock purchased
by our directors, executive officers and 5% stockholders and their respective affiliates and the aggregate purchase price for such shares.

Series B Preferred Stock Financing 

        In October 2013, we issued and sold an aggregate of 34,129,571 shares of our series B preferred stock at a price per share of $0.9503, for an aggregate purchase
price of $32.4 million. The following table sets forth the number of shares of our series B preferred stock purchased by our directors, executive officers and 5%
stockholders and their affiliates and the aggregate purchase price for such shares.
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Name  

Shares of Series A
Preferred Stock

Purchased  
Aggregate

Purchase Price  
SV Life Sciences Fund V, L.P.   8,160,866 $ 5,712,606 
SV Life Sciences Fund V Strategic Partners, L.P.   172,467  120,727 
Clarus Lifesciences II, L.P.   8,000,000  5,600,000 
MedImmune Ventures, Inc.   5,333,333  3,733,333 
Advanced Technology Ventures VIII, L.P.   3,333,333  2,333,333 
George Milne(1)   302,115  211,481 
Jill C. Milne   35,714  25,000 
Michael Jirousek   35,714  25,000 
Total   25,373,542 $ 17,761,480 

(1) George Milne is the father-in-law of Jill C. Milne, our President and Chief Executive Officer.

Name  

Shares of Series B
Preferred Stock

Purchased  
Aggregate

Purchase Price  
SV Life Sciences Fund V, L.P.   7,961,792 $ 7,566,091 
SV Life Sciences Fund V Strategic Partners, L.P.   168,259  159,897 
Clarus Lifesciences II, L.P.   7,899,973  7,507,344 
MedImmune Ventures, Inc.   3,156,898  3,000,000 
Advanced Technology Ventures VIII, L.P.   3,156,897  2,999,999 
Lightstone Ventures, L.P.   6,539,602  6,214,584 
Lightstone Ventures (A), L.P.   1,352,643  1,285,417 
Total   30,236,064 $ 28,733,332 
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Investor Rights Agreement 

        We are a party to an amended and restated investor rights agreement, dated as of October 31, 2013, with holders of our preferred stock, including some of our
directors and 5% stockholders and their affiliates and entities affiliated with our officers and directors. The amended and restated investor rights agreement provides
these holders the right, following the completion of this offering, to demand that we file a registration statement or request that their shares be covered by a registration
statement that we are otherwise filing. In addition, the holders of warrants to purchase shares of our preferred stock have rights under those warrants to become party
to the amended and restated investor rights agreement following exercise of the warrants, following which they will have, with respect to the shares acquired on
exercise of the warrants, the same rights to require us to register the shares as the other investor parties to the amended and restated investor rights agreement. See
"Description of Capital Stock—Registration Rights" for additional information regarding these registration rights.

Employment Agreements 

        See the "Executive Compensation—Agreements with Our Named Executive Officers" section of this prospectus for a further discussion of these arrangements.

Indemnification Agreements 

        Our certificate of incorporation that will become effective upon the closing of this offering provides that we will indemnify our directors and officers to the fullest
extent permitted by Delaware law. In addition, we have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our directors. See "Executive Compensation—Limitation
of Liability and Indemnification" for additional information regarding these agreements.

Policies and Procedures for Related Person Transactions 

        Our board of directors has adopted written policies and procedures, which will become effective at the time of this offering, for the review of any transaction,
arrangement or relationship in which our company is a participant, the amount involved exceeds $120,000 and one of our executive officers, directors, director
nominees or 5% stockholders, or their immediate family members, each of whom we refer to as a "related person," has a direct or indirect material interest.

        If a related person proposes to enter into such a transaction, arrangement or relationship, which we refer to as a "related person transaction," the related person
must report the proposed related person transaction to our Chief Financial Officer. The policy calls for the proposed related person transaction to be reviewed and
approved by our audit committee. Whenever practicable, the reporting, review and approval will occur prior to entry into the transaction. If advance review and
approval is not practicable, the committee will review, and, in its discretion, may ratify the related person transaction. The policy also permits the chairman of the audit
committee to review and, if deemed appropriate, approve proposed related person transactions that arise between committee meetings, subject to ratification by the
committee at its next meeting. Any related person transactions that are ongoing in nature will be reviewed annually.

        A related person transaction reviewed under the policy will be considered approved or ratified if it is authorized by the audit committee after full disclosure of the
related person's interest in the transaction. As appropriate for the circumstances, the committee will review and consider:

• the related person's interest in the related person transaction; 

• the approximate dollar value of the amount involved in the related person transaction;
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• the approximate dollar value of the amount of the related person's interest in the transaction without regard to the amount of any profit or loss; 

• whether the transaction was undertaken in the ordinary course of our business; 

• whether the terms of the transaction are no less favorable to us than terms that could have been reached with an unrelated third party; 

• the purpose of, and the potential benefits to us of, the transaction; and 

• any other information regarding the related person transaction or the related person in the context of the proposed transaction that would be material to
investors in light of the circumstances of the particular transaction.

        The audit committee may approve or ratify the transaction only if the committee determines that, under all of the circumstances, the transaction is in our best
interests. The committee may impose any conditions on the related person transaction that it deems appropriate.

        The policy provides that transactions involving compensation of executive officers shall be reviewed and approved by the compensation committee in the manner
specified in its charter.
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PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS 

        The following table sets forth information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of February 28, 2015 by:

• each of our directors; 

• each of our named executive officers; 

• all of our directors and executive officers as a group; and 

• each person, or group of affiliated persons, who is known by us to beneficially own more than 5% of our common stock.

        The column entitled "Percentage of Shares Beneficially Owned—Before Offering" is based on a total of 109,305,194 shares of our common stock outstanding as
of February 28, 2015, assuming the automatic conversion of all outstanding shares of our preferred stock into an aggregate of 102,967,274 shares of our common stock
upon the closing of this offering. The column entitled "Percentage of Shares Beneficially Owned—After Offering" is based on                    shares of our common stock
to be outstanding after this offering, including the                    shares of our common stock that we are selling in this offering, but not including any additional shares
issuable upon exercise of outstanding options or warrants.

        Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC and includes voting or investment power with respect to our common
stock. Shares of our common stock subject to options and warrants that are currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days after December 31, 2014 are considered
outstanding and beneficially owned by the person holding the options or warrants for the purpose of calculating the percentage ownership of that person but not for the
purpose of calculating the percentage ownership of any other person. Except as otherwise noted, the persons and entities in this table have sole voting and investing
power with respect to all of the shares of our common stock beneficially owned by them, subject to community property laws, where
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applicable. Except as otherwise set forth below, the address of the beneficial owner is c/o Catabasis Pharmaceuticals, Inc., One Kendall Square, Bldg. 1400E, Suite
B14202, Cambridge, MA 02139.
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Percentage of
Shares

Beneficially Owned  

Name of Beneficial Owner  
Shares

Beneficially Owned  
Before

Offering  
After

Offering  
5% Stockholders          
Entities affiliated with SV Life Sciences(1)  29,796,718  27.3%   %
Clarus Lifesciences II, L.P.(2)  28,699,973  26.3    
MedImmune Ventures, Inc.(3)  17,023,564  15.6    
Advanced Technology Ventures VIII, L.P.(4)  11,823,564  10.8    
Entities affiliated with Lightstone Ventures(5)  7,892,245  7.2    

Named Executive Officers and Directors          
Jill C. Milne, Ph.D.(6)  5,319,277  4.8    
Ian C. Sanderson(7)  482,370  *    
Michael Jirousek, Ph.D.(8)  5,209,925  4.7    
Michael Ross, Ph.D.(9)  29,796,718  27.3    
Nicholas Galakatos, Ph.D.(10)  28,699,973  26.3    
Jean George(11)  19,715,809  18.0    
Ron Laufer, M.D.(12)  17,023,564  15.6    
Kenneth Bate(13)  39,688  *    
All Executive Officers and Directors as a Group (10 persons)(14)  107,167,997  93.3    

* Represents beneficial ownership of less than 1% of our outstanding stock. 

(1) Consists of 29,180,045 shares of record held by SV Life Sciences Fund V, L.P. ("SVLS V LP") and 616,673 shares of record held by SV Life
Sciences Fund V Strategic Partners, L.P. ("SVLS V SPP"). SV Life Sciences Fund V (GP), LP ("SVLS V GP") is the general partner of SVLS
V LP and SVLS V SPP. The general partner of SVLS V GP is SVLSF V, LLC. The members of the investment committee of SVLSF V, LLC
are Kate Bingham, James Garvey, Eugene D. Hill, III, David Milne and Michael Ross, a member of our board of directors. SVLS V GP,
SVLSF V, LLC and each of the individuals comprising the SVLSF V, LLC investment committee may be deemed to share voting, dispositive
and investment power over the shares held of record by SVLS V LP and SVLS V SPP. Each of SVLS V GP, SVLSF V, LLC and the
individual members of the SVLSF V, LLC investment committee disclaim beneficial ownership of the shares owned directly by SVLS V LP
and SVLS V SPP except to the extent of any pecuniary interest therein. The address for the entities is One Boston Place, Suite 3900, 201
Washington Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02108. 

(2) Consists of 28,699,973 shares held of record by Clarus Lifesciences II, L.P. ("Clarus"). Clarus Ventures II GP, L.P. (the "GPLP"), as the sole
general partner of Clarus, may be deemed to beneficially own certain of the shares held of record by Clarus. The GPLP disclaims beneficial
ownership of all shares held of record by Clarus in which the GPLP does not have an actual pecuniary interest. Clarus Ventures II, LLC (the
"GPLLC"), as the sole general partner of the GPLP, may be deemed to beneficially own certain of the shares held of record by Clarus.
The GPLLC disclaims beneficial ownership of all shares held of record by Clarus in which it does not have an actual pecuniary interest. Each
of Nicholas Galakatos, a member of our board of directors, and Denis Henner, Robert Liptak, Nicholas Simon, Michael Steinmetz and Kurt
Wheeler, as individual Managing Directors of the GPLLC, may be deemed to beneficially own certain of the shares held of record by Clarus.
Each of Messrs. Galakatos, Henner, Liptak, Simon, Steinmetz and Wheeler disclaims beneficial ownership of all shares held of record by
Clarus in
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which he does not have an actual pecuniary interest. The address for the entities is 101 Main Street, Suite 1210, Cambridge, MA 02142.

(3) Ron Laufer, a member of our board of directors, is the Senior Managing Partner of MedImmune Ventures, Inc., and as a result, Dr. Laufer may
be deemed to hold voting, dispositive and investment power over the shares held by MedImmune Ventures, Inc. Dr. Laufer disclaims
beneficial ownership of such shares except to the extent of any pecuniary interest therein. The address of MedImmune Ventures, Inc. is 1
MedImmune Way, Gaithersburg, Maryland 20878. 

(4) ATV Associates VIII, LLC ("ATV A VIII") is the General Partner of Advanced Technology Ventures VIII, L.P. ("ATV VIII") and exercises
voting and dispositive authority over the shares held by ATV VIII. Voting and dispositive decisions of ATV A VIII are made collectively by
Michael A. Carusi, Jean George, a member of our board of directors, Steven N. Baloff, Robert C. Hower and William C. Wiberg (collectively,
the "ATV VIII Managing Directors"). ATV A VIII and the ATV VIII Managing Directors disclaim beneficial ownership of the shares held by
ATV VIII except to the extent of their pecuniary interest therein. The address for the entities is 500 Boylston Street, Suite 1380, Boston, MA
02116. 

(5) Consists of 6,945,845 shares of common stock held by Lightstone Ventures, L.P. and 946,400 shares of common stock held by Lightstone
Ventures (A), L.P. LSV Associates, LLC ("LSV GP") is the General Partner of Lightstone Ventures, L.P. and Lightstone Ventures (A), L.P.
(collectively, "LSV") and exercises voting and dispositive authority over the shares held by LSV. Voting and dispositve decisions of LSV GP
are made collectively by Michael A. Carusi, Jean George, a member of our board of directors, Ralph E. Christoffersen and Henry A. Plain, Jr.
(collectively, the "LSV Managing Directors"). LSV GP and the LSV Managing Directors disclaim beneficial ownership of the shares held by
LSV except to the extent of their pecuniary interest therein. The address for the entities is 500 Boylston Street, Suite 1380, Boston,
Massachusetts 02116. 

(6) Includes (i) 2,049,730 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options and (ii) 112,499 shares of common stock issuable upon
the exercise of warrants, in each case exercisable within 60 days after February 28, 2015. 

(7) Consists of 482,370 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after February 28, 2015. 

(8) Includes (i) 1,940,355 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options and (ii) 112,499 shares of common stock issuable upon
the exercise of warrants, in each case exercisable within 60 days after February 28, 2015. 

(9) Consists of the shares described in note (1) above. Dr. Ross is a member of the investment committee of SVLSF V, LLC, which is the general
partner of SV Life Sciences Fund V (GP), which is the general partner of SV Life Sciences Fund V, L.P. and SV Life Sciences Fund V
Strategic Partners, L.P., and, as a result, Dr. Ross may be deemed to share voting, dispositive and investment power over the shares held of
record by SV Life Sciences Fund V, L.P. and SV Life Sciences Fund V Strategic Partners L.P. Dr. Ross disclaims beneficial ownership of such
shares except to the extent of any pecuniary interest therein. Dr. Ross' address is One Boston Place, Suite 3900, Boston, Massachusetts 02108. 

(10) Consists of the shares described in note (2) above. Dr. Galakatos is a Managing Director of Clarus Ventures II, LLC, which the sole general
partner of Clarus Ventures II GP, L.P., which is the sole general partner of Clarus Ventures II, L.P., and, as a result, Dr. Galakatos shares
investment and voting control over the shares held by Clarus Lifesciences II, L.P. Dr. Galakatos disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares
except to the extent of any pecuniary interest therein. Dr. Galakatos' address is 101 Main Street, Suite 1210, Cambridge, MA 02142.
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(11) Consists of the shares described in notes (4) and (5) above. Ms. George is an ATV III Managing Director and, as a result, shares voting and
dispositive power over the shares held by Advanced Technology Ventures VIII, L.P. Ms. George is also an LSV Managing Director and, as a
result, shares voting and dispositive power over the shares held by LSV. Ms. George disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by ATV
VIII and LSV except to the extent of any pecuniary interest therein. Ms. George's address is 500 Boylston Street, Suite 1380, Boston, MA
02116. 

(12) Consists of the shares described in note (3) above. Dr. Laufer is the Senior Managing Partner of MedImmune Ventures, Inc., and as a result,
Dr. Laufer may be deemed to hold voting, dispositive and investment power over the shares held by MedImmune Ventures, Inc. Dr. Laufer
disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares except to the extent of any pecuniary interest therein. Dr. Laufer's address is c/o MedImmune
Ventures, 1 MedImmune Way, Gaithersburg, Maryland 20878. 

(13) Consists of 39,688 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days after February 28, 2015. 

(14) Includes (i) 5,392,816 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options and (ii) 224,998 shares of common stock issuable upon
the exercise of warrants, in each case exercisable within 60 days after February 28, 2015.
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DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK 

General 

        Following the closing of this offering, our authorized capital stock will consist of                    shares of common stock, par value $0.001 per share,
and                    shares of preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share, all of which preferred stock will be undesignated. The following description of our capital stock
and provisions of our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws are summaries and are qualified by reference to the certificate of
incorporation and the bylaws that will be in effect upon the closing of this offering. We have filed copies of these documents as exhibits to our registration statement of
which this prospectus forms a part. The descriptions of the common stock and preferred stock reflect changes to our capital structure that will occur upon the closing
of this offering.

Common Stock 

        As of December 31, 2014, we had outstanding 109,305,194 shares of common stock, assuming the automatic conversion of all outstanding shares of our preferred
stock into common stock upon the closing of this offering, which were held of record by 39 stockholders.

        Holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders and do not have cumulative voting
rights. An election of directors by our stockholders will be determined by a plurality of the votes cast by the stockholders entitled to vote on the election. Other matters
shall be decided by the affirmative vote of our stockholders having a majority in voting power of the votes cast by the stockholders present or represented and voting
on such matter, except as otherwise disclosed below. Holders of common stock are entitled to receive proportionately any dividends as may be declared by our board
of directors, subject to any preferential dividend rights of outstanding preferred stock.

        In the event of our liquidation or dissolution, the holders of common stock are entitled to receive proportionately all assets available for distribution to
stockholders after the payment of all debts and other liabilities and subject to the prior rights of any outstanding preferred stock. Holders of common stock have no
preemptive, subscription, redemption or conversion rights. The rights, preferences and privileges of holders of common stock are subject to and may be adversely
affected by the rights of the holders of shares of any series of preferred stock that we may designate and issue in the future.

Preferred Stock 

        Under the terms of our certificate of incorporation that will become effective upon the closing of this offering, our board of directors is authorized to issue shares
of preferred stock in one or more series without stockholder approval. Our board of directors has the discretion to determine the rights, preferences, privileges and
restrictions, including voting rights, dividend rights, conversion rights, redemption privileges and liquidation preferences, of each series of preferred stock.

        The purpose of authorizing our board of directors to issue preferred stock and determine its rights and preferences is to eliminate delays associated with a
stockholder vote on specific issuances. The issuance of preferred stock, while providing flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions, future financings and other
corporate purposes, could have the effect of making it more difficult for a third party to acquire, or could discourage a third party from seeking to acquire, a majority of
our outstanding voting stock. Upon the closing of this offering, there will be no shares of preferred stock outstanding, and we have no present plans to issue any shares
of preferred stock.
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Stock Options 

        As of December 31, 2014, options to purchase 15,756,837 shares of our common stock at a weighted-average exercise price of $0.32 per share were outstanding,
of which options to purchase 6,852,418 shares of our common stock were exercisable, at a weighted-average exercise price of $0.17 per share.

Warrants 

        As of December 31, 2014, we had outstanding warrants to purchase shares of our Series B preferred stock that upon the closing of this offering will be exercisable
for an aggregate of 157,844 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $0.9503 per share.

        As of December 31, 2014, we had outstanding warrants to purchase shares of our common stock that upon the closing of this offering will be exercisable for an
aggregate of 447,850 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $0.13 per share.

Registration Rights 

        Our amended and restated investor rights agreement, or the Investor Rights Agreement, provides certain holders of our preferred stock, including some of our
directors and 5% stockholders and their respective affiliates and entities affiliated with our officers and directors, the right, following the completion of this offering, to
require us to register these shares under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, under specified circumstances as described below. In addition,
the holders of warrants to purchase shares of our preferred stock have rights under those warrants to become party to the Investor Rights Agreement following exercise
of the warrants, following which they will have, with respect to the shares acquired on exercise of the warrants, the same rights to require us to register the shares as
the other investor parties to the Investor Rights Agreement. After registration pursuant to these rights, these shares will become freely tradable without restriction
under the Securities Act.

Demand Registration Rights

        Beginning six months after the closing of this offering, subject to specified limitations set forth in the Investor Rights Agreement, at any time the holders of a
majority of then outstanding registrable securities, as defined in the Investor Rights Agreement, acting together, may demand in writing that we register their
registrable securities under the Securities Act so long as the total amount of registrable shares requested to be registered has an anticipated aggregate offering price to
the public, net of selling expenses, of least $10.0 million. We are not obligated to file a registration statement pursuant to this demand provision on more than two
occasions, subject to specified exceptions.

        In addition, at any time after we become eligible to file a registration statement on Form S-3 under the Securities Act, subject to specified limitations, the holders
of at least 35% of the registrable securities then outstanding may demand in writing that we register on Form S-3 registrable shares held by them so long as the total
amount of registrable shares requested to be registered has an anticipated aggregate offering price to the public, net of selling expenses, of least $1.0 million.

Incidental Registration Rights

        If, at any time after the closing of this offering, we propose to file a registration statement to register any of our securities under the Securities Act, either for our
own account or for the account of any of our stockholders that are not holders of registrable shares, solely for cash and on a form that would also permit the
registration of registrable shares, the holders of our registrable shares are
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entitled to notice of registration and, subject to specified exceptions, we will be required to register the registrable shares then held by them that they request that we
register.

Expenses

        Pursuant to the Investor Rights Agreement, we are required to pay all registration expenses, including registration fees, printing expenses, fees and disbursements
of our counsel and accountants and reasonable fees and disbursements of one counsel representing the selling stockholders, other than any underwriting discounts and
commissions, related to any demand or incidental registration. The Investor Rights Agreement contains customary cross-indemnification provisions, pursuant to which
we are obligated to indemnify the selling stockholders in the event of material misstatements or omissions in the registration statement attributable to us, and they are
obligated to indemnify us for material misstatements or omissions in the registration statement attributable to them.

Anti-Takeover Effects of Delaware Law and Our Charter and Bylaws 

        Delaware law contains, and upon the completion of this offering our certificate of incorporation and our bylaws will contain, provisions that could have the effect
of delaying, deferring or discouraging another party from acquiring control of us. These provisions, which are summarized below, are expected to discourage coercive
takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids. These provisions are also designed to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of us to first negotiate with our
board of directors.

Staggered Board; Removal of Directors

        Upon the completion of this offering, our certificate of incorporation and bylaws will divide our board of directors into three classes with staggered three-year
terms. In addition, a director will only be able to be removed for cause and only by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 75% of the votes that all of our
stockholders would be entitled to cast in an annual election of directors. Any vacancy on our board of directors, including a vacancy resulting from an enlargement of
our board of directors, will only be able to be filled by vote of a majority of our directors then in office. The classification of our board of directors and the limitations
on the removal of directors and filling of vacancies could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire, or discourage a third party from seeking to acquire, control
of our company.

Stockholder Action by Written Consent; Special Meetings

        Upon the completion of this offering, our certificate of incorporation will provide that any action required or permitted to be taken by our stockholders must be
effected at a duly called annual or special meeting of such holders and may not be effected by any consent in writing by such holders. Upon the completion of this
offering, our certificate of incorporation and bylaws will also provide that, except as otherwise required by law, special meetings of our stockholders can only be called
by our chairman of the board, our Chief Executive Officer or our board of directors.

Advance Notice Requirements for Stockholder Proposals

        Upon the completion of this offering, our bylaws will establish an advance notice procedure for stockholder proposals to be brought before an annual meeting of
stockholders, including proposed nominations of persons for election to our board of directors. Stockholders at an annual meeting will only be able to consider
proposals or nominations specified in the notice of meeting or brought before the meeting by or at the direction of our board of directors or by a stockholder of record
on the record date for the meeting who is entitled to vote at the meeting and who has delivered timely written notice in proper form to our secretary of the stockholder's
intention to bring such business before the
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meeting. These provisions could have the effect of delaying until the next stockholder meeting stockholder actions that are favored by the holders of a majority of our
outstanding voting securities.

Delaware Business Combination Statute

        Upon the completion of this offering, we will be subject to Section 203 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware. Subject to certain exceptions,
Section 203 prevents a publicly held Delaware corporation from engaging in a "business combination" with any "interested stockholder" for three years following the
date that the person became an interested stockholder, unless the interested stockholder attained such status with the approval of our board of directors or unless the
business combination is approved in a prescribed manner. A "business combination" includes, among other things, a merger or consolidation involving us and the
"interested stockholder" and the sale of more than 10% of our assets. In general, an "interested stockholder" is any entity or person beneficially owning 15% or more
of our outstanding voting stock and any entity or person affiliated with or controlling or controlled by such entity or person.

Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws

        The General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware provides generally that the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares entitled to vote on any matter is
required to amend a corporation's certificate of incorporation or bylaws, unless a corporation's certificate of incorporation or bylaws, as the case may be, requires a
greater percentage. Effective upon the completion of this offering, our bylaws may be amended or repealed by a majority vote of our board of directors or by the
affirmative vote of the holders of at least 75% of the votes that all of our stockholders would be entitled to cast in any annual election of directors. In addition, the
affirmative vote of the holders of at least 75% of the votes that all of our stockholders would be entitled to cast in any annual election of directors is required to amend
or repeal or to adopt any provisions inconsistent with any of the provisions of our certificate of incorporation described above under "—Staggered Board; Removal of
Directors" and "—Stockholder Action by Written Consent; Special Meetings."

Exclusive Forum Selection

        Effective upon completion of this offering, our certificate of incorporation will provide that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall be the sole and
exclusive forum for (1) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of our company, (2) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by
any of our directors or officers to our company or our stockholders, (3) any action asserting a claim against our company arising pursuant to any provision of the
General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware or our certificate of incorporation or bylaws, (4) any action to interpret, apply, enforce, or determine the validity of
our certificate of incorporation or bylaws or (5) any action asserting a claim against our company governed by the internal affairs doctrine. Although our certificate of
incorporation contains the choice of forum provision described above, it is possible that a court could rule that such a provision is inapplicable for a particular claim or
action or that such provision is unenforceable.

Listing on the Nasdaq Global Market 

        We have applied to have our common stock listed on The NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol "CATB."

Authorized but Unissued Shares 

        The authorized but unissued shares of common stock and preferred stock are available for future issuance without stockholder approval, subject to any limitations
imposed by the listing requirements of
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The NASDAQ Global Market. These additional shares may be used for a variety of corporate finance transactions, acquisitions and employee benefit plans. The
existence of authorized but unissued and unreserved common stock and preferred stock could make it more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain control of us by
means of a proxy contest, tender offer, merger or otherwise.

Transfer Agent and Registrar 

        The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock will be American Stock Transfer & Trust Company.
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SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE 

        Prior to this offering, there has been no public market for our common stock, and a liquid trading market for our common stock may not develop or be sustained
after this offering. Future sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, including shares issued upon exercise of outstanding options, or the
anticipation of these sales, could adversely affect market prices prevailing from time to time and could impair our ability to raise capital through sales of equity
securities.

        Based upon the 6,337,920 shares of our common stock that were outstanding on December 31, 2014, upon the closing of this offering, we will have
outstanding                    shares of our common stock, after giving effect to the issuance of                    shares of our common stock in this offering and the conversion
of all outstanding shares of our preferred stock into 102,967,274 shares of common stock upon the closing of this offering, and assuming no exercise by the
underwriters of their over-allotment option and no exercise of options or warrants outstanding as of December 31, 2014.

        Of the shares to be outstanding immediately after the closing of this offering, we expect that the                    shares to be sold in this offering will be freely
tradable without restriction under the Securities Act unless purchased by our "affiliates," as that term is defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act. The
remaining                    shares of our common stock outstanding after this offering will be "restricted securities" under Rule 144, and we expect that substantially all of
these restricted securities will be subject to the 180-day lock-up period under the lock-up agreements as described below. These restricted securities may be sold in the
public market only if registered or pursuant to an exemption from registration, such as Rule 144 or Rule 701 under the Securities Act.

Rule 144 

        In general, under Rule 144, beginning 90 days after the date of this prospectus, any person who is not our affiliate and has held their shares for at least six months,
including the holding period of any prior owner other than one of our affiliates, may sell shares without restriction, subject to the availability of current public
information about us. In addition, under Rule 144, any person who is not our affiliate and has not been our affiliate at any time during the preceding three months and
has held their shares for at least one year, including the holding period of any prior owner other than one of our affiliates, would be entitled to sell an unlimited number
of shares immediately upon the closing of this offering without regard to whether current public information about us is available.

        Beginning 90 days after the date of this prospectus, a person who is our affiliate or who was our affiliate at any time during the preceding three months may sell
any unrestricted securities, as well as restricted securities that the person has beneficially owned for at least six months, including the holding period of any prior
owner other than one of our affiliates, under Rule 144. Affiliates selling restricted or unrestricted securities may sell a number of shares within any three-month period
that does not exceed the greater of:

• 1% of the number of shares of our common stock then outstanding, which will equal approximately                    shares immediately after this offering;
and 

• the average weekly trading volume of our common stock on The NASDAQ Global Market during the four calendar weeks preceding the filing of a
Notice of Proposed Sale of Securities Pursuant to Rule 144 with respect to the sale.

        Sales under Rule 144 by our affiliates are also subject to manner of sale provisions and notice requirements and to the availability of current public information
about us.

        Upon expiration of the 180-day lock-up period described below, approximately                    shares of our common stock will be eligible for sale under Rule 144,
including shares eligible for resale

148



Table of Contents

immediately upon the closing of this offering as described above. We cannot estimate the number of shares of our common stock that our existing stockholders will
elect to sell under Rule 144.

Rule 701 

        In general, under Rule 701 of the Securities Act, any of our employees, consultants or advisors, other than our affiliates, who purchased shares from us in
connection with a qualified compensatory stock plan or other written agreement is eligible to resell these shares 90 days after the date of this prospectus in reliance on
Rule 144, but without compliance with the holding period requirements of Rule 144 and without regard to the volume of such sales or the availability of public
information about us. Subject to the 180-day lock-up period described below, approximately                    shares of our common stock will be eligible for sale in
accordance with Rule 701.

Lock-Up Agreements 

        We, and each of our executive officers and directors and the holders of substantially all of our outstanding stock have agreed that, without the prior written
consent of Citigroup Global Markets Inc. and Cowen and Company, LLC, on behalf of the underwriters, we and they will not, subject to limited exceptions, during the
period ending 180 days after the date of this prospectus:

• offer, sell, contract to sell, pledge or otherwise dispose of, or enter into any transaction which is designed to, or might reasonably be expected to, result
in the disposition of (whether by actual disposition or effective economic disposition due to cash settlement or otherwise), directly or indirectly,
including the filing (or participation in the filing) of a registration statement (other than a registration statement on Form S-8) with the SEC with respect
to, any shares of our capital stock or any securities convertible into, or exercisable or exchangeable for, such capital stock; 

• establish or increase a put equivalent position or liquidate or decrease a call equivalent position with respect to any shares of our capital stock or any
securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for such capital stock, or publicly announce an intention to effect any such transaction; or 

• publicly announce an intention to effect any of the foregoing.

Registration Rights 

        Subject to the lock-up agreements described above, upon the closing of this offering, the holders of an aggregate of 102,967,274 shares of our common stock,
along with the holders of warrants to purchase an aggregate of 157,844 shares of common stock, will be entitled to various rights with respect to the registration of
these shares under the Securities Act. Registration of these shares under the Securities Act would result in these shares becoming fully tradable without restriction
under the Securities Act immediately upon the effectiveness of the registration. See "Description of Capital Stock—Registration Rights" for additional information.
Shares covered by a registration statement will be eligible for sale in the public market upon the expiration or release from the terms of lock-up agreements applicable
to such shares.

Stock Options and Warrants 

        As of December 31, 2014, we had outstanding options to purchase 15,756,837 shares of our common stock, of which options to purchase 6,852,418 shares were
vested. Following this offering, we intend to file one or more registration statements on Form S-8 under the Securities Act to register all of the shares of our common
stock subject to outstanding options and options and other awards issuable pursuant to the 2015 stock incentive plan and our 2008 equity incentive plan. Shares
covered

149



Table of Contents

by these registration statements will then be eligible for sale in the public markets, subject to vesting restrictions, any applicable lock-up agreements described above
and Rule 144 limitations applicable to affiliates.

        As of December 31, 2014, we had outstanding warrants to purchase shares of our Series B preferred stock that upon the closing of this offering will be exercisable
for an aggregate of 157,844 shares of our common stock. As of December 31, 2014, we also had outstanding and exercisable warrants to purchase 447,850 shares of
common stock. Any shares acquired through the exercise of these warrants will be eligible for sale subject to the lock-up agreements and securities laws described
above.
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MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL INCOME AND ESTATE TAX CONSIDERATIONS
FOR NON-U.S. HOLDERS OF COMMON STOCK 

        The following is a general discussion of material U.S. federal income and estate tax considerations relating to ownership and disposition of shares of our common
stock by a non-U.S. holder. For purposes of this discussion, the term "non-U.S. holder" means a beneficial owner of our common stock that is not for U.S. federal
income tax purposes:

• an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States; 

• a corporation, or other entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, created or organized in the United States or under the laws
of the United States or of any political subdivision of the United States; 

• an estate the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source; or 

• a trust if (1) a U.S. court is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of the trust and one or more U.S. persons have authority to
control all substantial decisions of the trust or (2) the trust has a valid election in effect under applicable U.S. Treasury Regulations to be treated as a
U.S. person.

        This discussion does not address the tax treatment of partnerships or other entities that are pass-through entities for U.S. federal income tax purposes or persons
who hold their common stock through partnerships or other pass-through entities. A partner in a partnership or other pass-through entity that will hold our common
stock should consult his, her or its own tax advisor regarding the tax consequences of acquiring, holding and disposing of our common stock through a partnership or
other pass-through entity, as applicable.

        This discussion is based on current provisions of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, which we refer to as the Code, existing and proposed U.S.
Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder, current administrative rulings and judicial decisions, all as in effect as of the date of this prospectus and all of which are
subject to change or to differing interpretation, possibly with retroactive effect. Any change could alter the tax consequences to non-U.S. holders described in this
prospectus. There can be no assurance that the Internal Revenue Service, or the IRS, will not challenge one or more of the tax consequences described herein.

        We assume in this discussion that a non-U.S. holder holds shares of our common stock as a capital asset (generally, property held for investment). This discussion
does not address all aspects of U.S. federal income and estate taxation that may be relevant to a particular non-U.S. holder in light of that non-U.S. holder's individual
circumstances nor does it address any aspects of U.S. state, local or non-U.S. taxes, the alternative minimum tax, or the Medicare tax on net investment income. This
discussion also does not consider any specific facts or circumstances that may apply to a non-U.S. holder and does not address the special tax rules applicable to
particular non-U.S. holders, such as:

• financial institutions; 

• brokers or dealers in securities; 

• tax-exempt organizations; 

• pension plans; 

• owners that hold our common stock as part of a straddle, hedge, conversion transaction, synthetic security or other integrated investment; 

• insurance companies;
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• regulated investment companies; 

• controlled foreign corporations; 

• passive foreign investment companies; 

• persons that have a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar; and 

• certain U.S. expatriates.

This discussion is for general information only and is not tax advice. Accordingly, all prospective non-U.S. holders should consult their own tax advisors
regarding the U.S. federal, state, local and non-U.S. income tax and estate tax consequences of acquiring, holding and disposing of our common stock.

Distributions on Our Common Stock 

        If we pay distributions on our common stock, those distributions generally will constitute dividends for U.S. federal income tax purposes to the extent paid from
our current or accumulated earnings and profits, as determined under U.S. federal income tax principles. If a distribution exceeds our current and accumulated earnings
and profits, the excess will be treated as a tax-free return of the non-U.S. holder's investment, up to such holder's tax basis in the common stock. Any remaining excess
will be treated as capital gain, subject to the tax treatment described below under the heading "Gain on Disposition of Common Stock." Any such distribution would
also be subject to the discussion below under the section titled "Withholding and Information Reporting Requirements—FATCA."

        As discussed under "Dividend Policy," we do not expect to pay cash dividends to holders of our common stock in the foreseeable future. In the event we do pay
dividends, dividends paid to a non-U.S. holder generally will be subject to withholding of U.S. federal income tax at a 30% rate or such lower rate as may be specified
by an applicable income tax treaty between the United States and such holder's country of residence.

        Dividends that are treated as effectively connected with a trade or business conducted by a non-U.S. holder within the United States, and if an applicable income
tax treaty so provides, that are attributable to a permanent establishment or a fixed base maintained by the non-U.S. holder within the United States, are generally
exempt from the 30% withholding tax if the non-U.S. holder satisfies applicable certification and disclosure requirements. However, such U.S. effectively connected
income, net of specified deductions and credits, is taxed at the same graduated U.S. federal income tax rates applicable to U.S. persons (as defined in the Code). Any
U.S. effectively connected income received by a non-U.S. holder that is a corporation may also, under certain circumstances, be subject to an additional "branch profits
tax" at a 30% rate or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty between the United States and such holder's country of residence.

        A non-U.S. holder of our common stock who claims the benefit of an applicable income tax treaty between the United States and such holder's country of
residence generally will be required to provide a properly executed IRS Form W-8BEN or W-8BEN-E (or successor form) and satisfy applicable certification and other
requirements. Non-U.S. holders are urged to consult their own tax advisors regarding their entitlement to benefits under a relevant income tax treaty.

        A non-U.S. holder that is eligible for a reduced rate of U.S. withholding tax under an income tax treaty may obtain a refund or credit of any excess amounts
withheld by timely filing a U.S. tax return with the IRS.
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Gain on Disposition of Common Stock 

        A non-U.S. holder generally will not be subject to any U.S. federal income tax on any gain realized upon such non-U.S. holder's sale, exchange or other
disposition of shares of our common stock unless:

• the gain is effectively connected with the non-U.S. holder's conduct of a U.S. trade or business, and, if an applicable income tax treaty so provides, the
gain is attributable to a permanent establishment or fixed base maintained by the non-U.S. holder in the United States; in these cases, the non-U.S.
holder generally will be taxed on a net income basis at the graduated U.S. federal income tax rates applicable to U.S. persons and, if the non-U.S.
holder is a corporation, the branch profits tax described above in "Distributions on Our Common Stock," may also apply; 

• the non-U.S. holder is a nonresident alien who is present in the United States for 183 days or more in the taxable year of the disposition and certain
other requirements are met, in which case the non-U.S. holder will be subject to a 30% tax (or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable
income tax treaty between the United States and such holder's country of residence) on the net gain derived from the disposition, which may be offset
by U.S.-source capital losses of the non-U.S. holder, if any; or 

• we are, or have been at any time during the five-year period preceding such disposition (or the non-U.S. holder's holding period, if shorter), a "U.S. real
property holding corporation," unless our common stock is regularly traded on an established securities market and the non-U.S. holder held no more
than 5% of our outstanding common stock, directly or indirectly, during the shorter of the five-year period ending on the date of the disposition or the
period that the non-U.S. holder held our common stock. Generally, a corporation is a "U.S. real property holding corporation" if the fair market value of
its "U.S. real property interests" (as defined in the Code and applicable regulations) equals or exceeds 50% of the sum of the fair market value of its
worldwide real property interests plus its other assets used or held for use in a trade or business.

        Although there can be no assurance, we believe that we are not currently, and we do not anticipate becoming, a "U.S. real property holding corporation" for U.S.
federal income tax purposes. Further, no assurance can be provided that our common stock will be regularly traded on an established securities market for purposes of
the rule described above. If we are determined to be a "U.S. real property holding corporation" and the exception described above does not apply, then a purchaser may
withhold 10% of the proceeds payable to a non-U.S. holder from a sale of our common stock and the non-U.S. holder generally will be taxed on its net gain derived
from the disposition at the graduated U.S. federal income tax rates applicable to U.S. persons.

Federal Estate Tax 

        Shares of our common stock that are owned or treated as owned by an individual who is not a citizen or resident of the United States (as specially defined for U.S.
federal estate tax purposes) at the time of death are considered U.S. situs assets and will be included in the individual's gross estate for U.S. federal estate tax purposes.
Such shares, therefore, may be subject to U.S. federal estate tax, unless an applicable estate tax or other treaty provides otherwise.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding 

        We must report annually to the IRS and to each non-U.S. holder the gross amount of the distributions on our common stock paid to such holder and the tax
withheld, if any, with respect to such distributions. Non-U.S. holders may have to comply with specific certification procedures to establish that the holder is not a U.S.
person (as defined in the Code) in order to avoid backup
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withholding at the applicable rate with respect to dividends on our common stock. Generally, a holder will comply with such procedures if it provides a properly
executed IRS Form W-8BEN or W-8BEN-E (or other applicable Form W-8) or otherwise meets documentary evidence requirements for establishing that it is a non-
U.S. holder, or otherwise establishes an exemption. Dividends paid to non-U.S. holders subject to withholding of U.S. federal income tax, as described above under the
heading "Distributions on Our Common Stock," will generally be exempt from U.S. backup withholding.

        Information reporting and backup withholding generally will apply to the proceeds of a disposition of our common stock by a non-U.S. holder effected by or
through the U.S. office of any broker, U.S. or foreign, unless the holder certifies its status as a non-U.S. holder and satisfies certain other requirements, or otherwise
establishes an exemption. Generally, information reporting and backup withholding will not apply to a payment of disposition proceeds to a non-U.S. holder where the
transaction is effected outside the United States through a non-U.S. office of a broker. However, for information reporting purposes, dispositions effected through a
non-U.S. office of a broker with substantial U.S. ownership or operations generally will be treated in a manner similar to dispositions effected through a U.S. office of
a broker. Non-U.S. holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding the application of the information reporting and backup withholding rules to them.

        Copies of information returns may be made available to the tax authorities of the country in which the non-U.S. holder resides or is incorporated under the
provisions of a specific treaty or agreement.

        Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules from a payment to a non-U.S. holder can be refunded or
credited against the non-U.S. holder's U.S. federal income tax liability, if any, provided that an appropriate claim is timely filed with the IRS.

Withholding and Information Reporting Requirements—FATCA 

        The Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act, or FATCA, generally imposes U.S. federal withholding tax of 30% on payments of dividends of, and gross proceeds
from the sale or disposition of, our common stock if paid to a foreign entity unless (i) if the foreign entity is a "foreign financial institution," the foreign entity
undertakes certain due diligence, reporting, withholding, and certification obligations, (ii) if the foreign entity is not a "foreign financial institution," the foreign entity
identifies certain of its U.S. investors, if any, or (iii) the foreign entity is otherwise exempt under FATCA. Under applicable U.S. Treasury regulations, withholding
under FATCA generally (1) applies to payments of dividends on our common stock and (2) will apply to payments of gross proceeds from a sale or other disposition of
our common stock made after December 31, 2016. Under certain circumstances, a non-U.S. holder may be eligible for refunds or credits of the tax. Withholding under
FATCA generally will not be reduced or limited by bilateral income tax treaties. However, a non-U.S. holder may be exempt from FATCA withholding under an
applicable intergovernmental agreement between the U.S. and a foreign government relating to the implementation of FATCA, provided that the non-U.S. holder and
the foreign government comply with the terms of the agreement. Non-U.S. holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding the possible implications of FATCA
on their investment in our common stock, and the entities through which they hold our common stock, including, without limitation, the process and deadlines for
meeting the applicable requirements to prevent the imposition of this 30% withholding tax under FATCA.
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UNDERWRITING 

        Citigroup Global Markets Inc. and Cowen and Company, LLC are acting as joint book-running managers of this offering and as representatives of the
underwriters named below. Subject to the terms and conditions stated in the underwriting agreement dated the date of this prospectus, the underwriters named below
have severally agreed to purchase, and we have agreed to sell to them, the number of shares of our common stock indicated below:

        The underwriting agreement provides that the obligations of the underwriters to purchase the shares of our common stock included in this offering are subject to
approval of legal matters by counsel and to other conditions. The underwriters are obligated to purchase all of the shares of our common stock (other than those
covered by the over-allotment option described below) if they purchase any of the shares.

        Shares of our common stock sold by the underwriters to the public will initially be offered at the initial public offering price set forth on the cover page of this
prospectus. Any shares of our common stock sold by the underwriters to securities dealers may be sold at a discount from the initial public offering price not to exceed
$      per share. After the initial offering of the shares of our common stock, if all the shares of our common stock are not sold at the initial public offering price, the
underwriters may change the offering price and the other selling terms. The representatives have advised us that the underwriters do not intend to make sales to
discretionary accounts.

        If the underwriters sell more shares of our common stock than the total number set forth in the table above, we have granted to the underwriters an option,
exercisable for 30 days from the date of this prospectus, to purchase up to            additional shares of our common stock at the initial public offering price less the
underwriting discount. The underwriters may exercise the option solely for the purpose of covering over-allotments, if any, in connection with this offering. To the
extent the option is exercised, each underwriter must purchase a number of additional shares of our common stock approximately proportionate to that underwriter's
initial purchase commitment set forth in the table above. Any shares of our common stock issued or sold under the option will be issued and sold on the same terms
and conditions as the other shares of our common stock that are the subject of this offering.

        We, our officers and directors and substantially all of our stockholders have agreed that, subject to specified limited exceptions, for a period of 180 days from the
date of this prospectus, we and they will not, without the prior written consent of Citigroup Global Markets Inc. and Cowen and Company, LLC, offer, sell, contract to
sell, pledge or otherwise dispose of, or hedge any shares of our capital stock or any securities convertible into, or exercisable or exchangeable for, our capital stock.
Citigroup Global Markets Inc. and Cowen and Company, LLC in their sole discretion may release any of the securities subject to these lock-up agreements at any time,
which, in the case of officers and directors, shall be with notice.

        Prior to this offering, there has been no public market for our shares. Consequently, the initial public offering price for the shares of our common stock will be
determined by negotiations between us and the representatives. Among the factors considered in determining the initial public offering price
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will be our results of operations, our current financial condition, our future prospects, our markets, the economic conditions in and future prospects for the industry in
which we compete, our management, and currently prevailing general conditions in the equity securities markets, including current market valuations of publicly
traded companies considered comparable to our company. We cannot assure you, however, that the price at which the shares of our common stock will sell in the
public market after this offering will not be lower than the initial public offering price or that an active trading market in our shares of common stock will develop and
continue after this offering.

        We have applied to have our shares of common stock listed on The Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol "CATB."

        The following table shows the per share and total underwriting discounts and commissions that we are to pay to the underwriters in connection with this offering.
These amounts are shown assuming both no exercise and full exercise of the underwriters' over-allotment option:

        We estimate that expenses payable by us in connection with this offering, exclusive of underwriting discounts and commissions payable by us, will be
approximately $            . We have also agreed to reimburse the underwriters for expenses in an amount up to $            relating to the clearance of this offering with the
Financial Industry Regulatory Authority,  Inc.

        In connection with this offering, the underwriters may purchase and sell shares of our common stock in the open market. Purchases and sales in the open market
may include short sales, purchases to cover short positions, which may include purchases pursuant to the underwriters' over-allotment option, and other transactions
that would stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the price of our common stock.

• Short sales involve secondary market sales by the underwriters of a greater number of shares of our common stock than they are required to purchase in
this offering: 

• "Covered" short sales are sales of shares of our common stock in an amount up to the number of shares of our common stock represented by the
underwriters' over-allotment option. 

• "Naked" short sales are sales of shares of our common stock in an amount in excess of the number of shares of our common stock represented
by the underwriters' over-allotment option. 

• The underwriters can close out a short position by purchasing additional shares of our common stock, either pursuant to the underwriters' over-
allotment option or in the open market. 

• To close a naked short position, the underwriters must purchase shares of our common stock in the open market. A naked short position is more
likely to be created if the underwriters are concerned that there may be downward pressure on the price of the shares of our common stock in
the open market after pricing that could adversely affect investors who purchase in this offering. 

• To close a covered short position, the underwriters must purchase shares of our common stock in the open market or exercise their over-
allotment option. In determining the source of shares of our common stock to close the covered short position, the underwriters will consider,
among other things, the price of shares of our common stock available for purchase in the open market as compared to the price at which they
may purchase shares of our common stock through their over-allotment option.
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• As an additional means of facilitating this offering, the underwriters may bid for, and purchase, shares of our common stock on NASDAQ, as long as
such bids do not exceed a specified maximum, to stabilize the price of the shares of our common stock.

        Purchases to cover short positions and stabilizing purchases, as well as other purchases by the underwriters for their own accounts, may have the effect of
preventing or retarding a decline in the market price of the shares. They may also cause the price of the shares of our common stock to be higher than the price that
would otherwise prevail in the open market in the absence of these transactions. The underwriters may conduct these transactions on NASDAQ, in the over-the-
counter market or otherwise. The underwriters are not required to engage in any of these transactions and may discontinue them at any time.

        We have agreed to indemnify the underwriters against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act, or to contribute to payments the
underwriters may be required to make because of any of those liabilities.

        A prospectus in electronic format may be made available on websites maintained by one or more of the underwriters or their respective affiliates. The
representatives may agree with us to allocate a number of shares of our common stock to underwriters for sale to their online brokerage account holders. Any such
allocation for online distributions will be made by the underwriters on the same basis as other allocations. Other than the prospectus in electronic format, the
information on the underwriters' or their respective affiliates' websites and any information contained in any other website maintained by any of the underwriters or
their respective affiliates is not part of this prospectus, has not been approved and/or endorsed by us or the underwriters and should not be relied upon by investors in
this offering.

Conflicts of Interest 

        The underwriters are full-service financial institutions engaged in various activities, which may include securities trading, commercial and investment banking,
financial advisory, investment management, principal investment, hedging, financing and brokerage activities. The underwriters and their respective affiliates may,
from time to time, engage in transactions with and perform services for us in the ordinary course of their business for which they may receive customary fees and
reimbursement of expenses. In the ordinary course of their various business activities, the underwriters and their respective affiliates may make or hold a broad array
of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related derivative securities) and financial instruments (which may include bank loans or credit default
swaps) for their own account and for the accounts of their customers and may at any time hold long and short positions in such securities and instruments. Such
investments and securities activities may involve securities and/or instruments of ours or our affiliates. The underwriters and their affiliates may also make investment
recommendations and/or publish or express independent research views in respect of such securities or financial instruments and may hold, or recommend to clients
that they acquire, long or short positions in such securities and instruments.

Notice to Prospective Investors in the European Economic Area 

        In relation to each member state of the European Economic Area that has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a relevant member state), with effect from
and including the date on which the Prospectus Directive is implemented in that relevant member state (the relevant implementation date), an offer of shares of our
common stock described in this prospectus may not be made to the public in that relevant member state other than:

• to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive;
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• to fewer than 100 or, if the relevant member state has implemented the relevant provision of the 2010 PD Amending Directive, 150 natural or legal
persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the Prospectus Directive), as permitted under the Prospectus Directive, subject to obtaining the
prior consent of the relevant Dealer or Dealers nominated by us for any such offer; or 

• in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive,

provided that no such offer of shares of our common stock shall require us or any underwriter to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive.

        For purposes of this provision, the expression an "offer of securities to the public" in any relevant member state means the communication in any form and by any
means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the shares of our common stock to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or
subscribe for any shares of our common stock, as the expression may be varied in that member state by any measure implementing the Prospectus Directive in that
member state, the expression "Prospectus Directive" means Directive 2003/71/EC (and amendments thereto, including the 2010 PD Amending Directive, to the extent
implemented in the relevant member state) and includes any relevant implementing measure in the relevant member state, and the expression "2010 PD Amending
Directive" means Directive 2010/73/EU.

        The sellers of the shares of our common stock have not authorized and do not authorize the making of any offer of shares of our common stock through any
financial intermediary on their behalf, other than offers made by the underwriters with a view to the final placement of the shares of our common stock as
contemplated in this prospectus. Accordingly, no purchaser of the shares of our common stock, other than the underwriters, is authorized to make any further offer of
the shares of our common stock on behalf of the sellers or the underwriters.

Notice to Prospective Investors in the United Kingdom 

        This prospectus is only being distributed to, and is only directed at, persons in the United Kingdom that are qualified investors within the meaning of Article 2(1)
(e) of the Prospectus Directive that are also (i) investment professionals falling within Article 19(5) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial
Promotion) Order 2005, or the Order, or (ii) high net worth entities, and other persons to whom it may lawfully be communicated, falling within Article 49(2)(a) to
(d) of the Order (each such person being referred to as a relevant person).

        This prospectus and its contents are confidential and should not be distributed, published or reproduced (in whole or in part) or disclosed by recipients to any
other persons in the United Kingdom. Any person in the United Kingdom that is not a relevant person should not act or rely on this document or any of its contents.

Notice to Prospective Investors in Australia 

        No prospectus or other disclosure document (as defined in the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) of Australia, or Corporations Act) in relation to our common stock
has been or will be lodged with the Australian Securities & Investments Commission, or ASIC. This document has not been lodged with ASIC and is only directed to
certain categories of exempt persons. Accordingly, if you receive this document in Australia:

• you confirm and warrant that you are either: 

• a "sophisticated investor" under section 708(8)(a) or (b) of the Corporations Act; 

• a "sophisticated investor" under section 708(8)(c) or (d) of the Corporations Act and that you have provided an accountant's certificate to us
which complies with the requirements of
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section 708(8)(c)(i) or (ii) of the Corporations Act and related regulations before the offer has been made;

• a person associated with the company under section 708(12) of the Corporations Act; or 

• a "professional investor" within the meaning of section 708(11)(a) or (b) of the Corporations Act, and to the extent that you are unable to
confirm or warrant that you are an exempt sophisticated investor, associated person or professional investor under the Corporations Act any
offer made to you under this document is void and incapable of acceptance; and 

• you warrant and agree that you will not offer any of our common stock for resale in Australia within 12 months of that common stock being issued
unless any such resale offer is exempt from the requirement to issue a disclosure document under section 708 of the Corporations Act.

Notice to Prospective Investors in France 

        Neither this prospectus nor any other offering material relating to the shares of our common stock described in this prospectus has been submitted to the clearance
procedures of the Autorité des Marchés Financiers or of the competent authority of another member state of the European Economic Area and notified to the Autorité
des Marchés Financiers. The shares of our common stock have not been offered or sold and will not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, to the public in France.
Neither this prospectus nor any other offering material relating to the shares of our common stock has been or will be:

• released, issued, distributed or caused to be released, issued or distributed to the public in France; or 

• used in connection with any offer for subscription or sale of the shares of our common stock to the public in France.

        Such offers, sales and distributions will be made in France only:

• to qualified investors (investisseurs qualifiés) and/or to a restricted circle of investors (cercle restreint d'investisseurs), in each case investing for their
own account, all as defined in, and in accordance with articles L.411-2, D.411-1, D.411-2, D.734-1, D.744-1, D.754-1 and D.764-1 of the French Code
monétaire et financier; 

• to investment services providers authorized to engage in portfolio management on behalf of third parties; or 

• in a transaction that, in accordance with article L.411-2-II-1°-or-2°-or 3° of the French Code monétaire et financier and article 211-2 of the General
Regulations (Règlement Général) of the Autorité des Marchés Financiers, does not constitute a public offer (appel public à l'épargne).

        The shares of our common stock may be resold directly or indirectly, only in compliance with articles L.411-1, L.411-2, L.412-1 and L.621-8 through L.621-8-3
of the French Code monétaire et financier.

Notice to Prospective Investors in Chile 

        The shares of our common stock are not registered in the Securities Registry (Registro de Valores) or subject to the control of the Chilean Securities and
Exchange Commission (Superintendencia de Valores y Seguros de Chile). This prospectus and other offering materials relating to the offer of the shares do not
constitute a public offer of, or an invitation to subscribe for or purchase, the shares in the Republic of Chile, other than to individually identified purchasers pursuant to
a private offering within the meaning of Article 4 of the Chilean Securities Market Act (Ley de Mercado de Valores) (an
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offer that is not "addressed to the public at large or to a certain sector or specific group of the public").

Notice to Prospective Investors in Hong Kong 

        The shares of our common stock may not be offered or sold in Hong Kong by means of any document other than (i) in circumstances which do not constitute an
offer to the public within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32, Laws of Hong Kong), or (ii) to "professional investors" within the meaning of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) and any rules made thereunder, or (iii) in other circumstances which do not result in the document
being a "prospectus" within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32, Laws of Hong Kong) and no advertisement, invitation or document relating to the
shares of our common stock may be issued or may be in the possession of any person for the purpose of issue (in each case whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere),
which is directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public in Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the laws of Hong Kong)
other than with respect to shares of our common stock which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to "professional
investors" within the meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) and any rules made thereunder.

Notice to Prospective Investors in the State of Israel 

        In the State of Israel this prospectus shall not be regarded as an offer to the public to purchase shares of common stock under the Israeli Securities Law,
5728 - 1968, which requires a prospectus to be published and authorized by the Israel Securities Authority, if it complies with certain provisions of Section 15 of the
Israeli Securities Law, 5728 - 1968, including, inter alia, if: (i) the offer is made, distributed or directed to not more than 35 investors, subject to certain conditions (the
"Addressed Investors"); or (ii) the offer is made, distributed or directed to certain qualified investors defined in the First Addendum of the Israeli Securities Law,
5728 - 1968, subject to certain conditions (the "Qualified Investors"). The Qualified Investors shall not be taken into account in the count of the Addressed Investors
and may be offered to purchase securities in addition to the 35 Addressed Investors. The company has not and will not take any action that would require it to publish a
prospectus in accordance with and subject to the Israeli Securities Law, 5728 - 1968. We have not and will not distribute this prospectus or make, distribute or direct an
offer to subscribe for our common stock to any person within the State of Israel, other than to Qualified Investors and up to 35 Addressed Investors.

        Qualified Investors may have to submit written evidence that they meet the definitions set out in of the First Addendum to the Israeli Securities Law, 5728 - 1968.
In particular, we may request, as a condition to be offered common stock, that Qualified Investors will each represent, warrant and certify to us and/or to anyone acting
on our behalf: (i) that it is an investor falling within one of the categories listed in the First Addendum to the Israeli Securities Law, 5728 - 1968; (ii) which of the
categories listed in the First Addendum to the Israeli Securities Law, 5728 - 1968 regarding Qualified Investors is applicable to it; (iii) that it will abide by all
provisions set forth in the Israeli Securities Law, 5728 - 1968 and the regulations promulgated thereunder in connection with the offer to be issued common stock;
(iv) that the shares of common stock that it will be issued are, subject to exemptions available under the Israeli Securities Law, 5728 - 1968: (a) for its own account;
(b) for investment purposes only; and (c) not issued with a view to resale within the State of Israel, other than in accordance with the provisions of the Israeli Securities
Law, 5728 - 1968; and (v) that it is willing to provide further evidence of its Qualified Investor status. Addressed Investors may have to submit written evidence in
respect of their identity and may have to sign and submit a declaration containing, inter alia, the Addressed Investor's name, address and passport number or Israeli
identification number.
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Notice to Prospective Investors in Japan 

        The shares of our common stock offered in this prospectus have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law of Japan.
The shares of our common stock have not been offered or sold and will not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to or for the account of any resident of
Japan (including any corporation or other entity organized under the laws of Japan), except (i) pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the
Financial Instruments and Exchange Law and (ii) in compliance with any other applicable requirements of Japanese law.

Notice to Prospective Investors in Singapore 

        This prospectus has not been registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, this prospectus and any other document or
material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of the shares of our common stock may not be circulated or distributed, nor may
the shares of our common stock be offered or sold, or be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, whether directly or indirectly, to persons in
Singapore other than (i) to an institutional investor under Section 274 of the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore, or the SFA, (ii) to a relevant person
pursuant to Section 275(1), or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A), and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the SFA or (iii) otherwise
pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the SFA, in each case subject to compliance with conditions set forth in the
SFA.

        Where the shares of our common stock are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 of the SFA by a relevant party which is:

• a corporation (which is not an accredited investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA)) the sole business of which is to hold investments and the
entire share capital of which is owned by one or more individuals, each of whom is an accredited investor; or 

• a trust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to hold investments and each beneficiary of the trust is an individual who
is an accredited investor,

shares, debentures and units of shares of our common stock and debentures of that corporation or the beneficiaries' rights and interest (howsoever described) in that
trust shall not be transferred within six months after that corporation or that trust has acquired the shares of our common stock pursuant to an offer made under
Section 275 of the SFA except:

• to an institutional investor (for corporations, under Section 274 of the SFA) or to a relevant person defined in Section 275(2) of the SFA, or to any
person pursuant to an offer that is made on terms that such shares, debentures and units of shares of our common stock and debentures of that
corporation or such rights and interest in that trust are acquired at a consideration of not less than $200,000 (or its equivalent in a foreign currency) for
each transaction, whether such amount is to be paid for in cash or by exchange of securities or other assets, and further for corporations, in accordance
with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the SFA; 

• where no consideration is or will be given for the transfer; or 

• where the transfer is by operation of law.
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LEGAL MATTERS 

        The validity of the shares of our common stock offered hereby is being passed upon for us by Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale and Dorr LLP. Cooley LLP is acting
as counsel for the underwriters in connection with this offering.

EXPERTS 

        Ernst & Young, LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, has audited our financial statements at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2014, and for
the years then ended, as set forth in their report. We have included our financial statements in the prospectus and elsewhere in the registration statement in reliance on
Ernst & Young LLP's report, given on their authority as experts in accounting and auditing.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION 

        We have filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-1 under the Securities Act with respect to the shares of our common stock we are offering to sell.
This prospectus, which constitutes part of the registration statement, does not include all of the information contained in the registration statement and the exhibits,
schedules and amendments to the registration statement. For further information with respect to us and our common stock, we refer you to the registration statement
and to the exhibits and schedules to the registration statement. Statements contained in this prospectus about the contents of any contract, agreement or other document
are not necessarily complete, and, in each instance, we refer you to the copy of the contract, agreement or other document filed as an exhibit to the registration
statement. Each of these statements is qualified in all respects by this reference to such contract, agreement or document.

        You may read and copy the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part at the SEC's public reference room, which is located at 100 F Street, N.E.,
Room 1580, Washington, DC 20549. You can request copies of the registration statement by writing to the Securities and Exchange Commission and paying a fee for
the copying cost. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for more information about the operation of the SEC's public reference room. In addition, the SEC maintains
an Internet website, which is located at www.sec.gov, that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file
electronically with the SEC. You may access the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part at the SEC's Internet website. Upon completion of this
offering, we will be subject to the information reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and we will file reports, proxy statements and other
information with the SEC.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Catabasis Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

        We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Catabasis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the "Company") as of December 31, 2013 and 2014, and the related
statements of operations and comprehensive loss, convertible preferred stock and stockholders' (deficit) equity, and cash flows for the years then ended. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

        We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an
audit of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

        In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Catabasis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. at
December 31, 2013 and 2014, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.

        The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 1 to the financial
statements, the Company has incurred operating losses and negative cash flows from operations since inception and will be required to obtain additional financing,
alternative means of financial support or both prior to December 31, 2015 in order to continue to fund its operations. These conditions raise substantial doubt about the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern. Management's plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 1. The financial statements do not include
any adjustments that may result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

Boston, Massachusetts
March 5, 2015

F-2

  /s/ Ernst & Young LLP
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Catabasis Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

F-3

 
 December 31,

   
 

 

Pro Forma
December 31,

2014

 

  2013  2014  
      (unaudited)  
Assets           
Current assets:           

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 30,474 $ 14,668 $ 14,668 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets                107  354  354 

Total current assets   30,581  15,022  15,022 
Property and equipment, net   308  288  288 
Restricted cash   113  113  113 
Other assets   —  541  541 
Total assets  $ 31,002 $ 15,964 $ 15,964 

Liabilities, convertible preferred stock and stockholders' (deficit) equity           
Current liabilities:           

Accounts payable  $ 651 $ 1,132 $ 1,132 
Accrued expenses   2,279  2,793  2,793 
Current portion of notes payable, net of discount   —  309  309 

Total current liabilities   2,930  4,234  4,234 
Deferred rent, net of current portion   110  67  67 
Notes payable, net of current portion and discount   —  4,439  4,439 
Other liability   —  23  23 
Warrant liability   —  108  — 

Commitments (Note 7)           

Series A convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 68,837,703 shares authorized,
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 2014, and no shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2014 (pro forma) (unaudited); (aggregate liquidation
preference of $48,186 at December 31, 2014)   47,898  47,898  — 

Series B convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 37,830,473 shares authorized
and 34,129,571 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2013 and
December 31, 2014, and no shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2014 (pro
forma) (unaudited); (aggregate liquidation preference of $32,433 at December 31,
2014 (unaudited))   32,248  32,248  — 
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Catabasis Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Balance Sheets (Continued)

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

F-4

 
 December 31,

   
 

 

Pro Forma
December 31,

2014

 

  2013  2014  
      (unaudited)  
Stockholders' (deficit) equity:           

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 132,000,000 shares authorized, 5,054,688 and
6,337,920 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 2014,
respectively, and 109,305,194 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2014
(pro forma) (unaudited)   5  6  109 

Additional paid-in capital   1,307  2,321  82,472 
Accumulated deficit   (53,496)  (75,380)  (75,380)

Total stockholders' (deficit) equity   (52,184)  (73,053)  7,201 
Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock and stockholders' (deficit) equity  $ 31,002 $ 15,964 $ 15,964 
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Catabasis Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

F-5

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2013  2014  
Operating expenses:        

Research and development  $ 13,994 $ 15,686 
General and administrative   4,125  5,995 

Total operating expenses   18,119  21,681 
Loss from operations   (18,119)  (21,681)
Other income (expense):        

Other income (expense), net   1  3 
Interest expense   —  (206)

Total other income (expense), net            1  (203)
Net loss and comprehensive loss  $ (18,118) $ (21,884)
Net loss per share—basic and diluted  $ (3.72) $ (4.02)
Weighted-average number of common shares used in net loss per share—basic and diluted   4,870,362  5,446,186 
Pro forma net loss per share—basic and diluted (unaudited)     $ (0.20)
Weighted average number of common shares used in pro forma net loss per share—basic and

diluted (unaudited)      108,413,460 
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Catabasis Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Statements of Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders' (Deficit) Equity

(in thousands, except share data)

 

 

Series A
Convertible

Preferred Stock  

Series B
Convertible

Preferred Stock

  
 Common Stock

       
       

 

Total
Stockholders'

(Deficit)
Equity

 
   

 
Number
of Shares  

Par
Value  

Additional
Paid-in
Capital  

Accumulated
Deficit

 

  Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount    
Balance at

December 31,
2012   55,700,752 $ 38,724  — $ —    4,810,878 $ 5 $ 937 $ (35,378) $ (34,436)

Issuance of
series A
convertible
preferred
stock, net of
issuance costs
of $22   13,136,951  9,174  —  —    —  —  —  —  — 

Issuance of
series B
convertible
preferred
stock, net of
issuance costs
of $185   —  —  34,129,571  32,248    —  —  —  —  — 

Proceeds from
exercises of
common stock
options   —  —  —  —    243,810  —  27  —  27 

Stock-based
compensation
expense   —  —  —  —    —  —  343  —  343 

Net loss   —  —  —  —    —  —  —  (18,118)  (18,118)
Balance at

December 31,
2013   68,837,703  47,898  34,129,571  32,248    5,054,688  5  1,307  (53,496)  (52,184)

Proceeds from
exercises of
common stock
options   —  —  —  —    1,283,232  1  117  —  118 

Stock-based
compensation
expense   —  —  —  —    —  —  897  —  897 

Net loss   —  —  —  —    —  —  —  (21,884)  (21,884)
Balance at

December 31,
2014   68,837,703  47,898  34,129,571  32,248    6,337,920  6  2,321  (75,380)  (73,053)

Conversion of
series A
convertible
preferred
stock into
common stock
(unaudited)   (68,837,703)  (47,898)  —  —    68,837,703  69  47,829  —  47,898 

Conversion of
series B
convertible
preferred
stock into
common stock
(unaudited)   —  —  (34,129,571)  (32,248)    34,129,571  34  32,214  —  32,248 

Conversion of
series B
preferred
stock warrants
into warrants
for the
purchase of
common stock
(unaudited)   —  —  —  —    —  —  108  —  108 

Pro forma
balance at
December 31,

  — $ —  — $ —    109,305,194 $ 109 $ 82,472 $ (75,380) $ 7,201 
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2014
(unaudited)



Table of Contents

Catabasis Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

F-7

  
Year Ended

December 31,  
  2013  2014  

Operating activities        
Net loss  $ (18,118) $ (21,884)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:        

Depreciation and amortization   320  248 
Stock-based compensation expense   343  897 
Non-cash interest expense   —  74 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:        

Prepaid expenses and other current assets   75  (208)
Accounts payable   (129)  481 
Accrued expenses   1,156  8 
Deferred rent   (13)  (28)

Net cash used in operating activities   (16,366)  (20,412)
Investing activities        
Purchases of available-for-sale securities   —  (4,976)
Sales of available-for-sale securities   —  4,976 
Purchases of property and equipment   (43)  (228)
Net cash used in investing activities   (43)  (228)
Financing activities        
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock, net of issuance costs   41,422  — 
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options   27  118 
Proceeds from borrowings   —  5,000 
Debt issuance costs   —  (284)
Net cash provided by financing activities   41,449  4,834 
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents   25,040  (15,806)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period            5,434  30,474 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 30,474 $ 14,668 
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:        
Cash paid during the period for interest  $ — $ 100 
Non-cash financing activities:        
Warrants for the purchase of series B preferred stock issued in conjunction with credit facility  $ — $ 110 
Deferred IPO costs in accrued expenses  $ — $ 492 
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Notes to Financial Statements

1. Nature of Business

        Catabasis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the "Company") was incorporated on June 26, 2008, as a Delaware corporation with operations based in Cambridge,
Massachusetts. The Company is dedicated to the discovery and development of medicines to treat inflammatory and metabolic diseases.

Liquidity

        The Company has incurred operating losses and negative cash flows from operations since inception. As of December 31, 2014, the Company had an
accumulated deficit of $75.4 million. The Company is subject to a number of risks similar to other life science companies, including, but not limited to, successful
discovery and development of its drug candidates, raising additional capital, development by its competitors of new technological innovations, protection of
proprietary technology and market acceptance of the Company's products. The Company anticipates that it will continue to incur significant operating losses for the
next several years as it continues to develop its product candidates. To date, the Company has funded its operations primarily through private placements of its
convertible preferred stock and the issuance of debt. On August 27, 2014, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement (the "Credit Facility"). The Credit
Facility provides for initial borrowings of $5.0 million under a term loan and additional borrowings of up to $20.0 million under certain conditions (Note 6), of which
$10.0 million is available to be drawn until March 31, 2015. An additional $10.0 million is available until June 30, 2015, subject to the completion of an initial public
offering with net cash proceeds to the Company of at least $50.0 million.

        The Company will be required to obtain additional funding, alternative means of financial support, or both, in order to continue to fund its operations. These
factors raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. The Company intends to pursue a private offering of equity securities and a
public offering of its common stock (the "Common Stock") to fund future operations. However, if the Company is unable to complete a sufficient private or public
offering in a timely manner, it would need to pursue other financing alternatives, including private financing of debt or equity or collaboration agreements. There can
be no assurances, however, that the current operating plan will be achieved or that additional funding will be available on terms acceptable to the Company, or at all.

        The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets
and liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014 do not include any adjustments to
reflect the possible future effects on the recoverability and classification of assets or the amounts and classification of liabilities that may result from this uncertainty
related to the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

        The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with United States (U.S.) generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP") and
include all adjustments necessary for the fair presentation of the Company's financial position for the periods presented.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Use of Estimates

        The preparation of the Company's financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from such estimates.

        The Company utilizes significant estimates and assumptions in determining the fair value of its Common Stock. The board of directors determined the estimated
fair value of the Common Stock based on a number of objective and subjective factors, including external market conditions affecting the biotechnology industry
sector and the prices at which the Company sold shares of convertible preferred stock, the achievement of research and development milestones, the superior rights
and preferences of securities senior to the Common Stock at the time and the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as an initial public offering or sale of the
Company.

        The Company utilized various valuation methodologies in accordance with the framework of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("AICPA"),
Audit and Accounting Practice Aid Series: Valuation of Privately Held Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation ("AICPA Practice Aid"), to estimate the
fair value of its Common Stock. The methodologies included the Option Pricing Method utilizing the Backsolve Method (a form of the market approach defined in the
AICPA Practice Aid) and the Probability-Weighted Expected Return Method based upon the probability of occurrence of certain future liquidity events such as an
initial public offering or sale of the Company. Each valuation methodology includes estimates and assumptions that require the Company's judgment. Significant
changes to the key assumptions used in the valuations could result in different fair values of Common Stock at each valuation date.

        The Company utilizes certain estimates to record expenses relating to research and development contracts. These contract estimates, which are primarily related
to the length of service of each contract, are determined by the Company based on input from internal project management, as well as from third-party service
providers.

Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

        In January, 2015, the Company's board of directors authorized the management of the Company to submit on a confidential basis a registration statement with the
Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") for the Company to sell shares of its Common Stock to the public. Upon the closing of a qualified initial public offering
(as defined in the Company's certificate of incorporation), all of the Company's outstanding convertible preferred stock will automatically convert into Common Stock.
The unaudited pro forma balance sheet and statement of convertible preferred stock and stockholders' (deficit) equity as of December 31, 2014 assume the conversion
of all outstanding convertible preferred stock into shares of Common Stock and the reclassification of the Company's warrant liability to additional paid-in capital, as a
result of warrants to purchase preferred stock becoming warrants to purchase Common Stock upon the completion of this proposed offering.

Off-Balance Sheet Risk and Concentrations of Credit Risk

        The Company has no off-balance sheet risk, such as foreign exchange contracts, option contracts or other foreign hedging arrangements. Financial instruments
that subject the Company to credit risk primarily consist of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash. The primary objectives for the
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Company's investment portfolio are the preservation of capital and the maintenance of liquidity. The Company's investment policy includes guidelines on the quality
of the institutions and financial instruments and defines allowable investments that the Company believes minimizes the exposure to concentration of credit risk.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

        The Company considers highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents, which consist
primarily of money market funds, are stated at fair value. Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following (in thousands):

Available-for-Sale Investments

        The Company classifies all short-term investments with a remaining maturity when purchased of greater than three months as available-for-sale. Available-for-
sale securities are recorded at fair value, with the unrealized gains and losses reported in other comprehensive income (loss). The amortized cost of debt securities is
adjusted for the amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity. Such amortization is included in other income (expense), net. Realized gains and
losses, interest, dividends and declines in value judged to be other-than-temporary are included in other income (expense), net.

        The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method for purposes of recording realized gains and losses. To determine whether an other-than-
temporary impairment exists, the Company considers whether it has the ability and intent to hold the investment until a market price recovery, and whether evidence
indicating the recoverability of the cost of the investment outweighs evidence to the contrary. There were no available-for sale investments outstanding at
December 31, 2014.

Deferred Public Offering Costs

        Deferred public offering costs, which primarily consist of direct, incremental legal and accounting fees relating to the Company's initial public offering ("IPO"),
are capitalized within other assets. The deferred issuance costs will be offset against IPO proceeds upon the consummation of the offering. In the event the offering is
terminated, deferred offering costs will be expensed. The Company incurred $0.5 million in deferred IPO costs as of December 31, 2014 that are classified in other
assets on the balance sheet.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

        The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three broad levels as follows: Level 1 inputs are quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active markets for

F-10

  December 31,  
  2013  2014  
Cash  $ 1,472 $ 1,162 
Money market fund   29,002  13,506 

 $ 30,474 $ 14,668 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

identical assets or liabilities; Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly; and Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs that reflect the Company's own assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the
asset or liability. Financial assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

        The following tables present information about the Company's financial assets and liabilities that have been measured at fair value, and indicates the fair value
hierarchy of the valuation inputs utilized to determine such fair value. The Company determines the fair value of the preferred stock warrants (Note 11) using Level 3
inputs.

        The following table summarizes the assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2013 (in thousands):

        The following table summarizes the assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2014 (in thousands):

        The carrying amounts reflected in the balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, prepaid expenses and other current assets, other assets,
accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate their fair values at December 31, 2013 and 2014, due to their short-term nature.

        There have been no changes to the valuation methods during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014. The Company evaluates transfers between levels at
the end of each reporting period. There were no transfers of assets or liabilities between levels during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014. At December 31,
2014, the carrying value of the Company's debt approximated fair value, which was determined using Level 3 inputs, including a quoted interest rate.
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Balance at
December 31,

2013  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  
Assets:              
Cash equivalents  $ 29,002 $ 29,002 $ — $ — 

Total  $ 29,002 $ 29,002 $ — $ — 

  

Balance at
December 31,

2014  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  
Assets:              
Cash equivalents  $ 13,506 $ 13,506 $ — $ — 

Total  $ 13,506 $ 13,506 $ — $ — 
Liabilities:              
Warrant liability  $ 108 $ — $ — $ 108 

Total  $ 108 $ — $ — $ 108 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Property and Equipment

        Property and equipment consist of laboratory equipment, computer equipment, leasehold improvements and furniture and fixtures. Property and equipment is
stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets. Costs of major additions and betterments are
capitalized; maintenance and repairs, which do not improve or extend the life of the respective assets, are charged to expense as incurred. Upon retirement or sale, the
cost of the disposed asset and the related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and the resulting gain or loss is recognized.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

        The Company continually evaluates whether events or circumstances have occurred that indicate that the estimated remaining useful life of its long-lived assets
may warrant revision or that the carrying value of these assets may be impaired. The Company has not recognized any impairment charges through December 31,
2014.

Warrant Liability

        The Company accounts for warrant instruments that either conditionally or unconditionally obligate the Company to transfer assets as liabilities regardless of the
timing of the redemption feature or price, even though the underlying shares may be classified as permanent or temporary equity. These warrants are subject to
revaluation at each balance sheet date, and any changes in fair value are recorded as a component of interest expense, until the earlier of their exercise or expiration or
the completion of a liquidation event, including the completion of an initial public offering, at which time the warrant liability may be reclassified to stockholders'
(deficit) equity if the criteria for recording the warrant as an equity instrument are met. The warrant liability totaled $0 and $0.1 million at December 31, 2013 and
2014, respectively (Note 11).

Research and Development Expenses

        Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development costs include salaries and personnel-related costs, stock-based
compensation, consulting fees, fees paid for contract research services, the costs of laboratory equipment and facilities and other external costs.

        Nonrefundable advance payments for goods or services to be received in the future for use in research and development activities are deferred. The deferred
amounts are expensed as the related goods are delivered or the services are performed.

Stock-Based Compensation

        The Company accounts for its stock-based compensation awards in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 718, Compensation—
Stock Compensation ("ASC 718"). ASC 718 requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the
statements of operations based on their grant date fair values. For stock options granted to employees and to members of the board of directors for their services on the
board of directors, the Company estimates the grant date fair value of each option award using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The use of the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model requires management to make assumptions with respect to the expected term of the option, the expected volatility of the Common Stock
consistent with the expected life of the option, risk-free interest rates and expected
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

dividend yields of the Common Stock. For awards subject to service-based vesting conditions, the Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense, net of
estimated forfeitures, equal to the grant date fair value of stock options on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period.

        The Company expenses restricted stock awards based on the fair value of the award on a straight-line basis over the associated service period of the award.

        Share-based payments issued to non-employees are recorded at their fair values, and are periodically revalued as the equity instruments vest and are recognized as
expense over the related service period in accordance with the provisions of ASC Topic 505, Equity. For equity instruments granted to non-employees, the Company
recognizes stock-based compensation expense on a straight-line basis.

        During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense for employee and non-employee stock options
and restricted stock, which was allocated as follows in the statements of operations (in thousands):

        No related tax benefits were recognized for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014.

Grant Awards

        In the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014, the Company received $35,000 and $0, respectively, in grants from the Muscular Dystrophy Association. The
awards were recorded as a reduction to research and development expenses as the related expenses were incurred in the Company's statements of operations and
comprehensive loss.

Net Loss Per Share and Unaudited Pro Forma Net Loss Per Share

        Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing net loss by the weighted average shares outstanding during the period, without consideration for common stock
equivalents. Diluted net loss per share is calculated by adjusting weighted average shares outstanding for the dilutive effect of common stock equivalents outstanding
for the period, determined using the treasury-stock method. For purposes of the dilutive net loss per share calculation, preferred stock, stock options, warrants to
purchase Common Stock and warrants to purchase preferred stock are considered to be common stock equivalents but are excluded from the calculation of diluted net
loss per share, as their effect would be anti-dilutive; therefore, basic and diluted net loss per share were the same for all periods presented.
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Year Ended

December 31,  
  2013  2014  
Research and development expense  $ 224 $ 434 
General and administrative expense   119  463 

 $ 343 $ 897 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

The following common stock equivalents were excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share for the periods indicated because including them would have
had an anti-dilutive effect:

        Unaudited pro forma net loss per share is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding after giving effect to the conversion of all
convertible preferred stock into shares of the Common Stock as if such conversion had occurred at the beginning of the period presented, or the date of original
issuance, if later.

Income Taxes

        The Company provides deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the Company's financial
statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates expected to be in effect in the years in which the differences are expected
to reverse. A valuation allowance is provided to reduce the deferred tax assets to the amount that will more likely than not be realized.

        The Company accounts for uncertain tax positions in accordance with the provisions of ASC Topic 740, Expenses—Income Taxes. When uncertain tax positions
exist, the Company recognizes the tax benefit of tax positions to the extent that the benefit will more likely than not be realized. The determination as to whether the
tax benefit will more likely than not be realized is based upon the technical merits of the tax position as well as consideration of the available facts and circumstances.
As of December 31, 2013 and 2014, the Company did not have any significant uncertain tax positions.

Segment Information

        Operating segments are identified as components of an enterprise for which separate discrete financial information is available for evaluation by the chief
operating decision maker, or decision making group, in making decisions on how to allocate resources and assess performance. The Company views its operations and
manages its business in one operating segment. The Company operates in one geographic segment.

Comprehensive Loss

        Comprehensive loss is defined as the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-
owner sources. For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014, comprehensive loss was equal to net loss.

Recently Issued or Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

        From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") or other standard setting bodies and
adopted by the Company as of the specified effective date. Unless otherwise discussed, the Company believes that the impact of recently
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  Year Ended December 31,  
  2013  2014  
Convertible preferred stock   102,967,274  102,967,274 
Stock options   10,883,243  15,756,837 
Common stock warrants   447,850  447,850 
Preferred stock warrants   —  157,844 

  114,298,367  119,329,805 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

issued standards that are not yet effective will not have a material impact on its financial position or results of operations upon adoption.

        In June 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2014-10, Development Stage Entities (Topic 915) ("ASU 2014-10"), which removes the
definition of a development stage entity from the ASC, thereby removing the financial reporting distinction between development stage entities and other reporting
entities. Accordingly, ASU 2014-10 eliminates the requirements for development stage entities to (1) present inception-to-date information in the statements of
operations, cash flows and shareholder equity, (2) label financial statements as those of a development stage entity, (3) disclose a description of the development stage
activities in which the entity is engaged and (4) disclose in the first year in which the entity is no longer a development stage entity that in prior years it had been in the
development stage. ASU 2014-10 is effective for public business entities for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2014, and interim reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2015, with early adoption permitted. The Company early adopted the provisions of ASU 2014-10 in these financial statements.

3. Property and Equipment

        Property and equipment and related accumulated depreciation were as follows (in thousands):

        Depreciation and amortization expense was $0.3 million and $0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014, respectively.

4. Restricted Cash

        At December 31, 2013 and 2014, the Company had an outstanding letter of credit for $0.1 million as a security deposit for its operating lease agreement for office
space (Note 7). The Company is required to maintain this deposit for the duration of the lease agreement.
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 December 31,

 
 

 
Estimated Useful

Life (Years)
 

  2013  2014  
Lab equipment  3  $ 1,068 $ 1,269 
Computer equipment  3   108  110 
Furniture and fixtures  5   30  30 
Leasehold improvements  Lesser of useful life or

remaining
lease term

  57  57 

    1,263  1,466 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization     (955)  (1,178)
Total property and equipment, net             $ 308 $ 288 
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5. Accrued Expenses

        Accrued expenses consisted of the following (in thousands):

6. Notes Payable

        On August 27, 2014, the Company entered into the Credit Facility. The Credit Facility provides for initial borrowings of $5.0 million under a term loan ("Term
Loan A") and additional borrowings of up to $20.0 million under other term loans, for a maximum of $25.0 million. On August 27, 2014, the Company received
proceeds of $5.0 million from the issuance of promissory notes under the Term Loan A. Of the additional $20.0 million amount available, $10.0 million ("Term Loan
B") is available to be drawn until March 31, 2015. An additional $10.0 million ("Term Loan C") is available until June 30, 2015, subject to the completion of an initial
public offering with net cash proceeds to the Company of at least $50.0 million. All promissory notes issued under the Credit Facility are due on October 1, 2018 and
are collateralized by substantially all of the Company's personal property, other than its intellectual property. As of December 31, 2014, the Company had not drawn
the Term Loan B and Term Loan C.

        The Company is obligated to make monthly, interest-only payments on any term loans funded under the Credit Facility until September 1, 2015 and, thereafter, to
pay 36 consecutive, equal monthly installments of principal and interest from October 1, 2015 through September 1, 2018. Term loans under the Credit Facility bear
interest at an annual rate of 7.49%. In addition, a final payment equal to 3.48% of any amounts drawn under the Credit Facility is due upon the earlier of the maturity
date, acceleration of the term loans or prepayment of all or part of the term loans. The final payment is being accrued as additional interest expense using the effective-
interest method from the date of issuance through the maturity date, and is recorded as an other long-term liability in the accompanying balance sheet. The effective
interest rate for the Term Loan A, including the final payment and non-cash interest, is 11.9%.

        In the event of prepayment, the Company is obligated to pay 1% to 3% of the amount of the outstanding principal depending upon the timing of the prepayment.

        In conjunction with the Credit Facility, the Company issued warrants to purchase 157,844 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock at an exercise price of
$0.9503 per share (the "2014 Warrants") to the lenders. The 2014 Warrants were exercisable immediately and have a seven-year life. The 2014 Warrants were initially
valued at $0.1 million using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Company recorded a debt discount of $0.1 million upon issuance of the 2014 Warrants,
which is being accreted as interest expense using the effective-interest method over the remaining term of the loan. The Company recorded interest expense of $14,000
for the year ended December 31, 2014 related to accretion of such discount. The Company recorded a warrant liability (Note 11) of $0.1 million that is classified as a
long-term liability in the accompanying balance sheet.
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  December 31,  
  2013  2014  
Accrued compensation  $ 785 $ 796 
Accrued contracted research costs   1,266  1,109 
Accrued professional fees   135  791 
Accrued other   93  97 
Total  $ 2,279 $ 2,793 
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6. Notes Payable (Continued)

        There are no financial covenants associated with the Credit Facility; however, there are negative covenants restricting the Company's activities, including
limitations on asset dispositions, mergers or acquisitions; encumbering or granting a security interest in its intellectual property; incurring indebtedness or liens; paying
dividends; making certain investments; and entering into certain other business transactions.

        The Credit Facility also includes events of default, the occurrence and continuation of any of which provides the lenders the right to exercise remedies against the
Company and the collateral securing the loans under the Credit Facility, including cash. These events of default include, among other things, failure to pay amounts
due under the Credit Facility, insolvency, the occurrence of a material adverse event, which includes a material adverse change in the business, operations or
conditions (financial or otherwise) of the Company or a material impairment of the prospect of repayment of any portion of the obligations, the occurrence of any
default under certain other indebtedness and a final judgment against the Company in an amount greater than $250,000. The occurrence of a material adverse change
could result in acceleration of the payment of the debt. At December 31, 2014, the Company concluded that the likelihood of the acceleration of the debt was remote,
as a material adverse change had not occurred and was unlikely to occur and therefore the debt was classified in current and long-term liabilities based on scheduled
principal payments at December 31, 2014. Following the occurrence and during the continuance of an event of default, borrowings under the Credit Facility shall bear
interest at a rate per annum which is five hundred basis points (5.00%) above the rate that is otherwise applicable.

        The Company assessed all terms and features of the Credit Facility in order to identify any potential embedded features that would require bifurcation or any
beneficial conversion features. As part of this analysis, the Company assessed the economic characteristics and risks of the Credit Facility, including put and call
features. The Company determined that all features of the Credit Facility are clearly and closely associated with a debt host and do not require bifurcation as a
derivative liability, or the fair value of the feature is immaterial to the Company's financial statements. The Company will continue to reassess the features on a
quarterly basis to determine if they require separate accounting.

        Estimated future principal payments due under Term Loan A are as follows (in thousands):

        During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company recognized $0.2 million of interest expense related to the Credit Facility. The Company had no debt
outstanding as of December 31, 2013.
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Year ending December 31:    
2015  $ 416 
2016   1,667 
2017   1,667 
2018   1,250 

Total  $ 5,000 
Less: discount for warrants and costs paid to lender   (252)
Less: current portion   (309)
Note payable, net of current portion and discount  $ 4,439 
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7. Commitments

        In November 2010, the Company entered into a five-year, non-cancelable operating lease for office and laboratory space. In December 2011, the Company signed
a lease amendment that expanded the leased premises beginning in the second quarter of 2012. The lease amendment also extended the term of the existing lease
through June 30, 2017. The expansion lease includes a free rent period and escalating rent payments. The Company is recognizing rent expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. The lease agreement provides for a five-year extension upon the completion of the lease term.

        The future minimum lease payments under the non-cancelable operating lease are as follows (in thousands):

        Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014 was $0.7 million.

8. Convertible Preferred Stock

        On April 17, 2013, the Company's board of directors authorized the Company to increase the authorized number of shares under the Series A convertible
preferred stock ("Series A Preferred Stock") financing to 68,837,703. The Company subsequently issued 636,952 shares of Series A Preferred Stock at $0.70 per share,
and received net proceeds of $0.4 million.

        On October 31, 2013, the Company completed a Series B convertible preferred stock ("Series B Preferred Stock") financing and issued 34,129,571 shares of
Series B Preferred Stock at $0.9503 per share, for net proceeds of $32.2 million.

        The Company assessed the Series A and Series B Preferred Stock for any beneficial conversion features or embedded derivatives, including the conversion
option, that would require bifurcation from the Series A and Series B Preferred Stock and receive separate accounting treatment. Based on the Company's
determination that the Preferred Stock is an "equity host," the Company determined that all features of the Preferred Stock are clearly and closely related to the equity
host, and do not require bifurcation as a derivative liability. On the date of issuance, the fair value of Common Stock into which the Series A and Series B Preferred
Stock was convertible was less than the effective conversion price of the Series A and Series B Preferred Stock, and as such, there was no intrinsic value of the
conversion option at the commitment date.

        The Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock (collectively, the "Preferred Stock") have the following rights and preferences:

Voting

        Holders of Preferred Stock are entitled to a number of votes equal to the number of shares of Common Stock into which the Preferred Stock is convertible on the
date of record. Holders of the Preferred Stock vote together with the holders of Common Stock as a single class, except for the election of the Company's board of
directors. For such election, holders of Series A Preferred Stock vote exclusively as a separate class to elect three directors and holders of Series B Preferred Stock
vote exclusively as a
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Year ending December 31:    
2015  $ 756 
2016   760 
2017   378 
Total  $ 1,894 
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8. Convertible Preferred Stock (Continued)

separate class to elect one director. The remainder of the directors of the Company are elected by the holders of Common Stock and the Preferred Stock voting as a
single class. The approval of 60% of the then outstanding shares of Preferred Stock is required for certain events that may impact the rights and preferences of the
Preferred Stock, including the liquidation, winding up or disolution of the business, an increase or decrease in the number of shares of Preferred Stock or Common
Stock authorized for issuance, amendment of the certificate of incorporation in a manner that adversely effects the rights, preferences or privileges of the Preferred
Stock, the purchase or redemption of or payment or declaration of dividends on shares of Preferred Stock or Common Stock, authorization of debt securities exceeding
$1.0 million, or the adoption or amendment of any equity-based compensation plans to increase the number of shares issuable thereunder.

Dividends

        Dividends accrue on Preferred Stock from the date of issuance at a rate of 8% per annum per share when and if declared by the Company's board of directors.
Dividends are not cumulative. The Company has not declared any dividends to date. The Company shall not pay a dividend to other classes of securities until the
holders of Preferred Stock have received a dividend of 8% per annum, per share from the date of issuance.

Liquidation Preference

        In the event of any liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the affairs of the Company, the holders of the then-outstanding Preferred Stock shall receive on a
pari passu basis, before any payment shall be made to the holders of Common Stock, the greater of (1) $0.70 per share for Series A Preferred Stock plus all declared,
but unpaid, dividends, and (2) $0.9503 per share for Series B Preferred Stock plus all declared, but unpaid, dividends, or (3) such amount per share of Preferred Stock
payable as if converted into Common Stock. After the payment of any preferential amount to holders of Preferred Stock, any remaining assets of the Company shall be
distributed ratably among the holders of Common Stock. If the assets or surplus funds to be distributed to the holders of the Preferred Stock are insufficient to permit
the payment to such holders of their full preferential amount, the assets and surplus funds legally available for distribution shall be distributed ratably among the
holders of the Preferred Stock in proportion to the full preferential amount that each holder is otherwise entitled to receive. As the Preferred Stock may become
redeemable upon an event that is outside of the control of the Company, the Preferred Stock has been classified outside of permanent equity. Since the Preferred Stock
is not initially redeemable and it is not probable that it will become redeemable, the carrying amount of the Preferred Stock has not been adjusted.

Conversion

        Each share of Preferred Stock is convertible at the option of the holder into a number of fully paid shares of Common Stock as determined by dividing $0.70 by
the conversion price in effect at the time for the Series A Preferred Stock and by dividing $0.9503 by the conversion price in effect at the time for the Series B
Preferred Stock. The initial conversion prices of Series A and Series B Preferred Stock are $0.70 per share and $0.9503 per share, respectively, and are subject to
adjustment in accordance with anti-dilution provisions contained in the Company's certificate of incorporation. Conversion is automatic immediately upon the closing
of a firm commitment underwritten public offering in which the public offering price equals or exceeds $1.90 per share and the gross proceeds are not less than
$50,000,000, or upon the written consent of the holders of at least 60% of the then-outstanding shares of Preferred Stock.
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9. Common Stock

        The voting, dividend and liquidation rights of holders of Common Stock are subject to and qualified by the rights, powers and preferences of the holders of
Preferred Stock. The Company's Common Stock has the following characteristics:

Voting

        The holders of Common Stock are entitled to one vote for each share of Common Stock held at all meetings of stockholders and written actions in lieu of
meetings.

Dividends

        The holders of Common Stock are entitled to receive dividends, if and when declared by the board of directors. Cash dividends may not be declared or paid to
holders of Common Stock until paid on each series of outstanding Preferred Stock in accordance with their respective terms. No dividends have been declared or paid
from the Company's inception through December 31, 2014.

Liquidation

        After payment to the holders of Preferred Stock of their liquidation preferences, the holders of Common Stock are entitled to share ratably in the Company's
assets available for distribution to stockholders, in the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company or upon the
occurrence of a deemed liquidation event, as defined in the Company's certificate of incorporation.

10. Reserved for Future Issuance

        The Company had reserved for future issuance the following number of shares of Common Stock as of December 31, 2013 and 2014:

11. Warrants

        On August 27, 2014, the Company issued the 2014 Warrants to purchase 157,844 shares of Series B Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $0.9503 per share to
the lenders in connection with the Credit Facility (Note 6). The 2014 Warrants were exercisable immediately and have a seven-year life. The fair value of the 2014
Warrants is re-measured at each reporting date using then-current assumptions. The 2014 Warrants were valued using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.
Significant
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  December 31,  
  2013  2014  
Conversion of Series A Preferred Stock   68,837,703  68,837,703 
Conversion of Series B Preferred Stock   37,830,473  37,830,473 
Warrants for the purchase of Preferred Stock   —  157,844 
Warrants for the purchase of Common Stock   447,850  447,850 
Options to purchase Common Stock   19,075,611  17,801,379 

  126,191,637  125,075,249 
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11. Warrants (Continued)

changes to the key assumptions used in the valuation could result in significantly different fair values of the 2014 Warrants. The following assumptions were used in
valuing the 2014 Warrants:

        The following table provides a roll-forward of the fair value of the 2014 Warrants determined by Level 3 inputs (in thousands):

        No portion of the 2014 Warrants had been exercised as of December 31, 2014.

        At various dates from 2008 through 2010, the Company issued warrants to purchase 447,850 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.13 to various
individuals, including its founders and employees of the Company. The warrants have a six-year term.

12. Stock Incentive Plan

        The Company maintains the 2008 Stock Incentive Plan (the "Plan") for employees, directors, consultants and advisors to the Company. The Plan provides for the
grant of incentive and non-qualified stock options and restricted stock grants as determined by the Company's board of directors. As of December 31, 2014, the
Company had reserved 21,838,299 shares of Common Stock under the Plan, of which 2,053,542 shares remained available for future issuance as of December 31,
2014. Under the Plan, stock options may not be granted with exercise prices at less than fair value on the date of the grant.

        Terms of stock option agreements, including vesting requirements, are determined by the Company's board of directors, subject to the provisions of the Plan.
Options and restricted stock awards granted by the Company generally vest ratably over four years, with a one-year cliff, and options are exercisable from the date of
grant for a period of ten years. Restricted stock issuances and early exercises of stock options are subject to a Company right of repurchase at the original issuance
price, which right lapses over the vesting period of the stock. For options and restricted stock awards granted through December 31, 2014, the exercise price or
purchase price, as applicable, equaled the estimated fair value of the Common Stock as determined by the Company's board of directors on the date of grant.
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August 27,

2014  
December 31,

2014  
Risk-free interest rate   2.05% 1.95%
Expected dividend yield   0.00% 0.00%
Expected term (in years)   7.0  6.7 
Expected volatility   80.52% 78.16%

  Fair Value  
Balance at January 1, 2014  $ — 
Issuance of warrants at fair value   110 
Change in fair value, recorded as a component of other expense   (2)
Balance at December 31, 2014  $ 108 
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12. Stock Incentive Plan (Continued)

        A summary of the Company's stock option activity and related information follows:

        The total intrinsic value of options exercised for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2014 was $0.1 million and $0.6 million, respectively. The total fair value
of employee options vested for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2014 was $0.3 million and $0.5 million, respectively.

        At December 31, 2013 and 2014, the total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested stock option awards, including estimated forfeitures, was
$2.5 million and $2.3 million, respectively. The Company expects to recognize that cost over a weighted-average period of approximately 1.6 years and 3.0 years,
respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

        The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted to employees and directors for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014 was $0.13 and $0.38,
respectively. The fair value of stock options granted to employees and non-employees was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model based on the
assumptions noted in the following table:

Volatility

        Since the Company is privately held as of the date of these financial statements, it does not have relevant historical data to support its expected volatility. As such,
the Company has used a weighted-average of expected volatility based on the volatilities of a representative group of publicly traded biopharmaceutical companies.
For purposes of identifying representative companies, the Company considered characteristics such as number of product candidates in early stages of product
development, area of therapeutic focus, length of trading history, similar vesting provisions and a similar percentage of stock options that were in-the-money. The
expected volatility was determined using a weighted-
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Number of

Stock Options  

Weighted-Average
Exercise

Price  

Weighted-Average
Remaining

Contractual
Term

(in years)  

Aggregate
Instrinsic

Value
(in thousands)  

Outstanding at December 31, 2013   10,883,243 $ 0.15  8.05 $ 4,099 
Granted   7,058,500  0.54       
Exercised   (1,283,232)  0.09       
Forfeited   (901,674)  0.28       

Outstanding at December 31, 2014   15,756,837 $ 0.32  8.15 $ 6,579 
Exercisable at December 31, 2014   6,852,418 $ 0.17  7.11 $ 3,877 
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2014   14,510,307 $ 0.31  8.07 $ 6,249 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2013  2014  
Risk-free interest rate   0.92 - 2.03%  1.71 - 3.01%
Expected dividend yield   —  — 
Expected term (in years)   6.25 - 10.0  6.25 - 10.0 
Expected volatility   75.0 - 81.5%  75.2 - 83.4%
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12. Stock Incentive Plan (Continued)

average of the historical volatilities of the representative group of companies for a period equal to the expected term of the option grant. The Company intends to
continue to consistently apply this process using the same representative companies until a sufficient amount of historical information regarding the volatility of the
Company's own share price becomes available or until circumstances change, such that the identified entities are no longer representative companies. In the latter case,
more suitable, similar entities whose share prices are publicly available would be utilized in the calculation.

Risk-Free Rate

        The risk-free rate was based on the yield curve of U.S. Treasury securities with periods commensurate with the expected term of the options being valued.

Expected Term

        The Company uses the "simplified method" to estimate the expected term of stock option grants. Under this approach, the weighted-average expected life is
presumed to be the average of the contractual term (ten years) and the vesting term (generally four years) of the Company's stock options, taking into consideration
multiple vesting tranches. The Company utilizes this method due to lack of historical exercise data and the plain-vanilla nature of the Company's share-based awards.

Dividends

        The Company has never paid, and does not anticipate paying in the foreseeable future, any cash dividends and therefore uses an expected dividend yield of zero
in the option-pricing model.

Forfeitures

        The Company is also required to estimate forfeitures at the time of grant, and revise those estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from its
estimates. The Company uses historical data to estimate pre-vesting option forfeitures and record stock-based compensation expense only for those awards that are
expected to vest. To the extent that actual forfeitures differ from the Company's estimates, the difference is recorded as a cumulative adjustment in the period the
estimates are revised.
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13. Income Taxes

        A reconciliation of the U.S. statutory income tax rate to the Company's effective tax rate is as follows for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014:

        The provision (benefit) for income taxes was as follows for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014 (in thousands):

        The Company's deferred tax assets consisted of the following (in thousands):

        The Company recorded an increase to the valuation allowance of $8.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2013 and $9.0 million during the year ended
December 31, 2014, due primarily to an increase in the net operating loss carryforwards and tax credits.
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Year Ended

December 31,  
  2013  2014  
Federal income tax (benefit) at statutory rate   34.00% 34.00%
Permanent differences   (0.50)  (1.29)
Federal research and development credits and adjustments   5.80  2.70 
State income tax, net of federal benefit   5.88  6.03 
Other   (0.01)  (0.15)
Change in valuation allowance   (45.17)  (41.29)
Effective income tax rate   0.00% 0.00%

  
Year Ended

December 31,  
  2013  2014  
Current:        

Federal  $     — $     — 
State   —  — 

Total current   —  — 
Deferred:        

Federal   —  — 
State   —  — 

Total deferred   —  — 
Total  $     — $     — 

  December 31,  
  2013  2014  
Deferred tax assets        
Net operating loss carryforwards  $ 10,982 $ 22,577 
Tax credit carryforwards   1,955  2,748 
Capitalized research and development   8,521  4,780 
Capitalized legal expenses   883  1,223 
Other differences   145  195 
Total deferred tax assets   22,486  31,523 
Valuation allowance   (22,486)  (31,523)
Net deferred tax assets  $ — $ — 
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13. Income Taxes (Continued)

        In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, the Company considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets
will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which the
temporary differences representing net future deductible amounts become deductible. Due to the Company's history of losses, the deferred tax assets were fully offset
by a valuation allowance at December 31, 2013 and 2014.

        As of December 31, 2014, the Company had approximately $57.6 million of federal and $56.5 million of state net operating loss carryforwards to offset future
taxable income, if any. Such net operating loss carryforwards expire at varying times through the year 2034, if not utilized. The Company also had approximately
$2.1 million of federal and $1.0 million of state tax credit carryforwards available to reduce future tax liabilities as of December 31, 2014.

        The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), provides for a limitation of the annual use of net operating losses and other tax attributes (such as
research and development tax credit carryforwards) following certain ownership changes (as defined by the Code) that could limit the Company's ability to utilize
these carryforwards. At this time, the Company has not completed a study to assess whether an ownership change under Section 382 of the Code has occurred, or
whether there have been multiple ownership changes since the Company's formation, due to the costs and complexities associated with such a study. The Company
may have experienced various ownership changes, as defined by the Code, as a result of past financing transactions. Accordingly, the Company's ability to utilize the
aforementioned carryforwards may be limited. Additionally, U.S. tax laws limit the time during which these carryforwards may be applied against future taxes.
Therefore, the Company may not be able to take full advantage of these carryforwards for federal or state income tax purposes.

        The Company does not have any significant unrecognized tax benefits.

        As of December 31, 2014, the Company had not accrued interest or penalties related to uncertain tax positions. The Company's tax returns for the years ended
December 31, 2008 through December 31, 2014 are still subject to examination by major tax jurisdictions.

14. Defined Contribution Benefit Plan

        The Company sponsors a 401(k) retirement plan, in which substantially all of its full-time employees are eligible to participate. Participants may contribute a
percentage of their annual compensation to this plan, subject to statutory limitations. The Company did not provide any contributions to this plan during the years
ended December 31, 2013 and 2014.

15. Subsequent Events

        The Company has completed an evaluation of all subsequent events through the date this registration statement on Form S-1 was confidentially submitted to the
SEC, to ensure that this submission includes appropriate disclosure of events both recognized in the financial statements as of December 31, 2014, and events which
occurred subsequently but were not recognized in the financial statements. The Company has concluded that no subsequent event has occurred that requires disclosure.
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                                    Shares

Catabasis Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Common Stock

PRELIMINARY PROSPECTUS
                        , 2015

Citigroup

Cowen and Company

Oppenheimer & Co.

Wedbush PacGrow Life Sciences
        Through and including                        , 2015 (25 days after the commencement of this offering), all dealers that buy, sell or trade shares of our common stock,
whether or not participating in this offering, may be required to deliver a prospectus. This delivery requirement is in addition to the dealers' obligation to deliver a
prospectus when acting as underwriters and with respect to their unsold allotments or subscriptions.
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PART II
INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS 

Item 13.    Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution. 

        The following table sets forth the expenses to be incurred in connection with the offering described in this Registration Statement, other than underwriting
discounts and commissions, all of which will be paid by us. All amounts are estimates except the Securities and Exchange Commission's registration fee, the Financial
Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. filing fee and the NASDAQ listing fee.

Item 14.    Indemnification of Directors and Officers. 

        Section 102 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware permits a corporation to eliminate the personal liability of its directors or its stockholders
for monetary damages for a breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except where the director breached his or her duty of loyalty, failed to act in good faith, engaged in
intentional misconduct or knowingly violated a law, authorized the payment of a dividend or approved a stock repurchase in violation of Delaware corporate law or
obtained an improper personal benefit. Upon completion of this offering, our certificate of incorporation will provide that none of our directors shall be personally
liable to us or our stockholders for monetary damages for any breach of fiduciary duty as a director, notwithstanding any provision of law imposing such liability,
except to the extent that the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware prohibits the elimination or limitation of liability of directors for breaches of fiduciary
duty.

        Section 145 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware provides that a corporation has the power to indemnify a director, officer, employee, or
agent of the corporation and certain other persons serving at the request of the corporation in related capacities against expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments,
fines and amounts paid in settlements actually and reasonably incurred by the person in connection with an action, suit or proceeding to which he or she is or is
threatened to be made a party by reason of such position, if such person acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to
the best interests of the corporation, and, in any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful, except that, in the
case of actions brought by or in the right of the corporation, no indemnification shall be made with respect to any claim, issue or matter as to which such person shall
have been adjudged to be liable to the corporation unless and only to the extent that the Court of Chancery or other adjudicating court determines that, despite the
adjudication of liability but in view of all of the circumstances of the case, such person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses which the Court
of Chancery or such other court shall deem proper.
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  Amount  
Securities and Exchange Commission registration fee  $             *
Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. filing fee               *
NASDAQ listing fee               *
Accountants' fees and expenses               *
Legal fees and expenses               *
Blue Sky fees and expenses               *
Transfer Agent's fees and expenses               *
Printing and engraving expenses               *
Miscellaneous fees and expenses               *
Total expenses  $             *

* To be filed by amendment.
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        Upon the completion of this offering, our certificate of incorporation will provide that we will indemnify each person who was or is a party or threatened to be
made a party or is involved in to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (other than an
action by or in the right of us) by reason of the fact that he or she is or was, or has agreed to become, our director or officer, or is or was serving, or has agreed to serve,
at our request as a director, officer, partner, employee or trustee of, or in a similar capacity with, another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise
(all such persons being referred to as an "Indemnitee"), or by reason of any action alleged to have been taken or omitted in such capacity, against all expenses
(including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred in connection with such action, suit or proceeding and
any appeal therefrom, if such Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, our best interests, and, with
respect to any criminal action or proceeding, he or she had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful. Our certificate of incorporation that will be
effective upon the closing of the offering also provides that we will indemnify any Indemnitee who was or is a party to an action or suit by or in the right of us to
procure a judgment in our favor by reason of the fact that the Indemnitee is or was, or has agreed to become, our director or officer, or is or was serving, or has agreed
to serve, at our request as a director, officer, partner, employee or trustee of, or in a similar capacity with, another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other
enterprise, or by reason of any action alleged to have been taken or omitted in such capacity, against all expenses (including attorneys' fees) and, to the extent
permitted by law, amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred in connection with such action, suit or proceeding, and any appeal therefrom, if the
Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, our best interests, except that no indemnification shall be
made with respect to any claim, issue or matter as to which such person shall have been adjudged to be liable to us, unless a court determines that, despite such
adjudication but in view of all of the circumstances, he or she is entitled to indemnification of such expenses. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent that any
Indemnitee has been successful, on the merits or otherwise, he or she will be indemnified by us against all expenses (including attorneys' fees) actually and reasonably
incurred by him or her or on his or her behalf in connection therewith. If we do not assume the defense, expenses must be advanced to an Indemnitee under certain
circumstances.

        We have entered into indemnification agreements with our directors and executive officers. In general, these agreements provide that we will indemnify the
director or executive officer to the fullest extent permitted by law for claims arising in his or her capacity as a director or officer of our company or in connection with
their service at our request for another corporation or entity. The indemnification agreements also provide for procedures that will apply in the event that a director or
executive officer makes a claim for indemnification and establish certain presumptions that are favorable to the director or executive officer.

        We maintain a general liability insurance policy that covers certain liabilities of our directors and officers arising out of claims based on acts or omissions in their
capacities as directors or officers.

        The underwriting agreement we will enter into in connection with the offering of common stock being registered hereby provides that the underwriters will
indemnify, under certain conditions, our directors and officers (as well as certain other persons) against certain liabilities arising in connection with such offering.

        Insofar as the forgoing provisions permit indemnification of directors, executive officers, or persons controlling us for liability arising under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, we have been informed that, in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission, such indemnification is against
public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is therefore unenforceable.
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Item 15.    Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities. 

        Set forth below is information regarding shares of our common stock and shares of our preferred stock, and stock options and warrants granted, by us within the
past three years that were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act. Included is the consideration, if any, we received for such
shares and options and warrants and information relating to the section of the Securities Act, or rule of the Securities and Exchange Commission, under which
exemption from registration was claimed.

(a) Issuance of shares of preferred stock

        In July 2012, we issued and sold an aggregate of 12,500,000 shares of our Series A preferred stock to five investors at a price per share of $0.70, for an aggregate
purchase price of $8,750,000.

        In January 2013, we issued and sold an aggregate of 12,499,999 shares of our Series A preferred stock to five investors at a price per share of $0.70, for an
aggregate purchase price of $8,749,999.

        In June 2013, we issued and sold an aggregate 636,952 shares of our Series A preferred stock to nine investors at a price per share of $0.70, for an aggregate
purchase price of $445,866.

        In October 2013, we issued and sold an aggregate of 34,129,571 shares of our Series B preferred stock to eleven investors at a price per share of $0.9503, for an
aggregate purchase price of $32,433,331.

        No underwriters were involved in the foregoing issuances of securities. The securities described in this section (a) of Item 15 were issued to investors in reliance
upon the exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act, as set forth in Section 4(a)(2) under the Securities Act and Regulation D promulgated
thereunder relative to transactions by an issuer not involving any public offering, to the extent an exemption from such registration was required. The recipients of
securities in the transactions described above represented that they were accredited investors and were acquiring the securities for their own account for investment
purposes only and not with a view to, or for sale in connection with, any distribution thereof and that they could bear the risks of the investment and could hold the
securities for an indefinite period of time and appropriate legends were affixed to the instruments representing such securities issued in such transactions.

(b) Stock option grants and option exercises

        Between January 23, 2012 and March 5, 2015, we granted options to purchase an aggregate of 15,187,010 shares of common stock, with exercise prices ranging
from $0.15 to $0.74 per share, to employees, directors and consultants pursuant to our 2008 equity incentive plan. Between January 23, 2012 and March 5, 2015, we
issued an aggregate of 1,712,128 shares of common stock upon the exercise of options for aggregate consideration of $167,126.

        No underwriters were involved in the foregoing issuances of securities. The issuances of stock options and the shares of our common stock issued upon the
exercise of the options described in this paragraph (b) of Item 15 were issued pursuant to written compensatory plans or arrangements with our employees, directors
and consultants, in reliance on the exemption provided by Rule 701 promulgated under the Securities Act, or pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) under the Securities Act,
relative to transactions by an issuer not involving any public offering, to the extent an exemption from such registration was required. All recipients either received
adequate information about us or had access, through employment or other relationships, to such information.

(c) Warrant grants

        On August 27, 2014, we issued warrants to purchase an aggregate of 157,844 shares of Series B preferred stock at a price of $0.9503 per share to Square 1 Bank
and MidCap Financial SBIC, LP.
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        No underwriters were involved in the foregoing issuances of securities. The issuances of warrants described in this paragraph (c) of Item 15 were issued to
investors in reliance upon the exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act, as set forth in Section 4(2) under the Securities Act relative to
transactions by an issuer not involving any public offering, to the extent an exemption from such registration was required. The recipients of securities in the
transactions described above represented that they were accredited investors and were acquiring the securities for their own account for investment purposes only and
not with a view to the public resale or distribution thereof and that they could bear the risks of the investment and could hold the securities for an indefinite period of
time and appropriate legends were affixed to the instruments representing such securities issued in such transactions.

Item 16.    Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules. 

(a) Exhibits.

        The exhibits to the registration statement are listed in the Exhibit Index attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

(b) Financial Statement Schedules.

        No financial statement schedules are provided because the information called for is not required or is shown either in the financial statements or notes.

Item 17.    Undertakings. 

(a) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to provide to the underwriters at the closing specified in the underwriting agreement, certificates in such
denominations and registered in such names as required by the underwriter to permit prompt delivery to each purchaser. 

(b) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the registrant
pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such
indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against
such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the
successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered,
the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the
question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such
issue. 

(c) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that: 

(1) For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, the information omitted from the form of prospectus filed as part of this registration
statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained in a form of prospectus filed by the registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(1) or (4) or 497(h) under the
Securities Act shall be deemed to be part of this registration statement as of the time it was declared effective. 

(2) For the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each post-effective amendment that contains a form of prospectus shall be
deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be
the initial bona fide offering thereof.
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SIGNATURES 

        Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, the registrant has duly caused this Registration Statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Cambridge, Commonwealth of Massachusetts, on this      day of            , 2015.

  CATABASIS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

  By:   

Jill C. Milne, Ph.D.
President and Chief Executive Officer
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SIGNATURES AND POWER OF ATTORNEY 

        We, the undersigned officers and directors of Catabasis Pharmaceuticals, Inc., hereby severally constitute and appoint Jill C. Milne and Ian C. Sanderson, and
each of them singly (with full power to each of them to act alone), our true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution in
each of them for him and in his name, place and stead, and in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this
registration statement (or any other registration statement for the same offering that is to be effective upon filing pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act of
1933), and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said
attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite or necessary to be done in and about
the premises, as full to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of
them, or their or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

        Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this Registration Statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities held on the
dates indicated.

Signature  Title  Date  

       
 

Jill C. Milne, Ph.D.

   
President, Chief Executive Officer and
Director (principal executive officer)

                                , 2015  

  

Ian C. Sanderson

   

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(principal financial and principal
accounting officer)

                                , 2015  

  

Michael Ross, Ph.D.

 Chairman of the Board of Directors                                 , 2015  

  

Nicholas Galakatos, Ph.D.

 Director                                 , 2015  

  

Jean George

 Director                                 , 2015  

  

Ron Laufer, M.D.

 Director                                 , 2015  

  

Kenneth Bate

 Director                                 , 2015  
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EXHIBIT INDEX 

 
Exhibit
Number  Description of Exhibit

  1.1* Form of Underwriting Agreement
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ARTICLE I

 
STOCKHOLDERS

 



1.1          Place of Meetings.  All meetings of stockholders shall be held at such place as may be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors,
the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer or the President or, if not so designated, at the principal office of the corporation.

 
1.2          Annual Meeting.  The annual meeting of stockholders for the election of directors to succeed those whose terms expire and for the transaction of

such other business as may properly be brought before the meeting shall be held on a date and at a time designated by the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the
Board, the Chief Executive Officer or the President.  The corporation may postpone, reschedule or cancel any previously scheduled annual meeting of
stockholders.

 
1.3          Special Meetings.  Special meetings of stockholders for any purpose or purposes may be called at any time by only the Board of Directors, the

Chairman of the Board or the Chief Executive Officer, and may not be called by any other person or persons.  Business transacted at any special meeting of
stockholders shall be limited to matters relating to the purpose or purposes stated in the notice of meeting.  The corporation may postpone, reschedule or cancel
any previously scheduled special meeting of stockholders.

 
1.4          Notice of Meetings.  Except as otherwise provided by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-laws, notice of each meeting of

stockholders, whether annual or special, shall be given not less than 10 nor more than 60 days before the date of the meeting to each stockholder entitled to vote at
such meeting.  Without limiting the manner by which notice otherwise may be given to stockholders, any notice shall be effective if given by a form of electronic
transmission consented to (in a manner consistent with the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware) by the stockholder to whom the notice is given. 
The notices of all meetings shall state the place, date and time of the meeting and the means of remote communications, if any, by which stockholders and
proxyholders may be deemed to be present in person and vote at such meeting.  The notice of a special meeting shall state, in addition, the

 

 
purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called.  If notice is given by mail, such notice shall be deemed given when deposited in the United States mail,
postage prepaid, directed to the stockholder at such stockholder’s address as it appears on the records of the corporation.  If notice is given by electronic
transmission, such notice shall be deemed given at the time specified in Section 232 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.
 

1.5          Voting List.  The Secretary shall prepare, at least 10 days before every meeting of stockholders, a complete list of the stockholders entitled to
vote at the meeting, arranged in alphabetical order, and showing the address of each stockholder and the number of shares registered in the name of each
stockholder.  Such list shall be open to the examination of any stockholder, for any purpose germane to the meeting, for a period of at least 10 days prior to the
meeting: (a) on a reasonably accessible electronic network, provided that the information required to gain access to such list is provided with the notice of the
meeting, or (b) during ordinary business hours, at the principal place of business of the corporation.  The list shall also be produced and kept at the time and place
of the meeting during the whole time thereof, and may be examined by any stockholder who is present.  Except as otherwise provided by law, the stock ledger
shall be the only evidence as to who are the stockholders entitled to examine the list of stockholders required by this Section 1.5 or to vote in person or by proxy at
any meeting of stockholders.

 
1.6          Quorum.  Except as otherwise provided by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-laws, the holders of a majority in voting power of

the shares of the capital stock of the corporation issued and outstanding and entitled to vote at the meeting, present in person, present by means of remote
communication in a manner, if any, authorized by the Board of Directors in its sole discretion, or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum for the
transaction of business; provided, however, that where a separate vote by a class or classes or series of capital stock is required by law or the Certificate of
Incorporation, the holders of a majority in voting power of the shares of such class or classes or series of the capital stock of the corporation issued and outstanding
and entitled to vote on such matter, present in person, present by means of remote communication in a manner, if any, authorized by the Board of Directors in its
sole discretion, or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum entitled to take action with respect
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to the vote on such matter.  A quorum, once established at a meeting, shall not be broken by the withdrawal of enough votes to leave less than a quorum.

 
1.7          Adjournments.  Any meeting of stockholders may be adjourned from time to time to any other time and to any other place at which a meeting of

stockholders may be held under these By-laws by the chairman of the meeting or by the stockholders present or represented at the meeting and entitled to vote,
although less than a quorum.  It shall not be necessary to notify any stockholder of any adjournment of less than 30 days if the time and place of the adjourned
meeting, and the means of remote communication, if any, by which stockholders and proxyholders may be deemed to be present in person and vote at such
adjourned meeting, are announced at the meeting at which adjournment is taken, unless after the adjournment a new record date is fixed for the adjourned
meeting.  At the adjourned meeting, the corporation may transact any business which might have been transacted at the original meeting.

 
1.8          Voting and Proxies.  Each stockholder shall have one vote for each share of stock entitled to vote held of record by such stockholder and a

proportionate vote for each fractional share so held, unless otherwise provided by law or the Certificate of Incorporation.  Each stockholder of record entitled to
vote at a meeting of stockholders may vote in person (including by means of remote communications, if any, by which stockholders may be deemed to be present
in person and vote at such meeting) or may authorize another person or persons to vote for such stockholder by a proxy executed or transmitted in a manner
permitted by the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware by the stockholder or such stockholder’s authorized agent and delivered (including by
electronic transmission) to the Secretary of the corporation.  No such proxy shall be voted upon after three years from the date of its execution, unless the proxy
expressly provides for a longer period.

 
1.9          Action at Meeting.  When a quorum is present at any meeting, any matter other than the election of directors to be voted upon by the

stockholders at such meeting shall be decided by the vote of the holders of shares of stock having a majority in voting power of the votes cast by the holders of all
of the shares of stock present or represented at the meeting and voting affirmatively or negatively on such matter (or if there are two or more classes or series of
stock entitled to vote as separate classes, then in the case of each such class or series, the holders
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of a majority in voting power of the shares of stock of that class or series present or represented at the meeting and voting affirmatively or negatively on such
matter), except when a different vote is required by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-laws.  When a quorum is present at any meeting, any election
by stockholders of directors shall be determined by a plurality of the votes cast by the stockholders entitled to vote on the election.
 

1.10        Nomination of Directors.



 
(a)        Except for (1) any directors entitled to be elected by the holders of preferred stock, (2) any directors elected in accordance with

Section 2.9 hereof by the Board of Directors to fill a vacancy or newly-created directorship or (3) as otherwise required by applicable law or stock exchange
regulation, at any meeting of stockholders, only persons who are nominated in accordance with the procedures in this Section 1.10 shall be eligible for election as
directors.  Nomination for election to the Board of Directors at a meeting of stockholders may be made (i) by or at the direction of the Board of Directors or
(ii) by any stockholder of the corporation who (x) timely complies with the notice procedures in Section 1.10(b), (y) is a stockholder of record on the date of the
giving of such notice and on the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to vote at such meeting and (z) is entitled to vote at such meeting.

 
(b)        To be timely, a stockholder’s notice must be received in writing by the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the corporation as

follows: (i) in the case of an election of directors at an annual meeting of stockholders, not less than 90 days nor more than 120 days prior to the first anniversary
of the preceding year’s annual meeting; provided, however, that in the event that the date of the annual meeting is advanced by more than 30 days, or delayed by
more than 60 days, from the first anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting, a stockholder’s notice must be so received not earlier than the 120th day
prior to such annual meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of (A) the 90th day prior to such annual meeting and (B) the tenth day following
the day on which notice of the date of such annual meeting was mailed or public disclosure of the date of such annual meeting was made, whichever first occurs;
or (ii) in the case of an election of directors at a special meeting of stockholders, provided that the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board or the Chief
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Executive Officer has determined, in accordance with Section 1.3, that directors shall be elected at such special meeting and provided further that the nomination
made by the stockholder is for one of the director positions that the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board or the Chief Executive Officer, as the case
may be, has determined will be filled at such special meeting, not earlier than the 120th day prior to such special meeting and not later than the close of business
on the later of (x) the 90th day prior to such special meeting and (y) the tenth day following the day on which notice of the date of such special meeting was
mailed or public disclosure of the date of such special meeting was made, whichever first occurs.  In no event shall the adjournment or postponement of a
meeting (or the public disclosure thereof) commence a new time period (or extend any time period) for the giving of a stockholder’s notice.

 
The stockholder’s notice to the Secretary shall set forth: (A) as to each proposed nominee (1) such person’s name, age, business address and, if known,

residence address, (2) such person’s principal occupation or employment, (3) the class and series and number of shares of stock of the corporation that are, directly
or indirectly, owned, beneficially or of record, by such person, (4) a description of all direct and indirect compensation and other material monetary agreements,
arrangements and understandings during the past three years, and any other material relationships, between or among (x) the stockholder, the beneficial owner, if
any, on whose behalf the nomination is being made and the respective affiliates and associates of, or others acting in concert with, such stockholder and such
beneficial owner, on the one hand, and (y) each proposed nominee, and his or her respective affiliates and associates, or others acting in concert with such
nominee(s), on the other hand, including all information that would be required to be disclosed pursuant to Item 404 of Regulation S-K if the stockholder making
the nomination and any beneficial owner on whose behalf the nomination is made or any affiliate or associate thereof or person acting in concert therewith were
the “registrant” for purposes of such Item and the proposed nominee were a director or executive officer of such registrant, and (5) any other information
concerning such person that must be disclosed as to nominees in proxy solicitations pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”); and (B) as to the stockholder giving the notice and the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination is being made
(1) the name and address of such stockholder, as they appear on the corporation’s books, and of such beneficial owner, (2) the class and series and number of
shares of stock of the corporation that are, directly or indirectly,
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owned, beneficially or of record, by such stockholder and such beneficial owner, (3) a description of any agreement, arrangement or understanding between or
among such stockholder and/or such beneficial owner and each proposed nominee and any other person or persons (including their names) pursuant to which the
nomination(s) are being made or who may participate in the solicitation of proxies in favor of electing such nominee(s), (4) a description of any agreement,
arrangement or understanding (including any derivative or short positions, swaps, profit interests, options, warrants, convertible securities, stock appreciation or
similar rights, hedging transactions, and borrowed or loaned shares) that has been entered into by, or on behalf of, such stockholder or such beneficial owner, the
effect or intent of which is to mitigate loss to, manage risk or benefit of share price changes for, or increase or decrease the voting power of, such stockholder or
such beneficial owner with respect to shares of stock of the corporation, (5) any other information relating to such stockholder and such beneficial owner that
would be required to be disclosed in a proxy statement or other filings required to be made in connection with solicitations of proxies for the election of directors
in a contested election pursuant to Section 14 of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, (6) a representation that such stockholder
intends to appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to nominate the person(s) named in its notice and (7) a representation whether such stockholder and/or such
beneficial owner intends or is part of a group which intends (x) to deliver a proxy statement and/or form of proxy to holders of at least the percentage of the
corporation’s outstanding capital stock reasonably believed by such stockholder or such beneficial owner to be sufficient to elect the nominee (and such
representation shall be included in any such proxy statement and form of proxy) and/or (y) otherwise to solicit proxies or votes from stockholders in support of
such nomination (and such representation shall be included in any such solicitation materials).  Not later than 10 days after the record date for the meeting, the
information required by Items (A)(1)-(5) and (B)(1)-(5) of the prior sentence shall be supplemented by the stockholder giving the notice to provide updated
information as of the record date.  In addition, to be effective, the stockholder’s notice must be accompanied by the written consent of the proposed nominee to
serve as a director if elected.  The corporation may require any proposed nominee to furnish such other information as the corporation may reasonably require to
determine the eligibility of such proposed nominee to serve as a director of the corporation or whether such nominee would be independent under applicable
Securities and
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Exchange Commission and stock exchange rules and the corporation’s publicly disclosed corporate governance guidelines.  A stockholder shall not have complied
with this Section 1.10(b) if the stockholder (or beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination is made) solicits or does not solicit, as the case may be,
proxies or votes in support of such stockholder’s nominee in contravention of the representations with respect thereto required by this Section 1.10.
 

(c)                          The chairman of any meeting shall have the power and duty to determine whether a nomination was made in accordance with the
provisions of this Section 1.10 (including whether the stockholder or beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination is made solicited (or is part of a
group which solicited) or did not so solicit, as the case may be, proxies in support of such stockholder’s nominee in compliance with the representations with
respect thereto required by this Section 1.10), and if the chairman should determine that a nomination was not made in accordance with the provisions of this
Section 1.10, the chairman shall so declare to the meeting and such nomination shall not be brought before the meeting.

 



(d)                         Except as otherwise required by law, nothing in this Section 1.10 shall obligate the corporation or the Board of Directors to include in
any proxy statement or other stockholder communication distributed on behalf of the corporation or the Board of Directors information with respect to any
nominee for director submitted by a stockholder.

 
(e)                          Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 1.10, unless otherwise required by law, if the stockholder (or a qualified

representative of the stockholder) does not appear at the meeting to present a nomination, such nomination shall not be brought before the meeting,
notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such nominee may have been received by the corporation.  For purposes of this Section 1.10, to be considered a
“qualified representative of the stockholder”, a person must be authorized by a written instrument executed by such stockholder or an electronic transmission
delivered by such stockholder to act for such stockholder as proxy at the meeting of stockholders and such person must produce such written instrument or
electronic transmission, or a reliable reproduction of the written instrument or electronic transmission, at the meeting of stockholders.
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(f)                           For purposes of this Section 1.10, “public disclosure” shall include disclosure in a press release reported by the Dow Jones News

Service, Associated Press or comparable national news service or in a document publicly filed by the corporation with the Securities and Exchange Commission
pursuant to Section 13, 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act.

 
1.11                        Notice of Business at Annual Meetings.
 

(a)                         At any annual meeting of the stockholders, only such business shall be conducted as shall have been properly brought before the
meeting.  To be properly brought before an annual meeting, business must be (1) specified in the notice of meeting (or any supplement thereto) given by or at the
direction of the Board of Directors, (2) otherwise properly brought before the meeting by or at the direction of the Board of Directors, or (3) properly brought
before the meeting by a stockholder.  For business to be properly brought before an annual meeting by a stockholder, (i) if such business relates to the nomination
of a person for election as a director of the corporation, the procedures in Section 1.10 must be complied with and (ii) if such business relates to any other matter,
the business must constitute a proper matter under Delaware law for stockholder action and the stockholder must (x) have given timely notice thereof in writing
to the Secretary in accordance with the procedures in Section 1.11(b), (y) be a stockholder of record on the date of the giving of such notice and on the record
date for the determination of stockholders entitled to vote at such annual meeting and (z) be entitled to vote at such annual meeting.

 
(b)                         To be timely, a stockholder’s notice must be received in writing by the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the corporation not

less than 90 days nor more than 120 days prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting; provided, however, that in the event that the date
of the annual meeting is advanced by more than 30 days, or delayed by more than 60 days, from the first anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting, a
stockholder’s notice must be so received not earlier than the 120th day prior to such annual meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of (A) the
90th day prior to such annual meeting and (B) the tenth day following the day on which notice of the date of such annual meeting was mailed or public disclosure
of the date of such annual meeting was made, whichever first occurs.  In no event shall the adjournment or postponement of an annual
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meeting (or the public disclosure thereof) commence a new time period (or extend any time period) for the giving of a stockholder’s notice.

 
The stockholder’s notice to the Secretary shall set forth:  (A) as to each matter the stockholder proposes to bring before the annual meeting (1) a brief

description of the business desired to be brought before the annual meeting, (2) the text of the proposal (including the exact text of any resolutions proposed for
consideration and, in the event that such business includes a proposal to amend the By-laws, the exact text of the proposed amendment), and (3) the reasons for
conducting such business at the annual meeting, and (B) as to the stockholder giving the notice and the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the proposal is
being made (1) the name and address of such stockholder, as they appear on the corporation’s books, and of such beneficial owner, (2) the class and series and
number of shares of stock of the corporation that are, directly or indirectly, owned, beneficially or of record, by such stockholder and such beneficial owner, (3) a
description of any material interest of such stockholder or such beneficial owner and the respective affiliates and associates of, or others acting in concert with,
such stockholder or such beneficial owner in such business, (4) a description of any agreement, arrangement or understanding between or among such stockholder
and/or such beneficial owner and any other person or persons (including their names) in connection with the proposal of such business or who may participate in
the solicitation of proxies in favor of such proposal, (5) a description of any agreement, arrangement or understanding (including any derivative or short positions,
swaps, profit interests, options, warrants, convertible securities, stock appreciation or similar rights, hedging transactions, and borrowed or loaned shares) that has
been entered into by, or on behalf of, such stockholder or such beneficial owner, the effect or intent of which is to mitigate loss to, manage risk or benefit of share
price changes for, or increase or decrease the voting power of, such stockholder or such beneficial owner with respect to shares of stock of the corporation, (6) any
other information relating to such stockholder and such beneficial owner that would be required to be disclosed in a proxy statement or other filings required to be
made in connection with solicitations of proxies for the business proposed pursuant to Section 14 of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder, (7) a representation that such stockholder intends to appear in person or by proxy at the annual meeting to bring such business before the meeting and
(8) a representation whether such stockholder and/or such beneficial owner intends or is part of a group which intends (x) to deliver a proxy statement
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and/or form of proxy to holders of at least the percentage of the corporation’s outstanding capital stock required to approve or adopt the proposal (and such
representation shall be included in any such proxy statement and form of proxy) and/or (y) otherwise to solicit proxies or votes from stockholders in support of
such proposal (and such representation shall be included in any such solicitation materials).  Not later than 10 days after the record date for the meeting, the
information required by Items (A)(3) and (B)(1)-(6) of the prior sentence shall be supplemented by the stockholder giving the notice to provide updated
information as of the record date.  Notwithstanding anything in these By-laws to the contrary, no business shall be conducted at any annual meeting of
stockholders except in accordance with the procedures in this Section 1.11; provided that any stockholder proposal which complies with Rule 14a-8 of the proxy
rules (or any successor provision) promulgated under the Exchange Act and is to be included in the corporation’s proxy statement for an annual meeting of
stockholders shall be deemed to comply with the notice requirements of this Section 1.11.  A stockholder shall not have complied with this Section 1.11(b) if the
stockholder (or beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the proposal is made) solicits or does not solicit, as the case may be, proxies in support of such
stockholder’s proposal in contravention of the representations with respect thereto required by this Section 1.11.
 

(c)                          The chairman of any annual meeting shall have the power and duty to determine whether business was properly brought before the
annual meeting in accordance with the provisions of this Section 1.11 (including whether the stockholder or beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the



proposal is made solicited (or is part of a group which solicited) or did not so solicit, as the case may be, proxies or votes in support of such stockholder’s
proposal in compliance with the representation with respect thereto required by this Section 1.11), and if the chairman should determine that business was not
properly brought before the annual meeting in accordance with the provisions of this Section 1.11, the chairman shall so declare to the meeting and such business
shall not be brought before the annual meeting.

 
(d)                         Except as otherwise required by law, nothing in this Section 1.11 shall obligate the corporation or the Board of Directors to include in

any proxy statement or other stockholder communication distributed on behalf of the corporation or the Board of Directors information with respect to any
proposal submitted by a stockholder.
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(e)                          Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 1.11, unless otherwise required by law, if the stockholder (or a qualified

representative of the stockholder) does not appear at the annual meeting to present business, such business shall not be considered, notwithstanding that proxies
in respect of such business may have been received by the corporation.

 
(f)                           For purposes of this Section 1.11, the terms “qualified representative of the stockholder” and “public disclosure” shall have the same

meaning as in Section 1.10.
 

1.12                        Conduct of Meetings.
 

(a)                         Meetings of stockholders shall be presided over by the Chairman of the Board, if any, or in the Chairman’s absence by the Vice
Chairman of the Board, if any, or in the Vice Chairman’s absence by the Chief Executive Officer, or in the Chief Executive Officer’s absence, by the President, or
in the President’s absence by a Vice President, or in the absence of all of the foregoing persons by a chairman designated by the Board of Directors.  The
Secretary shall act as secretary of the meeting, but in the Secretary’s absence the chairman of the meeting may appoint any person to act as secretary of the
meeting.

 
(b)                         The Board of Directors may adopt by resolution such rules, regulations and procedures for the conduct of any meeting of stockholders

of the corporation as it shall deem appropriate including, without limitation, such guidelines and procedures as it may deem appropriate regarding the
participation by means of remote communication of stockholders and proxyholders not physically present at a meeting.  Except to the extent inconsistent with
such rules, regulations and procedures as adopted by the Board of Directors, the chairman of any meeting of stockholders shall have the right and authority to
convene and (for any or no reason) to recess and/or adjourn the meeting and prescribe such rules, regulations and procedures and to do all such acts as, in the
judgment of such chairman, are appropriate for the proper conduct of the meeting.  Such rules, regulations or procedures, whether adopted by the Board of
Directors or prescribed by the chairman of the meeting, may include, without limitation, the following: (i) the establishment of an agenda or order of business for
the meeting; (ii) rules and procedures for maintaining order at the meeting and the safety of those present; (iii) limitations on attendance at or participation in the
meeting to stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting, their
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duly authorized and constituted proxies or such other persons as shall be determined; (iv) restrictions on entry to the meeting after the time fixed for the
commencement thereof; and (v) limitations on the time allotted to questions or comments by participants.  Unless and to the extent determined by the Board of
Directors or the chairman of the meeting, meetings of stockholders shall not be required to be held in accordance with the rules of parliamentary procedure.

 
(c)                          The chairman of the meeting shall announce at the meeting when the polls for each matter to be voted upon at the meeting will be

opened and closed.  After the polls close, no ballots, proxies or votes or any revocations or changes thereto may be accepted.
 
(d)                         In advance of any meeting of stockholders, the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer or the

President shall appoint one or more inspectors of election to act at the meeting and make a written report thereof.  One or more other persons may be designated
as alternate inspectors to replace any inspector who fails to act.  If no inspector or alternate is present, ready and willing to act at a meeting of stockholders, the
chairman of the meeting shall appoint one or more inspectors to act at the meeting.  Unless otherwise required by law, inspectors may be officers, employees or
agents of the corporation.  Each inspector, before entering upon the discharge of such inspector’s duties, shall take and sign an oath faithfully to execute the
duties of inspector with strict impartiality and according to the best of such inspector’s ability.  The inspector shall have the duties prescribed by law and shall
take charge of the polls and, when the vote is completed, shall make a certificate of the result of the vote taken and of such other facts as may be required by law. 
Every vote taken by ballots shall be counted by a duly appointed inspector or duly appointed inspectors.

 
1.13                        No Action by Consent in Lieu of a Meeting.  Stockholders of the corporation may not take any action by written consent in lieu of a meeting.
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ARTICLE II

 
DIRECTORS

 
2.1                               General Powers.  The business and affairs of the corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of a Board of Directors, who may

exercise all of the powers of the corporation except as otherwise provided by law or the Certificate of Incorporation.
 
2.2                               Number, Election and Qualification.  Subject to the rights of holders of any series of Preferred Stock to elect directors, the number of directors of

the corporation shall be established by the Board of Directors.  Election of directors need not be by written ballot.  Directors need not be stockholders of the
corporation.

 
2.3                               Chairman of the Board; Vice Chairman of the Board.  The Board of Directors may appoint from its members a Chairman of the Board and a Vice

Chairman of the Board, neither of whom need be an employee or officer of the corporation.  If the Board of Directors appoints a Chairman of the Board, such
Chairman shall perform such duties and possess such powers as are assigned by the Board of Directors and, if the Chairman of the Board is also designated as the



corporation’s Chief Executive Officer, shall have the powers and duties of the Chief Executive Officer prescribed in Section 3.7 of these By-laws.  If the Board of
Directors appoints a Vice Chairman of the Board, such Vice Chairman shall perform such duties and possess such powers as are assigned by the Board of
Directors.  Unless otherwise provided by the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board or, in the Chairman’s absence, the Vice Chairman of the Board, if any,
shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors.

 
2.4                               Classes of Directors.  Subject to the rights of holders of any series of Preferred Stock to elect directors, the Board of Directors shall be and is

divided into three classes:  Class I, Class II and Class III.  Each class shall consist, as nearly as may be possible, of one-third of the total number of directors
constituting the entire Board of Directors.  The allocation of directors among classes shall be determined by resolution of the Board of Directors.

 
2.5                               Terms of Office.  Subject to the rights of holders of any series of Preferred Stock to elect directors, each director shall serve for a term ending on

the date of the third annual
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meeting of stockholders following the annual meeting of stockholders at which such director was elected; provided that each director initially assigned to Class I
shall serve for a term expiring at the corporation’s first annual meeting of stockholders held after the effectiveness of these Amended and Restated By-laws; each
director initially assigned to Class II shall serve for a term expiring at the corporation’s second annual meeting of stockholders held after the effectiveness of these
Amended and Restated By-laws; and each director initially assigned to Class III shall serve for a term expiring at the corporation’s third annual meeting of
stockholders held after the effectiveness of these Amended and Restated By-laws; provided further, that the term of each director shall continue until the election
and qualification of his or her successor and be subject to his or her earlier death, resignation or removal.

 
2.6                               Quorum.  The greater of (a) a majority of the directors at any time in office and (b) one-third of the number of directors established by the Board

of Directors pursuant to Section 2.2 of these By-laws shall constitute a quorum of the Board of Directors.  If at any meeting of the Board of Directors there shall be
less than such a quorum, a majority of the directors present may adjourn the meeting from time to time without further notice other than announcement at the
meeting, until a quorum shall be present.

 
2.7                               Action at Meeting.  Every act or decision done or made by a majority of the directors present at a meeting duly held at which a quorum is present

shall be regarded as the act of the Board of Directors, unless a greater number is required by law or by the Certificate of Incorporation.
 
2.8                               Removal.  Subject to the rights of holders of any series of Preferred Stock, directors of the corporation may be removed only for cause and only

by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 75% of the votes which all the stockholders would be entitled to cast in any annual election of directors or class of
directors.

 
2.9                               Vacancies.  Subject to the rights of holders of any series of Preferred Stock, any vacancy or newly-created directorship on the Board of Directors,

however occurring, shall be filled only by vote of a majority of the directors then in office, although less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director and shall
not be filled by the stockholders.  A director elected to fill a vacancy shall hold office until the next election of the class for which such director shall have
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been chosen, subject to the election and qualification of a successor or until such director’s earlier death, resignation or removal.
 

2.10                        Resignation.  Any director may resign by delivering a resignation in writing or by electronic transmission to the corporation at its principal office
or to the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the President or the Secretary.  Such resignation shall be effective upon receipt unless it is specified
to be effective at some later time or upon the happening of some later event.

 
2.11                        Regular Meetings.  Regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held without notice at such time and place as shall be determined from

time to time by the Board of Directors; provided that any director who is absent when such a determination is made shall be given notice of the determination.  A
regular meeting of the Board of Directors may be held without notice immediately after and at the same place as the annual meeting of stockholders.

 
2.12                        Special Meetings.  Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be held at any time and place designated in a call by the Chairman of the

Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the President, two or more directors, or by one director in the event that there is only a single director in office.
 
2.13                        Notice of Special Meetings.  Notice of the date, place and time of any special meeting of directors shall be given to each director by the

Secretary or by the officer or one of the directors calling the meeting.  Notice shall be duly given to each director (a) in person, by telephone or by electronic
transmission at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting, (b) by delivering written notice by hand to such director’s last known business or home address at least
48 hours in advance of the meeting, or (c) by sending written notice by first-class mail to such director’s last known business or home address at least 72 hours in
advance of the meeting.  A notice or waiver of notice of a meeting of the Board of Directors need not specify the purposes of the meeting.

 
2.14                        Meetings by Conference Communications Equipment.  Directors may participate in meetings of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof

by means of conference telephone or other communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the
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meeting can hear each other, and participation by such means shall constitute presence in person at such meeting.
 

2.15                        Action by Consent.  Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors or of any committee thereof may be
taken without a meeting, if all members of the Board of Directors or committee, as the case may be, consent to the action in writing or by electronic transmission,
and the written consents or electronic transmissions are filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board of Directors or committee.  Such filing shall be in paper
form if the minutes are maintained in paper form and shall be in electronic form if the minutes are maintained in electronic form.

 
2.16                        Committees.  The Board of Directors may designate one or more committees, each committee to consist of one or more of the directors of the

corporation with such lawfully delegable powers and duties as the Board of Directors thereby confers, to serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors.  The



Board of Directors may designate one or more directors as alternate members of any committee, who may replace any absent or disqualified member at any
meeting of the committee.  In the absence or disqualification of a member of a committee, the member or members of the committee present at any meeting and
not disqualified from voting, whether or not such member or members constitute a quorum, may unanimously appoint another member of the Board of Directors
to act at the meeting in the place of any such absent or disqualified member.  Any such committee, to the extent provided in the resolution of the Board of
Directors and subject to the provisions of law, shall have and may exercise all the powers and authority of the Board of Directors in the management of the
business and affairs of the corporation and may authorize the seal of the corporation to be affixed to all papers which may require it.  Each such committee shall
keep minutes and make such reports as the Board of Directors may from time to time request.  Except as the Board of Directors may otherwise determine, any
committee may make rules for the conduct of its business, but unless otherwise provided by the directors or in such rules, its business shall be conducted as nearly
as possible in the same manner as is provided in these By-laws for the Board of Directors.  Except as otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation, these
By-laws, or the resolution of the Board of Directors designating the committee, a committee may create one or more subcommittees, each
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subcommittee to consist of one or more members of the committee, and delegate to a subcommittee any or all of the powers and authority of the committee.
 

2.17                        Compensation of Directors.  Directors may be paid such compensation for their services and such reimbursement for expenses of attendance at
meetings as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine.  No such payment shall preclude any director from serving the corporation or any of its
parent or subsidiary entities in any other capacity and receiving compensation for such service.

 
ARTICLE III

 
OFFICERS

 
3.1                               Titles.  The officers of the corporation shall consist of a Chief Executive Officer, a President, a Secretary, a Treasurer and such other officers

with such other titles as the Board of Directors shall determine, including one or more Vice Presidents, Assistant Treasurers and Assistant Secretaries.  The Board
of Directors may appoint such other officers as it may deem appropriate.

 
3.2                               Election.  The Chief Executive Officer, President, Treasurer and Secretary shall be elected annually by the Board of Directors at its first meeting

following the annual meeting of stockholders.  Other officers may be appointed by the Board of Directors at such meeting or at any other meeting.
 
3.3                               Qualification.  No officer need be a stockholder.  Any two or more offices may be held by the same person.
 
3.4                               Tenure.  Except as otherwise provided by law, by the Certificate of Incorporation or by these By-laws, each officer shall hold office until such

officer’s successor is elected and qualified, unless a different term is specified in the resolution electing or appointing such officer, or until such officer’s earlier
death, resignation or removal.

 
3.5                               Resignation and Removal.  Any officer may resign by delivering a resignation in writing or by electronic transmission to the corporation at its

principal office or to the Chief
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Executive Officer, the President or the Secretary.  Such resignation shall be effective upon receipt unless it is specified to be effective at some later time or upon
the happening of some later event.  Any officer may be removed at any time, with or without cause, by vote of a majority of the directors then in office.  Except as
the Board of Directors may otherwise determine, no officer who resigns or is removed shall have any right to any compensation as an officer for any period
following such officer’s resignation or removal, or any right to damages on account of such removal, whether such officer’s compensation be by the month or by
the year or otherwise, unless such compensation is expressly provided for in a duly authorized written agreement with the corporation.
 

3.6                               Vacancies.  The Board of Directors may fill any vacancy occurring in any office for any reason and may, in its discretion, leave unfilled for such
period as it may determine any offices other than those of Chief Executive Officer, President, Treasurer and Secretary.  Each such successor shall hold office for
the unexpired term of such officer’s predecessor and until a successor is elected and qualified, or until such officer’s earlier death, resignation or removal.

 
3.7                               President; Chief Executive Officer.  Unless the Board of Directors has designated another person as the corporation’s Chief Executive Officer,

the President shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the corporation.  The Chief Executive Officer shall have general charge and supervision of the business of the
corporation subject to the direction of the Board of Directors, and shall perform all duties and have all powers that are commonly incident to the office of chief
executive or that are delegated to such officer by the Board of Directors.  The President shall perform such other duties and shall have such other powers as the
Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer (if the President is not the Chief Executive Officer) may from time to time prescribe.  In the event of the
absence, inability or refusal to act of the Chief Executive Officer or the President (if the President is not the Chief Executive Officer), the Vice President (or if
there shall be more than one, the Vice Presidents in the order determined by the Board of Directors) shall perform the duties of the Chief Executive Officer and
when so performing such duties shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the Chief Executive Officer.
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3.8                               Vice Presidents.  Each Vice President shall perform such duties and possess such powers as the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive

Officer may from time to time prescribe.  The Board of Directors may assign to any Vice President the title of Executive Vice President, Senior Vice President or
any other title selected by the Board of Directors.

 
3.9                               Secretary and Assistant Secretaries.  The Secretary shall perform such duties and shall have such powers as the Board of Directors or the Chief

Executive Officer may from time to time prescribe.  In addition, the Secretary shall perform such duties and have such powers as are incident to the office of the
secretary, including without limitation the duty and power to give notices of all meetings of stockholders and special meetings of the Board of Directors, to attend
all meetings of stockholders and the Board of Directors and keep a record of the proceedings, to maintain a stock ledger and prepare lists of stockholders and their
addresses as required, to be custodian of corporate records and the corporate seal and to affix and attest to the same on documents.

 



Any Assistant Secretary shall perform such duties and possess such powers as the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer or the Secretary may
from time to time prescribe.  In the event of the absence, inability or refusal to act of the Secretary, the Assistant Secretary (or if there shall be more than one, the
Assistant Secretaries in the order determined by the Board of Directors) shall perform the duties and exercise the powers of the Secretary.

 
In the absence of the Secretary or any Assistant Secretary at any meeting of stockholders or directors, the chairman of the meeting shall designate a

temporary secretary to keep a record of the meeting.
 
3.10                        Treasurer and Assistant Treasurers.  The Treasurer shall perform such duties and shall have such powers as may from time to time be assigned by

the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer.  In addition, the Treasurer shall perform such duties and have such powers as are incident to the office of
treasurer, including without limitation the duty and power to keep and be responsible for all funds and securities of the corporation, to deposit funds of the
corporation in depositories selected in accordance with these By-laws, to disburse such funds as ordered by the Board of Directors, to make proper accounts of
such funds, and to render as
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required by the Board of Directors statements of all such transactions and of the financial condition of the corporation.
 

The Assistant Treasurers shall perform such duties and possess such powers as the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer or the Treasurer may
from time to time prescribe.  In the event of the absence, inability or refusal to act of the Treasurer, the Assistant Treasurer (or if there shall be more than one, the
Assistant Treasurers in the order determined by the Board of Directors) shall perform the duties and exercise the powers of the Treasurer.

 
3.11                        Salaries.  Officers of the corporation shall be entitled to such salaries, compensation or reimbursement as shall be fixed or allowed from time to

time by the Board of Directors.
 
3.12                        Delegation of Authority.  The Board of Directors may from time to time delegate the powers or duties of any officer to any other officer or agent,

notwithstanding any provision hereof.
 

ARTICLE IV
 

CAPITAL STOCK
 

4.1                               Issuance of Stock.  Subject to the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation, the whole or any part of any unissued balance of the authorized
capital stock of the corporation or the whole or any part of any shares of the authorized capital stock of the corporation held in the corporation’s treasury may be
issued, sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of by vote of the Board of Directors in such manner, for such lawful consideration and on such terms as the Board
of Directors may determine.

 
4.2                               Stock Certificates; Uncertificated Shares.  The shares of the corporation shall be represented by certificates, provided that the Board of Directors

may provide by resolution or resolutions that some or all of any or all classes or series of the corporation’s stock shall be uncertificated shares.  Any such
resolution shall not apply to shares represented by a certificate until such certificate is surrendered to the corporation.  Every holder of stock of the corporation
represented by certificates shall be entitled to have a certificate, in such form as may be
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prescribed by law and by the Board of Directors, representing the number of shares held by such holder registered in certificate form.  Each such certificate shall
be signed in a manner that complies with Section 158 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.
 

Each certificate for shares of stock which are subject to any restriction on transfer pursuant to the Certificate of Incorporation, these By-laws, applicable
securities laws or any agreement among any number of stockholders or among such holders and the corporation shall have conspicuously noted on the face or back
of the certificate either the full text of the restriction or a statement of the existence of such restriction.

 
If the corporation shall be authorized to issue more than one class of stock or more than one series of any class, the powers, designations, preferences and

relative participating, optional or other special rights of each class of stock or series thereof and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions of such preferences
and/or rights shall be set forth in full or summarized on the face or back of each certificate representing shares of such class or series of stock, provided that in lieu
of the foregoing requirements there may be set forth on the face or back of each certificate representing shares of such class or series of stock a statement that the
corporation will furnish without charge to each stockholder who so requests a copy of the full text of the powers, designations, preferences and relative,
participating, optional or other special rights of each class of stock or series thereof and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions of such preferences and/or
rights.

 
Within a reasonable time after the issuance or transfer of uncertificated shares, the corporation shall send to the registered owner thereof a written notice

containing the information required to be set forth or stated on certificates pursuant to Sections 151, 202(a) or 218(a) of the General Corporation Law of the State
of Delaware or, with respect to Section 151 of General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, a statement that the corporation will furnish without charge to
each stockholder who so requests the powers, designations, preferences and relative participating, optional or other special rights of each class of stock or series
thereof and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions of such preferences and/or rights.

 
4.3                               Transfers.  Shares of stock of the corporation shall be transferable in the manner prescribed by law and in these By-laws.  Transfers of shares of

stock of the corporation shall be
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made only on the books of the corporation or by transfer agents designated to transfer shares of stock of the corporation.  Subject to applicable law, shares of stock
represented by certificates shall be transferred only on the books of the corporation by the surrender to the corporation or its transfer agent of the certificate
representing such shares properly endorsed or accompanied by a written assignment or power of attorney properly executed, and with such proof of authority or



the authenticity of signature as the corporation or its transfer agent may reasonably require.  Uncertificated shares may be transferred by delivery of a written
assignment or power of attorney properly executed, and with such proof of authority or the authenticity of signature as the corporation or its transfer agent may
reasonably require.  Except as may be otherwise required by law, by the Certificate of Incorporation or by these By-laws, the corporation shall be entitled to treat
the record holder of stock as shown on its books as the owner of such stock for all purposes, including the payment of dividends and the right to vote with respect
to such stock, regardless of any transfer, pledge or other disposition of such stock until the shares have been transferred on the books of the corporation in
accordance with the requirements of these By-laws.
 

4.4                               Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificates.  The corporation may issue a new certificate of stock in place of any previously issued certificate alleged
to have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon such terms and conditions as the corporation may prescribe, including the presentation of reasonable evidence of such
loss, theft or destruction and the giving of such indemnity and posting of such bond as the corporation may require for the protection of the corporation or any
transfer agent or registrar.

 
4.5                               Record Date.  The Board of Directors may fix in advance a date as a record date for the determination of the stockholders entitled to notice of or

to vote at any meeting of stockholders, or entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or allotment of any rights in respect of any change,
conversion or exchange of stock, or for the purpose of any other lawful action.  Such record date shall not precede the date on which the resolution fixing the
record date is adopted, and such record date shall not be more than 60 nor less than 10 days before the date of such meeting, nor more than 60 days prior to any
other action to which such record date relates.
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If no record date is fixed, the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall be at the close of

business on the day before the day on which notice is given, or, if notice is waived, at the close of business on the day before the day on which the meeting is held. 
If no record date is fixed, the record date for determining stockholders for any other purpose shall be at the close of business on the day on which the Board of
Directors adopts the resolution relating to such purpose.

 
A determination of stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting;

provided, however, that the Board of Directors may fix a new record date for the adjourned meeting.
 
4.6                               Regulations.  The issue, transfer, conversion and registration of shares of stock of the corporation shall be governed by such other regulations as

the Board of Directors may establish.
 

ARTICLE V
 

GENERAL PROVISIONS
 

5.1                               Fiscal Year.  Except as from time to time otherwise designated by the Board of Directors, the fiscal year of the corporation shall begin on the
first day of January of each year and end on the last day of December in each year.

 
5.2                               Corporate Seal.  The corporate seal shall be in such form as shall be approved by the Board of Directors.
 
5.3                               Waiver of Notice.  Whenever notice is required to be given by law, by the Certificate of Incorporation or by these By-laws, a written waiver

signed by the person entitled to notice, or a waiver by electronic transmission by the person entitled to notice, whether before, at or after the time of the event for
which notice is to be given, shall be deemed equivalent to notice required to be given to such person.  Neither the business nor the purpose of any meeting need be
specified in any such waiver.  Attendance of a person at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except when the person attends a meeting
for the express purpose of
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objecting at the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.
 

5.4                               Voting of Securities.  Except as the Board of Directors may otherwise designate, the Chief Executive Officer, the President or the Treasurer may
waive notice of, vote, or appoint any person or persons to vote, on behalf of the corporation at, and act as, or appoint any person or persons to act as, proxy or
attorney-in-fact for this corporation (with or without power of substitution) at, any meeting of stockholders or securityholders of any other entity, the securities of
which may be held by this corporation.

 
5.5                               Evidence of Authority.  A certificate by the Secretary, or an Assistant Secretary, or a temporary Secretary, as to any action taken by the

stockholders, directors, a committee or any officer or representative of the corporation shall as to all persons who rely on the certificate in good faith be conclusive
evidence of such action.

 
5.6                               Certificate of Incorporation.  All references in these By-laws to the Certificate of Incorporation shall be deemed to refer to the Certificate of

Incorporation of the corporation, as amended and/or restated and in effect from time to time.
 
5.7                               Severability.  Any determination that any provision of these By-laws is for any reason inapplicable, illegal or ineffective shall not affect or

invalidate any other provision of these By-laws.
 
5.8                               Pronouns.  All pronouns used in these By-laws shall be deemed to refer to the masculine, feminine or neuter, singular or plural, as the identity of

the person or persons may require.
 

ARTICLE VI
 

AMENDMENTS
 

These By-laws may be altered, amended or repealed, in whole or in part, or new By-laws may be adopted by the Board of Directors or by the
stockholders as provided in the Certificate of Incorporation.
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Exhibit 10.17
 

THIS WARRANT AND THE SHARES OF COMMON STOCK ISSUED UPON ITS EXERCISE ARE SUBJECT TO THE RESTRICTIONS ON
TRANSFER SET FORTH IN SECTION 5 OF THIS WARRANT

 
Warrant No. Number of Shares:  Determined As

Set Forth Below
(subject to adjustment)

  
Date of Issuance: 

 

 
Catabasis Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

 
Common Stock Purchase Warrant

 
Catabasis Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), for value received, hereby certifies that [                    ], or [his/her] registered

assigns (the “Registered Holder”), is entitled, subject to the terms and conditions set forth below, to purchase from the Company, at any time or from time to time
on or after the closing date of the Company’s Qualified Financing (as defined below) and on or before 5:00 p.m. (Eastern Standard Time) on the sixth anniversary
of the closing date of the Company’s Qualified Financing, that number of shares of Common Stock, $0.001 par value per share, of the Company (the “Common
Stock”) equal to the quotient of (A) $[              ], divided by (B) the Qualified Financing Purchase Price (as defined below).  This Warrant shall be exercisable for a
purchase price per share equal to the fair market value of the Common Stock at the time of the closing of the Qualified Financing.  The shares purchasable upon
exercise of this Warrant, and the purchase price per share, each as adjusted from time to time pursuant to the provisions of this Warrant, are hereinafter referred to
as the “Warrant Shares” and the “Purchase Price,” respectively.  “Qualified Financing” means the first issuance of convertible preferred stock by the Company
after the date hereof with immediately available gross proceeds to the Company (excluding proceeds from any indebtedness of the Company that converts into
equity in such financing) of at least $2,000,000.  The Qualified Financing Purchase Price means the per share price paid by the other investors in the Qualified
Financing for the Company’s convertible preferred stock issued in the Qualified Financing.

 
1.                                      Exercise.
 

(a)                                 Exercise for Cash.  On or after the closing date of the Qualified Financing, the Registered Holder may, at its option, elect to exercise
this Warrant, in whole or in part and at any time or from time to time, by surrendering this Warrant, with the purchase form appended hereto as Exhibit I duly
executed by or on behalf of the Registered Holder, at the principal office of the Company, or at such other office or agency as the Company may designate,
accompanied by payment in full, in lawful money of the United States, of the Purchase Price payable in respect of the number of Warrant Shares purchased upon
such exercise.
 

(b)                                 Cashless Exercise.
 

(i)                                     On or after the closing date of the Qualified Financing, the Registered Holder may, at its option, elect to exercise this Warrant,
in whole or in part and at any

 

 
time or from time to time, on a cashless basis, by surrendering this Warrant, with the purchase form appended hereto as Exhibit I duly executed by or on behalf of
the Registered Holder, at the principal office of the Company, or at such other office or agency as the Company may designate, by canceling a portion of this
Warrant in payment of the Purchase Price payable in respect of the number of Warrant Shares purchased upon such exercise.  In the event of an exercise pursuant
to this subsection 1(b), the number of Warrant Shares issued to the Registered Holder shall be determined according to the following formula:
 

X = Y(A-B)
                                  A

 

  
Where:  X= the number of Warrant Shares that shall be issued to the Registered Holder;
  
Y = the number of Warrant Shares for which this Warrant is being exercised (which shall include both the number of

Warrant Shares issued to the Registered Holder and the number of Warrant Shares subject to the portion of the Warrant
being cancelled in payment of the Purchase Price);

  
A = the Fair Market Value (as defined below) of one share of Common Stock; and
  
B = the Purchase Price then in effect.

 
(ii)                                  The Fair Market Value per share of Common Stock shall be determined as follows:
 

(1)                                 If the Common Stock is listed on a national securities exchange, the Nasdaq National Market or another nationally
recognized trading system as of the Exercise Date, the Fair Market Value per share of Common Stock shall be deemed to be the average of the high and low
reported sale prices per share of Common Stock thereon on the trading day immediately preceding the Exercise Date (provided that if no such price is reported on
such day, the Fair Market Value per share of Common Stock shall be determined pursuant to clause (2)).

 
(2)                                 If the Common Stock is not listed on a national securities exchange, the Nasdaq National Market or another

nationally recognized trading system as of the Exercise Date, the Fair Market Value per share of Common Stock shall be deemed to be the amount most recently
determined by the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) to represent the fair market value per share of the Common Stock (including without
limitation a determination for purposes of granting Common Stock options or issuing Common Stock under any plan, agreement or arrangement with employees
of the Company); and, upon request of the Registered Holder, the Board (or a representative thereof) shall, as promptly as reasonably practicable but in any event
not later than 10 days after such request, notify the Registered Holder of the Fair Market Value per share of Common Stock and furnish the Registered Holder with
reasonable documentation of the Board’s determination of such Fair Market Value.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Board has not made such a determination
within the three-

 



2

 
month period prior to the Exercise Date, then (A) the Board shall make, and shall provide or cause to be provided to the Registered Holder notice of, a
determination of the Fair Market Value per share of the Common Stock within 15 days of a request by the Registered Holder that it do so, and (B) the exercise of
this Warrant pursuant to this subsection 1(b) shall be delayed until such determination is made and notice thereof is provided to the Registered Holder.

 
(c)                                  Exercise Date.  Each exercise of this Warrant shall be deemed to have been effected immediately prior to the close of business on the

day on which this Warrant shall have been surrendered to the Company as provided in subsection 1 (a) or 1(b) above (the “Exercise Date”).  At such time, the
person or persons in whose name or names any certificates for Warrant Shares shall be issuable upon such exercise as provided in subsection 1(d) below shall be
deemed to have become the holder or holders of record of the Warrant Shares represented by such certificates.

 
(d)                                 Issuance of Certificates.  As soon as practicable after the exercise of this Warrant in whole or in part, and in any event within 10 days

thereafter, the Company, at its expense, will cause to be issued in the name of, and delivered to, the Registered Holder, or as the Registered Holder (upon payment
by the Registered Holder of any applicable transfer taxes) may direct:

 
(i)                                     a certificate or certificates for the number of full Warrant Shares to which the Registered Holder shall be entitled upon such

exercise plus, in lieu of any fractional share to which the Registered Holder would otherwise be entitled, cash in an amount determined pursuant to Section 3
hereof; and

 
(ii)                                  in case such exercise is in part only, a new warrant or warrants (dated the date hereof) of like tenor, calling in the aggregate on

the face or faces thereof for the number of Warrant Shares equal (without giving effect to any adjustment therein) to the number of such shares called for on the
face of this Warrant minus the number of Warrant Shares for which this Warrant was so exercised (which, in the case of an exercise pursuant to subsection 1(b),
shall include both the number of Warrant Shares issued to the Registered Holder pursuant to such partial exercise and the number of Warrant Shares subject to the
portion of the Warrant being cancelled in payment of the Purchase Price).

 
2.                                      Adjustments.
 

(a)                                 Adjustment for Stock Splits and Combinations.  If the Company shall at any time or from time to time after the closing of the Qualified
Financing effect a subdivision of the outstanding Common Stock, the Purchase Price then in effect immediately before that subdivision shall be proportionately
decreased.  If the Company shall at any time or from time to time after the closing of the Qualified Financing combine the outstanding shares of Common Stock,
the Purchase Price then in effect immediately before the combination shall be proportionately increased.  Any adjustment under this paragraph shall become
effective at the close of business on the date the subdivision or combination becomes effective.

 
(b)                                 Adjustment for Certain Dividends and Distributions.  In the event the Company at any time, or from time to time after the closing of the

Qualified Financing shall
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make or issue, or fix a record date for the determination of holders of Common Stock entitled to receive, a dividend or other distribution payable in additional
shares of Common Stock, then and in each such event the Purchase Price then in effect immediately before such event shall be decreased as of the time of such
issuance or, in the event such a record date shall have been fixed, as of the close of business on such record date, by multiplying the Purchase Price then in effect
by a fraction:

 
(1)                                 the numerator of which shall be the total number of shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately

prior to the time of such issuance or the close of business on such record date, and
 
(2)                                 the denominator of which shall be the total number of shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately

prior to the time of such issuance or the close of business on such record date plus the number of shares of Common Stock issuable in payment of such dividend or
distribution;

 
provided, however, that if such record date shall have been fixed and such dividend is not fully paid or if such distribution is not fully made on the date fixed
therefor, the Purchase Price shall be recomputed accordingly as of the close of business on such record date and thereafter the Purchase Price shall be adjusted
pursuant to this paragraph as of the time of actual payment of such dividends or distributions.
 

(c)                                  Adjustment in Number of Warrant Shares.  When any adjustment is required to be made in the Purchase Price pursuant to subsections
2(a) or 2(b), the number of Warrant Shares purchasable upon the exercise of this Warrant shall be changed to the number determined by dividing (i) an amount
equal to the number of shares issuable upon the exercise of this Warrant immediately prior to such adjustment, multiplied by the Purchase Price in effect
immediately prior to such adjustment, by (ii) the Purchase Price in effect immediately after such adjustment.

 
(d)                                 Adjustments for Other Dividends and Distributions.  In the event the Company at any time or from time to time after the closing of the

Qualified Financing shall make or issue, or fix a record date for the determination of holders of Common Stock entitled to receive, a dividend or other distribution
payable in securities of the Company (other than shares of Common Stock) or in cash or other property (other than regular cash dividends paid out of earnings or
earned surplus, determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles), then and in each such event provision shall be made so that the
Registered Holder shall receive upon exercise hereof, in addition to the number of shares of Common Stock issuable hereunder, the kind and amount of securities
of the Company, cash or other property which the Registered Holder would have been entitled to receive had this Warrant been exercised on the date of such event
and had the Registered Holder thereafter, during the period from the date of such event to and including the Exercise Date, retained any such securities receivable
during such period, giving application to all adjustments called for during such period under this Section 2 with respect to the rights of the Registered Holder.

 
(e)                                  Adjustment for Reorganization.  If after the closing of the Qualified Financing there shall occur any reorganization, recapitalization,

reclassification, consolidation or
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merger involving the Company in which the Common Stock is converted into or exchanged for securities, cash or other property (other than a transaction covered
by subsections 2(a), 2(b) or 2(d)) (collectively, a “Reorganization”), then, following such Reorganization, the Registered Holder shall receive upon exercise hereof
the kind and amount of securities, cash or other property which the Registered Holder would have been entitled to receive pursuant to such Reorganization if such
exercise had taken place immediately prior to such Reorganization.  In any such case, appropriate adjustment (as determined in good faith by the Board) shall be
made in the application of the provisions set forth herein with respect to the rights and interests thereafter of the Registered Holder, to the end that the provisions
set forth in this Section 2 (including provisions with respect to changes in and other adjustments of the Purchase Price) shall thereafter be applicable, as nearly as
reasonably may be, in relation to any securities, cash or other property thereafter deliverable upon the exercise of this Warrant.

 
(f)                                   Certificate as to Adjustments.  Upon the occurrence of each adjustment or readjustment of the Purchase Price pursuant to this Section 2,

the Company at its expense shall, as promptly as reasonably practicable but in any event not later than 20 days thereafter, compute such adjustment or
readjustment in accordance with the terms hereof and furnish to the Registered Holder a certificate setting forth such adjustment or readjustment (including the
kind and amount of securities, cash or other property for which this Warrant shall be exercisable and the Purchase Price) and showing in detail the facts upon
which such adjustment or readjustment is based.  The Company shall, as promptly as reasonably practicable after the written request at any time of the Registered
Holder (but in any event not later than 20 days thereafter), furnish or cause to be furnished to the Registered Holder a certificate setting forth (i) the Purchase Price
then in effect and (ii) the number of shares of Common Stock and the amount, if any, of other securities, cash or property which then would be received upon the
exercise of this Warrant.

 
3.                                      Fractional Shares.  The Company shall not be required upon the exercise of this Warrant to issue any fractional shares, but shall pay the value

thereof to the Registered Holder in cash on the basis of the Fair Market Value per share of Common Stock, as determined pursuant to subsection l(b)(ii) above.
 
4.                                      Investment Representations.  The initial Registered Holder represents and warrants to the Company as follows:
 

(a)                                 Investment.  It is acquiring the Warrant, and (if and when it exercises this Warrant) it will acquire the Warrant Shares, for its own
account for investment and not with a view to, or for sale in connection with, any distribution thereof, nor with any present intention of distributing or selling the
same; and the Registered Holder has no present or contemplated agreement, undertaking, arrangement, obligation, indebtedness or commitment providing for the
disposition thereof.
 

(b)                                 Accredited Investor.  The Registered Holder is an “accredited investor” as defined in Rule 501(a) under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Act”).

 
(c)                                  Experience.  The Registered Holder has made such inquiry concerning the Company and its business and personnel as it has deemed

appropriate; and the Registered Holder
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has sufficient knowledge and experience in finance and business that it is capable of evaluating the risks and merits of its investment in the Company.

 
5.                                      Transfers, etc.
 

(a)                                 This Warrant and the Warrant Shares shall not be sold or transferred unless either (i) they first shall have been registered under the Act,
or (ii) the Company first shall have been furnished with an opinion of legal counsel, reasonably satisfactory to the Company, to the effect that such sale or transfer
is exempt from the registration requirements of the Act.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, no registration or opinion of counsel shall be required for (i) a transfer by
a Registered Holder which is an entity to a wholly owned subsidiary of such entity, a transfer by a Registered Holder which is a partnership to a partner of such
partnership or a retired partner of such partnership or to the estate of any such partner or retired partner, or a transfer by a Registered Holder which is a limited
liability company to a member of such limited liability company or a retired member or to the estate of any such member or retired member, provided that the
transferee in each case agrees in writing to be subject to the terms of this Section 5, or (ii) a transfer made in accordance with Rule 144 under the Act.

 
(b)                                 Each certificate representing Warrant Shares shall bear a legend substantially in the following form:
 

“The securities represented by this certificate have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and may not be
offered, sold or otherwise transferred, pledged or hypothecated unless and until such securities are registered under such Act or an
opinion of counsel satisfactory to the Company is obtained to the effect that such registration is not required.”
 

(c)                                  The Company will maintain a register containing the name and address of the Registered Holder of this Warrant.  The Registered
Holder may change its address as shown on the warrant register by written notice to the Company requesting such change.

 
(d)                                 Subject to the provisions of Section 5 hereof, this Warrant and all rights hereunder are transferable, in whole or in part, upon surrender

of this Warrant with a properly executed assignment (in the form of Exhibit II hereto) at the principal office of the Company (or, if another office or agency has
been designated by the Company for such purpose, then at such other office or agency).

 
6.                                      No Impairment.  The Company will not, by amendment of its charter or through any reorganization, transfer of assets, consolidation, merger,

dissolution, issue or sale of securities or any other voluntary action, avoid or seek to avoid the observance or performance of any of the terms of this Warrant, but
will at all times in good faith assist in the carrying out of all such terms and in the taking of all such action as may be necessary or appropriate in order to protect
the rights of the Registered Holder against impairment.

 
7.                                      Notices of Record Date, etc.  In the event:
 

 
6

 
(a)                                 the Company shall take a record of the holders of its Common Stock (or other stock or securities at the time deliverable upon the

exercise of this Warrant) for the purpose of entitling or enabling them to receive any dividend or other distribution, or to receive any right to subscribe for or
purchase any shares of stock of any class or any other securities, or to receive any other right; or



 
(b)                                 of any capital reorganization of the Company, any reclassification of the Common Stock of the Company, any consolidation or merger

of the Company with or into another corporation (other than a consolidation or merger in which the Company is the surviving entity and its Common Stock is not
converted into or exchanged for any other securities or property), or any transfer of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company; or

 
(c)                                  of the voluntary or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding-up of the Company,
 

then, and in each such case, the Company will send or cause to be sent to the Registered Holder a notice specifying, as the case may be, (i) the record date for such
dividend, distribution or right, and the amount and character of such dividend, distribution or right, or (ii) the effective date on which such reorganization,
reclassification, consolidation, merger, transfer, dissolution, liquidation or winding-up is to take place, and the time, if any is to be fixed, as of which the holders of
record of Common Stock (or such other stock or securities at the time deliverable upon the exercise of this Warrant) shall be entitled to exchange their shares of
Common Stock (or such other stock or securities) for securities or other property deliverable upon such reorganization, reclassification, consolidation, merger,
transfer, dissolution, liquidation or winding-up.  Such notice shall be sent at least 10 days prior to the record date or effective date for the event specified in such
notice.
 

8.                                      Reservation of Stock.  Following the closing of the Qualified Financing, the Company will at all times reserve and keep available, solely for
issuance and delivery upon the exercise of this Warrant, such number of Warrant Shares and other securities, cash and/or property, as from time to time shall be
issuable upon the exercise of this Warrant.

 
9.                                      Exchange or Replacement of Warrants.
 

(a)                                 Upon the surrender by the Registered Holder, properly endorsed, to the Company at the principal office of the Company, the Company
will, subject to the provisions of Section 5 hereof, issue and deliver to or upon the order of the Registered Holder, at the Company’s expense, a new Warrant or
Warrants of like tenor, in the name of the Registered Holder or as the Registered Holder (upon payment by the Registered Holder of any applicable transfer taxes)
may direct, calling in the aggregate on the face or faces thereof for the number of shares of Common Stock (or other securities, cash and/or property) then issuable
upon exercise of this Warrant.
 

(b)                                 Upon receipt of evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Company of the loss, theft, destruction or mutilation of this Warrant and (in the
case of loss, theft or destruction) upon delivery of an indemnity agreement (with surety if reasonably required) in an amount
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reasonably satisfactory to the Company, or (in the case of mutilation) upon surrender and cancellation of this Warrant, the Company will issue, in lieu thereof, a
new Warrant of like tenor.

 
10.                               Agreement in Connection with Public Offering.  The Registered Holder agrees, in connection with the initial underwritten public offering of the

Company’s securities pursuant to a registration statement under the Act, (i) not to sell, make short sale of, loan, grant any options for the purchase of or otherwise
dispose of any shares of Common Stock held by the Registered Holder (other than any shares included in the offering) without the prior written consent of the
Company or the underwriters managing such initial underwritten public offering of the Company’s securities for a period of 180 days from the effective date of
such registration statement, and (ii) to execute any agreement reflecting clause (i) above as may be requested by the Company or the managing underwriters at the
time of such offering.

 
11.                               Notices.  All notices and other communications from the Company to the Registered Holder in connection herewith shall be mailed by certified

or registered mail, postage prepaid, or sent via a reputable nationwide overnight courier service guaranteeing next business day delivery, to the address last
furnished to the Company in writing by the Registered Holder.  All notices and other communications from the Registered Holder to the Company in connection
herewith shall be mailed by certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, or sent via a reputable nationwide overnight courier service guaranteeing next business
day delivery, to the Company at its principal office set forth below.  If the Company should at any time change the location of its principal office to a place other
than as set forth below, it shall give prompt written notice to the Registered Holder and thereafter all references in this Warrant to the location of its principal office
at the particular time shall be as so specified in such notice.  All such notices and communications shall be deemed delivered (i) two business days after being sent
by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, or (ii) one business day after being sent via a reputable nationwide overnight courier
service guaranteeing next business day delivery.

 
12.                               No Rights as Stockholder.  Until the exercise of this Warrant, the Registered Holder shall not have or exercise any rights by virtue hereof as a

stockholder of the Company.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event (i) the Company effects a split of the Common Stock by means of a stock dividend and
the Purchase Price of and the number of Warrant Shares are adjusted as of the date of the distribution of the dividend (rather than as of the record date for such
dividend), and (ii) the Registered Holder exercises this Warrant between the record date and the distribution date for such stock dividend, the Registered Holder
shall be entitled to receive, on the distribution date, the stock dividend with respect to the shares of Common Stock acquired upon such exercise, notwithstanding
the fact that such shares were not outstanding as of the close of business on the record date for such stock dividend.

 
13.                               Amendment or Waiver.  Any term of this Warrant may be amended or waived only by an instrument in writing signed by the party against which

enforcement of the change or waiver is sought.  No waivers of any term, condition or provision of this Warrant, in any one or more instances, shall be deemed to
be, or construed as, a further or continuing waiver of any such term, condition or provision.
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14.                               Section Headings.  The section headings in this Warrant are for the convenience of the parties and in no way alter, modify, amend, limit or

restrict the contractual obligations of the parties.
 
15.                               Governing Law.  This Warrant will be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts

(without reference to the conflicts of law provisions thereof).
 
16.                               Facsimile Signatures.  This Warrant may be executed by facsimile signature.
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EXECUTED as of the Date of Issuance indicated above.
 
 

 

CATABASIS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
   
   
 

By:
 

 

Name:
 

 

Title:
 

  
ATTEST:

 

   
   
Name:

 

Title:
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EXHIBIT I

 
PURCHASE FORM

 
To: Secretary, Catabasis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Dated:

 

 
The undersigned, pursuant to the provisions set forth in the attached Warrant (No. 1), hereby elects to purchase (check applicable box):
 
o                                    shares of the Common Stock of Catabasis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. covered by such Warrant; or
 
o                                    the maximum number of shares of Common Stock covered by such Warrant pursuant to the cashless exercise procedure set forth in subsection

1(b).
 
The undersigned herewith makes payment of the full purchase price for such shares at the price per share provided for in such Warrant.  Such payment

takes the form of (check applicable box or boxes):
 
o                                    $               in lawful money of the United States; and/or
 
o                                    the cancellation of such portion of the attached Warrant as is exercisable for a total of                Warrant Shares (using a Fair Market Value of

$             per share for purposes of this calculation); and/or
 
o                                    the cancellation of such number of Warrant Shares as is necessary, in accordance with the formula set forth in subsection 1(b), to exercise this

Warrant with respect to the maximum number of Warrant Shares purchasable pursuant to the cashless exercise procedure set forth in subsection
1(b).

 
 
 

Signature:
  

    
 

Address:
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EXHIBIT II

 
ASSIGNMENT FORM

 
FOR VALUE RECEIVED,                                                                                hereby sells, assigns and transfers all of the rights of the undersigned under

the attached Warrant (No. 1) with respect to the number of shares of Common Stock of Catabasis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. covered thereby set forth below, unto:
 
Name of Assignee

 
Address

 
No. of Shares

     
     
     
 
Dated:

  

Signature:
 

  
Signature Guaranteed:

 

  
By:

   

 
The signature should be guaranteed by an eligible guarantor institution (banks, stockbrokers, savings and loan associations and credit unions with membership in
an approved signature guarantee medallion program) pursuant to Rule 17Ad-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
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